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Presentation of financial information

The Group financial statements are
prepared under IFRS where the Group's
interests in joint ventures and funds are

showr as 3 singte line item on the income

statement and balance sheetand all
subsidiaries are consolidated at 100%.

Management considers the business

principally on a praportionally censolidated
basis when setting the strategy. determining

annual pricrities, making investment
and financing decisions and reviewing
performance. This includes the 8roup’s
share of joint ventures and funds

on a line-by-tine basis and excludes
nan-controlling interests in the Group's

subsidiaries. The financial key perfarmance

inditators are also presented on this
basis. Refer ta the Financial review far
a discussion of the IFRS results,

We supplerment aur IFRS figures with

non-GAAP measures, which management

uses internally. fFRS measures are
labelled as such. See our supplementary
disclosures which start on page 179 for
reconciliations, and the glossary lound
at britishland com/glossary.

2 | (30.0)p

Underlying Profit

£340m

2018; £380m

IFRS profit/(loss) before tax

£(319)m

2018: £501m

Dividend per share

31.00p

2018: 30.08p

IFRS net assets

£8,689m

2018: £9,506m

Carbon intensity
reduction versus 2009

64%

2018: 54%

Bright Lights skills and
employment programme

393

people supported with work
 2018: 288

Integrated reporting

We integrate social and enviranmental
infarmation throughout this Repart in

{ine with the international integrated
Reporting Framework. This reflects

how sustainability is integrated into our
placemaking strategy, governance and
business operations. Qur industry-leading
sustainability strategy is a powerful toal to
daliver lasting value for all nur stakeholders.



BRITISH LAND AT A GLANCE

Who we are

We are a leading UK property company. We create and manage
places that reflect the changing needs of the people who work,
visit or live in and around them.

Visit britishland.com to learn more abaut our business

Our business

Our portfolio is increasingly focused on mixed use places.
Our campus-focused Offices portfolio and Canada Water are located
in central London and our Retail assets are around the country.

Campus-focused London Offices

Qur three office-led
campuses are located

in central London. They
are well-connected and
engaging places to work
and spend time, with the
right mix of world class
offices, retail, leisure and
dining, helping our occupiers
attract the best talent for
their business.

Offices comprise
%

51%

of the portfolio

Learn more about our Landon
portfolio on pages 12to 13
and 37 to 38

Canada Water

At Canada Water our
masterplan includes office,
retail, residential, leisure
and public spaces to create
an exciting new urban centre
for London.

33

acres

Learn more about the Canada
Water development on pages
14 to V5 and 43

Paddington

11 acre office-led campus
close to Paddington Station

We are delivering a wide
and varted dining offer

with new signings including
Lords of Poké whose story
we tell on page 12

Regent’s Place
13 acre office-led campus in

the West End, close to Euston,
Great Portland Street and Warren
Street stations

Its proximity to the Knowledge
Quarter of academic institutions
is increasing the profile of the
area. Read more about gur
occupier, Dentsu Aegis Network,
onpage 13



Our five-year vision

We have set out a clear strategic plan to build an increasingly mixed
use business. It will comprise three core elements; our London campuses,
a smaller Retail portfolio and a residential business.

Learn more about our long term strategy on page 7

Broadgate
32 acre office-led campus adjacent io
Liverpool Street statian

On site with three major developments

with pre-lettings to global advertising group
McCann, technology company Mimecast and
ltalian marketplace Eataly. Read more about
this an page 12,38 and 41

Canada Water
53 acre developrnent
apportunity in zane 2

Connecting with local
education and families
through the Paper Garden
and supporting London's
pocta through the Noetry
Sehgol whose story we tell
on page 14

Teesside

Leading regional retait centre in
the North East

Hotel Chocolat have opened their second
store with British Land at Teesside, with a
third planned at Fort Kinnaird, Edinburgh.
Read more about this on page 14

Portfalio breakdown includes:
Canada Water 3%

Regidaentisl 1%

Meadowhall

1.5m sq ft superregional retail centre
with 280 units

Rock Up and Joe Browns were amongst the
businesses thal took space at Meadowhall
following our £60m refurbishment. Read
more abaut them on pages 16 and 17

Retail

Qur retail places are around
the country and reflect the
changing way people shop.
Increasingly we are focused
on multi-let locations within
or close to urban areas
which best complement an
omni-channel retail strategy.

45%
of the portfolio

Learn more about vur
Reta# partfolio on pages 39
ta 40




OUR INVESTMENT CASE

Four compelling reasons
to mvest in British Land

The scale and quality
of our portfolio

Our 23m sq ft portfolio of high quality

assets is underpinned by our resilient

batance sheet and financial strength

- £16bn of assets under management (£12.3bn owned|

- Increasingly mixed use at our London campuses and
high quality retail nationwide

- Loan tovatue [LTV] is appropriate at 28.1% and cost
of finance is low at 2.9%

British Land owned assets

£12.3bn

Learn more on pages & to ¢

Our operational expertise
and customer insight

Our deep expertise of managing and leasing

our assets, based on cur understanding

of the customer, drives incremental value

for British Land and our stakeholders

- Investing in our places to deliver more attractive
and engaging environments

- Targeting the right mix of occupiers to make
our places successful

- Understanding the needs of our customers 3%
they evolve

Visitor surveys completed in the last year

¢.26,500

Learn mere on pages 10to 11

Qur distinctive business
model and clear strategy

We are increasing our facus on mixed

use places and on a five-year view will be
growing our London campuses and building
a residential business while refining

our Retail business

- Enhancing our carnpuses through development

- Masterplanning a 53 acre development opportunity
at Canada Water

- Delivering a smaller, more focused Retail business
through asset sales

Residential homes envisaged in our
Canada Water masterplan

3,000

Learn mare an pages 18 and 19

A well-positioned
development pipeline
Our development pipeline is aligned

to our strategy and provides visibility on
future earnings

- 1.6m sq ft of high quality, design-led buildings
focused on our campuses

- Developments delivering £43m of fulure rents
adding 4.5p to EPS

- De-risked by pre-letting space to lock in
future income

Committed and recently completed
developments pre-let or under offer

716%

Learn more on pages 2210 23

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019



LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN

Another year of good progress

In my final year as Chairman I leave the business

well positioned for the future.

Our business has continued to make good progress this year
against an uncertain economic and political backdrop. We saw the
effeci of the particularly challenging retail environment in valuation
declines but delivered a robust earnings performance with good
progress on gur strategy.

Qur Qffice Lleasing perforimance has once again been excellent.
Across aur London affice business, we have leased over 1m sq fi
of space. to world class businesses including McCann, Facebook
and Mitbank. The quality of the buildings we are delivering and
our campus approach are really paying oft. A broader range of
businesses than ever before are taking space at our campuses,
at attractive rental levels, and our recently completed and
committed pipeline of new buildings is now 76% pre-let or under
offer, lacking in significant future income far our business, This
is a resounding endarsement of our campus strategy and our
decision to commit to development over recent years.

Our three London campuses at Broadgate, Paddington Central and
Regent's Place represent British Land at its best. Having recently

Jaohn Gildersleeve, Mon-Executive Chairman
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visited Broadgate with the Board in March, it is no exaggeratien

to say that the neighbourhood has been transformed. We are
detivering wortd class, modern office space alongside some of the
best retail, leisure and restaurants in London, all integrated within
central London's largest pedestrianised enviranment, And there's
more to come; during the

year we were delighted to 66

receive planning permission

for 1-2 Broadgyate,

which will represent the
cornerstane of the next phase
of Broadgate's transformation.

British Land is taking the
right steps to position its

Storey, our flexible office portfohofor the long term

business, is now operational

across all of our campuses. ’,
Itis additive to aur overall

olfer and we've been pleased
with our leasing progress
We've signed new lypes of
businesses as well as existing
occupiers looking for space in
which tg expand, project space
or space on more flexible
terms as their needs change.
There is no question that demang for increased flexibility is a
theme that’s here 1o stay in the office markel. We recognised this
early and responded appropriately, meaning that our offices offer
remains relevant to as many potential occupiers as possible.

Dividend per share

31.00p

2018: 30.08p

Last year [ wrote that the retail sector was experiencing 2 period
of chatlenge and rapid change. If anything these challenges have
vecarme mare pronounced this year. Fundamental structurat
changes driven primarily by the internet have been compounded
by short term headwinds including subdued consumer confidence,
cost pressures and changes to business rates. In this context, we
remain focused on providing the kind of space rmodern retailers
need to succeed. We know that leng term, anly the best quality.
best located and most accessible retail space will continue

to thrive. To maximise occupancy and support rents, we also

know our retail places need to be located in areas with strong
demcgraphics, aftordable to retailers and the right size to underpin
good demand tension for the space.

Again, this is something we have been focused on for some time
and we have a clear view of the long term role retait wilt play within
British Land as a smaller, more focused part of our portfolia. This
year we made further good progress towards that, disposing of
E646m of retail assets, meaning we have now sold nearty E3bn

in the last five years,



Al the same time, the team have remained focused on the
operational performance of our Retail business. We have leased
1.6m sq ft of retail space this year, and dealt well with the impact
of cempany voluntary arrangements [CVA] and administrations.
There 15 no doubt that the retail market will continue to evolve in
the future and not all of that change will be easy. 1 am confident
however that building on the significant progress we've already
made, British Land is taking the right steps to position its portfolio
to succeed over the lang term.

The NAV discount in our share price, which increased after the
EU referendum, persisted across the year. This was one of the
factors we took into account when deciding to extend the share
buyback by £200m following the sale of 5 Broadgate in June. We
have now bought back £500m of shares over the last two years,
all linked to significant disposals. Given our confidence in the
quality of our assets, we believe the ability to reinvest sales
proceeds into that pertfolio at a significant disceunt, through
buying our own shares, represents an effective use of capital.
The rabust financial performance we have delivered in the year,
the strength of our balance sheet and the future income we have
secured through pre-letting developments mean that the Board
believes it is appropriate to recommend a 3% increase in the
dividend for 2020.

Everything we do at British Land is with a view to the long term.
We want to create enduring value in a sustainable way. Through
our responsible approach to developrment, we reuse existing
building materials where possible, significantly reducing carbon
emissions associated with construction. We also incorporate
efficiency innovations and wellbeing improvements that cut
occupiers’ energy consumption and support the health and
productivity of their teams for years to come. We have a strong
track record of connecting with our local communities from an
early stage and minimising any impacts of construction on our
customers and on people wha work or live locally. Nowhere is
this mare evident than at Canada Water. Find out more about
what we are doing on pages 67, 115 and 185.

In March we announced that 1 will step down after the AGM in July,

having served over 10 years on the Board, including the last six

as Chairman. When | look back at what our business has achieved
over this ime, | do so with 2 greal deal of pride. There is no doubt
we've faced challenges, and our operating environment and the
way we do business have changed substantally in a range of
different ways. But | am confident that | {eave with British Land
well positioned, with the right strategy and team to succeed long
term. | am delighted that Tim Score will be succeeding me as
Chairman. Having served on the Board for five years Tim has got
to know our business well, especially during his time as Chair of

Creating
Places People
Prefer

At British Land, our purpose is to manage
outstanding places to deliver positive outcomes
for all our stakeholders on a sustainable basis,

We do this by understanding the evolving needs
of the people and organisations who use our
places every day and the communities who live
in and around them. The changing way people
choose to work, shop and live is what shapes
our strategy, enabling us to drive enduring
demand for our space and value over the

long term.

the Audit Cormmmittee, and is the ideal candidate 1o take our business
forward. He will lead a Board which has the right mix of talent,
experience and expertise io deal with the fast changing and complex
world in which British Land, tike all businesses, must aperate.

Finally, | would like to place on record my thanks to the British
Land team. Everyone in our business from Chris, Simon, the
Executive Cammittee and throughout plays a critical role every
day in delivering the exceptional places and results that drive
sustainable, long term benefit for our customers, sharehalders
and all stakeholders. They have been a pleasure to work alongside
and | wish them alt well for the future.

John Gildersleeve
Non-executive Chairman

For the Chairman’s governance review, see page 72

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019 3



CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REVIEW

Delivering against
a clear plan

Chris Grigg

Chief Executive
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Introduction and strategy: building the specialist

in mixed use

This has been another year of good sirategic and pperational
progress in an uneven market as retail remained chattenging, but
the London offices market continued ta be healthy, We have leased
2.7m sq ftacross our business - mare than any of the last five years,
continued to invest into our campuses, progressed developments
an a carefully risk managed basis and further reshaped our Retail
portfelio. This operational outperformance and our rebust financial
results are due to the fact that we are delvering high quality places
that reflect the evolving needs of our customers.

Our long term strategy is clear: to build an increasingly mixed use
business comprising three core elements - cur Londen campuses,
a smaller Retait portfolio and residential. By providing the right
rmix of uses at each of our places, we drive enduring demand

for our space, support rental growth and create long term
sustainable value.

Leasing and operational performance

Our leasing performance was again excellent. Across our London
business our leasing activity covered 1.1m sq ft of space, further
de-risking our developments - which are now 76% pre-let or under
offer - and securing £48m pa future rental income. We again let space
to a broad range of occupiers, reflecting the modern London economy
and improving the diversity and quality of our rental income. Key
lettings this year included glabal advertising agency McCann, Peel
Hunt, Facebook and taw firm Mitbank and mormentum remains good,
we are currently in negotiations on a further 479,000 sq ft.

The retail market remained challenging, but we continue to
outperform footfatl and sales benchmarks and aur leasing
performance was strong, at 1.6m sq ft. Retailers continue to

face the chatlenge of tundamenial structurat change, compounded
this year by short term operabonal headwinds. As a result, we have
seen further CVAs and administrations from troubled aperators
and, although faring better than the market overall, we have nat
been timmune; the annualised rental impact from CVAs and
administrations that have occurred aver the last two years was
£16.9m, including £0.9m at properties which have subsequently been
sold. We have been focused on mitigating this for some time. Of the
£10.9m rent on stores subject to closure, £6.5m has already been
tet or is in negotiation.

This year, we combined our Offices and Retail businesses into

one real estate team under singiz leadership, to betier align

our operations ta our strategy and further enhance our customer
service. Cperational progress this year included the further rollout
of our Hexible werkspace business, Starey, at all threa campuses
and the launch of Storey Club at Paddingtan, praviding high quality
meeting and evenls space to our occupiers. We established a
Smart Places team, to work alongside cur Data and Insights
function and Commercialisation teams as we think more broadly
about the ways in which we can continue to support our occupiers
and understand and respond to their changing needs,

We submitted our planning application for the Canada Water
masterplan including a detailed application for the first three
buildings and, together with our partners at Southwark,

are targeting a July planning meeting. Our plans envisage
the development of a new urban centre for London, including
commercial, office and community space as well as around
3,000 new homes, so will represent a core part of our plan

to grow scale in residential.

Capital allocation and investments

We have continued to allocate capital thoughtfully. We sold 5
Broadgate for £500m {our sharel in June and £646m of Retail
assets since April 2018 - overall ahead of book value. This
continues our strong sales track record: standalone superstore
exposure is down from 1% 10 2014 to 1% today and overall Retail
is now under half of the business, down from 64% in 2010. Looking
ahead, we expect Retail to comprise around 30-35% of assets

in five years, so we will continue to sell assets. However, we are
patient and opportuntstic in our approach and have a clear view of
the value of our assets so will continue to only make sales which
deliver value and progress our long term strategy. We have used
sales proceeds to progress developments and reinvestin our
own portiolic through a £200m share buyback, meaning we have
bought back £500m of shares in two years. Given the discount
implied by the currant share price, we continue to believe that
reinvesting sales proceeds into cur portfolio through buying our
shares represents an efficient use of capital, so we are extending
the buyback by up to £125m.

Outlook

Looking ahead, retail is likely 1o remain challenging as structural
change cantinues, but there are early signs on parts af our
partfolio, that some of the short term operational headwinds
impacting retailers are easing. We expect the London market to
remain active, as occupier demand for the highest quality space
continues to be firm and supply is relatively constrained. We are
mindful of the ongoing Brexit uncertainty, but our business is well
positianed and financially sirong. We remain focused on delivering
operaticnally and being thoughtful and cermmercial in what we do
every day while at the same time progressing our long term
sirategic goals.

Chris Grigg
Chief Executive

To read more from Chris, wisit britishland.com/CEDblog
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(N CONVERSATION WITH CHRIS GRIGG

Facing the future

The questions our stakeholders are asking...

Why are you changing the
shape of your business?

We have outlined a clear long term
plan ta ensure our business best
reflects the changing way people use
space. Increasingly people want to be
able to ¢combine their work and leisure
tima in a single place and that's why
we're specialising in mixed use.

Gur London campuses are the obvious
place to start. Here we are increasing
the mix of uses with a broader retail,
leisure and dining ofter alongside world
class offices, inctuding Storey, our
flexible offer.

Al Broadgate, we are well advanced;
our newest developments include

more shops, restaurants and a cinema,
and our long term plans will create

a 350,000 sq ft cultural hub, driving
tootfall from a wider area, and providing
places for people to socialise outside
the office.

Residential is an important and
corplementary part of our approach,

as well as being a fast growing market
in its own right. With scope for over
3,000 homes across our porifolio, this
represents a real opportunity for us,
particularly at Canada Water, where

we can develop af scale and curate the
ervironment to deliver attractive returns
over the long term.

At the same {ime, wa think the total
amount of physical space retalers
require will be less so we're reducing
our gverall exposure to retail, although
it will remain core (o our mixed

use propesition.

Why have you combined vour
Retail and Offices businesses
under a single leadership?

We announced in January that we
would be combining our Retail and
Offices businesses under the single
leadership of Darren Richards.

These businesses have always been
highty camplementary, particutarly as
we have sought to increase the mix of
uses on our campuses. For example the
knawledge and experience we have an
the retail side of the business was one
reason we've been shle to expand the
mix of uses on the affices side. Wa've
added high quality retail and leisure,
enhancing the appeal of our campuses
and helping us to sign a much broader
range of occupiers than ever before.

As we pragress our straiegy to build an
increasingly mixed use business, there
are important benefils to be achieved
in combining the two teams under 3
single leadership. We can more
efficiently transfer learnings from one
side of the business to the other - far
example our use of data and insights,
which is relatively mare advanced in
retail than in our campus business -
and there are functions that are
common to bath where we can
generate scale efficiencies.

Darren, who has a broad spread of
BAPEriENCE ICTDSS Our husiness, orings
a fresh perspective that will help align
our approach and accelerate our focus
on mixed use.

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019

How do you explain your
gender pay gap?

Qur gender pay gap isn't what we'd like
it 1o be and it's a complex issue. We are
taking steps to reduce the gap but this
will take time. Qur & April 2019 snapshat
shows that we are moving in the right
direction, with a further reduction of
5.7% in our median pay gap.

Women are of course paid the same as
their male colleagues for the same job
however there are mare men in seniar
rotes and more women in lower paid
roles. We need to address both of these
structural issues. As in many sectors, it
ts largely a legacy issue and change will
take time. Real estate has historically
been male dgminated and, as an
industry, we have not done enough to
encourage women to be part af it. But
that's changing, and I'm pleased that
British Land are taking the lead in that.

We have a very active and successful
Women's Committee, which has
proneered changes in ithe way we

work. Today we encourage people to
waork flexibly in terms of their hours and
thetr locatton; we introduced shared
parental (eave in 2017; and we provide
mentors and coaching for women
returning to warl after having chitdren.

I'm pleased we have a number of very
Senior women in our organisation, and
now 33% of the Executive Cornmiitee
are women. We also recognise that
change must happen outside British
Land as well and that gender batance
is only part of the issue we need

to address.

| am perscnally very focused on building
a more diverse and inclusive culture at
British Land and we have set out some
of the things we're doing more widely on
our website and on pages 30 to 31.

Read more at britishland.com/
gender-pay-gap and our employee
gender split can be seen on page 112



RESHAPING OUR PORTFOLIO

Bwilding an increasingly
mixed use business

How our business has changed

Since 2010 we have shifted the batance oi our portfolio towards our
campus-focused Lenden offices business, which now accounts for
51% of our assets. We have invested significantly in this business
through acquisition and development. Over recent years, this has
included the redevelopments of 199 Bishopsgate and 1 Finsbury
Avenue at Broadgate and 10-30 Brock Street at Regent’s Place;

as well as the acquisition of Paddington Central, our third London
carmnpus in 2013, where we recently redeveloped 4 Kingdem Street.

Through a series of acquisitions we have also assembled a
unique development opportunity at Canada Water covering

53 acres. Here our masterplan envisages a development of our
fourth mixed use campus.

At the same time we have also been proactively reshaping our
Retail portfalio so that it reflects retailers’ facus on the highest
quality and the best located space. Over the last five years we have
sold £2.9bn of retail assets, improving the overall quality of our
portfolio which is now focused on multi-let space.

Portfolio split by asset type

Qur five-year vision

Loaking forward, we are working to build an increasingly mixed
use business. This reflects the changing way people use real
estate, with the boundaries between work and leisure increasingly
blurred. We currently have a recently completed and committed
development pipeline of 1.4m sq ft across gur campuses, which
we continue to enhance with the right mix of uses including retail,
leisure and diming. We will also further expand Storey, which
could becorme up to 10% of our Offices porifalio.

At Canada Water we have plans to develop a mixed use urban
centre with a compelling commercial and retait offer alongside a
range of public and leisure spaces and up to 3,000 homes. We have
cpportunities across our porifolio to develop a significant number
of future hames, so residential will play an increasingly important
role in the business, potentially comprising up te 10% of our
partfolio on a five-year view.

We will continue to refine our Retail portfolio to deliver 3 smaller,
mare focused business, primarily cormprising high quality, well
located multi-let assets with mixed use patential.

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019 ri



OUR INVESTMENT CASE IN ACTION

The scale and quality of

our portfolio

Over 80% of our assets are located within our campuses or multi-let
retail environments, which cater for a broader mix of uses reflecting
the evolving needs of our occupiers and their customers.

S

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019

Campus-focused London offices

Qur three office-led London campuses are lecated in central
Londan. They are well-connected and engaging places to
wark and spend time, with the right mix of world class offices,
retail, teisure and dining, helping our occupiers attract the
best talent for their business.

£8.3bn

assets under management

46,000

people work across our campuses

Becoming the specialist in
mixed use

Why mixed use?

We recognise that the way people use real estate is changing and
that the most eifective way to drive enduring demand for our space
1S ta evolve oaur offer in line with thase trends. Central ta this is the
bturring of boundaries between wark and leisure time. Increasingly
people expect to be able to socialise, exercise or be entertained
canveniently fo the office. They want to work in places which are
pleasant, safe and easity accessible from where they tive. These
factors underpin peaple’s decisions araund which companies they
work for, the places they shop and spend time. It helps businesses
attract and retain talent and supports their productivity and effectiveness.



Canada Water

At Canada Water our masterplan envisages office, retail,
residential. leisure and public spaces te create an exciting
new urban centre for London.

5 3 acre

development opportunity

3,000

new homes, including
affordable housing

How are we delivering it?

A year ago, we outlined the future shape of British Land,
comprising three core, complementary elements as part of
an increasingly mixed use business:

Campus-focused London offices: with a blend of core and
flexible space, including the further butld out of Storey,
integrated alongside a world class retail and leisure offering

- Asmaller, more focused Retail portfolio: high guality, well

located assets focused on a smaller number of on average
larger, multi-let places, especially those with mixed use petential

Residential, principally Buitd to Rent: 3,000 homes at Canada
Water with further apportunities within our portfolio

Retail

Our retail centres are around the country and reflect the
changing way people shop. Increasingly we are focused on
multi-tet locations within or close te urban areas which best
complement an omni-channel retail strategy.

£'4d Sbn

assets under management

61%

of the population falls within
the catchment of our portfolio

How does it deliver value?

A successtul mixed use strategy delivers long term sustainable
value by driving rental growth, maintaining occupancy and
increastng the value of our assets. By aligning our business to
the evolving needs of our custorners, and the people who use
our places, we drive enduring demand for our space, enabling
us to grow rents and add resilience to our future income
streams. The nature of our campuses and multi-let spaces
means that we control not just the buildings, but the spaces
between them. As such, investment we make into the broader
environment has a positive impact on the value of our assets for
the long term. We also have more flexibility to re-allocate uses
within our places over time to better reflect the needs of our
customers as they change, and therefore to ensure that we make
the best use of our butldings over the long term.

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019
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OUR INVESTMENT CASE IN ACTION

Our operational expertise

o and customer insight

QOur expertise in managing and leasing our assets, based
on our understanding of the customer, drives incremental
value for British Land and our stakeholders.

Asset management

As qur business becomes mare
operational, managing our space well is

a key advantage. We have the benefit of
our in-house property management team
who focus exclusively on British Land
properties. This year we moved the team
into our head office, to foster cross-team
collaboration and deliver efficiencies.

Leasing

Delivering the right mix of occupiers
at our London campuses and al our
multi-let retal spaces is an important
part of making our places successful.

Insight

We engage with businesses and people
whp visit and work in and arcund our
places to understand what they want
from real estate. We use rasearch -
and data {o understand when and how
our occupiers and customers use our
spaces. This helps us allocate the right
mx of space and ensures our occupiers
utilise their space more efficiently. We
collect data on which brands and

Based en aur undacstanding af the
customer, we are investing in our assets
to deliver more attractive and engaging
places. This inctudes a high guality public
realm, a wide-ranging programme of
events and activities and best in class
customer services.

Qur leasing teams are specialists in their
fields but draw upon exper tise across the
ousiness. Qur network of contacts on the
retail side 1s helping us build a diverse
retail and dining offer at gur campuses,
and we have significantly strengthened
our marketing expertise, better enabling
us 10 showCase space, particularty when
in development.

services people engage with and which
they would tike to see more of.

This research and daia generates
nsights whith support our asset
management and leasing decisians, for
example, shaping the way we allocate
space between a range of uses as well
as the occupiers we larget,
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This year, we established a Smart
Places tear, to deliver placemaking
at a digital tevel. We are equipping
our buildings with the tunctionatity

to rmeasure how space is used to
enhance efficiency and are developing
the ¢apabilities to automatically
personalise the working environment.

Storey, our flexible workspace business,
15 enabling us to serve new custamer
segments. This includes providing project
space ta our existing customers as well
as smaller scale businesses. The shorter
nature of Storey leases means we benefit
mare quickly from rental growth than we
otherwise would.

QOver the langer term view, this
ungerstanding provides valuable insight
inta which of our assets are performing
well, 50 we can make more informed
investment and divestment decisions to
allocate capital efficiently as we align our
portfolio to bepefit from long term trends
to drive value for our stakehalders.



At Paddington Central we have invested neartly £100m

into the transformation of the campus, including the
gevelopment of & Kingdom Street and a significant upgrade
to the public realm. We have successfully launched Storey
at 4 Kingdom Street, including Storey Club which provides
the higheslt guality meeting and events space for campus
occupiers. We have added 10 new retailers, significantly
changing the look and feel of the campus. These range from
Flykick, a kick-boxing inspired exercise studio, lo Vagabond
Wines, a wine bar, and the Grand Duchess, our second
floating restaurant.

This year we have leased more than 1m sq ft in offices,
including good progress on our campus developments which
are now 76% let or under offer. At Broadgate we let 739,000
sq ft of space in the year to a range of acoupiers, including
global advertising agency McCann, law firm Milbank and
Product Madness, an online garming platform. This wasin
addition to financial occupiers such as TP ICAP and Peel Hunt,
who have made long term comritments with us.

At Canada Water, we have been engaging with the local
community for many years through a range of initiatives,
buitding up a clear picture of local needs. In addition, we have
undertaken a detailed modelling exercise to project the likely
needs of the community as our developments pragreass and
this is helping to shape our offer in terms of the amount of
retail, leisure and community space required and how we
position and market this space to the right markels and
customers. This model builds on the expertise we have
developed across our campuses and retail centres, leveraging
our knowledge of the individual sectors but also developing
our understanding of the interdependencies and benefits of

a Mix of uses.
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London

campuses

A wider mix of uses,
to reflect changing
London lifestyles

Our three office-led mixed
use campuses are located
in some of London’s best
connected and most vibrant

neighbourhoods.

Across Broadgate, Paddington Central and Regent's Place
we manage more than 50 acres of central London, providing
vibrant and diverse places with excellent connectivity and
world class public space.

Qur campuses are 3 unique campelitive advantage for us;
here we control not just the buildings but the spaces
between them, allowing us to deliver environments that
reflect the evolving needs of madern, London lifestyles.
Today's businesses are focused on operating in buildings
and locations which enable them to attract and retain the
best talent. Enviranments gnd connectivity are key benefils
our campuses deliver, each prowiding access tc at least four
undergreund lines and Broadgate and Paddington Central
have Crossrail stations imrediately adjacent.

increasingly our customers are focused on flexibility. Within
our buitdings and across our campuses we offer a broad
range af space in terms of size, type and level of servicg,

In June 2017 we launched Storey, our flexible office brand.
catering to smaller ‘scale up” businesses of around 45
peaple and providing additional space ta existing occupiers
on more flexibte terms to facilitate expansion or house
project teams. Storey has quickly became an important
part of our campus offer, enabling us to aitract a broader
range of businesses to our places.

Reflecting growing demand for buildings which

aromote health and productivity, our developments

and refurbishments incorporate wetlbeing principles by
design. These include a focus an active design, air quality
and spaces where peopie can socialise and enjoy time
outside the office.

We recognise that businesses need to use space efficientty,
combining persanal and collabarative workspace, so our
designs thoughtfully balance this mix of demands, We also
{ook beyond our campuses; we invest in local communities
and our events and activities bring people together and
enliven our space for everyone who uses it.
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"Opening a place in London where people can buy, eat
and tearn is a very important and exciting milestone
for us. Being abte to bring our madel into a place that
is 50 significant stimulates us to create in London a
wonderful multi-functional experience.”

Luca Batfigo, CED, Eataly

“Paddington has been a great place to grow our
business! From a foed truck, we upgraded to a small
kiosk and now we have opened our flagship store here,
all within twa years. Footfall is high and we think the
area has great potential - that long term vision is
incredibly important to us. It's been a steep learning
curve, but we've felt very supported by British Land
and the Paddington team and we're reaily excited that
they're part of our journey.”

Marty Sykes and Torm Greenhill, Co-Founders
of Lords of Poké

“It was important for us to find a workplace partner
that can help our organisation to scale, rather than
just another office provider, who would work with
us to bring our vision to life. The Storey team continue
to play an impartant part in helping our organisation
be successful.”

Billy D°'Arcy, CEQ, BA! Communications



British Land has really
transformed Regent's
Place in the eight vears
that we've been there

119

Similarly, our business
has evolved significantly
in that fime, and will
continue to do so, As
such, it’s great to work
with a partner that
understands our needs
and is developing a
colluborative space for
our people and clients
that will also help us
work more efficiently in a
thriving London location.

99 Richard Sexton,
Director of Change
Management Office,
Dentsu Aegis Network
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Canada
Water

A new urban
centre for London

At Canada Water we are
masterplanning a Sm sq ft
mixed use scheme across
53 acres of central London.

The site is located between Londan Bridge and Canary
Wharf on the Jubilee line and has access to the London
Overgroung making it is eastly accessible to Canary Wharl,
the West End, Shoregditch and South West London. K witt
alse benefit significantly from the opening of Crossrail,
which will reduce pressure on the Jubilee line between
Canary Wharf and Bond Street.

Here, our ambition is to create a sustainable. new urban
centre for London, that supports the existing community
and attracts new people to the area to deliver 2 real sense
of neighbourhood. We have consulted extensively with local
people and cornmunity groups and their views have helped
to shape our plans.

Cur partner, the London Borough of Southwark, has the

appactunity to co invest in each phase an an individual basis,

closely aligning our interests.

Wellness and sustainability are at the centre of our plans.
Smartly designed buildings will be set around water and
green public spaces, together creating a vibrant destination
where people can live, work and be entertained throughout
the day and into the evening. Our design draws on the
heritage of the local area o provide a mix of space including
retail, office and leisure with capacity {or ¢.3,000 harnes
across a range of tenures and affardability.

Residential will play a key role in the regeneration of
Canada Water and will be an increasingly important part
of our business as we seek to focus on mixed use places.
Owning and managing people’s homes comes with a real
responsibility which will be at the forefront of our approach
as we build this business.

@CanadawWaterMasterplan

canadawatermasterplan.com

14  British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019

“We appreciate the interest and respect British Land

have for what we do. They have a long term vision and
we're part of that, it's like we've been brought inte the
subsoil and it's wondertul to be part of the conversation
around how this place comes together.”

Jane Riddiford, Co-Founder, Global Generation

“Canada Water is a great place for us to work - the

location is perfect for our students and tutors who

are delighted with our new home. We've found this
incredible space, and have really benefitted from
British Land's knowledge of the area and interaction
with the local community. We have lots of exciting
plans and look forward to growing with the
development and reaching more people who live here.”

Sally Carruthers, Executive Director, The Poetry Schaol

“Delivering our masterplan is a hugely complicated and

long term project. It will absolutely transform the local
area, 50 we have a real responsibility to engage closely
with local residents. We've done that at every stage
and we're thrilled with the level of local support aur
plans are generating.”

Emma Cariaga, Head of Operations at Canada Water,
British Land




The area is changing and
the masterplan builds on
that momentum...

19

What we look for is great
space, high footfall and

a catchment we think
would engage with

Pixsa 1889. British Land
tmmediately understood
what we were trying

to achieve here and

have a really strong
understanding of how
retail is evolving and the
role we can play within
that. The area has seen so
many changes in terims of
the environment and the
demographics and the
masterplan really reflects
where it'’s heading.

99 Dan Southwell,
Founder and CEOQ,
Pizza 1889
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Retail

Conventent and

engaging places
supporting a modern
approach to retail

In a rapidly-changing
market, only the best quality
space in the right locations
will succeed.

Our Retail portfolio is focused on places which support
maoadern retailers with an ormni-channel strategy to drive
demand for our space

In an evolving market, physical store netwarks remain
impartant ta successtul retailers, but their role is changing.
Increasingly, the true value of physical stores is as a
showroam or logistics network to support fulfitment of an
online sale.

Larger, regional centres best support the showroaming
function. They tend to offer a broad range of [eisure and
entertainment activities, attracting custorners from a wide
catchment for a whole day, and generating high footfail
This enables people to touch and try things on, boosting
sales even if they subsequently make the purchose online,

A physical network can support fulfilment in several ways.
Well-connecied stores, or those with the capacity to hold
stock, can support a ‘ship from store” approach, minimising
delivery times tor consumers who increasingly expect
purchases to arrive immediately. Centres with parking
widely available, or which are located near transport
interchanges, are also ideal for click and cotlect. Qur data
shows that click and collect customers are highly valuable,
spending on average nearly twice as much as a non-click
and collect custorner.

Looking forward, we are focusing our portfolic on assets
which benefit from these characteristics, but we recagnise
that the overall quantity of space that retailers require wilt
reduce, with only the best guality space in the right locations
being viable long term. Therefore on a five-year view,

we will be reducing our exposure to retail such that it
camprises ¢.30-35% of our total portfotio, down from 45%
today. We have already made substantial progress, with
£2.9bn of asset sales over the last five years.

However, our focus on mixed use places means that

retail will remain an integral part of cur offer. Qur campus
developments and our plans at Canada Water incarparate a
significant retail allocation as we seek to create places that
reflect today’s tifestyles.
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“"We opened our first centre at one of British Land's

shopping centres in 2014, when there was a much

more limited leisure offering in shopping centres. But
British Land were very forward thinking, they saw the
way retail was evolving and it was a great success for
both of us. We've since opened two more with British
Land. Meadowhall has high footfall, a strong catchment,
an excetlent occupier line up and a wide range of
facilities, so it was an ideal destination for us, and the
support we received from British Land both pre and
post opening has been fantastic.”

Heidi Duckworth, Executive Chairman, Rock Up

“To soar in today’s crowded market, your brand must

stand out, connecting emotionatly with consumers and
oftering them something special. It can be challenging
to do that if you're an online-only business. Opening
stores was a step-change for Hotel Chocolat, enabling
us to not only diversify into things we couldn’t have
dorte before but also to create a real sense of chocolate
theatre, adding an immersive experience that atlowed
us to interact with guests.”

Peter Harris, Co-Founder and Development Director,
Hatel Chocalat which has a store at Meadawhall and
Teesside, and coming soon to Fort Kinnard, Edinburgh

“We work with a lot of landlords, but two things set

British Land apart. First, they really understand the
custamer. They know who and how people shop across
the estate and that's a reat advantage. Second, they
understand that creating a great environment and
getting the service right is absolutely key. We're really
excited about opening at Meadowhall. It will bring us
closer to our customers and their feedhack is what
really helps develop the brand.”

Mike Rich, Head of Retail, Skopes




We opened a physical
store because that’s what
our customers wanted

19

One of the main reasons
we opened a physical
store was that our
customers started asking
Jor it. Meadowhall could
guarantee high footfall,
so it ticked a lot of boxes
Sfor us. British Land

are a forward thinking
landlord who understood
our passion for creating
something different.

The wider business is
Hourishing — sales are up
20%, that's not all down
to Meadoswhall, but the
store has given us extra
credibility and really
raised our profile in the
press and social media,
so we'll definitely be
opening more.

99 Darren Abbott
Director, Joe Browns
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OUR INVESTMENT CASE IN ACTION

Our distinctive
business model

Our business model is designed to deliver positive long term
outcomes for all our stakeholders.

Our inputs: what makes our model work

Relationships

Our custormners and partners

The communities who live and work

in and around our assets

Our suppliers and contractors

Activities: what we do

Design-led places in tune
with modern lifestyles

Enhancing and enlivening our space
to create a positive experience

Our outputs: what we deliver

Customers

High quality
environments
which help cur
customers succeed

18

Communities
Inclusive places
which create
cpportunities and
rnake a positive
lacal contribution

Placemaking

Connecting to local communities

Operational expertise
Our expert people

Culture of collaberation enabling
effective working across teams

Data and analysts tools providing
insight into customer needs

Investing and
developing
Creating development

opportunities in our portfolio
Igentifying new opportunities

Allocating capital to deliver

growth and returns

Places
People
Prefer

Employees
Suppartive and
inclusive culture
where people can
feel supported and
ampowered to
develap their skills
and experience
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World class property management

Smart and sustainable buildings

Qur finance
Appropriate leverage for current
and future plans

Diverse, efficient and flexible finances
from a range of sourcas

Partnerships which mitigate risks,
add expertise and help finance projects

Managing
our space
Enhancing the mix of uses
and accupiers at our places to
create diverse neighbourhoods

reflecting what matters to
our aoccupiers and the
people who use
our places

Partners Shareholders
Participation Sustainable and
in high quality responsible long

term ingome and
value creation

projects, benefitting
from our scale
and expertise




...and clear focus

We invest in long term themes to create vibrant
mixed use places for our stakeholders.

Customer Orientation — Responding to changing lifestyles

Our business is focused on our customers who are the how people use our space which informs our appreach to
organisations which have taken space at our assets. We also managing cur assets and guides our investment activity. This
consider carefully the needs of the people wha work, shap at or means we are always focused on the customer and deliver
visit our places and the communities whe tive in the surrounding places that are successful and suslainable long term.

neighbourhoods. We have developed a deep understanding of

Aligned to our sustainability pillar: Wellbeing — Create places that premote health, improve praductivity and
increase enjoyment

Right Places — Creating great environments

Our insight into the ¢ustomer helps us identify places which can same principles o cur retail spaces. which are around the
succeed long term. This underpins our focus an our Landon cauntry in places that are easily accessible from strong
campuses, where we can manage the environment to deliver a catchment areas. Qur 53 acre scheme at Canada Water,
broader mix of uses enabling people to combine their work and which will be mixed use from the start, is the best iltustration
letsure time, reflecting modern London lifestyles. We apply the of this approach,

Aligned to our sustainability pillar: Community — Make a positive contributton {ocally and behave so our places are
considered part of iheir local community

Capital Efficiency — Thoughtful use of capital

We are thoughtful in our apprcach to capital allocation and We balance this against acquisition opporiunities we see in the
carefully evaluate investment opportunities to support income market and investing in our own portfolio by buying back shares.
and returns for our shareholders. We have created opportunities At the same time, we monitar our leverage in the context of

far development within gur portfalio, which typically deliver wider decisions made by the business.

stranger returns, although with inherently higher risk.

Aligned to our sustainability pillar: Futureproofing — Protect and enhance asset value through environmental siewardship,
including energy generation and efficiency, matenials innovation and floed risk reduction

Expert People — Changing the way we work

Qur people strategy focuses on creating a team which can and in creating a working enviranment that supports wellbeing
deliver Places Peaple Prefer, We do this by attracting and and inclusion. We also recognise the importance of investing in
retaining people with a broad range of skills and experience and tomorrow’s warkfarce for our customers, suppliers and local

a diversity of backgrounds. We recognise that to keep people partners. We take action on this through Bright Lights, our skills
engaged in our business, we must invest in their development and employment prograrmme.

Aligned to our sustainability piltar: Skills and opportunity — Develop skills and opportunities to help tocal people and
businesses grow

Detail on our achievements and progress can be found within the KPI review on pages 20 to 21
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OUR STRATEGY

Delivering on our strategy

Focus area Achievements Priorities for the year ahead
Customer Continued investrment in technolagy driven - Davelop gur Smart Places product and rotl out
Orientation innovations and insights across the Offices portfolio
~ Smart Places team established and strategic vision - Launch 5[orey Club and standalone S[nrey offer
to deliver digital ptacemaking set cut ) ] . -
Digital f . led - Continue to manage the integration of British Land
- Digital plat orm capturing s§lgs data ro ed outto Property Management with British Land
€.1,000 retail eccupiers providing further insight into
the custemer and the performance of our assets - Leverage our data and nsights to develop
. . our office offer
Strengthened our operational expertise
- Storey now operational acress 141,000 sq ft, providing
flexiole space for existing occupiers and attracting new
occupiers to our campuses
Right Refine and refocus our Retail business ~ Continued Retail sales, progressing aur
Places - £646m sales of non-core or sotus assels strategic plan to deliver a smaller, more focused
_ Retait business
Progress developments, focusing on ) . }
Lendan campuses - Centinued investment in campus development
- 1 Finsbury Avenue completed and continued good - Achieve planning at Canada Water and
leasing progress across development pipeline, now commence development
5 -
76% pre-let ar gnder offer - Progress opportunity at Norton Fatgate
- Achieved planning on 1-2 Broadgate ) o
o . - Commence refurbishrment of Royat Victoria Place.
Progress residential business Tunbridge Wells
- Planning application submitted at Canada Water with
potentiat for 3,000 hermes in our masterplan
Capital Recycle capital to improve returns - Continue to take capital allocation gecisions based
Efficiency - £500m sale lour share) of 5 Broadgate onrelative vatue
- £359m residential sales and E446m retall sales ~ Maintain appropriate leverage
- £200m extension to share buyback completed
~ E£125m further extension to buyback announced
- Repayment of £223m of debt in the Broadgate Jv
releasing buildings for potentiat devetopment
Maintain appropriate leverage
- LTV remains low at 28.1%
- Flexible finance: £1.4bn new debt finance arranged
Expert Encourage cross-team coftaboration ~ Integrate our asset management and tegsing teams
People and shared learnings 1o 2Ct a5 3 single business across Retail and Offices
- Qffice and Retail asset management and l2asing - Reduce our gender pay gap
restructured under single leadership - Launch of EnaBle, our disability network
Enhance diversity across the business
- Top 10 performer in Hamptan Alexander Review
~ Successful year across our netwerks
Embed new corporate values
- Value-focused events and activities through the year
Total accounting return (TAR)
Delivering sustainable long term value
Total accounting return is our overall measure of performance. It is the dividend paid plus the change
in EPRA NAV per share.
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Performance

Risk indicators

Customer satisfaction

We extensively survey our customers and other users of cur places to assess our performance
and dentify apportunities for improvement.

Out of 10
Total property returns Speculative development commitment
We have underperformed the IPD benchmark Developrment supports value and future income growth,
this year by 550bps, reflecting the continued strength  but adds risk. We keep our committed development
of industrials where we have no exposure. expasure at less than 15% of our investment portfolio,
with a maximum of 8% developed speculatively.
Y% of standing investments
Loan to value {LTV) - proportionally Weighted average interest rate -
consolidated proportionally consclidated
We manage our LTV through the property cycle Our low cost of finance at 2.9% has contributed
such that our financial position weutd remain robust te reducing our interest cost, supporting our
in the event of a significant fall in property values. financial performance.

Employee engagement score

Consurner conlidence
Employment forecasts
for relevant sectors
Market letting risk
[vacancies, expiries,
speculative development}

Property capital return
and ERV growth forecasts

- Total development exposure
- Progress of developments

against plan

Speculative development
exposure

Financial covenant
headroom

Period until refinancing

is required

Percentage of debt with
interest rate hedging
Execution of debt financings

75% employee engagement score, 5% higher During the year we formally combined our British Unplanned executive
than the United Kingdom benchmark.* Land and British Land Property Management departures
businesses into our York House head office so the
201% employee engagement score relates to the
combined business, while historic figures relate to
British Land anly. For 2019, employee engagement
at British Land was 78%.
* Cuiture AMF 2018
This year our TAR was |3.3]% comprising a Forecast GDP

dividend increase of 3.0% to 31 pence per share
offset by a fall in EPRA NAY of 6.4% to 905 pence

The margin between
property yields and long

per share. term borrowing costs
Praperty capital growth
. and ERV growth forecasts
L.inks to remuneration: Long-Term Incentive Plan Annual Incentive Award Read more cn pages 100 to 103
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OUR INVESTMENT CASE IN ACTION

o A well positioned
development pipeline

Qur significant development pipeline positions
us well to capitalise on future market opportunities
in a thoughtful and risk managed way.

1.6m sq ft

Committed and recently
completed developments

Delivering

£63m

Future rent

16%

Pre-let or under offer

Completed

1 Finsbury Avenue

Qffice-led refurbishment at our
Broadgate campus providing a mix

of space including a cinema, catés

and flexible workspace alongside
conventional office space. The building
is 58% let or under offer with technology
companies Mimecast and Product
Madness among those taking space.

287,000 sq ft

PC Q12019

Commutted

1 Triton Square
Office led development
at Regent’s Place, fully
pre-let ta Dentsu Aegis
Network, an existing
occupier on the
campus. At 310,000 sq
ft this was the largest
West End pre-letin
more than 20 years,

366,000 sq ft

PC Q42020

135 Bishopsgate

Qffice-led development at our
Broadgate campus. The building is
90% pre-let or under otfer with futurs
occuprers including talian marketplace
Eataly. giobal advertising agency
McCann and interdealer broker
TPICAP.

335,000 sq ft

nC Q3 2019
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100 Liverpool St

Office-led development adjacent

to Liverpool Street station with

90,000 sq ft of retail and leisure space.
56% pre-let or under offer 1o occupiers
including financial services firms
SMBC Europe and Peel Hunt and

law firm Mitbank.

521,000 sq ft

I"C Q1 2020



Near term
pipeline

1-2 Broadgate

Office-led development on our
Broadgate campus which includes
153,000 sg it of retail connecting
Finsbury Avenue Square with retail
at 100 Liverpac! Street and the
Broadgate Circle to create a 350,000
sq it retail, leisure and dining hyb.

531,000 sq ft

Norton Folgate

Oftice-led redevelopment in
Shoreditch, integrating 298,000 sg
ft of office space alongside retail
and residential to creale a mixed
use space that draws on the
historic fabric of the area.

335,000 sq ft

Medium term pipeline

5 Kingdom Street

Oftice-led development at the western
end of Paddington Central, with 80,000
sq ft of space available for a broader
mix of uses including retail, dining and
evenis space.

429,000 sq ft

Canada Water, Phase 1a

Three buildings delivering a mix of
office, retall, leisure and residential with
265 homes planned across a range of
tenures and affordability.

576,000 sq ft

Sustainable development

We understand that, as a developer, we have a real responsibility to manage our
environmental and social impacts. In many cases, our first decistons are araund
how much of the existing structure we can retain, which reduces our embodied
carbon emissions. We always focus on minimising disruption fer our customers
and {ocal community and we work with partners to create a lasting positive
legacy, opening up oppartunities for local schoolchildren, students, jobseekers

and businesses.

For more information on our approach see case studies an 1 Triton Square page 67,
100 Liverpool Street page 115 and 1 Finsbury Avenue page 185,

Queen’s Award for Enterprise

This was our third year halding the Queen’s Award fer Enterprise,
the UK’s highesi business accolade, recognising our ecanemic,
sacial and environmental achievernents on our developments and

across our managed portfolio.
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UNIQUE MARKET INSIGHTS

Understanding our markets

Our insight into our customers underpins our understanding
of the key trends driving our markets.

Economic uncertainty/

Brexit

The UK ecanomic environment

has been uncertain since the EU
referendum in 2016. When the terms
of exit are agreed, we will enter a new
chapter in our relationship with the
EU and key trading partners to which
it will take time to adapt.

To date, the econamy has proved
mare resilient than many expected,
with unemployment remaining low,
particularly in London. Businesses
have continued to take space - an
impartant sign ot confidence, and
overseas investors have continued
to atquire London real estate.

In financial services, tha shiit of
persannel to Europe has been much
less than expected and in London
the technology sector is thriving with
invesiment of £4.5bn,” more than
France and Germany combined.

Leading global cities for
office investment 2018 (3bn)

24

Cyclical and structural
challenges in retail

There have heen profound structural
changes in the way we shop, with the
growth of online sales, which now
represent nearly 20% of the total and
we estimate that could grow to 40%.
This challenge, coupted with cyclical
pressures, including rising costs and
an uncertain economic outlook, has
put pressure on retailers to adjust
their operating models. Many have
not adapted quickly enaugh, resulting
in a series of high profile failures. -

Seme retailers are adapting
successfully and many new, primarily-
online operators also recognise the
key role that physical can play in an
omni-channel approach.

However, the gveratt volume of retail
space required will iikely decrease, as
retailers focus their physical networks
on high quality, differentiated space
that complements their cusiomers’
broader needs.

Intemet sales as a percentage
of total retail sales (%)
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Technology as a disruptor
and enabler

Technology is driving real change
in the way we use real estate.
Businesses can track the way
workspace is used to make more
informed decisions about their
requirements. We have the ability
to personalise light and temperature
or to make it respond to the cimate
outside. People can work remotely,
s¢ they no longer need to be in the
office, and prefer to work more
collaboratively when they are there.

Technalogy has already revolutionised
the way we shop and profoundly
changed the way retaners interact with
their custamers. Retailers increasingly
maonitar footfall, website clicks within

a store catchment and social media to
identify which sites work best as they
refine their physical footprint.

Technology presents a real appartunity
across the sector for operators who
can leverage s potential.

Real estate tech global
financing history



Growth of flexible
workspace

Demand for flexible and co-working
space Is increasing driven by the
growth of small and medium sized
businesses which now employ mare

than 50% of the workforce.? Typically,

these occupiers cannot make large
or long term commitrments, creating
a clear market for smaller floor
plates an more flexible terms, with
the benefit of pooled facilities like
meeting rooms, kitchens and gyms.

Large occupiers also see a role for
mare flexible space to accommodate

project teams or temporary overflow,

with 41% of large occupiers also
expecied to use Hexible cffice space
within three years?

Flaxible office space represents just
4% of 1otal rental steck, but is the
fastest growing component of office
taike up.

Flexible office take up, Central
London (% of total)

The war for talent
in London

London offers a unique cluster of
skilled labour across technology.
finance, media, creative industries
and the law as well as access to
capiial and cross-sector regulatton.
This co-locatian of some of the most
important inputs for new businesses
has underpinned London's success
as a leading glabal city.

Today it is the knowledge economy,
specifically technology, which is driving
that success, so access to talent is key.
Businesses frorm banking to fashion are
competing for people with the same
skill sets. At the same lime, employees
increasingly value the apportunity to
live, work and socialise in a way that
suits thermn, so employers must do
mare to attract the best people.

This means the quality of the
environment, the vibrancy of the
public realm and the mix of amenities
are increasingly what set businesses
apart as a place towark,

UK Unemployment rates
(aged 16 years and over)
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Focus on wellbeing

and sustainability

Increasingly, people are choosing to
work, shop or spend time in places
which have a positive impact on their
wetlbeing. People want space to work
collaboratively, to socialise and to
incarporaie exercise into their day.
This has implications for the sort of
facilities employers need to provide
and the sort of environments retailers
need 1o offer to drive footfall; as a
result, the ability to control the area
around a building is a key advantage.

Personalising the environment is one
of the newest ways to differentiate
space. Giving people more control
over light and temperature and
optimising air quality promotes
wellbeing and enhances productivity.

At the same time, employees want
to werk in buitdings with strong
environmental credentials, and to
wark for businesses that take their
enviranmental responsibitities
seriously.

Top reasons for green building
in the UK (%)

b
2]



STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Shaping our thinking

We engage with a wide range of stakeholders to inform our
thinking. It takes a diversity of perspectives to deliver outstanding

places and positive outcomes for all our stakeholders.

Key issues

Why we engage

How we engage

Customers The way people work, shop Understanding the We underiake ¢.26,500 visitor
and live is changing and their businesses and the peaple surveys each year. We have
expectations for places where wha use aur space heips us built a digitai platform that
they spend time and the provide places which meet enables data sharing with
standard of services they a wider range of needs. our retail occupiers and
receive are ingreasing driving long term demand we laverage social media

for our space to keep our customers
informed across the business

Communities Social chatlenges around We thrive when our Our Local Charter guides
equality, health, skills, communities prasper. how we engage with local
in-work poverty, affordable Understanding our people and partners to
housing and sociat conesion, communities helps us make a positive difference.
as well as environmental create successiul, inclusive His integrated into all our
concerns and local Issues places that contribute to placemaking plans and

the prosperity of the wider activities, intluding
neighbourhood and are cornmunity consultation
altractive to customers and partnership projects

Employees Attracting and retaining tatent To understand how we We encourage open and
in a competitive market can best pravide a constructive discussions

supportive workplace throughout the business;
with career apportunities employees can feed back in
that enrich experience, the annual company survey,
develop skill sets and at regular town hall meaetings
promote wellbermng or through a range of
employee networks

Partiers Promoting our ethical and To help us teverage the range As an expert partner, we
corporate governance of expertise across existing believe that aligning interests
standards across jont venture and potential suppliers, joint creates grealer mutual
pariners and supptiers. venture partners and debt benefit. We have shared our
Engaging with debt investors, providers to suppori us in strategy and expectations
enabling them to better delivering outstanding places at supplier conferences and
understand cur business assign key cantacts to build

close working relationships

Shareholders Delivering income and capital We have 3 clear responsibility We offer key shareholders

growth over ihe lang term
it the context of broader
market uncertainty

to engage with shareholders
as the owners of our business
and thair views are an
important driver of

our strategy

the apportunity to meet

with management cn a
one-to-one basis and engage
more broadly through invesior
events. A range of information
from tinanciat perfoermance to
blogs from our CED is also
available on our website
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Through our strategy we also

We respond to these stakeholder issues through our strategy help address global challenges

Customer Orientation Wellbeing
Respeonding to changing Create places that
lifestyles promote health, improve
productivity and increase
enjoyment
Our sustainability focus areas
support the UN's Sustainable
Developrent Goals [SDGs].
Learn more an pages 28 lo 29
Right Places Community
Creating great Make a positive
environments contribution locally

and behave so our
places are considered
part of their local

community
We are committed to adopting the
recommendations of the Task Force
. : Climate-related Financial
tienc Futureproofin on .
Capital Efficiency reprooling Disclosures and have established
Thoughtful use of capital Protect and enhance a Steering Commitiee to progress
asset value through towards TCFO alignment.

environmental
stewardship, including
energy generation and
efficiency, materials
innovation and flood risk

Learn more on pages 62 to 64

reduction
Expert People Skills and Non-financial
Ehanging the way we wark opportuiuty reporting statement
Develop skills and Our non-financial reperting includes
opportunities to help environmental matters, employees,
local people and human rights, social matters and
businesses grow anti-bribery and cocruption.
See our statement on page 44
Far more information an our For more information on
carporate strategy see page 19 our sustainability strategy

see pages 28 to 29
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OUR 2020 SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY

Our 2020

sustaimability strategy

Aligned to the corporate strategy, our sustainability strategy
is built around four focus areas, which address major social,
economic and environmental trends to create value for our

stakeholders and the business.

British Land has been a signatory to the UN Global Compact
since 2009 and our sustainability focus areas support several
of the UN Sustainable Development Goals [SDGs), as outlined
here, Goal 17, on Partnerships, underpins all our activities.

Next year witl be the final reporting date for our 2020 targets.
We have made excellent progress against many, while facing
challenges with others. More information can be found in our
Sustainability Accounts and on our website.

We are currently engaging with people across our business,
key stakeholders and external experts io develop our post 2020
sustainability strategy, which we will lsunch next year.

Our performance on sustainability indices
We use industry-recognised indices to track our
suslainahility performance.

Global Real Estate Sustainability
Benchmark 2018: Green Star

CDP 2018: MSCI ESG Leaders tndex*
A- score 2018B; AAA rating
FTSE4Good index 2018: DJS! World 2018

Tap 96" percentile Top 92" percentile

* MSCHdisclaimer available at
britishland.com/susiainabitity/perfarmance/benchmarks
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Our focus areas

Wellbeing

Community

Supporting UN Sustainable Bevelopment Goals

2019 progress on 2020 targets includes

Geveloped our air quality
framework, engaged with
stakeholders on pedestrianisation
opportunities and partnered
with City Air Tech to pilot an

air purifying green wall {2020
target: pilot three interventions
to imprave air quality}.
Published ‘Design for Life’
research on the potential
econormic benefits ot
placemaking for wellbeing,
partnering with WP| Economics
12020 target: achieved earlyl.

Submitted evidence for WELL
cectificaticn at 100 Liverpaol
Street, where we are targeting
Gold, working with our suppliers
to design for wellbeing and
productivity (2020 target:

deliver WELL certified officel.

t

92% pregress on our Local
Charter at our places [2020
target: 100%), investing

£1.8m to make a lasting
positive difference to cur

tocal communities.

17% employee skiils-based
volunteers,' up from 16% in
2018 {2020 rargel: 20%). as
we partner with CASS Business
Schocl to develop and suppori
skilled volunteers, maxtmising
societal impact.

81% employee volunieering
(2020 target: $0%!.! Although we
tontinue 1o cffer colteagues up
to four days’ paid time off wark
for volunteering each year, we
recognise that greater value is
created through skills-hased
volunteering. so this is where
we are increasingly focusing.

1. Volunieering figures currenily exclude our property management tearn, formerly
Broadgate Estales Lid, which was brought in-house this year



Far more sustainability performance data, including progress on cur 2024
targets and EPRA indicatars, see pages 195 to 197 of this Report

For our full sustainability performance dala, see our Sustainability Accounts

2019: britishland .com/data

To find out where we repart an the key areas of the Non-Financial Reporting

Directive, see page 44

Futureproofing

Skills and opportunity

- 10% average reduction in
embodied carbon emissians
versus concept design an our
major developments (2020

target: 15% reduction). This
builds on a decade of work on
embodied carbon, commissioning
and publishing studies and
partnering with our supply chain
te improve performance.

44% reduction in landlord energy
intensily across our portfolio
versus our 2009 baseline, through
our efficiency programrme, working
with property teamns and partners
(2020 target: 55% reduction,

index scored).

96% of electricity purchased from
renewable sources (2020 target:
100%} and installation of the UK's
targest shopping centre sclar array
at Meadowhall.

- 393 people supported into jobs

through Bright Lights, our skills and
employment prograrmme, bringing
the total to 1,232 since 2014,
working with suppliers, customers
and local partners [2020 target:
1,700). Building on the success

of Starting Out in Retail pre-
employment course, we launched
Starting Cut in Buitding Services
and piloted Retrain in Retail.

Since the launch last year we

have signed up 34/64 strategic
suppliers to our new Supplier Code
of Conduct (2020 target: 100%|}, and
overall 774 suppliers are signed up.

2.4% of our prioritised suppliers’
UK workforce are apprentices
{2020 target: 3%|. With
unemployrment at a record low,
changes to education funding and
other external factors, our fogus is
increasingly on upskitling people
and supporting peapte who face
barriers to employment into work.

Partnerships
for the goals

Through our award-winning partnership
with the National Literacy Trust, we have
hosted fun literacy events for ever 40,000
children and given more than 120,000 tree
books since 2012, changing lives.

Hear from some of our

partners, as we work together

to make a greater difference:

“Research shows that children who
enjoy reading, read more and goon
to have better opportunities in life.
British Land takes us to the heart of
many communities that we want to
reach. Our collaboration is the
largest and longest partnership
between a business and charity to
improve literacy in the UK. The results
show how businesses can transform
educational outcomes.”

Jonathan Douglas of the National
Literacy Trust

“The Recruitment & Skills Centre
at Fort Kinnaird contributes to
Edinburgh’s economic strategy,
supporting jobseekers inta jobs and
reducing in-work poverty by helping
people progress in their careers.
When the public and private sectors
share common goals and work together,
we can achieve so much.”

Rhona McLinden of Capital City
Partnership, Edinburgh
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EXPERT PEOPLE

Changing how we work
to deliver our strategy

Our culture is evolving in line with our increasing focus on mixed use.

As we progress this strategy, we are focused on the needs of the
businesses, peaple and communities who live, work and visit our
places. Qur warkforce is made up of people who understand and
reprasent customers’ needs and perspectives and reflect this in

their daty work to create Places People Prefer.

Our values ibelow) define our ways of working at British Land and

connect us every day to our vision, purpose and strategy.

We have identified four key themes of workplace culture which

support our business strategy, to become more inclusive, more

flexible, more ¢reative and more responsible.

30

Bring your whole self

~ Feel free to be ourselves and

help others feel the same

- Bring all our passion
and energy to what we do

- Be open and inclusive

Listen and understand

- Take the time to listen
and feed back

- Listen with respect
and without judgement

- Base our actions on what
we learn

Be smarter together
~ Bring together the
right team
- Own our responsibitities
- Support each other
to succeed

Build for the future
- Aniticipate needs and
lead with courage
~ Grow our expertise and
learn from our experience
~ Be accountable for
the legacy we leave

Read mare ahout our inclusive culture and
diversity at britishland.com/inclusive-culture
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More inclusive

At British Land we celebrate inclusivity as part of our corporate
cutiure. Many initiatives are led by groups of employees. Above all
our workplace is 2 ptace where employees can be themselves.

Qur CED Chris Grigg is at the forefront of this change and

for the fourth consecutive year was ranked in the top 30 of

Ally Executives by OUTstanding and the Financial Times. He

is supported by Darren Richards, our Head of Real Estate and
Executive Committee member, who heads our Inclusive Culture
Steering Committee. A Corporate Social Responsibility Committee

. of the Board which has recently been established, chairad by

Non-Executive Director Alistair Hughes, also has oversight of the
development of our culture,

We have well-established networks and farums which are led
hy employees hoth 2t work and outside the office. Thase have
continued ta thrive, hasting a total of 27 events this year.

We recognise our role in supporting the wellbeing and mental
health of our employees. Dur Welloeing Commitiee has trained 47
employees as Mental Health First Aiders. The team have created a
Wellbeing Roam to provide people with a calm retreat which can
be used by employees during the working day.

In February we hosted an event for our occupiers at 201 Bishopsgate
alongside Lord Holmes to launch a Women's netwaork for the building.

We remain in the top 10 best performers in the Hampton Alexander
review with over 33% wormnen {the recommended amount} in the
combined Executive Committee and Direct Reports. We are in the
Top 50 Social Mobility Employer index up from position 85 and are
just autside the top 100 for the Stonewall UK Equality index.

We continue to recagnise that it will be a long and steady path to
reduce our gender pay gap and we remain facused on this with onr
Executive tearm who have a joint management objective to reduce
the gap progressively. Our gender pay gap is discussed in the
conversation with Chris Grigg on page 6 and mare information can
be found at britishland.com/gender-pay-gap. Our gender split can
be tound on page 112

Building a more inclusive workforce for the future, our summer
internship programme recruits from a variety of backgrounds, and
for the sixth consecutive year, we have supporied the Pathways

to Property programme. Across our portfolio, over 35,000 peaple
benefitted from our skills, employment and educatignat initiatives
in the year.



More flexible

Like our customers, many of our employees wish to work more
ftexibly, to better balance their personat and professional lives.
To accommodate this, we ensure that all employees have the
technalogy to work flexibly and are pleased that 15% do so on a
formal basis.

To keep our people engaged in their work, we invest in training
and development, enabling thern to work across different projects,
developing new skill sets and building their experience. This year
we invested more than £400,000 to train and devetop our people.

We work with Cambridge University to run a Leadership in

Real Estate pragramme. 75 of our staff have benefitted from
this programme since it was launched in 2014. Aligned with
cuitural changes across the business, we have delivered the
‘Performance through People’ pregramme in partnership with
Ashridge Executive Education to support British Land managers
in their role and we offer a range of anbine resources to help
employees develep their skills.

Investing in tomorrow’s workforce is a key priority for British Land,
our custormers and partners, and this means we continuously need
to evolve the way we work to accommodate the needs of people at
different stages of their lives. This includes reviews of our policies
and benefits, as well as the way we recruit, hire and train.

More creative

We recognise the importance of collaborative working practices
to enhance creative ideas and thinking. Across our portfelio,

we create places that encourage innovation through collaboration
and connection and we take the same approach with aur

own warkspace.

The renovation of our head office in 2015 beiter integrated

the different teams within our business and provided mare
collaborative space. This year, we went further, intreducing agile
working so people get ta work with different teams on a regular
hasis and, in addition, can work in shared space at our assets,
providing a real insight into the custemer experience. We believe
this environment encourages people to be maore entrepreneuriat
in their thinking.

More responsible

We recognise that as an owner and manager of space we have

a real responsibility to the people who occupy, visit or live in

and around it. In May 2018 we sold the third party portfolio of
Broadgate Estates, our property management gusiness which now
facuses exclusively on our own portfolio. This year, we integrated
this business within British Land and it now sits within our head
office. This reflects the important role that customer services
plays in our business as we progress our strategic focus on mixed
use places.

We encourage all our people to support locat communities
through volunteering and are pleased that 81% of the British Land
team was involved volunteering this year, inctuding roles as charity
trustees and school governors. Since 2017, 48 employees have
signed up to the Step an Board programme, an externzl service
that supports employees 1o valunteer as non-executive directors
and trustees of chanities and voluntary organisations.

Our "Quarterly in Canversation’ (QIC] group of senior managers i1s a forum which facilitates discussion across teams, generaling new
ideas and enabling our teams to learn fram each other’s experience. t meets guarterly with the CEQ and /or a member of the Board,
providing a two-way dialogue that keeps people at every level of the business better informed.
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW

Focused on our strategy

£12.3bn

Portfolio valuation

6.4 years

Weighted average lease length to first break

(0.9)% 97.2%'

Total property return Occupancy rate

(1.6)% (4.8)%

ERV movement Valuation movement

1. Where occupiers have entered CVA or administration but are stitl liable for rates,
these are lreated as occupied. )f unils expecled o became vacant are tregied as
vacant. then the occupancy rate would reduce from 97.2% 1o 96.9%

Market backdrop

Macro-economic context

The backdrop through the year was dominated by the ongoing Brexit
process. The UK recorded only moderate GOP growth and the rate
of growth slowed in the final quarter. Business confidence remained
fragile and dectined overall, with companies slowing investment
decisions in the context of 3 possible 'no deal’ scenarig. Consumer
sentiment remained subdued, albeil stable. A number of torecasters
including the Bank of England have reduced their growth prajections
for the coming year with the outlook mixed, Unemployrment remained
tow at under 4%, the towest tevel since 1375 and real wage growth
strengthened as levels of employment continued at record highs.

London market

The London tnvestment market remained gaaod, with £14ba of
transactions in 2018, slightly down on 2017, but more than any
other major city giobally. Overseas buyers, who accounted for
rnore than 80% of deals remained active, although the make up

of buyers continued to evolve with demand from China and Hang
Kong easing, but demand from South Korea, Australia and the
Middle East growing. There was however a notable pause in the
early part of 2019 as Brexit uncertainty increased and the theme of
polarisation in investment demand continued as activity focused on
high guality, well-let or trophy assets, with tess prime properties
pricing below expectations and at generally wider yrelds.

The occupational market continued to show resilience with

abiove average take up. Serviced offices were the largest single
component of demand accounting far 17%, with banking ard
finance representing 16%. Vacancy is in line with the 10 year
average and year-an-yeac, incentives were largely unchanged,
with prime rents maderately up in both the West End and the City.
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Pricing has continued to polarise, with well designed, new or
refurbished space achieving a significant premium. This is
evidenced by the fact that c.65% of all space under construction for
detivery in 2079 is already pre-let. Supply has remained relatively
constramed and some 30% of space previously expected to be
delivered in 2020 is not yet under construction, suggesting
development starts continue to be pushed back.

Annual house price growth remained relatively subdued at 0.7% in
March 2019 and was weakest in London and the South East, which
reported declining prices. The market for prime and super prime
continues to be challenging, with demand from overseas buyers
reduced partly due to political uncertainly in the UK and globally.
as well as changes o rules on capital gains tax on property
disposals for overseas investors.

Retail market

Retail investment markets were weak reliecting continued
negative sentiment around the long term role of physical retail.
Hawever, therg is robusi demand for wett-let individual assets with
strong occupational characteristics or alternative use potential.
Investment volurries for mutti-1et assets have been low and those
that have transacied have often been a1 significant discounts to
book vatue. Towards the end of the financial year however, it
bacame apparent that for certain types of multi-let assets,
valuations reached a point where return profiles were atiracting
interest fram a deeper pool of investars.

The occupational market remained challenging as more retailers
have entered CVA or administration, resulting in store closures,
All retailers are working to optimise their store neiworks ta have
the right footprint to succeed in an omni-channel environment.
They are focused on the optimal number of stores they need and
how much they are witling to pay for them and key to this is the
quality and connectivity of the locations. As a result, we have seen
polarisation trengs accelerate with the best quality, best located
retail assets, in the sirongest demographic tocaiions which are
right sized and affordable to retailers continuing to parform
relatively well whereas secondary locations. of those which

are {00 big to reflect local demand, have struggled.

Despite these challenges, many retailers continue to perform well
and successful new entrants continue ta emerge - as has always
been the case. However, whilst the key Christmas trading pericd
was generally stronger than expected. the market is set to remain
challenging overall. Since the end of our linancial year we have
seen a high profite CVA from Debenhams.

Campus-focused Lendon offices

Al cur London campuses, we Create and manage some of the best
cannected, most accessible space in London, all located in vibrant
and exciting neighbourhoods. They provide world ¢lass, modern
and sustainable offices alongside public spaces wiih all the mix

of amenities penple expect of a madern warkplace. These unigue
campus benefits are the result of specific investment over many
years and represent a clear attraction to businesses seeking te
hire and retain the best people.



Peopte and businesses are working more flexibly, and their needs
change over time, driving demand for quabity office space on more
flexible terms. This is what Storey, our Hexible workspace offer
provides. It is operational across alt three of our campuses and is
anintegral part of our offering. It is differentiated from other flexible
office offerings in allowing occupiers to personalise high quality
office space through their own branding whilst benefitting from
shared amenities in the building and all the benefits our campuses
offer. The average size of our Storey customers is 43 employees, and
with an average lease length of around twe years it complements
our core office offer while attracting a new market segment to
British Land: relatively new, fast-growing 'scale up’ businesses,
and specific standalone divisions of larger companies.

Retail will continue to play an increasingly prominent role within
our campuses, notadly at Broadgate, where cur development
pipeline will deliver an additional 395,000 sq ft of non-office space,
focused on retail, leisure and dining space. This will predominantly
be at ground floor, so although the total allocation will be just 12%,
it makes a highly visible contribution ta the campus, and has been
instrumental in helping us sign a more diverse range of occupier.

A smaller, more focused Retail portfolio

Structural change in retail is fundamental and engeing. Recognising
this, we have been refining our Retail portfolio far several years and
have made good progress with £2.9bn of asset sales since 2014

We have a clear view of the role retail will ptay in our business long
term. We will focus on assets which are best placed to support the
changing role of physical retail and enable retailers ta succeed in

an increasingly omni-channel world, They will be high quality, well
connected multi-let centres accessible lo catchment areas with
attractive demegraphics. They will have strong market positions, be
affordable to retailers, appropriatety sized ta reflect their local market
and have the potentiai to becorne increasingly mixed use over time.

Laoking forward, we aim to reduce our Retail business te 30-35%
of the total, based an current valuations over the next five years.
This implies further asset sales into a market which is currently
mare challenging and is likely to remain so in the shart term.

In this context, we will remain patient and opportunistic in our
approach and enly progress disposals at the right price, which
deliver clear value and progress our lang term strategy.

Residential, principally Build to Rent

Build to Rent residential is complementary to our existing expertise
and additive to our mixed use strategy. The market is underpinned by
sound fundamentals, with housing generally undersupplied relative ta
demand and ability to buy constrained, making renting an atiractive
option for a growing number of people. Added to this, ownership is
relatively fragmanted, creating an opportunity for professionally-
managed, quality space especially in London and the Scuth East.

More details on the partfalio, praperty performance, individual
developments and assets sold and acquired during the year can be
found in the detailed supplementary tables on pages 186 to 194

Storey

Storey, our flexible workspace offer, launched in June 2017.
Itis a deliberately differentiated concept, providing quality
workspace on a short term basis. Occupiers have the ability
to brand the space themselves whilst benefitting from the
shared facilities in the buildings and the amenities across
the wider campus. It has become integral to our campus
offering, helping us attract new businesses, typically from
the technelogy or creative sectars, as well as providing
overflow or project space for occupiers on our core space.

Two years in, it is operational across 141,000 sq ft and
our plans will more than double this to include standalone
buildings as well as space of our campuses.

Progress ¢h our strategy

Strategic Indicative S-year

priority business mix Progress .

Campus-  55-60% - Proegressing development an our

focused . campuses and de-risking through
Of which .

London Storey ¢ 5% pre-lets with 76% of our recently

Offices yc.a% completed and cormmiited

developrnents now tet or under offer
to a broad range of occupiers

- Creating options with 2.7m sq ft
of planning consents achieved

- Storey operational across
141,000 sq ft on all three
campuses with further 161,000 sq
ft sdentified [inct. standatone tocations)

- Smart Places team established

with a clear strategy to deliver digital

placernaking across ur places
Refocused 30-35% - Eb4bm of assets sold since April
Retail 2018, marginally above book value

including a mix of solus, leisure and

multi-iet assets
Residential c.10% - Further good progress at Clarges
principally Mayfair, with 23 units completed in
Build to the year, bringing total completed
Rent units to 25, a further two exchanged

and three under offer

- Canada Water planning application
submitted including 3,000 homes

- Further opportunities across
our portfolio
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW CONTINUED

Business review

(1.6)%

ERV movement

£239m

Acquisitions

Lettings and renewals

+0.4%

Portfolio performance

2.7m sq ft

T

Watuation ERY Yield prop:'r:;

Valuation movement growth shift relurn

At 31 March 2019 m % % bps %
Qffices 6,308 1.1 1.4 +2 4.9
Retail 5877 (111 (38 +37 (5.6]
Residential 128 (4.4) na na (1.6]

Canada Water 303 i0.8) na na 31
Total 12,316 14.8) (1.6) +19 (0.9)

The portfolio value was down 4,8% overall, with Retail valuations
down 11.1%. Offices were 1.1% ahead, driven by developments
which were up 11.3%. The Offices portfolio saw positive ERV
growth, halanced across the City and West End with yields
broadly fiat. In Retail, investor sentiment remained negative

with CVAs and administrations putting further pressure on rents,
driving yield expansion and ERV decline. These difficulties were
most pronounced in department stores and smaller multi-let
centres in areas with weaker demographics.

Offices performed in line with the Londoen Office benchmark
although underperformed All Offices by 100bps due to the strength
of regional offices within the index. Retall underperfarmed the
Retail benchmark, which saw values down overall. Multi-let centres
in weaker demographic locations which weare disproportionately
impacied by CVAs underperfarmed overall compared ta the
benchmark which includes long let assets which were typically
less impacted. As a result and reflecting the continued strength of
industrials where we have na exposure, the portfalio underpertarmed
the IPD all property total return index by 550 bps over the period.

14

£1.5bn

Lettings and renewals ahead of ERV

Disposals
Capital activity
Canada

Difices Retaill Residantial Water TJoral
From 1 April 2018 Em £m Em £m £m
Purchases 129 116 - - 239
Sales’ {5001 {646 (359] - (1,509
Developrment
Spend 212 31 1 21 275
Capital Spend 20 33 - - 53
Net Investment (1391  (472) (348} 21 {9381
Gross Investment 841 820 370 21 2,072

On a proportionally consotidated basis including the Group’s share of joint
ventures and funds

Includes sale of Richmond which exchanged in FY18 and completed in the
current year for £45m. Includes sale of 12 Sainsbury's supersicres which
exchanged post year end for £194m. Includes Clarges residential sales of
£359m. of which £253m exchanged prior to FY 19 and completed in the year
and €£18m exchanged post year end

We have completed or exchanged on £1.3bn of asset disposals
since 1 Aprit 2018, bringing the total gross vatue of our invesiment
activity since 1 April 2018 to £2.1bn. In Retail, we made sales of
€646, cormnprising a mix of non-core malti-let centres and
standalone retail or leisure assets. Overall, sales were marginally
ahead ot book value, with multi-let centres generally transacting
at a discaunt, and solus assets, particularly those with good
alternative use potential, generally achieving a premium fo book
value. We acquired Royal Victoria Place in Tunbridge Wells at

the start of the year for £92m:; the centre offers good mixed use
paiential and 1s well located in London’s commuter belt.

We love being part of the Storey community. Before moving into our space in Appold Street we were part

of a co-working office, but with our team growing, we were at the stage where we had to get something of our
own. We needed something flexible, but representative, and we definitely found exactly the right fit. Storey
has been absolutely brillient not only in helping us find the ideal office, but also in making sure everything
runs smoothly for our team every day. The Storey team are a delight to work with, and I'm excited to see

how the community grows in the future.

%9 Chris McCullough, CEQ & Co-Founder, Rotageek
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In Offices. the most sigmficant transaction in the period was the
sale of 3 Broadgate for £1bn (our share £500m] in line with book
value. Qveralt, this development generated a total property return
of 18% per annumn for British Land.

At Clarges, our prime residential-led development in Mayfair,
we completed on the sale of 23 units in the year for £335m,

bringing total completed units to 25 with receipts totalling £359m.

We have exchanged on two further units, bringing completed and
exchanged sales to £383m with seven units remaining, of which
three are under offer. Clarges has been a highly successful
scheme for us, having delivered total profits of £200m to date
with £34m sales to go, ex¢luding thase already under offer.

Data and insights

We are continuing tc leverage cur insight into our places, which
is grounded in the data we collect across the portfolio on the
people who work at, visit and live around our centres and
campuses. This data shows how users interact with our spaces;
for example how they choose to spend their time and monay,
which brands they engage with and what they think of our
facilities and services. Qur understanding is informing
development strategy at our campuses and providing vatuable
evidence in leasing discussions in an environment where brands
are very focused on taking the right physical space.

This year, we rolled cut a new data and analytics platform, whereby
nearly 1.000 retailers, representing two-thirds of our pertfolio
contribute sales data in exchange for reports and benchmarking,
providing our occupiers with a real insight into their customer base
and helping us build a clear picture of which occupiers and centres
are performing weli, Over time, this information guides our asset
management and aur investment activity, helping us allocate
capital efficiently,

At Canada Water, we have used insight tc project the likely needs
of the community as the scheme progresses and this is shaping
the amount of retail, leisure and community space in our plans.
This modelling builds on the expertise we have developed across
our campuses and retail centres by factoring in the benefits of a
mix of uses tor placemaking.

Sustainability

Sustainability is integral to how we manage our business.

Our activities have a real impact on the environment, our
customers and local communities and we recognise our
respensibility to manage those impacts. This year we published
"Design for Life’ research, quantifying the potential ecanomic
benelits and individual boost of putting wellbeing at the heart

of urban design, which is core to creating Places People Prefer.
Sustainability is integrated into the standard tools we use across
our business, from our Sustainability Brief for Develepments,
now in its 15" year, to our Local Charter, which sets out five ways
we make a lasting positive difference to our local communities.
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW CONTINUED

At 100 Liverpool Street, our largest on-site development around
half of the original structure and foundations were retained,
saving 7,200 tonnes of embodied carbon, with a further 4,100
tonnes set to be saved through carbon-efficient design and the
use af low-carban materials. We have warked hard to minimise
the impact of this develepment for customers, for example by
using an off-site consolidation centre to combine deliveries,

we achieved a 20% reduction in trucks coming to the site.

We atso worked closely with London transport partners to
ensure that transport connections were unaffected and with
local shops and businesses whao lost no trading days.

Across our Broadgate developments, we are working in
partnershig with cur main contractor, Sir Robert McAipine, to
create a positive local legacy. Over 3.300 people have benetitied
from our Broadgate construction team’s community aclivities
over the last twa years, including local scheolchildren, jobseekers
and people affected by homelessness. Over 40 apprentices

and trainees have developed their skills through our Braadgate
canstruction activity aver the same pertod. We are also ensuring
that our projects directly benefit lacal businesses. For example,
58% of construction spend at 100 Uiverpool Street so far ((59m)
has been spent in the City and neighbouring boroughs.

At our managed assets, we continue to support people into work
thraugh Bright Lights, our skills and emptayment pragramme. At Fort
Kinnaird, Edinburgh, the Recruitment & Skills Centre celebrated its
fifth anniversary this year. Winner of the Estates Gazette Collaborators
Award 2018, our innovative collaboration involves councils in East
Lothian, City of Edinburgh and Midlothian and partners such as the
Capital City Partnership, Department of Work and Pensions and Skills
Development Scotland. Since opening, the Centre has trained 2,643
people and helped 3,585 peopleinto work, supporting around 140
employers eachyear, including our custorners, This improves
opportunities for people in surrounding neighbourhoods and creates
the skilled workfarce that our customers value.

(19

We just wanted to serve reully good wine and

fish - British Land gave us an opportunity to do
something really special, and people seem to really
enjoy that. We get a lot of positive feedback on the
area, particularly from people who remember it
decades ago and they're amased by how much

it's come together with the canal at its heart,

and it's getting better and better.

,, Harry Lobek, Director, London Shell Co
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Our strong sustainability performance is reflected in our rankings
on external ESG indices, including a green star rating for the
ninth consecutive year in the Global Real Estate Sustainability
Benchmark [GRESBI, COP A- score {2017: B and inclusion in the
FTSE4Gaod and Oow Jones Sustainatulity Indices 2018. This year,
while we maintained our strong absolute performance in GRESS,
our relative ranking reduced to 4-stars. We have established a
Steering Committee to progress meeting the recommendations
of the Tasklorce on Ctimate-related Financial Disctosures and
continue to reduce carben and energy intensity across the
portfotio, this year achieving 4% and 44% reductions, respectively,
against our 2009 baseline.



Campus-focused London Offices

Operational and financial highlights

~ Portfolio value up 1.1%, with the City up 1.9%
and West End up 0.7%

- Yields flatin the City, with moderate expansion
in the West End +3bps

- ERV growth of 1.4% across the portfolio

- Activity generating like-for-like income growth
of 4.9%

- Leasing activity covering 1.1m sq ft, adding
£21m to future rents

Campus operational review

80% of our Offices are located on our three central London
campuses, each benefitting from excellent transport connectivity
and vibrant local neighbourhoods which are an impertant part of
their appeal. Across these spaces we have made good progress
on our strategy to expand the mix of uses, which in the context
of our campuses means an enhanced leisure, dining and
entertainment offering.

Broadgate

More than half cur leasing activity this year has been al Broadgate,
where we made 739,000 sq ft of leitings and renewals and agreed
rent reviews on a further 152,000 sq ft of space, overall 4.5% ahead
of ERV. The most significant included McCann, one of the world's
leading advertising agencies and TP ICAP, the global interdealer
broker wha signed for 127,000 sq ft and 123,000 sq ft respectively
at 135 Bishopsgate, hoth for a 15 year term.

At 100 Liverpool Sireet, Milbank, a leading international law firm,
has committed to over 70,000 sq ft and despite the uncertain
political backdrop, financial services firm Peel Hunt has signed for
40,000 sq fi. We have made gaod progress leasing on the retail
side, with space let or under offer to Watches of Switzerland, Gant,
Kiehls and Neorn Organics alengside several high quality grab and
go operators. These are typically smaller lettings, ranging from
300 to 6,000 5q ft, but are located on the station concourse or at
lower ground floor level, where the rent achieved can be more than
double that on the office space lon a per sq ft basis).

A1 1 Finsbury Avenue, which has reached practical comgpletion,

we are building a premium food offering, with space let or under
offer to Bar Douro, a Portuguese restaurant specialising in small
plates and independent, high quality grab and go brands Nyokee
and Yolk. These join Everyman, the boutique cinema operator

wha signed for a three-screen cinerma covering 11,000 sq ft earlier
in the year. These lettings demonstrate significant progress to
create a destination centre for food, retail and culture at Broadgate,
enhancing the appeal af cur campus to prospective occupiers,
particularly those from non-traditional sectors inctuding
technolagy, The most recent example is Product Madness, an
online gaming platform who are taking 31,000 sq {t at 1 Finsbury
Avenue on a ten year term. Earlier in the year, technology company
Mimecast committed to an additional 34,000 sq ft bringing their
tatak occupation to 113,000 sq ft.

Under offer on a further 28,000 sq ft and in
negotiations on a further 479,000 sq ft

Investment lettings and renewals signed 1.2%
ahead of ERV adding £3m to future rents

317,000 sq ft rent reviews agreed 7.1% ahead
of passing rent adding £0.9m to rents

Occupancy increased slightly ta 97.7%; Regent's
Place and Paddington Central virtually full

5 Broadgate sold at book value {our share £500m)
generating an 18% pa total property return

Elsewhere on the campus, we let 37,000 sq ft to commodities
broker Marex at 155 Bishopsgate and nearly 40,000 sq it at
Broadgate Tower, where both Liquidnet and TradeTech expanded
their space. We also completed 25,100 sq ft of short term lettings
to tech and professional service businesses at 2&3 Finshury
Avenue including CheckRecipient, Poqg, and Tech Nation. This
strong progress across the campus demonstrates London’s
enduring appeal as a place to do business, despite Brexit.

QOverall, the campus saw a valuation uplift of 1.9% driven by
gains on our development properties and benefitting from
ERV growth of 1.2%.

Paddington Central

We have cantinued to make good progress eveolving our retail

and dining offer at Paddington Centrat. This year, we have let
space to Vagabonds Wine and a second canal-boat restaurant,
further enlivening the canal-side as well as Pure, and Department
aof Coffee and Social Affairs at 2 Kingdom Street and Pail Mall
Barbers in Sheldan Square. Total lettings/renewals at the campus
covered 41,000 sq ft, including 20,000 sq ft of lettings through
Storey with rent reviews on 78,000 sq ft of space agreed more
than 10% ahead of passing rent. Occupancy across the campus

is 97.2%.

There is real momentum building across the neighbourhcod,

with leasing interest from a range of sectors reflecting significant
investment and regeneration ahead of Crossrail opening. The campus
saw a valuation uplift of 1.9%, benefitting from yield tightening of

1 bp and ERV growth of 0.9%.

Regent's Place

At Regent's Place, where occupancy is 98.7% our leasing activity
covered 250,000 sq ft. Our largest single letting was to Facebook
who are taking 175,000 sq ft on 10 year lease at 10 Brock Street in
the space to be vacated by Debenhams. This takes their occupancy
at the building to 290,000 sq ft and is a strong endorsement of the
campus. We have also let 12,600 sq ft to Hays at 20 Triton Street
and agreed 34,000 sq ft of rent reviews, 9.1% ahead of passing
rent. This activity supported ERV growth of 2.2% offsetting mild
yield expansion of 3 bps to deliver an overall valuation uplift

of 1.4%.
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We are planning a re-brand of the carmpus, which we expect

to launch in the summer and are progressing plans for a
programme of pubtic realm improvements, which will enhance
existing connections with Regent's Park, the residential areas 1o
the north and the Knowledge Quarter, These will introduce more
green space and support a more diverse range of uses,
experiences and activities throughout the year.

Increasing the mix of uses

Non-office leasing at our campuses totalled 48,000 sq ft in the
year, primarily comprising retail, leisure and dining, with the
largest single letting to Everyman cinema at 1 Finshury Avenue.

We have alsa focused on making smart use of public or shared
spaces through events and activities which enliven our space as
well as successful commercial events which generate income.
This year, our campuses hosted 44 major marketing activities
as well as a range of seasaenal events to mark national occasions
such as International Women's Day, Mental Health Awareness
Week and London Pride. We were recognised by REVO for brand
experiences including Eon’s ‘Shot of Summer’ and a Bordeaux
Butterily Bar, boih at Broadgate. Our Adidas experience held
tast summer at Norton Folgate comprising sport, music and
“Instagramable” moments generated around £50,000 rent for

a 10-day event.

Storey: our flexible workspace brand

We launched Storey nearly two years ago. It is a deliberztely
differentiated flexible workspace concept, providing occupiers with
the opportunity to brand the space themselves whilst benefitting
from shared facilities in the building and the advantages our
campuses provide. This year, Storey opened at 2 and 4 Kingdom
Street [Paddingtan Centrall, and 3 Finsbury Avenue (Broadgate|
as well as at York House, W1 in our standalone portfolic. It is now
cperational across 141,000 sq ft and i1s 0% let ar under offer.

Part of the business rationale was the increasingly complementary
nature of core and mere flexible space, so we are pleased that 35%
of Storey occupiers by rent are existing customers of British Land.
1t has also been instrumenial in building our exposure to the
growing technology and creative seciors, which account for

¢.40% of space let; recent examples inctude Tryzens a provider

of e-cammerce solutions and AppOynamics, an application
performance analytics company, whg both signed in the year.

Storey continues to achieve attractive premiums to ERV of around
30% on totat leased space with an average lease length of
23 months, and average occupier headcount of 45 people.

o6

We love the progressive approach to design, the
open space and amenities, and crucially, access to
Suture talent. We think we've found the perfect place
for Mimecast to grow and continue to succeed

in London.

” Neil Murray, Chief Technology Dfficer, Mimecast
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Looking torward, the Storey pipeline is 161,000 sq ft which includes

“Storey Club’ at 4 Kingdom Street, a new concept providing ad hoc

workspace, additional meeting rcoms, private dining venues and

event and workshop spaces for Storey occupiers. We have earrnarked

more than 60,000 sq ft in standalone space at Wells St in Fitzrovia w
and Orsman Road in Haggerston [exchanged in the year].

Smanrt Places

This year, our Smart Places 1eam have laid out a lang term plan 1o
deliver digital placemaking across our Office campuses. This is an
example of how we are evolving our offer to enhance the experience
lar our occupiers, differentiating our space to drive long term
demand and deliver rental growth. Our Smart strategy focuses

on three core areas:

~ Tech hardware: ensuring we are putting in place the right
materials and equiprment in our buildings for the lang term -
efficient mechanical and etectrical materials which are
internet-connected, and can send and receive insiructions
accarding (o an open-source British Land standard for data

- Building a data environment: bringing together data from across
our spaces and other sources te derive insight. improve usage
of space and enable building cantral

~ User experience: develaping piatforms that allow usars to
engage seamlessly with their space, helping them to be
healthier, productive and more engaged in their apvironment

At our head office at Yark House we have successfully trialled ‘
hardware which measures space utilisatian and are working with

third parties to generate insights from the data we have collected

We have standardised a Smart Buildings design guide which we

are using across all new developments and have started 1o engage

with occupiers to support them in making the most of our advanced

office developments, constantly improving aur understanding of

what our occupiers want and how we will achieve this.



Smaller, more focused Retail

Retail operational and financial highlights

- Total portfolio value down 11.1%, ted by smaller
multi-let schermes which were disproportionately
affected by CVAs and administrations

- Yield expansion of 37 bps overall
- ERVs down 3.8%

- Robust leasing activity with lettings/renewals
covering 1.6m sq ft, marginally ahead of ERV; strong
retention rate on renewals of 78%

- Further 1.Bm sq ft of rent reviews agreed 2.3% ahead
of passing rent

- High eccupancy mamtained at 97%

Performance review

Leasing

In a challenging operating environment, our focus this year has
been on the day to day business of leasing and managing our
space. Overall, leasing volumes have been ahead of historic levels
at 1.6m sq ft, with the number of long term deals in line with
average, but a higher nurmber of shart term or temporary lettings
signed this year, demonsirating the way we are evolving our offer
ta meet the needs of our occupiers whilst retaining Hexibility in our
estate {o respond to new retailers and concepts.

We have had a successful year at Meadowhall, with 22 long term
deals with new lettings ta Skopes, Rock Up and Lacoste, and
upsizings from Narth Face and Fat Face. Meadowhall has

seen nine consecytive months of year an year footfall growth,
demonsirating its sirong and growing appeal, post our £60m
refurbishment. Building on this, we are on site with a new
children’s playground and have an upgrade to the Oasis dining
quarter planned for the current year. We are piloting changes

in the way we use retail space, including Meadowhall Sessions, a
series of evening classes and a regular artisan market showcasing
the best in Yorkshire produce which both launched in the year.

Across the portfolio, we have continued to welcome new formats
with Goldsrnith’s the jewellers opening their first out of town store
at Fort Kinnaird and Empire cinemas launching their first new cafe
and cinema concept at ScuthGate, Bath. We have re-geared leases
with major tenants on a portfolio basis. including Baots at three
schemes totalling 44,000 5q ft at 12.4% ahead of ERV and Argos at
six schemes totalling 61,000 sq ft broadly in line with ERV. We also
agreed a portiolio deal with New Look covering 11 leases.

Annualised rental impact of CVAs and
administrations over the last two years of £16.9m;
£0.9m at assets subsequently sold, £5.1m at stores
where rents have reduced and £10.9m {s at stores
subject to closure of which £6.5m has already been
let or in negotiation

Like for ke income growth excluding the impact of
CVAs and administrations of 0.8%

Footfall down 0.9%, 230 bps ahead of benchmark;
total sales down 0.5%, 1460 bps ahead of benchmark

£646m non-core assets exchanged since April 2018

CVAs and administrations

Across our portfolio, we are addressing the impact of CVAs and
adrministrations. The annualised impact of CYAs and administrations
over the last two years is £16. 9m. £0.9m at assets subsequently
sold, £5.1m at stores where rents have reduced and £10.9m is at
stores subject to closure of which £6.5m has already been let or
in negotiation. This has disproportionately impacted our srmaller
multi-let centres especially those in weaker dernographic locations,
and are generally assets that do not have a long term rate within
cur portfolic. Post period end. Debenhams alsc applied for a CVA,
prior to which we had re-let their head office space to Facebook,
and had managed down our retail exposure with the sale of a
standalone store in Clapham. Our exposure to Debenhams now
cornprises four standalone and five stores in multi-let centres.

(19

Broadgate gave us a chance. They trusted in a
new business because they believed in us and the
concept. We have a home now - a base so that we
can serve our food and delicious coffee every day.
It’s the kind of spot we were hoping for and
dreanting of.

’, Nick Philpat, Founder, Yolk
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Operational performance

Footfall was down 0.9% in the year, but we have continued to
outpertarm the benchmark {230 bps ahead} demonstrating that
despite changes in the way people shop, our centres are still
relatively well placed. Total sales, which take into account our
assel management initiatives, were down 0.5% outperforming the
benchrmark by 150 bps, although same store sales, which strips
out these improvements showed decline of 1.5% but was 160 bps
ahead of the benchmark. Both metrics showed an improvement
over the year, and encouragingly, furned positive in the last quarter
of the financial year. These figures only capture instore sales and
exclude online sates where the physical store plays a key role,
including shipping direct from store, an approach more retailers
are adopting, as well as click and collect and online purchases first
browsed in store.

This year eight of our commercialisation events were recognised at
the REVO awards with three winners including best Pop Up Shop
for our Unicarn Meadow at Meadowhall, best Mall Transformation
again at Meadowhall, recognising the change that our refurbishmaent
has delivered and best Commercial Event for our Ultra-Violet

Bar ai SeuthGate, Bath, marking our partnership with the

Bath Gin Cornpany.

Capital activity

We have 3 clear strategy to refine our Retail partfolio to deliver a
smaller, more focused business, compnsing assets thal support
the changing role of physical retail, are right sized for iherr local
markets and have the potential to becorne increasingly mixed use.

In line with that, we have made asset sales totalling £4646m since

1 April 2018, comprising smaller, multi-let retail centres, non-core
leisure assets and standalone retail assets. Overall salrs weore 2%
2head ot book value, but multi-let retait has generatly sold at or
below book, while standalone retail and leisure has generalty sotd
at or above book. The mos! significant transaction was the disposal
of 12 of aur Sainshury's superstores far £193.5m (our sharel,
rmadestly ahead of boak value, which exchanged post period end.
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This arings total retail disposals over the last five years to £2.9bn
comprising the following core categories:

£m % %

sold since  tolal pertiolio  totat portislio

Assst class April 2014 March 2014 March 2079

Department stores £682m 5% 1%

Superstores Istandalonel £1.203m 1% 1%’

Leisure £199m 3% 2%
Nan-core multi-let retail £790m
Total £2,870m

1. Pro-forma for post year end exchanged sale of 12 Sainsbury’s supersiores

We have a clear view of the value of our assets, and have set out
the indicative shape of our business in five years, when we expect
retail will comprise 30-35% of the portfolio. based on current
valuations. We have the financial capacity to progress our
developments withaut necessitating asset sales, enabling us to
be patient and opportunistic in gur approach, so we benefit from
pockels of demand for particular asset types as and when they
arise. We will maintain this approach going forward and only make
disposals which deliver value or significantly progress our lang
term strategy. We have a strong track record of delivering on our
strategic goals having reduced our standalone superstore
exposure fram 11% in 2014 to 1% today with just six standalone
stores rernaimng.

Retail will remain an irnportant pact of our business long term,
50 we will continue tg invest in those assets which support the
changing role of physical retail and have the potential to become
mixed use. We have a clear set of criteria in terms of size and
location, the enviranment, mix of operators and services that we
use lu gvdluate our assets and these factors underpinned our
purchase of Royal Victeria Place in Tunbridge Wells for £91.8m at
the start of the year. Here, we have committed to @ refurbishment
covering around two-thirds of the centre and have pians for a
redevelopment of the remaining third of the space; longer term,
we see potential te significantly expand the mix of uses.

141

PureGym are delighted

to have finally secured
representation on Fort
Kinnaird. It's proved to be

o great decision and was
actually owr strongest ever
new site opening since the
business began 10 years and
238 gyms ago!

’ Buncan Costin, Property Directar,
PureGym



Development

ERV

Current  Costto letfunder

Sqft Yalue complete ERY offer

At 31 March 209% ‘o0 £€m Em £m £m
Recently completed 287 153 11 8.2 4.7
Commutted 1,330 74 252 550 4372

Near term 846 156 404 3%9.4 -
Medium term 2,443
Canada Water Phase V' 1,917

On a proportionally consoiidated pasis including the Group's share of jeint
ventures and funds lexcept area which is shown at 100%)

1. Tolal site area is 5m sq ft. Phase 1 consists of Phase 13, 1b, 1c. Detailed planning
submitted for Phase 1a [576.000 5q fil. outline planning submitted for total Phase ¥

Portfolio

Developrments are a key element of our investment case as a
fundamental driver of sustainable value and growth for the long
term. In the curreni market we see limited opportunities to make
accretive acquisitions, so the capacity to develop is an important
competitive advantage. Critical to our approach is the flexibility
and optionality we have created, with the majerity of space in

our development pipeline either income preducing or held at

low cost, 50 we have attractive options we can progress as and
when appropriate.

We actively manage our development risk and pre-letting our space
is animportant part of thal approach. Reflecting our continued
- successful leasing activity, 76% of our recently compteted and

committed developments are pre-let or under offer and speculative
exposure remains low at 2,3% of portfolio gross asset value.
Including cur near term pipeline, this will be 7.4%, below our
internal risk threshald for speculative development of 8%.

Construction cost forecasts continue to suggest that the rate of
growth has moderated from the tevel in recent years. However,
there is a risk that the Brexit outcome increases materials cosls
and reduces labour supply in future years, potentially increasing
cost inflation above the expected 2-4% per annum. To mitigate this
risk, 93% of the costs on our committed development programme
have been fixed.

Campus developments: further enhancing the mix
of uses

Development has been an important driver of value over the year.
Our successful leasing activity has supported the rentzl tane at our
Broadgate campus while the beneiit of our 4 Kingdom Street
development [completed in 2018| continues to support rental
growth at Paddington Centrat.

Completed developments

1 Finsbury Avenue (287,000 sq ft] at Broadgate has reached
practical completion, and we are 58% let or under offer by ERV
fallowing 168,000 sq ft of leasing activity. Signings included
Mimecast, Everyman and Product Madness and with four F&B
operators exchanged or under offer. In addition, we are allacating
72,000 sq ft ta Storey, leaving just 46,000 sq ft available to let.

66

Our emplovee base is
approximately two thirds
under 30. People looking for
work will not only look for

a job now — they will look

at the environment they're
working in and the location
of the building as part of
their overall decision making
process. They are less likely
to choose an employer if they
don’t like what they see.

’, Stephen Guy,
Chief Integration Officer

and Chief of Staff,
McCann Worldwide
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Committed developments

Our committed development pipeline covers 1.3m sq it fexcluding
1 Finsbury Avenuel. At 1 Triton Square [Regent’s Place] which is our
largest wholly-owned devetopment covering 366,000 sq i, the office
space s futly pre-iet 1o Dentsu Aegis Network on a 20-year lease.

At Broadgate, we are on site with two developments together
delivering 856,000 sq ft. 100 Liverpool Sireet (521,000 sq ft) topped
out in the period, the facade has now been installed up to level 10
and fit out of the interiors started in April. i will be one of Europe’s
smartest affice buildings, with a single digitat spine connecting
systems within the buitding to personalise elerents of the working
environment including temperature and light as well as monitor
the use of space. We are aiming for a WiredScore platinum

rating for internet connectivity and infrastructure and a Well Gold
certification for wellbeing. Sustainability has been integral to the
design and delivery of this building; by retatning as much of the
existing struclure as possible we have saved 7,200 tonnes of
embodied carbon and are on track to save a further 4,100 tonnes
through carbon-efficient design and use of low-carbon materials.
More than half of the construction spend has been invested in the
City and neighbauring boroughs, ensuring local people benefit
from our develapment. Following lettings to Peel Hunt and Milbank
this year, who join Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation Europe,
the building s now 56% let ar under offer by ERV. At 135 Bishopsgaie
(335,000 sq ft), we are 90% let or under offer, with signings to
McCann and TPICAP this year, in addition lo Eataly, the ltatian
marketplace which is taking 44,000 sq ft on the ground floor.
Across bath buildings, we are seeing good interest in the
remaining space.

Near term pipeline

We have ingreased our near term pipeling to 866,000 sq ft with the
addrtion of 1-2 Broadgate where we achieved planning permission
during the year. This 531,000 sq ft scheme includes 153,000 sq ft
af retail, leisure and dining space, connecting Finsbury Avenue
Square with retail at 100 Liverpool Street and the Broadgate Circle,
creating a 350,000 sq ft retail, leisure and dining hub.

At Norton Folgate [previously Blossom Street) we have consent
for 2 335,000 sq ft scherne comprising 257,000 sq ft of office
space alongside retail and residential space, to create a mixed
use development which is in keepirg with the histaric fabric of
the area. Our plans envisage a mix of floorplates, to appeal to
small and growing businesses as well as mare established
organisations, particularly in the technology and creative sectors
and we are already seeing good inlerest In the space.
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Medium term Pipeline

Qur medium term pipeline includes three office-led schemes
covering more than Tm sq ft in total. These buildings progress
our mixed use campus vision and support future income growth.

The most significant scheme is 2-3 Finsbury Avenue at Broadgate.
Covering 563.000 sq ft, the scheme adds 374,000 sg ft to the
existing space which generates an incame through short term,
mare flexible lettings, with 50,500 sq fi altacated to Storey. We have
also launched a 1,700 sq fi events space at 3 Finsbury Avenue
which regularly hosts thought-leadership events, as well as yoga,
pilates and meditation sessions.

At 5 Kingdom Street, Paddington Central, we have submitted a
revised planning application which would increase our consented
scheme from 240,000 sq i to 429,000 sq ft. The scheme includes
the opportunity to develop a forrmer Crossrail works site which
reverts to British Land on completion of Crossrail, providing 80,000
sq ft of community, retail, leisure and cultural facilities, reflecting
feedback from facus groups and residents who we consulted on
how his space could best be used. At the Gateway, we have
consent for a 105,000 sq ft premium hotel.

Retail development: enhancing and repositioning
our portfolio for the future

in line with our disciplined approach to capital allocation, we
consistently review our capital spending plans. In the current
ervironment we would expect the overall level of capital spend
on our Retail portfotio to be lower than historically. However,
we maintain a range of oppertunities across our portfolio which
preserve our optionality but would only commit where market
conditions and long term prospects are supportive

Committed developments

At Drake Circus, Plymouth, we are on site with a 108,000 sq ft
leisure extension which will add a 12-screen cinerma and 14
rastaurants. The scherme is 7% let and under otfer and we
expect to reach practical completion in auturmn 2019.

Medium term pipeline

Our mediurn term pipeline is focused on mixed use apportunities.
At Ealing Broadway, which will benefit fram Crossrail, we are
warking up plans for a 292,000 sq ft scheme, and at Eden Walk,
Kingston (jeintly owned with USS] our consented mixed use
development plans include 380 new homes, alongside shops,
restaurants and 35,000 sq ft of flexible office space. At Meadawhall,
we have consent for 3 333,000 sq ft leisure extension but are
undertaking a review of our plans which is expected to conclude
towards the end of the year. We have further appartunities at New
George Street in Plymouth, adjacent to our Drake Circus regional
retail cenire which cover 43,000 sq h. In each case, cur focus will
be on enhancing the mix of uses to best reflect the {ocal market.

Read more abeut our development pipeline on pages 22 and 23



Canada Water: 53 acre masterplan for a new urban centre

in Central London

Highlights
- 5m sq ft mixed use development scheme

~ Master development agreement signed with
Southwark Council in May 2018

- Planning application including detailed planning
submission on the first three buildings and outline
planning for the whole scheme submitted May 2018

- Net valuation movement down 0.8% to £303m;
increase in gross vatuation offset by costs incurred
in connection with planning

At Canada Water, we are working with the London Borough of
Southwark to deliver a Sm sq ft mixed use scheme, including 3,000
new hames alongside a mix of commercial, retail angd community
space. The site is located hetween London Bridge and Canary
Wharf on the Jubilee line with access ta the Lenden Overgraund,
making it easily accessible from Canary Wharf, the West End,
Shereditch and South West London. It wilt also be an indirect
beneficiary of Crossrail. which will significantly reduce pressure
on the Jubitee line between Canary Whartf and Bond Street.

It covers 53 acres including the dock area, providing 4B acres

of developable land.

We started engaging on our masterplan propesals in 2014 and
since then have held aver 120 public consultations and tocal
outreach events. These have attracted over 5,000 individuals who
have inputted at every stage and provided 12,000 comments on

our plans, enabling us to shape a design that seeks to meet local
needs and aspirations. Together with Southwark Council, we have
also developed a Secial Regeneration Charter which captures local
residents’ priorities for the benefits of the development, and ideas
for how these can be delivered.

In May 2018 we signed the Master Cevelopment Agreement wrth
Southwark Council. This set oul the terms of 3 new headlease
consolidating our holdings into a single S500-year headlease with
Southwark Council as the Lessor. This structure effectively aligns
the ownership of these assets, with British Land owning 80% and
Southwark Council owning the remaining 20%. Southwark Councit
can participate in the development of the individual plats, up to

a maximum of 20% and returns will be pro-rated accordingly.

This headlease becomes effective on fulfilment of severai conditicns,
most imporiantly achieving autline planning consent for the whole
masterplan and detailed planning consent for the first three
buildings which was also submitied in May 2018.

Since submission of our application, we have worked constructively
with Southwark Council thraugh the complexities of the planning
process and we are largeting a July planning meeting.

The first three buildings total c. 574,000 sq ft and will provide
265 homes of which around 35% will be affordable. Building A1
will provide both residential and workspace and building A2 witl
be facused on workspace and a new leisure centre, with both
providing a small amouni of retail at ground floor. K1, the third
building will be wholly residential.

Potential funding structures will be explared when we have greater
visibility on timing, ahead of which we are already seeing interest

in the space from a range of sectors and discussions are underway
on several buildings. In the meantime, the Printworks has become

an established live music venue, frequently hosting crowds of up ta
5.,000. Ticket sales and visiters are now over 80,000 from 23 shows

through the winter/spring season.

The net valuation movement for Canada Water over the year
showed a marginal decrease, reflecting an increase in gross value
to £303m attributable to progress on planning and design offset by
costs incurred in masterplanning the scheme.

19

Coming to the Paper Garden
means to me... community.

A nice way to come together with
others who have a similar mindset.
A great collaboration of me,
others, and nature. I get to try out
new things, like free writing and
cooking. It is part of myself,

to come closer to our planet and
unleash my inner self Coming

to the Paper Garden means
everything to me, everything I do.

99 Andras, triend of the Paper Garden
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Non-financial reporting disclosure

Reporting requirement Hey policies include Where infarmation can be Jound in this repert on our impact and risks Page
Environmental matters - Sustainability Policy’ - Shaping our thinking 26
- Sustainability Brief for Developments’ - Qur 2020 sustainability strategy 28
- Greenhouse gas reporting 45
- Managing risk in delivering our strategy 54
- Task force on climate-related financial 62
disclosures
- Sustainability performance measures 195
Employees - Code of Conduct? - Changing how we work io deliver our strategy 30
- Health and Safety Policy’ - Managing risk in delivering our sirategy 54
Human rights - Code of Conduct? - Managing risk in delivering our sirategy 54
- Modern Slavery Act Statement’
Social matters - Sustainability Policy’ - Qur 2020 sustainability strategy 28
- Code of Conduct? - Managing risk in deltvering our strategy 54
- Local Charter!
- Sustainability Brief for Developments’
- Health and Salety Policy’
Anti-bribery and - Anti-Fraud Policy?
corruption - Anti-Bribery and Corruption Policy?
- Whistleblowing'
Business madel - Qur distinct business model 18
Non-financial KPls - Delivering on aur sirategy 20
- Our 2020 sustainability sirategy 28

1. Available on bribshland.corm/policies
2. Emptoyee version gvailable through our internal Employee Handbogk. Supplier version available on britishland.com/policies

Supply chain

We ask suppliers to work in a way we believe is best practice to achieve our social, environmental and ethical standaiUs. The etfectiveness of
our polictes in this arega can be seen in our sustainability performance measures on pages 195 to 197. We set out our supplier obligations in
areas such as health and safety, human rights, fair working conditions, anti-tribery and corruption, community engagerment, apprenticeships
and environmental management in our Supplier Code of Conduct.

Human rights

Our respect for human rights is embedded in how we do business. We are a signatory to the UN Global Compact which supports a
core sei of values, including human rights, and have made appropriate disclosures in respect of the Modern Slavery Act. We are also

a member of APRES, an action programme on responsible and ethical sourcing across the construction industry. For our performance
on aspects meluding fair wages and diversity, see pages 196 and 197,

Anti-bribery and corruption

We are committed to the highest legal and ethical standards in every aspect of gur business. It is our policy to conduct business in a
fair, henest and open way, without the use of bribery or corrupt practices o obtain an untatr advantage, We provide clear guidance tor
supptiers and employees, including policies on anti-bribery and corruplion, anti-fraud and our code of conduct. All employees receive
training en these issues appropriate io their roles and responsibilities.
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Greenhouse gas reporting

Emissions intensity

Carbon intensity across our partfolio has reduced by 64%

versus aur 2009 baseline, achieving our 2020 reduction target
early, through the National Grid decarbonisation and our own
efficiency improvements. We also continue to work towards

100% of electricity from renewable sources as an RE100 partner.
Despite changes to our Retail and Cffices pertfolios and increased
reporting across our Residential portfolio, 96% of our power was
procured from certified renewable sources.

In 2019, we undertook energy efficiency projects including
optimising building management systerns, replacing light fittings
with LEDs and installing lighting sensars. These are expected to
result in annual energy use savings of £1.2m.

Absolute emissions

As shown in the Absolute Scope 1 and 2 emissions table below,
total Scope ¥ emissions increased by a net 29% reflecting the
inclusion of gas combustion across our residential portfolio for the
first time. However, our Retail and Offices partiolios reduced
cambustior of fuel by 13% this year, largely due to changes in our

Scope 1 and 2 emissions intensity' (Tonnes CO,e)
Year ended 31 March

partfolio. Scope 2 location based emissions decreased by 26%,
{argely due to National Grid decarbonisation and changes in our
perifolie. Scope 2 market based emissions decreased by 22%,
largely due to reduced electricity use and cur commitment to
renewables, including the installation of solar PV at Meadowhall.

Absolute emissions Scope 1 and 2:

2019 2018 2009

Dffices: per m? net lettable area
Retail - enclosed: per m?
Retail - open air: per parking space

Total managed portfolio: per £m grass rental and relaled :ncome?

0.044 0.055 0118
0.043 0.05% 0.174
0.049 0.062 0.106
50.22 58.03 -

Absolute Scope 1 and 2 emissions and associated energy use

Year ended 31 March

Tonnes COe Mwh

2019 2018 2009 2019 2018

Scope 1 Combustion of fuet:

Managed portfolio gas use and fuel use in British Land owned vehicles 8,833 5901 5,156 42,946 32813
Scope 1 Operation of facilities: Managed portfolio refrigerant loss from

air canditioning 123 46 - - -
Scope 2 Purchase of electricity, heat, steam and Location-based 20,188 27301 41,186 74,550  B80,868
cooling for our own use: Managed portfolia electricity

use for commaon parts and shared services Market-based 1,457 1.875 - - -
Total Scope 1 and 2 emissions (location-based) and associated

energy use 29,144 34,268 46342 117,497 113,681
Proportion that is UK-based 100% 100% - 100% 100%
Absolute Scope 3 emissions ~ managed portfolio {Tonnes CO,e)

Year ended 31 March 2019 20i8
{andlord purchased energy: accupier gas and eiectricity consumption, upstream impacts of all purchased

energy lincluding the fuels of on-site vehicles) 35,999 46,888
Landlord purchased water: upstream impacts 225 219
Waste management: downsiraam impacls L09 437

1. We have reported on all emission sources required ynder the Campanies Act 2004 |5trategic Repart and Directors’ Reports| Regulations 2013 and the
Companies |Directors’ Report] and Limited Liability Partnerships [Energy and Carban Report] Regulations 2018 ['the 2018 Regulations’]. These sources fall
within our consolidated financial statements and relate te head office activities and conirolled emissicns from our managed portfolio. Scope 1 and 2 emissions
cover 73% of our multi-let managed portiolia by value. We have used purchased energy consumption data, the GHG Protocol Corporate Accounting and
Reparting Standard {revised edition) and emission facters from the UK Gevernment's GHG Conversion Factors for Company Reporting 2018

2. Gross Rental Income [GRII from the managed portlolio comprises Group GRI of £482m 12018: £441ml, pius 1NN% nf the GRI generated by jeint ventures and
funds of £27 [m (2U18: £3bBm), less LRI generated assets outside the managed portfalio of £173m (2018: £235m)
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Financual performance
for the year was robust

Simon Carter, Chiet Financial Dfficer
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Year ended 31 March 2018 2019
Underlying earnings per share! 37.4p 34.9p
Underlying Profit'2 £380m £340m
IFRS profit {loss) before tax £501Tm  E(319Im
Dividend per share 30.08p 31.00p
Total accounting return*3 +8.9% (3.31%
EPRA net asset value per share'? 967p 905p
IFRS net assets £9,506m £8,689m
LTy'48 28.4% 28.1%
Weighted average interest rate® 2.8% 2.9%

1. See Glossary on website for deflinitions

2. See Table B within supplementary disclosure for recenciliations to
IFRS metrics

3. See Note 2 within financial statements for calculatien.

4. See Nole 17 within financial staterments lor calculation and reconcitiation 1o
IFRS metrics

5. On a propertienally consolidated basis including the Group’s share of joint
ventures and funds.

Overview

Financial performance for the year has been robust in the context of
significant sales over the last 2 years, an especially challenging retail
environment and an unpredictable UK macroeconomic backdrop.
Underlying earnings per share [EPS] are down 4.7% at 34.9p, while
Underlying Profit is down 10.5% at £340m, primarily reflecting one
off surrender premia of £20m received in the prior year.

Setting aside the one-off surrender premia, Underlying EPS is
marginally down 1% with strong like-for-like rental growth in Offices
and the benefits of share buyback mostly offsetting the impact of
sales and CVAs and administrations amongs! retailers. Net sales
activity to date is expected to reduce EPS next year by 2.4p with
proceeds to be deployed into our development programme.

The existing committed programme is expected to deliver 4.5p

EPS accretion once fully let and is already 76% pre-let or under
offer - equivalent to £48m pa of future rental income secured.

Valuations have reduced by 4.8% on a propartionally consolidated
basis althaugh this was partially offset by the impact of the £200m
shares bought back in the period resulting in an overall EPRA net
asset value [NAV] per share decline of 6.4%.

Since April 2018, we have completed £2.19n of gross capital
activity. This includes £1.1bn sales of income producing assets.,
primarily our 50% interest in 5 Broadgate for £0.5bn, which sold
at book value, representing a net initial yteld of 4%. In addition, we
made Retail sales totatling £0.6bn, 2% ahead of book value, at an
average yield of 5.7%. We exchanged or completed on £359m of
residential sates, £253m which exchanged prior to this financial
year and £18m exchanged post year end.

We remain thoughtful about the use of proceeds from disposals.

As well as continuing to invest into our development pipeline, we
extended the share buyback programme by £200m following the
sale of 5 Broadgate, which was completed in the year, at an average
price of 5%4p per share adding 10p to NAV. Given the current share
price discount, we continue to believe that reinvesting in our portiolia
through our own shares represents an effective use of capital so,
following further recent retail sales, we are extending the buyback
by up to a further E125m.

Qur financial positian remains strong. LTV has decreased by

a further 30bps during the period to 28.1% despite the valuation
fall. The reduction was driven by net sales reducing LTV by 33Cbps.
partially offset by the share buyback and investment inte the
development programme. Our weighted average interest rate
remains low at 2.9%. We have been active in deht markets, with
£1.4bn of new financing arranged.

Presentation of financial information

The Group financial statements are prepared under IFRS where
the Group's interests in joint ventures and funds are shown as a
single line item on the income statement and balance sheet and
all subsidiaries are consolidated at 100%.

Management cansiders the business principally on a
proportionally consolidated basis when setting the strategy,
determining annual priorities, making invesiment and financing
decisions and reviewing performance. This includes the Group’s
share cf joint ventures and funds on a line-by-line basis and
excludes non-controlling interests in the Group's subsidiaries.
The fimancial key performance indicators are also presented on
this basis.

A summary income statement and surnmary balance sheet which
reconcile the Group income statement to British Land's interests
on a propertionally consolidated basis are included in Table A
within the supplementary disclosures.

Management monitors Underlying Profit as this more accurately
reflects the underlying recurring performance of our core property
rental activity, as opposed to IFRS metrics which include the
non-cash valuaticn movement on the praperty portfolio. It is based
on the Best Practices Recommendations of the European Public
Real Estate Association |[EPRA] which are widely used alternate
metrics to their IFRS equivalents.

Management also monitors EPRA NAV as this provides a
transparent and consistent basis to enable ccmparison between
European property companies. Linked to this, the use of Total
Accounting Return allows management to monitor return to
shareholders based on movements in a consistently applied
metric, being EPRA NAV, and dvidends paid.

Loan to value [proportionally consolidated| is also monitored

by management as a key measure of the level of debt employed
by the Group to meet its strategic objectives, along with a
measurement of risk. It also allows comparison to other property
cornpanies who similarly monitor and report this measure.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW CONTINUED

Income statement

1. Underlying Profit

Underiying Profit is the measure that is used internally to assess
incorne performance. This is presented below on a proportionatly
consalidated basis. No company adjustments have been made in
the current or prior period and therefore this is the same as the
pre-tax EPRA earnings measure which includes a number of
adjustments to the IFRS reported profit or loss before tax.

2018 2019
Section £m £
Gross rental income 413 576
Property operaling expenses [37) [44)
Net rental income 1.2 576 532
Net fees and other income 15 10
Administrative expenses 13 (83] {81)
Net financing costs 1.4 [128] (121
Underlying Profit 380 340
Non-centralling interests in
Underlying Profil 14 42
EPRA adjustments’ 107 1671}
IFRS profit/{loss] before tax 2 501 (319}
Underlying EPS 1.1 37.4p 34.9p
IFRS basic EPS .2 48.7q {30.0lp
Dividend per share 3 30.08p 31.00p

. EPRA adjustments consist of investment and development property
revatuations, gainsflasses on investment and trading property disposals,
changes in the Fair vatue of financial instruments and asscciated close out
costs. These ttems are presented in the ‘capitat and ather’ column of the
¢onsolidated income statement

1.1 Underlying EPS

Underlying EPS is 34 9p, a decline of 6.7% on the prior year.

This reflects Underlying Profit decline of 10.5%, partially offset by
the impact of share buyback completed in the year which added
1.2p n the peried.

1.2 Net rental incorme

The £44m decrease in net rental incoeme is primarily a result of the
ane-off surrender premia received in the prior year and the impact
of net divestment over the last two years. The impact of CVAs and

administrations has heen mare than aftset by like-for-like growth.
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Net sales of inceme producing assets over the last two years was
aver £2bn. This has reduced net rents by £21m in the year, including
£14m from the sale of S Broadgate in June 2018, and £3m from

the sale of The Leadenhall Building in May 2017. As well as funding
the £500m of share buybacks we have completed over the last

18 months, praceeds from these sales are being reinvested in the
development pipeline, which is expected to deliver £43m in rents

in future years and is already 76% pre-iet or under offer {£48m).

Qccupier CVAs and administrations in the Retail portiolio have
reduced net rents by £14m in the year. Excluding this impact,
tike-far-like rental growth acrass the partfolio is 2.4%, or £159m. This
hag been driven by 4. 9% growth within Offices, resulting from strong
leasing activity acress our campuses, particularly at 4 Kingdam
Street. Retail like-for-like growth is up marginally at 0.8%.

1.3 Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses have marginally decreased this year as

a result of lower variable pay, The Group’s operating cost ratio has
increased by 180 bps 1o 18.7% [2017/18: 16.9%) as a resutt of lower
rental income following sales activity.

1.4 Net financing costs

Financing activity undertaken over the last two years has reduced
costs by £5m in the year, more than offsetting the impact of
increases in market interest rates. Financing activity includes

the arendment and extension of our largest syndicated RCF at
£735m, with 12 banks, at an initial margin of 90 bps and maturity
of tive years, as well as the repayment of £223m [£11¥m our share]
of secured Broadgate donds. This released 1-2 Broadgate and

2-8 Finsbury Avenue fram the securitisation, providing greater
flexibility and optionality over these buildings as we continue to
progress our vision for Broadgate.

The reduction in finance costs as a result of proceeds from net
divestrnent has been partially offset by development spend and
share buybacks.

We have a risk managed approach to interest rates or debt.
At 31 March 2079, on a spot basis, the interest rate on 87% of
our debt is hedged. On average, we are 63% hedged over the
next five years, based an current commitments.



2. IFRS profit or loss before tax

The main difference between |FRS profit or loss before tax and
Underlying Profit is that IFRS includes the valuation movement
an investrent and development properties, fair value movements
on financial instruments and capital financing costs. In addition,
the Group's investments in joint ventures and funds are equity
accounted in the IFRS income statement but are included on

a proportionally consolidated basis within Underlying Profit.

The IFRS loss befare tax for the year was £319m, compared with
a profit before tax far the prior period of £501m. This reflects the
change in valuation movermnent on the Group’s properties which
was EB34m less than the prior period, and the capital and other
incorne result from joint ventures and funds being £115m less
than the prior period, both driven principally by outward yield shift
of 37 bps and ERV decline in the Retail partfolio. In addition, the
result on disposal of investment properties and investments was
£346m lower than the prior period. These iterns were partially offset
by £78m of additional trading praperty sale profits, as a result of
the completion of a number of Clarges units in the period, along
with 3 £117m decrease in capital financing charges.

IFRS basic EPSwas [30.0]p per share, compared to 48.7p per
share in the prior year, driven principally by the decline in property
valyations. The basic weighted average number of shares in issue
during the period was 971m (2017/18: 1.013m).

3. Dividends

As previously announced, we have increased the dividend by 3.0%
for the year to 31 March 2019 bringing the full year dividend to

31 March 2019 to 31.0p. The dividend pay-out ratio is 89% for the
period [2017/18: B0%). British Land will recommend to shareholders
a final dividend payment for the year ended 31 March 2019 of 7.75p.
Subject ta appraval by shareholders, payment will be made on

2 August 2019 ta shareholders on the register at close of business
on 28 June 2019. The final dividend will consist of two companents:
a Property Income Distribution of 3.875 pence and a Non-Property
Income Distribution of 3.875 pence. No SCRIP alternative will

be offered.

Balance sheet

2018 019
Seclion £m £m

Properties at vatuation 13,716 12,314
Other nan-currant assets 185 151
13.90 12,4467
Other net current Liabilities [368] (2971
Adjusted net debl b (39731 13,521)
Other non-current liabilities - -
EPRA net assels 9,560 8,649
EPRA NAV per share 4 9467p 205p
Non-controlling interests 254 21
Cther EPRA adjustments’ 1308) (172)
IFRS net assets 5 8,689

9,504

Proportionally consolidated basis

1. EPRA nel assels exclude the mark-1o-markel on dervalives and relzted
debl adjustments, the mark-te-market on the convertible bonds as well as
deferred laxation on property and derivative revalualions. They include the
trading properties at valuaticn frather than lower of cost and net realisable value)
and are adjusted {or the dilutive impact of share options. No dilution adjustment is
made for the £350m zere coupon convertible bend maturing in 2020. Detaits of the
EPRA adjustments are included in Table B within the supplementary disclosures

4. EPRA net asset value per share

The 6.4% decrease in EPRA NAV per share reflects a valuation
decrease of 4.8% across the portfolio. Valuation gains in the Office
portfolio of 1.1% have been more than offset by an 11.1% fall in
Retail valves as a result of weakening investment sentiment and
a challenging occupational market.

Oifice valuations were up 1.1% driven by strong leasing at our
developments which were up 10.8%. including 135 Bishopsgate
where values are up J3%. with ERV growth of 1.4% across the
standing investments and relatively stable yields. This reflects
specific asset lettings we've completed and the resulting
washover effect.

Valuations in Retail are down 11.1%, with outward yield shift of

37 bps and ERV decline of 3.8%, reflecting the impact of CVAs and
administraiions on both the investment and occupational markets,
particularly at our smaller retail assets outside the Sauth-East and
department stores. However, the perfermance within the portfolio
has been varied, and we continue to see ERV growth at high
quality, well positioned assets with good supply/demand tension.
lnvestment demand remains for long term, secure income assets.

While financing activity has decreased NAV by 7p, it will deliver
cost savings and the overall impact 1s NPV neutral. Itincludes the
repayment of higher coupon debt including a portion of secured
Broadgate bonds and termination of the associated interest rate
swaps. Completicn of the £200m share buyback prograrmme
during the year has contributed 10p to EPRA NAV,

5.1FRS net assets

IFRS net assets at 31 March 2019 were £8,689m, a decrease of
£817m from 31 March 2018. This was primarily due to IFRS loss
before tax of £319m, along with £298rn of dividends paid and
£204m of share purchases under the share buyback programme.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW CONTINUED

Cash flow, net debt and financing
4. Adjusted net deb?’

. Adjusted net debt is a proportionally consolidated measure. i represents
the Group net debt as disclosed in Note 17 to the linancial statements
and the Group's shace of joint venture and funds’ net debt excluding the
mark-to-market oh derivatives, related debl adjustments and nen-cantrolling
interests. A reconciliation between the Group net debt and adjusied net det
is inclyded in Tabte A within the supplementary disclosures

MNet sales reduced debt by £970m in the year. Completed sales
included 5 Broadgate for £500m (BL sharel and, in line with our
strategy of focusing on multi-let assets, 57 standalone assets totalling
E£367m [BL share) and three retail parks [Cheltenham Gallagher,
Leeds Westside and Bath Weston Lock). We have cornpleted
purchases of £233m including Royal Victoria Place in Tunbridge Wells.

We spent £223m on developments and a further £44m on capital
expenditure related to asset management on the standing portfolio.
The value of recently completed and committed developments is
£867m, with £263m costs 1o come. Speculative developrrent exposure
is 2.2% of the portiolio. There are 866,000 sq i of developments in our
near teron pipeline with anticipated cost of £404m.

7. Financing
Sroup Proportionally consolidated

2018 2019 w3 20179

Net debt / adjusted

net debt! £3.046m €2,765m €3.973m €3,521m
Principal amount of

gross debt £3.007m £2,8B1m £4,265m £3,895m
Loan to value 22.1% 22.2% 284%  28.1%
Weighted average

interest rate 2.0% 2.2% 28% 2.9%
Interest cover 5.3 4.9 4.0 3.8
Weighted average

maturity of drawn debt 8.1 years 7.3 years Béyears 8.)years

1. Group daia as presented in note 17 of the financial statemenis. The
proportionally conselidated figures include the Group's share of joint
venture and funds’ net debt and exclude the mark-ta-market on
derivatives and related debt adjustments and nan-controlling inlerésts
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Over the year, we campleted £1.6bn of tinancing activity, including
£1.6bn of new financing arranged.

This inctudes the amendment and extension of our largest
syndicated RCF at £735m, with 12 banks, at an initial margin of
90 bps and maturity of five years. We atso arranged new bi-lateral
RCFs totalling £140m for S years. Each of these facilities may be
extended by a further two years at our request and on the relevant
bank's approval.

We issued £231m new US Private Placement notes 1o four
investers for 7-10 years laverage of 8.2 yearsl, at blended pricing
of 3 manth Libor +124bps.

We are pleased with this ongoing support from all the lenders,
which provides liquidity and flexible finance from diverse saurces,

We also repaid £223m [£111m our share} of secured Broadgate
bonds, releasing 1-2 Broadgate and 2-3 Finsbury Avenue from the
securitisation, praviding greater flexibility and aptionality aver these
buildings as we cantinue o progress our vision for Broadgate.

At 31 March 2019, our proportionally consolidated LTV was 28.1%,
dawn 3Q bas from 28.4% at 31 March 2018 due to net disposals,
offset by share buybacks, devetopment spend and the valuation
decline. This positions us well to enable investment into our
development pipeline. Nate 17 of the financial staternents sets out
the calculation of the Group and proportionally consalidated LTV,

Our liability and debt rmanagement activity has enabled us to keep
our weighted average interest rate low at 2.9%, despite the impact
of net divestment and increase in market rates. Our interest cover
has reduced to 3.8 times as a resuit of proportionately lower '
Underlying Profits,

Our weighted average debt maturity is largely unchanged at
8.1 years,

At 31 March 2019, British Land had £1.8bn of committed unsecured
revolving bank facitities, £1.5bn undrawn. Based on our current
commiirments, these facilities and debt maturities, we have no
reguirement to refinance until late 2022,

The current uncertain environment reinforces the importance
of a sirong balance sheet and we have capacity to progress
opporiunities when the time is right.

(7

Simon Carter
Chief Financial Officer



FINANCIAL POLICIES AND PRINCIPLES

Financial strength and
balanced approach

To deliver our property strategy, we focus on having an appropriate

balance of debt and equity funding.

Leverage

We manage our use of debt and equity finance to balance the
benefits of leverage against the risks, including magnification

of property returns. A loan to value ratio ['LTV) measures our
leverage, primarily on a proportionally consolidated basis
including our share of jeint ventures and funds and excluding
non-controlling interests. At 31 March 2019, our proportionally
consolidated LTV was 28.1% and the Group measure was 22.2%.
Qur LTV is monitared in the context of wider decisions made by
the business. We manage cur LTV through the property cycle
such that our financial position would remain robust in the event
of a significant tall in property values. This means we do not
adiust our approach to {everage based anly ¢n changesin
property market yields. Consequently, our LTV may be higher

in the low point in the cycle and will trend downwards as market
yields tighien.

Debt finance

The scale of our business combined with the qualily of our assets
and rental income means that we are able to approach a diverse
range of debt providers to arrange finance on attractive terms.
Good access lo the capital and debt markets is a competitive
advantzge. allowing us to lake advantage of opportunities

when they arise. The Group's approach to debt financing for
British Land is to raise funds predominantly on an unsecured
basis with our standard financial covenants (set out on page 53).
This provides flexibility and low operational cost. Qur jeint ventures
and funds which choose to have external debt are each financed
in ‘ring-fenced’ structures without recourse to British Land for
repayment and are secured on their relevant assets. Presented
on the foilowing page are the five guiding principles that govern
the way we structure and manage debt.

Monitoring and controlling our debt

We monitor our debt requirement by focusing principally on
current and projected borrowing levels, available facilities,

debt maturity and interest rate exposure. We undertake
sensitivity analysis to assess the impact of proposed transactions,
movements in interest rates and changes in property values

on key batance sheet, liquidity and profiiability ratios. We also
consider the risks of a reduction in the availability of finance,
including a temporary disruption of the debt markets. Based on
our current commitments and available facilities, the Group has
no requirement ta refinance until tate 2022. British Land’s
committed bank facilities total £1.8bn, of which £1.5bn was
undrawn at 31 March 2019,

Managing interest rate exposure

We manage aur interest rate profite separately from our debt,
considering the sensitwvity of underlying earnings to movements
in market rates of interest over a five-year period. The Board sets
appropriate ranges of hedged debt over that period and the longer
term. Our debt finance is raised at both fixed and variable rates.
Derivatives [primarily interest rate swaps and capsl are used to
achieve the desired interest rate profile across proportionally
consolidated net debt. At 31 March we had interest rate hedging
on 87% of our deb! [spot], and on 63% of our projected debt on
average over the next five years, with a decreasing profile over
that period. Accordingly we have a higher degree of certainty an
interest costs in the short term and achieve market rate finance in
the medium to langer term. The use of derivatives is managed by
a Derivatives Committee. The interest rate management of joint
ventures and funds is considered separately by each entity’'s board,
taking into account appropriate factors for its business.

Counterparties

We monitor the credit standing of our counterparties to minimise
risk exposure in placing cash deposits and arranging derivatives.
Regular reviews are made of the external credit ratings cf the
counterparties.

Foreign currency

Our policy is to have no material unhedged net assets or liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies. When attractive terms are
available, the Group may choose tc borrow in currencies other
than Sterling, and will fully hedge the foreign currency exposure.
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FINANCIAL POLICIES AND PRINCIPLES CONTINUED

Our five guiding principles

1

Diversify our sources of finance

We rmoniter finance markets and seek 10 access different sources of finance when the relevant market conditions are
favourable to meet the needs of our business and, where appropriste, those of our joint ventures and funds. The scale and
quality of our business enables us to access a broad range of unsecured and secured, recourse and non-recourse debt. We
develop and maintain long term relationships with banks and debt investors. We aim ta avoid reliance on particular saurces of
funds and borraw from a large number of lenders from different sectors in the market across a range of geagraphical areas,
with aver 25 debt providers in bank facililies and private placements alone. We work to ensure that debt praviders understand
our business, adopling a transparent approach to provide sufficient disclosures to enable them to evaluate their exposure
within the overall context of the Group. These factors increase our attractiveness to debt providers, and in the last five years
we have arranged £4.7on {British Land share £4.20n) of new finance in unsecured ang secured bank Lean facilities, Sterling
bonds, US Private Placements and convertible bonds. In addition we have existing long dated debentures and securitisation
bonds. A European Medium Term Note programme is maintained to enable us to access Sterling/Euro unsecured bend
markets when it is appragriate for our business.

£3.9bn

total drawn debt {proportionally consolidated)

Phase maturity of debt portfolio

The maturity profite of aur debt is managed with a spread of repayment dates, currently between one and 19 years, reducing
our refinancing risk in respect of timing and market conditions. As a result of our financing activity, we are ahead of our
preterred refinancing date horizon of not less than two years. In accardance with our usual practice, we expect to refinance
factlities ahead of their maturities,

8.1 years

average drawn debt maturity [proportionally consolidated]

Maintain liquidity

In addition to our drawn debt, we aim always to have a geod level of undrawn, committed, unsecured revolving bank facilities,
These facilities provide financiat liquidity, reduce the need to held resaurces in cash and deposits, and minimise cosls arising
from the difference between borrowing and deposit rates, while reducing credit exposure.

We arrange these revolving credit facilities in excess of our committed and expected requirerments to ensure we have
adequate linancing availability to suppert business requirements and new oppertunities.

£1.5bn

undrawn revolving credit facilities

Maintain flexibility

Our facilities are structured to provide valuable flexibitity for investrnent activity execution, whether sales, purchases,
developments or asset management initiatives. Our unsecured revalving credit facilities provide full operationat flexibility
of drawing and repayment land cancellation if we require) at short notice without additional cost. These are arranged with
standard terms and financial covenants and generally have maturities of five years. Alongside this, our secured term debt
in debentures has good asset security substitution righis, where we have the ability to move assets in and out of the
security poot.

£1.8bn

total revolving credit facilities

32

Maintain strong metrics

We use both debt and equity financting. We manage LTV through the property cycle such that our financiat position woutd
remain robust in the event of a significant fall in property values and we do not adjust our approach to leverage based on
changes in praperty market yields. We manage our interest rate profile separately from our debt, setting appropriate ranges
af hedged debt aver a five-year period and the longer term.

We maintained our strong senior unsecured credit rating {'A’) and long term IDR credit rating ['A-7).

28.1% A 3.8x

LTY {proportionalty consolidated) senior unsecured credit rating interest cover {proportionatly
consolidated]
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Group borrowings

Unsecured financing fer the Group includes bilateral and
syndicated revolving bank facilities [with initial terms usually
of five years, often extendabiel; US Private Placements with
maturities up to 2028; the Sterling unsecured bond maturing
in 2029; and the convertible band maturing in 2020.

Secured debt for the Group (excluding debt in Hercules Unit Trust
which is covered under ‘Borrowings in our joint ventures and
funds] is provided by debentures with maturities up to 2035.

Unsecured Borrowings and covenants

There are two financial covenants which apply across att of the
Group’s unsecured debt. These covenants, which have been
consistently agreed with all unsecured lenders since 2003, are:

- Net Borrowings not to exceed 175% of Adjusted Capital
and Reserves

- Net Unsecured Borrowings not to exceed 70% of
Unencumbered Assels

There are no income or interest cover cavenants an any of the
unsecured debt of the Group.

The Unencumbered Assets of the Graup, not subject to any
security, stood at £56.9 billion as at 31 March 2019

Although secured assets are excluded from Unencumbered Assels
for the covenant calculations, unsecured lenders benefit from the
surplus value of these assets above the related debt and the free
cash flow from them. During the year ended 31 March 2019, these
assefs generated £16 million of surplus cash after payment of
interest. In addition, while investments in joint ventures do not
form part of Unencumbered Assets, our share of free cash flows
generated by these ventures is regularly passed up to the Group.

Unsecured financial covenants

2018 2018 2007 2018 2019
Al 31 March % % % % ]

Net borrowings to
adjusted capital
and reserves a8 34 29 29 29

Net unsecured

borrawings to

unencumbered

assets 28 29 26 23 21

Secured borrewings

Secured debt with recourse to British Land is provided by
debentures with long maturities and limited ameortisation

These are secured against a cambined pool of assets with
commen covenants: the value of the assels is required to cover
the arnount of the debentures by a minimum of 1.5 times and net
rental incorme must cover the interest at least once. We use our
rights under the debentures o actively manage the assets in the
security pool, in line with these caver ratios. We continue to focus
on unsecured finance at 3 Group level.

Borrowings in our joint ventures and funds

External debt for cur joint ventures and funds has been arranged
through long dated securitisations or secured bank debt, according
to the reguirements of the business of each venture.

Hercules Unit Trust has term loan facilities maturing in 2020 and
2022 arranged for its business and secured on property portfolios,
without recourse to British Land. These leans include LTV ratio
(with maximum levels of §5%)] and income based covenants.

The securitisations of Broadgate 1£1,300m), Meadowhall

[E613m] and the Sainsbury’s Superstores portfolia [£196m),

have weighted average maturities of 11.0 years, 8.6 years and

9.0 years respectively. The key financial covenant applicable

is to meet interest and scheduled amortisation (equivalent to

1 times cover); there are no LTV covenants. These securitisations
have quarterly amortisation with the batance outstanding
reducing to approximately 15% to 30% of the original amaunt
raised by expected hinal maturity, thus mitigating refinancing risk.

There is no obligation on British Land to remedy any breach
of these covenants in the debt arrangement of joint ventures
and funds.
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MANAGING RISK {N BELIVERING QUR STRATEGY

Effective risk management
s integral to our objective of
delivering sustainable long

term value

British Land core strengths
- Increasing facus on mixed use places as we evolve our
business to reflect the changing way people use space

High quatity commercial portfolio fecused on London
campuses and multi-lel retail centres around the UK
and building a Residential business

- Long term strategy positioning the business to benefit
from long term trends

- Custormer focused approach to respond to changing lifestyles
- Diverse and high quality accupier base

1

- High occupancy

- Well balanced and risk managed development pigeline

- Execution of agsset management and developrent activity
- Ability to source and execute attractive investment deals

1

Efficient capital structure with good access to capital and
debt markets

- Strong sustainability performance

Qur risk management framework

For British Land, effective risk managemeni is @ cornerstone

of our strategy and integral to the achievement of our objective

of delivering sustainable long term value. We maintain a
comprehensive risk management pracess which serves ta identify,
assess and respond to the range of financial and non-financial
risks facing our business, including those risks that could threaten
solvency and liquidity, as well as to identify emerging risks.

Qur approach is not intended ta eliminate risk entirely, but instead
o manage our risk exposures across the business, whilst at the
same time making the rmost of our opportunities.

Our integrated approach combines a top down strategic view with
a complemenlary bottom up operational process outlined in the
gtagram on the right.

The Board has overzll responsibility for risk management

with @ particutar focus on determining the nature and extent of
expasure to the principal risks the business is witling to take in
achieving its strategic objectives. The amount of risk is assessed in
the context of the core strengths of our business (as summarised
above] and the externai envirgnment in which we operate - thisis
our risk appetite. It is integral both to our consideration of strategy
and {6 our medium term planning process.
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The Audit Committee takes responsibility for overseeing the
effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems
on behzlf of the Board, and advises the Board on the principal
risks facing the business including those that would threaten
its salvency or liquidity.

The Executive Directors are responsible for delivering the
Company's strategy, as set by the Board, and managing risk.
Our risk managernent framework calegorises our risks into
external, strategic and operatianal risks. The Risk Committee
{comprising the Executive Committeg and senior management
across the bustness and chaired by the Chiel Financial Officer) is
responsible for managing the principal ricks in each category in
order Yo achieve our performance goais.

Whilst ultimate responsibility for oversight of risk management
rests with the Board, the etfective day-to-day management of risk
i5 embedded within our operational busimess units and forms an
integral part of how we wark. This bottom up apgproach allows
potential risks to be identified at an early stage and escalated

as appropriate, with mitigations put in place to manage such
risks. Each business unit maintains a comprehensive risk
register Thanges to the register aie 1 eviewed yuarierly by the
Risk Committee, with significant and emerging risks escalated

to the Audit Committee.

To reag more about the Board and Audit Commitiee’s risk
oversight, see pages 77, 78 and 84.

Top down Bottomup
Strategic risk Operational risk
management management

BOARD / AUDIT COMMITTEE
Review external environment /\\_\
Robust assessmer:l of principal risks Assess effectiveness af risk

. N TRATagement sysiems
Set risk appetite and pararneters 9 Ve

. . . . Repost on principal risks
Determine strategic action points and uncertamnties

RISK COMMITTEE/ EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Identify principat risks //\\\
Direct detivery of sirategic aclions in Consider completeness
line with risk ppetite of identitiad risks and adequacy of
5 - X mitigaling actions
Monitor key risk indicators -
Consider agoregation
of risk exposures across the business

BUSINESS UNITS

Execute strategic actions Report current and emerging risks
T Identily, evatuate and mitigate
Report on key risk indicators aperatienal risks racorded in risk

e register

—



Our risk appetite

Principat Change in risk
internal risks Key risk indicators finciuding current threshelds) appeile in the year
Investrment - Execution of targeted acquisitions and disposals in line with capital allocation plan [overseen by &
strategy Investment Cammittee)
- Annual IRR process which forecasts prospective returns of each asset
- Percentage of portfolio in non-core sectors
Development - Total development expasure <15% of investment portfolio by value PN
strategy - Speculative development exposure <8% of investment portfolio by value
- Progress on executian of key develapment projects against plan
Capital - Manage our leverage such that LTV should nat exceed a maximum level if market yields were to rise o
structure to previous peaks
- Financial covenant headroom
Finance - Period until refinancing is required of nat less than two years FEN
strategy - Percentage of debt with interest rate hedging {spot and over next five years)
People - Unplanned executive departures ' ze
- Employee engagement
Income - Market letting risk including vacancies, upcoming expiries, and breaks and speculative development T

sustainabilily _ weighted average unexpired lease term

- Concentration of exposure to individual customers or sectors

Key
Change in risk appetite from last year
T Increase <> No change

Qur risk appetite is reviewed annually as part of the strategy review
process and approved by the Board. This evaluation guides the
actions we take in executing our strategy. We have identified a
suite of Key Risk indicatars [KRIs) and defined specific tolerances
far each [summarised abovel. These are reviewed quarterly by
the Risk Commiltee. to ensure that the activities of the business
remain within our risk appetite and that our risk exposure is

well matched to changes in our bustness and our markets.
These include the most significant judgements affecting our

risk exposure, inctuding our investment and development
strategy; the level of occupational and development exposure;
and our financial leverage.

Whilst our appetite for risk will vary over time and during the
course of the property cycle, in general we maintain a balanced
approach to risk. The Board considers our overall risk appetite in
the year is broadly unchanged from last year. Having over the last
few years lowered our financial risk we are now prepared to accept
an increase in our risk relating to the more operational nature of
praperty, reflecting market trends and our strategy as we build an
increasingly mixed use business.

Given the backdrop of economic and politicat challenges, we
have actively managed our incremental risk exposure by:

- maintaining a limited exposure to speculative development
coupled with our successful pre-letting strategy

- continuing to take a thoughtful approach to capital allocation,
demonstrated by selling £1.5bn of mature and off-strategy
assets, reinvesting partly in our share buyback programme,
selective acquisitions and profitable development, whilst
reducing our LTV further to 28.1%, despite valuation falls

- maintaining substantial financial headroom with £1.8bn of
committed unsecured revolving bank facilities, of which £1.5bn
is undrawn. Based on our current commitments, these facilities
and debt malurities, we have na requirement to refinance
untit fate 2022,
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MANAGING RISK [N DELIVERING OUR STRATEGY CONTINUED

Our risk focus

The general risk environment in which the Group aperates has
heightened over the course of the year, which is largely due to the
continued level of uncertainty associated with the future impact
af the UK's exit from the EU, the significant deterioration in the
UK retail market and weaker investment markets.

lnevitahly the risk of a disruptive or ‘'na deal’ Brexit has loamed
large and remains an actively ranaged risk, supported by a
dedicated risk checklist. While 1t is not possible to predict fulty
the impact Brexit will have on our business and our markets,

the Board is continuing to monitor external events and is taking
appropriate action to prepare for short term risks to ensure aur
business is both resilient and responsive in the short term, and
well pasitioned far the long term, Qur primary areas of focus have
been to mitigate risks, where practical, in our constructian supply
chain, in our operational day-to-day property managemeni and
our crisis management plans; and we remain alert to potential
uncertainties caused by Brexit which could adversely impact
investment, capital, financial, occupier and labour rarkets.

During the year, the Risk Committee has focused on some
key operational risk areas across the business including:

- ongoing GDPR programme to manage personal
data appropriately

- retaiter tenani risk and managing eur exposure to customers
of sectors in a mere challenging market backdrop

- enhancing our crisis management strategy including
a simulation exercise undertaken by senior rnanagement

- health, safety and environmental risk management.
Our Health and Safety management system was re-certified
under BS OHSAS 18001

- detailed review of the covenant strength of current and potential
construction contractors to mitigate our future exposure

climate change including establishing a Steering Comrmittee
to progress towards TCFD alignment

- payment operations and key financial controls

~ procurement policy and new supplier enboarding process.
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Our principal risks and assessment

Gur risk managerment framework is structured around the
principal risks facing British Land. The Board confirms that a
robust assessment of the principal risks facing the Company,
including those that would threaten its busiess model, future
performance, solvency or liquidity, was carred out during the year.

Whilst we consider there has been no material change ta the
nature of the Group's principal risks, not surprisingly, several
risks are elevated as a result of the chaltenging externat
environment, with the increased level of political uncertainty
associated with the UK's departure from the EU, alongside the
continued challenging trading conditions in retail {as shawn
by the risk heat map opposite}.

The risks considered to be elevated since the year end due to
continuing Brexit uncertainty are both the economic and political
and reguiatory cutlook. In addition, we consider the princigal risks
of occupier demand and investor demand to be elevaled since the
year end due to the continued challenging trading conditions in
retait with several recent high profile CVAs and administrations.
This could impact our ability to execute our investment strategy
and present an increased risk to income sustainability.

The principal risks are summarised opposite [and detailed on
pages 58 to 41], including an assessment of the potential impact
and likelihood and how the risks have changed in the year,
together with how they relate to our strategic pricrities.



Our risk assessment

Related
Principal risk slraiegic priority Change

External risks

Econemic outlook

Political and regulatory
outiook

Commercial property
investor demand

Cccupier demand
and tenant default
Avaitability and cost
of finance

$‘$‘e\e ==

Calastrophtc
business event

Internal risks - strategic

Investment strategy

Development sirategy

Capital structure

TIT|T|—>

Finance siraiegy
Internal risks - operationat

People

-7

Income sustainability

Other Group risks

In addition to our principat risks, there are also a number of
other risks that are largely operational in nature and are
managed centrally with appropriate processes and mitigation
plans in place.

Likelihood

Risk heat map

Impact

Note: The abeve illustrates principal risks which by their naiure are those which
have ihe potential to significantly impact Lhe Group's strategic objectives, financial
position or reputatien. The heat map highlights net risk, after taking account of
principal mitigations.,

Key

Strategic priorities Change year on year
Customer Orientation &> No change
Right Places T Increase
Capital Efficiency J, Decrease

Expert People

These risks comprise:

- Operating maodel including retiance on third parties
- Culture

- Information systems and cyber security

Effective control envirgnment

Fraud and corruption

¥

Compliance and legal framewark

Supply chain management
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PRINCIPAL RISKS

External risks

Risks and impacts

How we monitor and manage the risk

Change in risk assessment in year

Economic outlook

The UK economic climate and future
movements in interest rates present risks
and opportunities in property and tinancing

The Risk Commiltee reviews the ecangmic
environment in which we operate quarterly 10 assess
whether any changes to the economic outlook justify

[

markets and the b of purc ]
which can impact both the delivery of our
strategy and our financial performance.

are nent of the risk appetite of the business.
Key indicalors including forecast GOP growth,
employment rates, business and consumer
confidence, interest rates and inflation/deflation are
considered, as well as central bank guidance and
government policy updates.

We slress test our business plan against a downturn
in economic outlook ta ensure our financial position is
suificienity fiexible and resitient.

Qur resilient business model focuses on a high
guality poriictio anyg secure incorne sirearns and
robust finances,

r

The UK econamic pesition has weakened
during the year, largely due to the uncertainty
associated with Brexit together with the weaker
global economy.

Inflation and interes! rates remain relatively
stable. However, markels remain sensilive

to external shocks, particularly associated
with Brexit.

Against this employment is at its highest

level since 1973 and real wage growth

has strengthened.

We are mindful of the ongoing political and
ecopemic uncertaities, but our focus remains
on centrelling what we can within our business
Looking ahead our business is well positionad,
financially strong and we have a clear

long term strategy.

T -

+

il

Political and regulatery outlook

Significant palitical events and regulatory
changes, including the decision to leave the
EU, bring risks principally in three areas:

- reluciance of investors and businesses
te make investment and eccupational
decisions whilst the putceme
remains uncertain

- on determinalion of the outcome, the
impaci on the case for investment in the
UK, and on specific policies and regulation
intraduced, particularly those which directly
impact real estate or our customers

- the potential for a change of leadership.
political direction, or an early
general election

Whilst we are nok able lo influence the autcome of
significant political events, we do take the uncertainty
related to such events and the range of possible
oulcomes inte account when imaking strategic
investmenl and financing decisions.

- Internally we review and momitor proposals and
ernerging policy and legislation to ensure that we
take the necessary steps to ensure compliance if
applicable. Additionally, we engage public alfairs
cansullans to ensure that we are properly brieled
on the potential policy and regulatory implications
aof palitical events, We also manitar gublic trust

n business.

- Where appropnate, we act with other industry
participants and representative bodies ta contribute to
policy and reguiatery debate. We moniter and respond
to secial and political reputational challenges retevant
to the industry and apply our own evidence-hased
research to engage in thought leadership discussions
such as wilh Design for Life,

The pelitical environment remains unstable and
the risk of a disruptive or ‘no deal” Brexit has
loomed large, alongside the possibility of a
general election. This heightens bath the
economic and political risk outlaok.
Furthermore the global geopolitical and

trade environments remain uncertain,

Whitst it is not possible to predict fully the
impac! Brexit will have on our business and aur
markets, we have prepared a Brexit checklist
to identify and manage the key risks to different
areas of our business and have tonhsidered
various Brexil scenarios as part of aur five-year
farecasts.

__9
1

1

Commercial property investor demand

Reduction in investor demand for UK real
estate may resutt in falls in asset valuations
and could arise fraom variations n:

- the health of the UK econamy

- the attractiveness of investment in the UK

- availabitity of finance

retative attractiveness of other asset classes.

- The Risk Committee reviews the praperty market

quarterly to assess whether any changes to the
rnarket qullook present risks and oppartunities which
should be reflected in the execulion of our strategy
and our capital allocation plan. The Cormmitiee
considers indicators such as margin between
property yields and borrowing costs and property
capital growth forecasts, which are considered
alongside the Committee members’ knowledge

and experience of market activity and trends.

- We focus on prime assets and sectors which we

believe will be less susceptible over the medium term
to a reduction in cccupier and investor demand.

- Strong relationships with agents and direct investars

active in the market.
- We stress lest our business plan for the effect of 3
change in property yields.

lavestiment markets have slowed more recently

with fewer transactons, particularly in retail,

reflecting macro-econemic uncertainty and
challenges in the retail occupalional market.

~ The London office investiment market has
remained robust, continuing to benefit from
demand {rom overseas investors.

- The theme of polarisaticn has continued with
activity facused on high quality, well-let assets
wilh strong occupational characteristics or
alternative use potential.

- London ffice yields have remained broadly
stable throughout the year, however we
have seen yield expansion in retail reflecting
weakening investor sentiment, with weaker
lacations the most affected.

- Notwithstanding this market backdrop we have

continped te be active and have successfully

sold €1.5bn of assets.

Key
Change year on yvear
&> No change

T Increase

J, Decrease
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Risks and impacts

How we monitaor and manage the risk

Change in risk assessment in year

Occupier demand and tenant default

Underlying income, rentat growth and capital
performance cauld be adversely affected by
weakening eccupier demand and accupier
failures resulting from variations in the
heatth of the UK economy and cotresponding
weakening of consumer confidence, business
activity and investment,

Changing consumer and business practices
including the growth of internet retailing,
flexible working practices and demand for
energy efficient buildings, new technologies,
new legislation and alternative lacations may
result in earlier than anlicipated obsolescence
of our buildings if evolving occupier and
regulatory requirements are not met.

The Risk Comrnittae reviews indicatars of occupier
demand quarterly inctuding consumer canfidence
surveys and employment and ERV growth forecasls,
alengside the Commitiee members’ knowiedge

and experience of accupier plans, trading
performance and leasing activity in guiding
execution of cur strategy.

We have a high quality, diversified occupier base
and monitar concentration of expasure to individuat
occupiers or sectors. We perform rigorous occugier
covenanl checks ahead of approving deals and

on an ongoing basis so that we can be proactive

N Managing exposure lo weaker occupiers,
Through our Key Gctupier Account pragramme,

we work logether with aur customers to find ways
1o best meet their evolving requirements.

Our sustainability strategy links action on customer
health and wellbeing, energy efliciency, commmunity
and sustainable design to our busingss strategy. Our
social and environmental targels help us comply with
new legislalion and respend to customer demands;
for example, we expect all our oifice developments
to achieve a BREEAM Excellent rating.

I]\

London offices are continuing to show resilience
with above average take up. Relail has been
weak with retailers facing both economic and
structural challenges. As such, we have seen
{further retailers enter CVAs or administration,
resulling in store closures and rent reductions.
In light of these market dynamics, prime
London renls have been stable both in the West
End and City, however retail has expgrienced
rental value declines.

Across our markets, we are seeing polarisation
of occupier demand continuing with occupiers
focusing on the best quality assets.

In this context, we are lacused on delivering
high quality space with the right mix of uses;
we have let or renewed 2.7m sg ft of space
across the pertfolio, and occupancy remains
high at $7%.

Availability and cost of finance

Reduced availability of finance may adversely
impact ability to refinance debt and/or drive
up cost. These factors may also resultin
weaker investor demand for real estate.

Regulation and capital costs of lenders may
increase cost of finance.

Market borrowing rates and real eslate debt
availability are monitored by the Risk Cemmittee
quarierly and reviewed regularly in arder to guide
aur financing actions in executing our stralegy.

We manitor our projected LTV and our ¢ebt
requirements using several internally generated
reports focused on barrowing levels, debt maturity,
available lacilities and interest rate expasure.

We maintain good long term relationships with

our key financing partners,

Tne scale and quality of our business enables us o
access a diverse range of sources of finance with a
spread of repayment dates. We aim always to have
agood level of undrawn, committed, unsecured
revalving facilities lo ensure we have adequate
financing availabitity to support business
requirements and oppartunities.

We work with industry bedies and other retevant
organisations to parlicipate in debate on emerging
finance regulations where our interests and those of
our industry are affected.

Ongoing and increased uncertainty about
Brexit and the impacts of the macro economic
and political environment are affecting rmarket
sentiment, and operations of some lenders.
Debt continues to be available for the “right’
transaclions; strong sponsor and quality of
property are key.

Lenders” appetite varies in different debt
markets. There is 3 more cavtious and reduced
appetite for retail.

Interest margins/spreads have increased in
the market recently in some seclors, although
overall debt cost still retatively low,
Development finance is difficult 1o abtain for
prajects withaut pre-lets.

During the year we: have continued Lo be active
in debl markets. with £i.4bn of new inance
arranged across a variety of sources.

Catastraphic business event

An external event such as a civil emergency,
including a large-scale terrarist attack,
cyber crime, extreme weather occurrence,
environmental disaster or power shortage
could severely disrupt global markets
lincluding property and finance) and cause
significant damage and disruption to British
Land’s portfalio and eperations.

We maintain a comprehensive crisis response plan
across all business units as well as a head office
business continuity plan.

The Risk Committee monitars the Home Office
terrorism threal level and we have access Lo sequrity
threat infarmation services.

Asset emergency procedures are regularly reviewed,
and scenario tested. Physical security measures are
in place at properties and developrment sites.

Our Sustainability Cornmittee cantinues to monitor
environmental risks and we have established a TCFO
Steering Cornmiltee to review our management
processes for clirnate-related risks and opportunities.
Assel risk assessmenis are carried out to assess a
range of risks inciuding securily, {lood, environmental
and health and safety.

We have impiemented corporate cyber security
systems which are supplemented by incident
management, disaster recovery and business
continuity plans, all of which are reqularly reviewed
to be able to respond 10 changes in the threat
landscape and grganisational requirements.

We also have appropriate insurance in place across
tha partfolio.

The evaluation of the likely impact of this risk
has nat changed notably since the prior year,
The Home Office lhreat level from internatienal
terrorism remains ‘Severe’.

The wider use and enhancement of digital
technology across the Group increases the
risks associated with Infarmation and Cyber
security; with an increasing risk from legacy
system vulnerabitities, social engineering and
phishing. During the year, we have continued
to enhance our technical secutity position

as well a5 provide employee awareness
training on Information Security and Data
Privacy principles.

We have carried out a ¢risis simulation
exercise ang enhanced our procedures
where appropriate.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS CONTINUED

Internal risks

Risks and impacts

How we maonitor and manage the risk

Change in risk assessment in year

Investment strategy

In order to meet our strategic objectives,
wae aim ta invest in and exit from the right
properties at the right time.

Underperformance could result from

changes in market L As well as
inapprepriate determination and execution of
our praperty investment strategy, including:

- sector selection and weighting

- liming of investment and divestment
decisions

- exposure {0 developments

~ assel, lenan, region congenlration

- co-investment arrangements.

Qur investment strategy is deterrmined to be

consistent with our target risk appetite and is based

on 1he evaluation ot the exlernal environment.

- Progress agains! the stralegy and continuing

alignrment with our risk appetite is discussed at

each Risk Committee with relerence to the property

markets and the externzl econamic environment.

The Board carries out an annual review of the

averall corporate strategy including the current

and prospective asset partfalio allacation.

~ Individual investment decisions are subjecl ta
robusl risk evaluation overseen by our Investment
Committee including consideration of returns relative
to risk adjusted hurdle rates.

- Review of prospeciive periormante of individual
assets and their business plans,

- We foster collaborative relationships with our

co-investors and enter into ownership agreements

which balange the interests of the parties.

We have continued to allocate capital thoughtiully

in light of the current market conditions.

Since 1 April 2018, we have sold 5 Broadgate

tor £500m and successfully executed E646m of

retail sales - averall marginally ahead of book
value, Overall we were a net divester of £0.9bn
of assets.

The retail markel (aces structural challenges

and we have cantinued to refine our Retail

portfolio to deliver 3 smaller, mare facused
business. with total sales of £2.%bn over the last
five years.

- We remain thoughtful about the use of proceeds
frormn disposals, and are continuing ta invest into
our development pipetine and have extended
our share buyback programme.

- Our portfolio values were down 4.8%. led by

Retail where values were dawn 11.1% whereas

Offices values were up 1.1%,

/i\ -

]

Development strategy

Develapment provides an opportunity for

outpertormance but usuatly brings with it

elevated risk.

This is reflected in our decision-making

process around which schemes to develop,

the timing of the development, as well as the

execution of these projects.

Development strategy addresses several

development risks that coyld adversely

impact underlying income and capital

perfarmance including:

- development letting exgosure

~ construction timing and cosls lincluding
construction cost inflation)

- major contracior failure

- adverse planning judgements.

- We manage our levels of toiat and specutative
developmment exposure as a proportion of the
investrnent porifolio value within a target range taking
inio account associated risks and the impact on key
financial metrics. This is monitered quarterly by the
Risk Commitiee alang with progress of developments
agains pian,

- Pricr to committing 10 a development, a detailed

appraisal is undertaken, This includes cansideralion

of returns relative Lo risk adjusted hurdle rates ang
i5 overseen by our Investment Committee.

Pre-lets are used to reduce development letting risk

where Considered appropriate.

- Competilive tendering of canstruclion contracls and,
where appropriate, fixed price contracts entered inlo.

- Detarled selection and close monitoring of
contractors including covenant reviews.

- Experienced deveiopment management team
closely monitors design, tonstruction and overall
delivery process.

- Early engagementi and strong relationships with
pltanning authorities.

- We actively engage with the communities in which we
operale, as delailed in our Local Charter, ta ensyre
that our development aclivities consider the interests
of ali stakeholders.

- We manage environmental and social risks acrass
our devetopment supply chain by engaging with our
suppiters, including through our Supplier Code of
Conduyct. Sustainabdlily Brief for Developments and
Health and Safety Policy.

Development is an important part of our
business and has delivered sorme of our
sirangest returns, but is inherently higher
risk, particularly when pursyed ena
speculative basis. We imit our development
exposure to 15% of the total investment
portfolio by value, with a maximum of 8%

to be developed speculatively.

We actively manage our development risk and
pre-letting our space i an important part of
that approach.

We have successfuily pre-let or under offer
on 76% of our completed and commilted
developments and speculative exposure
remains low at 2.3% of portfolio gross asset
value. Also, 93% of the costs en our commitied
development pragramme have been tixed.

PR

'

Key
Change vear on year
<> No change

T increase

J Oecrease
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Risks and impacts

How we monitor and manage the risk

Change in risk assessment in year

Capital structure - leverage

Qur capital structure recognises the need
for balance between performance, risk
and flexibitity.
~ leverage magnifies property returns,
poth positive and negative
- anincrease in leverage increases the
risk of a breach of covenants an borrowing
facilities and may increase finance costs.

- We manage our use of debl and equity finance to
balance the benefits of leverage against the risks.

~ We aim to manage our loan to value [LTV] through
the property cycle such that our financial position
would remain rabust in the event of a significant fall
in property values. This means we do nat adjust our
approach to leverage based on changes in property
market yields.

- We manage our investment activity, the size and
timing of which can be uneven, as wall as our
development commitments to ensure that our
LTV level rernains appropriate.

- We leverage our equity and achieve benelils of scale
while spreading risk through joint ventures and funds
which are typically partly financed by debt without
recourse to British Land.

& -

We manage our use of debt and equity finance
to balance the benelits of leverage against the
risks, inciuding magnification of property
valuation movements.

Our financial position remains strong; our
proportionally consolidated LTV has been
reduced by a further 30bps during the year

to 28.1%. despite the valuation fall.

This financial strength provides us with the
capacity to progress opportunities including
our development gipeline whilst retaiming
significant headroom to our covenants.

Finance strategy

Finance strategy addresses risks both to - Five key principles guide our financing, employed &> - The scale of our business, quality of our assets
continuing solvency and profits generated. together to manage the risks in this area: diversify and rental income enable us to access a broad
- . : . our sources af finance, phase malurity of debt range of debt finance on atiractive terms.
f:a';?rr:;:l{?:;?:J::;:g?&?\;:c{:';iz‘tzms;he ponfolig. rmaintain liquidity, mainitain {lexibitity, Buring t_he year we have completed E1.4bn
operations of the business ar repay facililies as and maintain strang metrics. ] of new financing. )
they fall due. - We monitor the period until financing is required, - Wehave £1.8bn of committed unsecured.
which is a key determinant of financing activity. revolving bank facilities, of which £1.58n is
Debt and capital market ¢onditions are reviewed undrawn. Based on current commitments,
regutarly ta identify financing opportunities that these facilities and debt maturities, we have
maeet our business requirements. ne requirement to refinance the business until
- Financial covenant headroam is evaluated regularly late 2022.
and in conjunction with transactions.
= We are commitied to maintaining and enhancing
relationships with our key financing partners.
- Weare mindful of relevant emerging regulation
which has the potential to impact the way that we
finance the business.
People
A number of critical business pracessesand  Cur HR stkrategy is designed to minimise risk through: ¢> - ExperiPeopleis one of the four core focus

decisions tie in the hands ot a few people.

Failure to recryit, develop and retain staff
and Directors with the right skills and
experience may resull in significant
underperformance or impact the
effectiveness of operations and decision
making, in turn impacting business
performance.

- inforrmed and skilled recruitrment processes

- talent performance management and succession
ptanning for key roles

- highly competitive compensation and benelits

- people development and training.

The risk is measured through employee engagement
surveys, employee turnover and retention metncs. We
moniter this through the aumber of unptanned executive
departures in addition to conducting exit interviews.

We engage wilh our employees and suppliers to make
clear our requirements in managing key risks including
health and safety, fraud and bribery and ciher social and
environmental risks, as detailed in our policies and
cades of conduct.

areas of our strategy and a key factor in our
performance. We continue 1o empower our
people to make the most of their potential
through training and development and are
forused on building a supportive and inclusive
culture for our people.

During the year, we have made severat
importanl changes e encaurage cross-leam
collaboration and shared learnings. We have
cambined our Retail and Offices businesses
under the single leadership af Darren Richards
and we have also integrated the property
managerment business within the wider
business at a single office site.

Income sustainability

We are mindful of maintaining sustainable
income streams which underpin a stable and
growing dividend and provide the ptatform
from which to grow the business.

We consider sustainability of our income
streamsin:
- execution of investrnent strategy and capital

recycling, notably timing of reinvestment of
sale praceeds

- nalure and structure of leasing activity
~ nature and timing of asset management
and development activity.

- We undertake comprehensive praofil and cash flow
forecasting incorporating scenario anatysis to model
the impact of proposed transactions.

- We take a proactive asset management approach to
rmaintain a sirong occuper line-up. We monitor our
markel letting exposure including vacancies,
upcoming expiries and breaks and speculative
development as well as our weighted average
unexpired lease term.

- We have a high quality and diversified occupier base
and monitor concentration of exposure (o individuat
occupiers or sectors.

= We are proaclive in addressing key lease breaks
and ewpiries Lo minimise periods of vacancy.

- We aclively engage with the comemunities in which
we operatc, a5 detailed in our Local Charler, to
ensure we provide places that meal the needs of all
relevant stakeholders,

We are mindfut of the challenges (acing the
retail market which has seen several more
operataors apply for CVA or administration. We
continue 1o actively monitor aur exposure 1o
occupiers at risk of defaull and administraticn
and are selective about the seclors and
operators we target.

We also recognise that in delivering our
investment strategy and selling some of our
malure assets, we have had 1o be conscious
of the impact on our income in the short term.
However, aur incame streams are underpinned
by prime assets and a high quality, diverse
occupier base with high eccupancy. Looking
forward our development pipeline offers
significant potential te generate future income.
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TASK FORCE ON CLIMATE-RELATED FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES [TCFD)

Climate change ts one of the
most pressing challenges our
world faces today

The Board recognises the systemic threat posed by climate change

and the need for urgent mitigating action. We have a track record
of improving environmental performance and were one of the first
real estate companies te intceduce stretching carban reduction
targets that go beyond the demands of the Science Based Targets
initiative for Scope 1 and 2 emissions. For more information, see
our 2019 Sustainability Accounts at britishland.com/data.

Our focus on mitigating climate risks and leveraging climate
opportunities has protected value, reduced accupational costs
and enhanced our revenue, The TCFD recommendations provide
an excellent framework for us to continue this journey.

To progress towards TCFD alignment, in March 2019
we established 2 TCFD Steering Commiitee, spensored by our
Chief Financial Officer, Simon Carter. This Committee will:

underiake long term scenario anatysis of the irnpact of climate

change on our business

- recommend adjustments lo our strategic and risk management
processes 10 further tnmegrate climate ¢hange issues into our
day-to-day operatrons

- identity metrics that translate ctimate change issues into

financial exposure.

The TCFD Steering Commitiee reports to the Risk and
Sustainability Committees, both of which meet quarterly. Ultimate
oversight is at Board level, with our new Corporate Social
Responsibility Cammittee playing a role from May 2019, Any
rasulting disclosure requires approval by the Audit Committee.

» R
Board Board of Directors
........................................................ & T
> . . Corporate Social Responsibility {CSR) |
Audit Committee J Committee
S iy e A e 28 e
E:;cuhve T Risk Committee J Sustainabitity Committee
Management
TCFD Steering Committee
> Members include representatives from across the business: Asset management, Development, Finance.
lnvestment, Procuremant, Property managemernt, Risk management, Strategy and Sustainability
Governance

Board oversight of climate-related risks
and opportunities

Qur Board Director responsible for climate-related issues is
Simon Carter, Chief Financial Ofticer. Simon chairs or attends
our Risk and Sustainability Committees, ensuring centinuity
and accountability.

The Board is updated on climate-related issues at least annually
and has ultimate oversight of risk management. Significant and
emerging risks are escalated to the Audit Committee and climate
risk is tracked as part of our Catastrophic Business Event risk
category [see page 591.
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Management's role in assessing and managing
climate-related risks and opportunities

The Board delegates responsibility for analysing:

- climate-related risks to the Risk Cemmitiee, which consists
of the Executive Committee and leaders trom business units,
including procurement and praperty management. Each
business unit maintains a comprehensive risk register, which
is reviewed quarterly by the Risk Committee. Climate risks
are identified through a process involving trend analysis ang
stakeholder engagement. Identified risks are incorporated
inta aur risk framewaork and managed by the appropriate
business areas

- climate-related opportunities to the Sustainability
Committee, which will report to our new Corporate Sucial
Responstbility Committee.




Strategy

Impacts of climate-related risks and opportunities on our business
We consider climate-related issues within the time horizons used in our carporate sirategy:

Shart term

Mediurm 1erm Long term

Less than 12 months

1to5years Qver 5 years

To date, we have focused on cimate-related risks and opportunities for short and medium term horizons. This work will be expanded to
cansider lang term harizons through aur new TCFD Steering Committee.

Examples of climate-related risks

Extreme weather

Short term risks

Higher {lood risks could increase insurance costs. This could, in turn, increase service charge costs
for customers.

Inability to sell or rent property assets at book value, due to flood risk.

impact on corporate strategy

Flood risk assessments undertaken for our current portfolio.

100% of high-risk assets have flood management plans.

Impact on financial planning

Flood risk is effectively priced into our valuations.

Flood risk factored into our process for acquisitians and developmenis.

Energy regulation

Medium term risks

Lease renewals subject to Minimum Energy Efficiency Standard [MEES| compliance and ali leased
properties subject to MEES from April 2023, with few exemptions.

Impact on corporate strategy

Through our futureproofing programme we monitor the 5% of our portfolio with F or G Energy
Performance Certificate [EPCI ratings [by floor areal. Property Managers will take action on F and
G rated assets by 1 April 2023.

Impact on finrancial planning

MEES non-compliance would pose a risk of revenue loss and a potential liability from
non-cormpliance penaliies.

Energy prices

Medium term risks

Energy cost volatility.

Impact on corporate strategy

Through our efficiency programme, we reduce our energy consumpiion profile and ultimately our
exposure to price fluctuations,

Impact on financial planning

Financial modelling includes the expected occupancy of assets and their associated energy costs.
Procurement manages the financial risk of volatile energy prices.

Examples of ctimate-related opportunities

Resource efficiency

Short term opportunity

Energy savings from the UK Energy Savings Opportunity Scheme [ESOS).

fmpact on corporate strategy

As part of complying with ESOS, we have identified initiatives representing £4.4m of capex investment
that would save £3.7m annually.

impact on financial planning

The business cases for these capexinvestments are considered as part of our overarching
financial process.

Energy sources

Short term opportunity

Revenue generated from solar PV installations on cur assels.

Impact on corporate strategy

Installation of solar PV ai 10 assets, generating 1,131 MWh in 2018/19.

Impact an financial planning

The cost savings and revenue from exporting to the grid are factcred inta our financial planning.

Products and services

Medium term opportunity

Earning a rental premium from high efficiency buildings with a Design for Performance approach.

Impact on corporate strategy

Our Sustainability Brief for Developments sets out our requirement for detailed energy modelling early
in the design stage to inform design and set operational performance benchmarks.

Impact on financial planning

Rental incorne for high efficiency and tow efficiency assets would be factored into our revenue
forecasts in the medium term, as this would affect thair marketability.

The resillence of our strategy
British Land undertoak an initial analysis of medium term portfolio risks in 2017. We will carry out TCFD-aligned scenaric analysis in 2020,
including a scenario where global warming is limited te 2°C or tower,
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TASK FORCE ON CLIMATE-RELATED FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES {TCFD] CONTINUED

Risk management

Clirnate-related risks are identified and assessed using our
risk management framework, set out on page 54 of this Report.
We consider clirmate change within ‘External risks Catastrophic
business event’, which is 2 principal risk to our business. We
define principal risks as those with a substantive financial or
strategic impact on the business, high likelihood of eccurrence
and mediurn/high potential impact on our performance. Our
integrated approach combines a top down strategic view with

a complementary bottom up operational process.

Identifying and assessing climate-related risks

As part of our top down stralegic view, our risk heat mapping
process allows us o determine the relative significance of
principal risks. As a factor within a principal risk category.
climate change is monitored by the Risk Commitiee.

Qur risk register tracks:

il Description of the risk [identification]

il Impact-likelihood rating (evalyation enabling prioritisation)
i) Mitigants (mitigation]

ivl Risk swner [manitaring]:

As part of our bottom up cperational process, we mainiain Asset
Plans which include provisions for identifying ctimate-related risks
and opportunities, such as flood risk assessments and audits to
identify energy saving opportunities. Qur Sustainability Brief far
Acquisitions sets out our environmental criteria for acquiring

a new property, including energy efficiency and flood risk
categories. Our Sustainability Brief for Developments sets out

our environmental criterta for new constructions and renovations,
including 1 eyuirements for energy erticiency, flood risk, materials
choice and embeodied carbon reductions,

Managing climate-related risks
Our process for mitigating, accepting and controlling principal

risks, including climate-related risks, is set out on page 54 of
this Report.

We priorttise principal risks through our corporate risk register

and risk heat rmap. The impact-likelihood rating, which is evaluated

during risk identification, 1s our primary metric for prioritising
risks. As a factor within a principal risk category, climate change
risks are togged in our corporate risk register and reviewed
quarterly by the Risk Committee, which comprises the Executive
Committee and senior management. The Board is ultimately
responsible for and determines the nature and extent of principal
risks it is willing to take ta achieve its strategic objectives.

64  British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019

Metrics and targets

Through our TCFD Steering Committee worls, we will quantify our
total climate-related financial exposure.

Belaw ara the climate-related metrics and targets against which
we currently report.

Climate-related risks

2019 219
MEES EPCs rated F or G (% by floor area} 5% 5%
Extreme Portfolio at high risk of flood 3% 3%
weather  [% by value]

High fload risk assets with flaed 100% 100%

managerneni plans [% by value]

Climate-related opportunities
2099 )

Resource Scope 1and 2 carben intenstly 64% 4%
efficiency reduction versus 2009 (2020 target:
55% reduction, index scored]

Landtard energy intensity 44% 40%
reduction versus 2009

(2020 target: 5% reduction,

index scored)

Energy Eleciricity purchased 8% 27%
sources  from renewable sources
(2020 target: 100%!
On site renewatie energy 1,131 782
generation [MWh) MWh  MWh
Products  Fortfelio with green building 18% 18%
and ratings 1% by lluor areal
services  Qevelopments ouiperforming 25% 26%

Buiiding Regulations for carbon
efficiency [% better on average!




Viability
statement

Assessment of prospects

The Group's annual corporate planning pracess includes the
completion of 3 strategic review, reassessing the Group's risk
appetite and updating the Group’s forecasts.

The Group's strategy provides the focus for our annual priorities
and is formally reviewed annually. This process is led by the Chief
Executive through the Executive Committee and includes the active
engagement of the Board. Part of the Board's role is ta consider
whether the strateqy takes appropriate account of the Group's
principal risks. The latest updates to the strategic plan and
Croup's risk appetite were approved by the Board in February

and March 2019, respectively.

The sirategy and risk appetite drive the Group’s forecasts. These
cover a five-year period and consist of a forecast which includes
cornmitted transactions only, and a forecast which also includes
non-committed transactions the Board expects the Group to make
in line with the Group’s strategy. A five-year forgcast is considered
to be the optimal balance between the Group’s fong term business
model o create Places People Prefer and the fact that property
investrnent is 3 long term business [with weighted average lease
lengths and debt maturities in excess of five years|, offset by the
progressively unreliable nature of forecasting in later years,
particularly given the histarically cyclical nature of the UK
property industry.

Assessment of viability

For the reasons outlined above, the pertod over which the
Directors consider it feasible and appropriate to report on the
Group's viability is the five-year pericd to 31 March 2024.

The assumptions underpinning these forecast cash flows and
covenant compliance forecasts were sensitised to explore the
resilience of the Group to the patential impact of the Group’s
significant risks, or a combination of thase risks.

The principal risks table on pages 58 1o 61 summarises

those matters that could prevent the Group from delivering on

its strategy. A number of these principal risks, because of their
nature or potential impact, could also threaten the Group's ability
to continue in business in its current form if they were to occur.

The Directars paid particular attention to the risk of a downturn
in economic outloak which could impact property fundamentals,
inciuding tnvestor and occupier demand which would have a
negative impact on valuations, cash flows and a reduction inthe
availability of finance. The remaining principal risks, whilst having
an impact on the Group's business model, are not considered by
the Directors to have a reasanable likelihood of impacting the
Group's viability over the five-year period to 31 March 2024,

The sensitivities performed were destgned to be severe but
plausible; and relate to a singie ‘downturn scenario’ before
mitigating actions:

- downturn in ecenomic outlook: key assumptions including
occupancy, vaid periods, rental growth and yields were
sensitised in the 'downturn scenaric’ to reflect reasonably likely
levels associated with an economic downturn, inctuding:

- areduction in occupier demand reflected by an ERV decline,
occupancy decline, increased void periods and additional
impact of retail CVAs or administrations

- areduction in investment property demand to the level seen in
the last severe downturn in 2008/2009, with outward yield shift
te 8% netinitial yield.

- Restricted availability of finance: based on the Group's current
commiiments and available facilities there is no requirement
to refinance until late 2022. In the normal course of business,
financing is arranged in advance of expected requirements
and the Directors have reasonable confidence that additional
or replacement debt facilities will be put in place. In the
‘downturn scenario’, the following sensitivity of this
assumption was conductad:

- areduction in the availability of finance, for two years of the
five-year assessment in tandem with the Group's
refinancing date.

The outcame of the 'downturn scenario’ was that the Group’s
covenant headroom based an existing debt [i.e. the level by which
investrment property values would have to fatl before a financial
cavenant breach occurs) decreases from the current 56% to, at its
lowest ievel, 13%, indicating covenants on exisling facilities would
not be breached.

In the ‘downiurn scenario’, mitigating actions would be required to
enable the Group to meet its future liabilities, including through
asset sales, which would allow the Group to continue to meet its
liabilities over the assessment period.

Viability statement

Having considered the forecast cash flows and covenant
compliance and the impact of the sensitivities in combination

in the ‘downturn scenario’, the Directers confirm that they have

a reasonable expectation that the Group will be abie to continue in
operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the period to
31 March 2024.

Going concern
The Directors also considered it appropriate to prepare the

financial statements on the gaing concern basis, as explatned in
the Governance review.

To read more information on going concern, go to page 78.

The Strategic Report was appraved by the Board on 14 May 2019
and signed on its behalf by;

Chris Grigg
Chief Executive
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1 Triton Square

Excellent environmental stewardship

Large-scale development carries a broad responsibility and we are careful to manage the impact of our
projects ¢n the environment. At 1 Tritan Square we worked closely with our design team and contractor 10 retain
much of the original building. Smart material reuse and sustainability innovations mean that the building will
produce 33% less carbon in construction and operation than best practice new build equivatents - a reduction
of 35,600 tonnes of CQ,e. This saving is greater thaa the building’s operational emissians over the next 20 years
ang it exceeds the ambitious carbon reduction targets required to meet the UK's commitment ta the Paris
Climate Agreement, High efficiency equipment, low-carbon materials and a circular approach to waste are all
part of cur BREEAM Qutstanding sustainability plans for the buitding.



BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Driving success

Our Board develops strategy and leads British Land

to achieve long term success.

John Gildersleeve, Non-Executive Chairman ®

Appoinied as a Non-Executive Director in September 2008 and as Chairman
in Janvary 2013. '

Skills and experience

John is deputy chairman of TalkTalk Telecomn Group PLC. He was formerly
chairman of Carphone Warghouse Group, New Laok Retail Group, EMI
Group and Gallaher Group; a non-executive director of Dixons Carphene ple,
Lloyds TSB Bank PLC, Vedafone Group and Pick n Pay Stores {South Alrical;
deputy chairman of Spire Healthcare: and an executive director of Tesco ple
John will be stepping down as Chairrman and from the Board at the end of
the 2019 AGM

Lynn Giadden, Non-Executive Director ¢ R
Appointed as a Non-Executive Director in March 2015,
Skills and experience

Lynn is recagnised as an authority in working at the interface of advanced
technology and indusiry, Her £ritical thinking and anatyncat skills bring a
unique dimension to the Board

She is Shelt Professor of Chemicat Engineering at the University of
Cambridge and Executive Chair of the Engineering and Physical Sciences
Research Council. She is also a feltow of the Royal Society and Royal
Academy of Engineering,
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Chris Grigg, Chief Execytive
Appointed to the Beard in January 2009,
Skills and expetience

Chris has more than 30 years’ experience in real estate and financial
services indusiries, in a range of leadership roles. He brings a strong
track record of driving growth, delivering strategic plans and a weatth of
experience in corporate finance to the Board.

Until November 2008, Chris was chief executive of Barclays Commercial

- Bank, having joined Barctays in 2005. Prior to that, Chris spent gver 20 years

8% Goldman Sachs

Chris is a non-executive director of BAE Systems ple where he atso sits
on the Corporate Responsibility Committee. He is a board member of the
Eurppean Public Real Estate Association and a member of the Cancer
Research UK Corporale Beard,

Alastair Hughes, Non-Executive Director « ©

Appointed as a Non-Executive Director in January 2018.

Skills and experience

Alastair has proven experience of growing real estale companies and is

a fellow of ihe Royal instiution of Chariered Surveyors.

Alastair is a non-executive director of Schroders Real Estate Invesiment
Trust Limited and Tritax Big Box REIT, with aver 25 years of experience in
real estale markets. He is a former director of Jones Lang LaSalle Inc. {JLL)
having served as rnanaging directar of JLL in the UK, as chief executive for
Europe, Middle East and Africa and then as regional CEQ for Asia Pacific.



Simon Carter, Chief Financial Officer
Appainted to the Board in May 2018.
Skills and experience

Simon has exiensive experience of finance and the real estate

sectos. He joined British Land from Lagicor, the owner and operator of
European logistics real estate, where he had served as chiel financial
officer since January 2017.

Prior to joining Logicor, frem 2015 to 2017 Siman was finance director at
Quintain Estates & Development Plc. Simon previously spent aver 10 years
with British Land, working in a variety of financial and strategic roles and
was 8 member of our Executive Committee from 2012 until his departure
in January 2015. Simon also previously worked for UBS in fixed income
and qualified as a chariered accountant with Arthur Andersen.

Nicholas Macpherson, Non-Executive Director 4
Appointed ag 3 Non-Executive Birector in December 2016
Skills and experience

Nicholas has directed organisations through hoth fiscal and strategic
change management and brings this vilal expertise to the Board.

He is chairman of C. Hoare & Co and a direclor of The Scottish American
Invesiment Company PLC. Nicholas was the Permanent Secretary to the
Treasury lor over 10 years from 2005 to March 2014, leading the department
through the financial cnisis and the subsequent period of banking reform,

He joined the Treasury in 1985 and held a number of roles prior 1o his
appointment g5 Permanent Secretary. Nicholas irained as an economist
and has worked at the CBI and Peal Marwick Consulting.

William Jackson, Senior Independent Director N &

Appointed as a Non-Executive Director in Aprik 2011 and Senior Independent
Director in July 2017

Skills and experience

William’s experience spans business cperaticns and financial planning.

He is Managing Partner of Bridgepaini, one af Eurape’s leading private
equily groups. which he has led since 200). William has served on a wide
range of UK and international boards during his career and has exiensive
property experience.

Preben Prebensen, Nan-Executive Director R
Appuointed as a Non-Executive Director in September 2017.
Skills and experience

Preben has 30 years’ experience in driving long term growth for British
banking businesses.

He has been chief executive of Close Brothers Group plc since 2009. Preben
was formerly chief investment officer at Catlin Group Lirnited and chief
executive of Wellington Underwriting pic. Prior to that he held a number of
senior positions at JP Morgan,
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS CONTINUED

Tim Scare - Non-Executive Director & N

Appointed as a Man-Executive Direclor in March 2014.

Skills and experience

Tim has significant experience in the rapidly evolving gicbal technolagy
landscape and brings years of engagement both with mature econoemies
and emerging markels 10 \he Board,

He is a non-executive director ol Pearson ple and HM Treasury and sits on
the beard of lrustees of the Royal National Theatre. Tim was formerly chief
financiat officer of ARM Holdings PLC and held senior financial positions at
Rebus Group Limited, Wittiarn Baird ple, LucasVarity pic and BTR pic. From
2005 10 2014, he was a non-executive director of National Express Group
PLC, including tirme as intenm chairman angd six years as senior
independent director.

Tim has been appointed 10 succeed John Gildersieeve as Chairman from
the end of the 2019 AGM.

Rebecca Warthingtan, Non-Executive Director A
Appointed as a Non-Executive Direcior in January 2018.
Skills and experience

Rebecca has extensive lisied property sector experience and brings key
commerciat acurnen Lo the Board.

She was formerly group chief operating officer [having previgusly been
group chiel finance officer] of Countryside Properties PLC and spent

15 years at Quintain Estales and Development PLC, first as linance direcior
and latterly as deputy chiefl exacutive. Rebecca was also a non-executive
director and chair of the audit committee at Hansteen Holdings ple until

20 March 2018, and a non-executive director of Aga Rangemaster Group plc
to Septernber 2015. She qualified as a chartered accountant with
Pricewaterhouse Coopers LLP.
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Laura Wade-Gery, Non-Executive Director R
Appoainied as a Non-Executive Director in May 2015,
Skills and experience

Lavra nas deep knowiedge of digitak iransformation and cusiomer
experience and brings her experience leading business change
management o the Board.

She 15 a non-executive director of John Lewis Partnership plc and NHS
tmprovement. Previously, Laura was execulive director Mulli Channet at
Marks and Spencer Group ple, served in a number of senior positions at
Tesco PLE intluding chisf executive officer of Testo com and was 3
non-gxecutive director of Trinity Mirror ple.

Brona McKeown, General Counset and Campany Secretary
Appointed as General Counsel and Company Secretary in January 2018
Skills and experience

Belore joining Brilish Land, Brona was General Counsel and Cormpany
Secretary of The Co-operative Bank plc for four years as part of the
restructuring executive team. JImmediately prior to that she was Interim
General Counsel and Secretary at the Coventry Building Society, Until
October 2011, Brona was Global General Counsel of the Corporale division
of Barclays Bank plc, having joined Barclays in 1998, Brona trained and
spent a number of years at a large City law firm.



Directors’ core areas of expertise?

Board Committee membership key
* Audit Committee mernber

¢ Corporate Social Respensibility Committee member
N Nomination Committee member
® Rernuneration Committee member

o Chairman of a Board Committee

Board attendance

Scheduled Ad hog
Director meelings mealings Total
John Gildersleeve' 7/7 2/2 9/9
Alastair Hughes 7/7 3/3 10/10
Charles Maudsley? 7/7 2/2 9/9
Chris Grigy 7/7 3R 10/10
Laura Wade-Gery* 77 273 /10
Lynn Gladden "7 373 10/10
Nicholas Macpherson* 717 213 9/10
Preben Prebensent 77 2/3 910
Rebecca Worthington 717 3/3 16/10
Simen Carter?? 6/4 2{2 8/8
Tim Roberts? 717 212 9/9
Tim Score"* 717 1/2 8/9
Witliam Jackson?® 6/7 373 /10

1. DOue te their conflicts of interest, Tim Score and John Gildersleeve were not
inviled 1o attend one ad hoc Board meeting, the sole business of which was

Chairman succession

~

. Due to their conflicts of interest, Charles Maudsley, Tim Roberts and

Sirmon Carter were not invited to attend one ad hoc Board meeting, the sole
business of which was Lhe reerganisation of Executive Director pasitions
3. Simon Carter did nat start ernployment until 21 May 2018 and therefore did
not attend one meeting that tack place before he joined
4, Laura Wade-Gery, Nichotas Macpherson, Preben Prebensen and Tim Score
each missed one ad hoc meeting that was called at short notice. In each case,
the Jirectors who were unable 16 attend had been separately briefed on the

business of the meeling and had provided their views beforehand
. Pre-existing diary commitments meant William Jackson was unable to attend

o

ane meeting in January 2019, This was scheduled some time alter the 2019
Boeard dates had been settled as a response to the Board evaluation feedback
that there was a large gap between Lhe Novernber and March meetings
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CHAIRMAN'S INTRODUCTION TO CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Welcome to the Governance
and Remuneration sections

——— e

t am pleased to present the Corporate Governance Report for
the year ended 31 March 2019.

The Board’s responsibility for leading the Company and overseeing
the governance of the Group continues to be supported by a robust
structure which allows for constructive debate and challenge by its
members, This approach enables the Directors to make effective
decisions, at the right time and based on the right information.

As  memtion in my statement on pages 2 and 3, our level

of thoughtful activily and the resilience of cur strategy set British
Land apart. We take this thoughtfulness and consideratian

into our governance structure and this year a review of our
governance policies has been carried out, This resuited in
revisions 10 a number of our policies iIncluding our matters
reserved to the Board, vaniaus Cammittee terms of refecence
and delegated authortties.

Governance underpins the way in which the business of the Group
is managed, our behaviour and our corporate culture. This year,
we are reporiing against the 2016 UK Corporate Governance Code
{the ‘Code’] available at frc.org.uk. | am pleased to report that the
Board has continued 1o apply good governance and censiders that
the Company has complied with the provisions of the Code
throughout the year.

We have also been making preparations for compliance with the
2018 UK Carparate Governance Code. Our commitment to
engaging with our stakeholders means that we already have in
place several methods of engaging with various stakeholder
groups. To help with reviewing this engagement we have recently
constituied a Board level Corporate Social Responsibility
Committee ta assist the Board in:

- wnderstanding the views of key stakehoiders fincluding our
employees| of the Company

- understanding the Company's impact on community
and environment
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- ensuring that the Board is aware of the processes and
mechanisms used by the Carmpany to engage with key
stakeholders

- ensunng that those processes and mechanisms are fit for
purpose and assist in contributing to the wider society.

The following Corporate Governance Repory, including the reports
of the Audit, Nommnation and Remuneration Commitiees, outlines
how the Company has applied the Code's principles and provisions.

Board changes

The Board has continued to evolve during the year. Simon Carter
joined in May 2018 as Chief Financial Officer and Tim Roberts and
Chartes Maudsley stepped down from the Beard on 31 March 2019.
Charles Maudsley left British Land on that date but Tim Roberts
remains an employee until 31 Juty 2019,

1 would like to thank both Tim and Charles tar their commitment
1o British Land. Tim joined British Land in 1997 and was appointed
ta the Board i1 2004, since when he has been the Head af Offices.
Charles joined British Land in 2010 and has been on the Board
since that time, most recently as the Head of Retail, Leisure

and Residential.

In addition, | will step down as Chairman and as a Director at
the end of the 2019 AGM with Tim Score having been appointed
to succeed me as Chairman at that time.

With the exception of Tim, Charles and |, all Directors in role at
31 March 2019 will stand for re-eleciion at the 2019 AGM.

This year we carried gut an internal evaluation of the Board.
Details of the process undertaken and @ summary of the outcomes
are set out on page 77. However, | am pleased to report here

that the review concluded that your Board, its Commitiees and

its individuat rnembers continue to operate effectively and with due
diligence. It atso confirmed that gaod progress has been made on
the recommendations of last year's externally facilitated
evaluation. The focus for the coming year will be:

- continuing development of the Board's understanding of culture
and values;

- continuing the development of succession plans; and

- refining agendas and timings to enhance discussion and debate
around impaortant issues.

This year's AGM will again provide an oppartunity for all
shareholders to hear more about sur performance during the year
and to ask questions of the Board. I look forward to welcoming you
on 19 July 2019.

John Gildersleeve
Non-Executive Charrman



BOARD ACTIVITY IN 2019

Our core focus areas

The Board meets regularly with people from across the British Land
business and interacts with a range of advisers including corporate
brokers and valuers. Board discussions have covered a wide range
of topics with a significant amount of time spent on the following
strategic topics:

Strategic topic Areas on which the Board has focused during the year

Customer Orientation - Decision to focus our business on three core elerments: our London campuses, a smaller
Retail portfolio and Residential which would see campuses increase to 55-60% of the portfolio,
with Retail reducing to 30-35% and Residential increasing te 10% on a five year view

- Smart Places team established to focus on delivering technology-enabled places and the
personalisation of the working environment

- Continued roll out of Storey, now operational across 141,000 sq ft at our campuses

Right Places - Signed our Master Development Agreement and submitted our planning application at
Canada Water

- Progressing our wisign for Broadgate including obtaining planning permission for the
redevelopment of 1-2 Broadgate

- QOverseeing our Retail disposal strategy
Capital Efficiency -~ Sale of 5 Broadgate for £1bn [BL share £500m)

- Use of proceeds split between a £200m extension to our share buyback pregramme and
reinvestment in develapment

- Recommendation of 31.00p per share in dividends representing a 3% year-on-year increase
- Repayment of £223m of debt in the Broadgate JV releasing buildings for potential development
- Mainienance of appropriate leverage at 28%

Expert People - Combining our Oifices and Retail businesses under the leadership of Darren Richards as Head
of Real Estate

- Appointment to the Executive Committee* of Emma Cariaga, Mead of Operations at Canada
Water and Oavid Lockyer, Head of Broadgate

- Comnbination of British Land and our property management business within a single office site,
enabling collaboration and maximising the efficiency of our operations

- Roll out of agile warking, enabling our people to work more flexibly

Sustainability - Establishment of a Board evel Corporate Social Responsibility Committee with effect from
April 2019

- Consideration of our approach to sustainability fer beyond 2020
- Dwersity and inclusion across our business

* Details of the members of oyr Executive Committee can be found on our website at britishland.cam/executive-committee
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GOVERNANCE AT A GLANCE

A strategic enabler

Our governance structure ensures that the right people have access

to the right information. Delegated authorities throughout our
organisation enable effective decision making at appropriate levels.

Board » L

Board of Directors

-

Corporate Social

. . e Nomination Remuneration
Audit Committee Responsibility . .
Committee® Committee Committee
Executive > { Chief Executive ‘l
Executive Committee investment Committee Risk Committee

Management | ®

Community Investment
Committee

Health and Safety Committee

Sustainability
Committee

* With effect from | Aprit 2019

Board gender split as at 2019 AGM versus 2018 AGM
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GOVERNANCE REVIEW

Governance s an integral
part of the way we deliver

our strategy

Leadership

The Board

As at 31 March 2019 the Board comprised the Chairman, eight
independent Non-Executive Directars and four Executive Directors.
Biographies of the Directors as at the date of publication are set
out on pages &8 to 70 and include detaits of the skitls and
experience each brings to the Board. By the conclusion of the

2019 AGM, the Board will have reduced in size to comprise the
Chairman, seven independent Non-Executive Directors and two
Executive Directors.

Qur rigorous and transparent procedures for appainting new
Direciors are led by the Nomination Committee. Non-Executive
Oirectors are appeinted for specified terms and all continuing
Directors offer themselves for election or re-election by
shareheolders at the AGM each year provided the Board, on

the recommendation of the Nomination Committee, deems it
sppropriate that they do so.

The compositian of the Board is fundamental to its success

in praviding strong and effective leadership. The Nomination
Committee is responsible for reviewing the composition of the
Board and its Committees and assessing whether the balance of
skills, experience, knowledge and diversity is appropriate (o enable
them to operate effectively.

We continue to have a strong mix of experienced individuals

on the Board. The majority are independent Nan-Executive
Directors who are not cniy ablte to offer an external perspective
on the business, but also constructively challenge the Executive
Directors, particularly when developing the Company’s strategy.
The Non-Executive Directors scrutinise the perfarmance of
management in meeting their agreed goals and objectives, and
monitor the reporting of that performance.

The high calibre of debate and the participation of all Directars,
Executive and Non-Executive, in its meetings allows the Board to
utilise the experience and skills of the individual Directors to their
maximum patential and make decisions that are in the best
interests of the Company.

Role of the Board

The Board has reserved key decisions and matters for its own
approval, including its core responsibilities of setting the Group's
strategic direction, overseeing the delivery of the agreed strateqgy,
managing risk and establishing the culture, values and standards
of the Graup as a whole. Matters below the financial limit set by
the Board are delegated either to the Investment Cemmittee (for
property and finan¢ing 1ssues] comprising the Executive Directors,
Head of Strategy & Investment, Head of Real Estate and Head of
Development or to an approvals committee of any two of the

Executive Directors and General Counsel and Company Secretary
with all decisions taken reported to the next Board meeting.

The Board culture is one of openness and canstructive debate.
The Directors are able to voice their opinions in a relaxed and
respectful environment, atlowing coherent discussion. When
rurining Board meetings, the Chairman rmaintains a collaborative
atmosphere and ensures that all Directors have the opportunity
to contribule to the debate. The Chairman alse arranges informal
meetings and events threughout the year to help build constructive
relationships between Board members and the senior
management team.

The Chairman meets with individual Directors outside formal
Beard meetings to allaw for open, two-way discussion about the
elfectiveness of the Board, its Committees and its members. The
Chairman is therefore able to remain mindful of the views of the
individval Directors.

Division of respansibilities

There is a clear written division of respensibilities between the
Chairman who is responsible for the leadership and eflectiveness
of the Beard] and the Chief Executive lwho is responsible for
managing the Company's business).

The Board has delegated authority for the day-to-day managernent
of the business to the Chief Executive.

The Executive Directors are involved in, or aware of, alt major
activities and are therefore extremely well placed to ensure that
any decisions align with the Group's agreed stralegy.

The Executive Directaors make decisions within predefined
parameters delagated by the Board, although any proposal

may still be taken to the full Board for consideration and approval
where this is cansidered appropriate, even if it falls within

those parameters.

Three standing Committees have been operating throughout

the year: the Audit, Nomination and Remuneration Committees,
to which certain powers have been delegated. Membership of
each of these Committees is comprised solely of independent
Non-Executive Directors. The reports of these three standing
Committees are set gui an pages B0 to 109. The Corporate

Social Responsibility Committee had its first meeting in May 2019,

Management Cammittees have also been established 1o make
recommendations an matters delegated to them by the Board,
its standing Committees or the Executive Directors.

This governance structure |set out on the previous pagel ensures
that the Board is able to focus on strategic praposals, major
transactions and governance matters which affect the long term
success of the business.
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GOVERNANCE REVIEW CONTINUED

Strategy days

The Board held its annual offsite strategy event during February
2019. The strategy days are structured to provide the Directars,
and the Non-Executive Oirectors in particular, with an opporiunity
to focus on the development of, and chaltenge to, the Group's
corporate strategy.

The Executive Directars, senior executives and external guests
delivered a number of presentations to attendees providing
in-depth analysis on aspects of the business and the external
environment, The days were carefully structured to achieve a
balance between presentations, debate and discussion.

Areas focused on at the 2019 strategy days inctuded: corporate
strategy, Canada Water, technolagy, the flexible workspace market
and the huild to reat market.

Board meetings

Regular Board and Commitiee meetings are scheduled throughout
the year and the Directors ensure that they allocate sufficient time
to discharge their duties affectwvely. Occasionally, Board meetings
may be held at short notice when Board-level decisions of a
time-critical nature need to be made or for exceptional business.

The Board agenda is sei by the Chairman, in conjunction with

the Chief Executive and General Counsel and Company Secretary.
Each scheduled meeting includes a management report delivered
by the Chief Executive and regular updates on the activities of
various standing and management committees. Discussions alse
take place on strategic proposals, major acquisitions, disposals,
developments and legal and governance matters.

Care is taken to ensure that information is circulated in good

time before Board and Committee meetings, and that papers are
presented clearly and with the appropriate levet of detall to enable
the Board to discharge its duties. All papers are circulated one
week prior to meetings and clearly marked as being ‘For Decision’,
For Information’ or 'For Discussion’. To enhance the delivery of
Board and Commiltee papers the Board uses a Board portal and
tablets which provide a secure and efficient process for meeting
pack distribution. Under the direction of the Chairman, the Generat
Counsel and Company Secretary facilitates effective information
flows between the Board and its Committaes, and between senior
management and Non-Executive Directors.

In March 2019 the Beard held its meeting at the recently
redeveloped 3 Broadgate in the City of London. The meeting was
followed by & site visit to the 100 Liverpool Street development
which had recently had its tepping out ceremony.

Effectiveness

Board induction

On appointment, all Directors whether Executive or Non-Executive
receive a comprehensive induction. Each new Director is invited to
meet the General Counsel and Company Secretary er Head of
Secretariat 1o discuss their induction in detait, foliowing which the
programme is tailored specifically to their requirements and
adapted to reflect their existing knowledge and experience.

Each induction programme would ordinarily include:

- rneetings with the Chairman, Executive Directors,
Committee Chairmen, external auditor or remuneration
consultants [as appropriatel
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- information on the corparate strategy, the investment strategy,
the financial position and tax matters {including details of the
Company's REIT status)

~ anoverview of the property portiolio provided by members of
the senior managernent tearn

- visits to key assets

details of Beard and Committee procedures and Directors’

respansibilities

- delails on the investor relations programme

- information on the Campany's approach to sustainability.

All induction documents are made avaitable on our secure
electrenic Board portal and are therefore available to Oirectors
both during and after their induction.

Training and development

The Chairman and General Caunsel and Cornpany Secretary
agree what Board-wide training or developrnent may be
appropriate. During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Board
considered papers and presentations on legal and regulatory
developments including the 2018 UK Carporate Governance
Code and The Reporting of Payment Practices and Performance
Regulations, SMART technology, the macro-ecenomic environment
and specific issues relating to 8rexit, sustainability-related
developmenis and brieftngs on the views of stakeholders and
the external environment.

Directors are also entitled 1o seek independent advice in relation o
the performance of their duties at the Company's expense, subject
to having first notified the Chairman or the General Counsel and
Campany Secretary.

Commitment

Non-Executive Directors’ letters of appointment set out the time
commitrnents expected from them. Following ¢onsideration, the
Nomination Committee has concluded that all the Non-Executive
Directors continue to devote sufficient time to discharging their
duties to the required high standard.

British Land's policy is to allow Executive Directors to take gne
nan-executive directorship at another FTSE company, subjeci ta
Board approval. External appointments of the Executive Directors
are disciosed in their biographies. Any fees earned by the
Executive Directors are disclosed on page 106 within the
Rernuneration Report.

Conflicts of interest

The Directors are required 1o avoid a situation in which he or she
has, or can have, a direct or indirect conflict with the interests of
the Company. The Board has established a procedure whereby
the Dhrectors are required to notity the Chairman and the Generat
Counsel and Company Secretary of all potential new outside
interests and actual or perceived conflicts of interest that may
affect them in their rodes as Directars of British Land. All potential
conflicts af interest are authorised by the Board and the register of
Directars’ interests is reviewed by the jull Board at igast annually.

The Board aiso reviews the Directors’ tnterests Palicy on an annual
basis. Following the last review in November 2018, the Board
concluded that the policy continued to operate effectively.



Re-election

The Board has reviewed the Nomination Committee’s assessment
of whether each Non-Executive Directar remains independent in
character and judgement and whether there are relationships or
circumstances which are likely to affect, or could appear 1o affect,
that judgement. As a resuit, the Board as a whale considers that
each of the Non-Executive Directors is independent and is of the
stature and has the required experience 1o perform his or her role
as an independent Director. The results of the Board evaluation
also cenfirm the Board's belief that each Non-Executive Director
standing for re-election at the 2019 AGM remains committed to
their role within British Land and continues to perform effectively.

Board evaluation

The effecliveness of the Board and its Committees is reviewed
annually, with an independent, externally facilitated review being
tonducted at least once every three years. The next external review
will be in 2021,

In 2019, an internal evaluation of the Board and its Commitlees
was conducted by the General Counsel and Company Secretary
by circulating questionnaires, seeking quantitative and quatitative
feedback and reporting the outcomes to the Board. In addition

to the formal evaluation, the Chairman mel each Non-Executive
Directer individually during the year to discuss their contribution
to the Board. The Senior Independent Director led the appraisal
of the Chairman’s performance by the Non-Executive Directors,
with the views of the Executive Directors also being taken

into consideration.

The Chairman and Chief Executive presented their appraisals

of the performance of the Chief Executive and other Executive
Directors respectively. These appraisals were taken into account
when considering the performance of the Board as a whole as
well as1n relation to annual and long term incentive awards.

The evaluation of the Board and its Cornmittees concluded that
the Board and its Commitiees continued to operate effectively
with a high standard of performance throughout the year.

The focus for the coming year will be:

- continuing development of the Board's understanding of culiure
and values

- continuing the development of succession plans

- refining agendas and {imings to enhance discussion and debate
around important issues.

Accountability

Financial and business reporting

The Board is responsible far preparing the Annua! Report and
confirms in the Directors’ respensibility statement set out on

page 113 that it believes that the Annual Report, taken as a whole,
i1s fair, balanced and understandable, and provides the information
necessary to assess British Land's position, performance,
business model and strategy. The basis en which the Company
creates and preserves value over the long term is described in

the Strategic Report.

The Audit Committee reviewed the procedure undertaken tQ
enable the Board to provide the fair, balanced and understandable
confirmation to shareholders. Meetings were held between the
Group Financial Controller, Head of Investor Retations and other
senior employees 1o review and document the key considerations
undertaken and 3 delailed report was then presented to the

Audit Committee.

Risk management and internal control

The Board determines the extent and nature of the risks it is
prepared to take in order to achieve the Company’s strategic
objectives, The Board has responsibility for the Company's
overall approach to risk management and internal centrol which
includes ensuring the design and implementation of appropriate
risk management and internal cantrol systems. Oversight of the
effectiveness of these systems is delegated to the Audit Committee
which undertakes regular reviews to ensure that the Group is
igentifying, considering and as far as practicable mitigating the
risks for the business.

The Board confirms that a robust assessment of the principal
risks facing the Company, including those that would threaten its
business model, future performance, solvency or liquidity, was
carried out during the year.

British Land’s approach te risk, including the roles of the Board
and the Audit Committee in setting risk appetite and monitoring
risk exposure, is detailed in the ‘Managing risk in delivering our
strategy section on pages 94 to 57,

As well as complying with the Code, the Group has adopted the
best practice recommendations in the FRC ‘Guidance on risk
management, internal control and retated financial and business
reporting” and the Company’s internal control framework operates
in line with the recommendations set out in the internationally
recognised COS0 internal Control Integrated Framework.

The Company is commitied to conducting its business in an
ethical manner, with integrity and in line with all relevant laws
and regulations. The Group has adopted a numnber of policies
and procedures incluging policies and traning an anti-bribery
and corruption and fraud awareness, information security and
GDPR. All employees are made aware of the Group's poticies
through the Employee Handboek and regular bulletins and also
receive iraining appropriate to their roles and respansibilities.

The Audit Committee reviews the effectiveness of the Group's
system of internal conirel annually, including the systems of
control for material joint ventures and funds. The Group’s internal
control system 1s built on the following fundamental principles,
and is subject to review by internal audit:

- adefined schedule of matters reserved for approval by the Beard

- a detailed authonsahion process: no material commitments are
entered into without thorough review and approval by an
authorised person

- formal documentation af all significant transactions

- a robust system of business and financial planning: including
cash flows and profitability farecasting. with scenario analysis
performed on major cerporate, property and financing proposals

- arobust process for property investment appraisals

- rmanitoring of key outcomes, particuiarly expenditure and
performance of significant invesiments, against budget
and forecast
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- clearly defined policies and review of actual performance against
policies

- benchmarking of property performance against externat
saurces such as the trwestment Praperty Datahank

~ key controls testing
~ acamprehensive property and corporate insurance programme
~ aformal whistleblowing policy.

During the course of its review for the year ended 31 March 2019,
and ta the date of this Repart, the Audit Committee has not
identified, nor been advised of, a failing or weakness which it has
determined to be significant.

Going concern and viability statements

During the year the Board assessed the appropriateness of using
the ‘going concern’ basis of accounting in the financial statements,
The assessment considered future cash ilows and debi facilities

lto assess the liquidity risk of the Company) and the availability of
finance {to assess the solvency riskl. The assessment covered the
12-maonth period required by the 'going concern’ basis of accounting.

In accordance with the Code, the Board has also assessed the
prospects of the Group over a five-year period, which is deerned
appropriate for the viability staternent. In preparing the viability
statement the Board considered the principal risks set out on
pages 58 to 61 and the sensitivities of cash flow and debt covenant
forecasts. all of which are considered to have a reasonable
likelihood of impacting the viabitity of the Company. Full details of
this assessment are set out on page 65.

Following these assessments the Directors believe that the Group
is well placed to manage its financing and other business risks
sdlislactorily and have a reasonable expectation that the Company
and the Group have adequate resources to continue in operation
for at least 12 months from the date of the Annual Report. They
therefore consider it appropriate to adopt the going concern basis
of accounbing in preparing the financial statements.

The Board also considers that the Company and the Group will be
able to continue in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due
over the period ending 31 March 2024.

Taxation

Our principles of good governance extend ta our responsible
approach to tax. Our tax strategy ('Our Approach te Tax'), available
on our website britishland.com/governance, is approved by the
Board and is in line with the Group’'s long terrm values, culture
and straiegy.

Remuneration
The Directors’ Remuneration Report is set gut on pages 88 to 109.

in aceordance with the Code, the Remuneration Committee is
recormmending a new Remuneraticn Policy for approval at the
2019 AGM. The recommended Remuneration Palicy 1S set out
on pages 92 to 94,

Relations with stakeholders

The Board 1s committed to maintaining open channeis of
communication with all of the Cempany's stakeholders. An

important part of this is providing a clear explanation of the
Company's strategy and abjectives, and ensuring that teedback
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is acknowledged, considered and, where appropriate, acted upon.
Stakeholder feedback 1s essential to the suceess of our business,
5o we ensure the Chairman, Senior Independent Direclor and
Executive Direclors are available to address any concerns our
stakeholders may wish (o raise.

British Land aims to be informative and accessible to all
shareholders. Announcements relating to the Group's financial
results and key events are provided in a timely manner and are
easily accessible via our website and social media. The Group
wehsite also pravides detailed information on gur assets, as well
as case studies illustrating our strategy, including our
sustainability activities.

British Land has a dedicated Investor Relations team which is
avaitable to respond to any questions or Concerns investors may
have an an ad hoc basis.

All stakeholders are zhle ta contact the Company directly via the
contacts page on our website: britishland.comn/contacts

To read mere on our key stakeholders, the issues that matter
to therm and haw we engage with them, go to page 26.

Annual General Meeting

Directors attend the AGM, which provides retail shareholders in
particular with an opportunity to hear directly from the Board on
the Company's perfermance over the past year, its strategy and the
objectives far the year ahead. The AGM also prowides sharehotders
with the opportunity to ask questions.

The 2018 AGM was atiended by approximately 110 shareholders.

All resclutions were voted on by way of 3 poll and passed by the
required majority. The results af the AGM vutitny dre duncuticed to
the London Stock Exchange as soon as practicable following the
AGM and also made available on the Company's website.

Retail shareholders

Qur ‘Shareholders Centre” on our website: britishland.com/
shareholders-centre includes information on the AGM, divtdends,
shareholder communication, how to contact our registrar, Equiniti,
and other useful resources for shareholders.

Institutional investors

Institutional investors and analysts receive regudar
communications fram the Company, including details of investor
relations events (see the chart to the rightl, one-to-one and group
meetings with Executive Directors, and tours of our major assets.
This year, cur investor relations activity included analyst and
investor events comprising presentations and tours of Broadgate
and Canada Water, and a CFO investor dinner. In {otal, the Chief
Executive, Chief Financial Officer and Investor Relations team met
with representatives from 215 institutions during the year ended
31 March 2019. We periodically commission an independent
investor perception study, which provides feedback an our strategy,
highlighis material concerns from key investors and is presented
to the Board.

The Executive tearm 15 committed to ensuring that sharehalder
views, both positive and negative, are relayed back to the Board.
The Chiet Executive pravides a written report at each scheduled
Board meeting which inctudes direct market feedback on
activity during the period and commentary on any meetings
with major shareholders,



Key investor relations activities

during the year
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Full year results presentation
Full year results roadshow, Landon
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lnvesior roadshow, Frankfurt

Investor property canference, Netherlands

- Analyst & investor presentation
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- Investor property conference,
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investor property conference, London
Private client investor roadshow, London
Investar roadshow, Paris

Analyst & investor presentation & tour,
Broadgate
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- AGM

- Prwate client investor
breakfast, London AGM

- US roadshow
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Lenders and bondholders

The Board recognises the contribution made by our
tenders and bondhalgers. Through our Treasury team, the
Group maintains an apen dialogue with our debt providers
which helps the Board understand their investment
appetite and criteria.
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Community

British Land recagnises that the people who live in and
around our assets are essential to creating Places People
Prefer, and therefore to the success of our business.
Investing in these communities 1s an important part of
our approach, and our ‘Local Charter’ details how we
build trust by making positive contributions locally. Our
‘Comrmunity Funding Guidelines’ set out how we allocate
funding, with a particular focus on initiatives close ta our
assets that provide opportunities to local people through
education, employment and training. Both documents can
oe found on our website at britishland.com/policies

Qur approach to social and enviranmental reporting is set
out an pages 28 to 29.

- Industry dinner
Haii year results
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- Halt year results roadshow, London
- Investor roadshow, Edinburgh

- Investar property conference, London
Investar dinner, London

- Investor roadshow,
Frankfurt & Zurich

- Investor property
conference, Miami

- Investor property
conference, London
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

We monitor the quality and
integrity of the financial
reporting and valuation

process

—ee

| am pleased to present the report of the Audit Committee
for the year ended 31 March 2019.

In line with the focus on improved governance and clear,

relevant and concise reporting, this repart of the Audit Commuttee
highlights the main issues which arose during the year and

how they were addressed.

Role and responsibilities
The principal responsibilities of the Committee are:

Financial reporting - Menitoring the integrity of the Company’s
financial statements and any formal announcements relating to
financial performance, and cansidering significant financial
reporting issues, judgements and estimates

External Audit - Oversight and remuneration of the external
auditor, assessing effectiveness and making recommendations
to the Board an the appointment of, and the policy for non-audit
services provided by, the external auditor

Internat Audit - Monitoring and reviewing reports an the work
performed by the internal auditor and reviewing effectiveness,
including its plans and resourcing

Risk management and internal controls - Reviewing the systemn
of internal contral and risk managerent

Investment and development property valuations - Considering

the valuation process and outcome and the eifectiveness of the
Company’s valuers
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Key areas of focus

Ultimately, the Commitlee continues to play a key role in
overseeing the integrity of the Group’s financial statements,
including assessing whether the Annual Report is fair, balanced
and understandable, as well as ensuring that a sound system
of risk management and internal control is in place.

During the year, the Cornmittee has reviewed the process for
identification and mitigation of key business risks, challenging
management actions where appropnate. The Cornmittee has

also reviewed the appropriateness of the accounting treatment of
significant transactions, including asset acquisitions and dispesals,
along with scrutinising the valuation of the Group’s property assets
as well as the effectiveness of the valuers.

The Cammittee cantinued to monitor the implementation of the
new valuer golicy which was approved in 2017, As at 31 March 2019
65% of the portfolio was under new instruction with a further 17%
due to be retendered the following year. The Committee continues
to appreciate the professionalism of all its valuers during the
tender process.

Committee composition and governance

There have been no changes ta the membership of the Committee
during the year 10 31 March 2019. The Committee continues to

be composed sclely of independent Non-Executive Directors with
sufficient financial experience, commercial acumen and sector
knowledge to fulfil their responsibilities. Members’ attendance at
Committee meetings s set out in the following table:

Date of joining
Oirector Position the Commitiee  Attendance
Tim Score Chairman 20 Mar 2014 3/3

Alastair Hughes Member 1 Jan 2018 3/3
Nicholas Macpherson Member 1 Apr 2017 I3
Rebecca Worthington Member 1 Jan 2018 3/3

The Board is satisfied that the Committee as a whale has
compelence relevant to the real estate secior. For the purposes of
the UK Carporate Governance Code, Rebecca and | are deemed to
meet the specific requirernent of having significant, recent and
relevant financial experience.

With effect fram the conclusion of the 2019 AGM, Rebecca will
succeed me as Chairman of the Commuittee as | begin my role as
Chairman of the Group.



Members of the seniar management team, including the Chief
Financial Officer, General Counsel and Company Secretary,
Group Financial Controtler, Head of Financial Reporting and
representatives af both external and internal auditors are invited
ta attend each Committee meeting. In addition, the Chairman of
the Board, Chief Executive Officer, Head of Investor Relations,
Head of Planning and Analysis and other key employees are
invited to atiend part, or all, of specific Commitiee meetings.

The Comenittee meets privately with bath external and internal
auditors after each scheduled meeting and continues to be
satisfied that neither is being unduly influenced by management.
As Commitiee Chairman, | additionally hold regular meetings
with the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and other
members of Management to obtain a good understanding of key
issues affecting the Group and am thereby able to identify those
matters which require meaningful discussion at Committee
meetings. | alsa meet the external audit partner, internal audit
pactner and representatives from each of the valuers privately to

discuss any matters they wish to raise or concerns they may have.

Committee effectiveness

The Committes assessed its own eflectiveness during the

year through an internal questionnaire. The Committee

reviews its terms of reference on an annual basis and these
have been updated to reflect the requirements of the 2018 UK
Corporate Governance Code. The current terms of reference
were effective from 1 Aprit 2019 and are available on our website
at britishland.corm/committees.

The information betow sets out in detail the activity undertaken
by the Commiltee during the year ended 31 March 2019. | hope
that yau find it useful in understanding our work.

WA Gé“‘“’

Tim Score
Chairman of the Audit Commuttes

Financial reporting

The Committee continues to review the content and tone of the
preliminary results press release, Annual Report and hatf year
results at the request of the Board. Drafts of the Annual Report
are reviewed by the Committee Chairman and the Committee as
a whole pricr to formal consideration by the Beard, with sufficient
tirne provided for feedback.

The Committee reviewed the key messaging included in the Annual
Report and half year results, paying particular attention tc those
matters considered o be impartant to the Group by virtue of their
size, complexity, level of judgement required and potential impact
on the financial stalements and wider business model. Any issues
which were deemed to be sigmificant were debated openly by the
Commuttee members and other attendees, including management,
external and internal auditors.

The Committee has satisfied itself that the controls over the
accuracy and consistency of the information presented in the
Annual Repart are robust The Comrmnittee therefore recommended
to the Board that the Annual Report presented a fair, balanced and
understandable overview of the business of the Group and that it
provided stakeholders with the necessary information to assess
the Group’s pasition, performance, business madel and strategy.
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE CONTINUED

The significant issues considered by the Committee in relation to the financial statements during the year ended 31 March 2019, and the actions
taken to address these issues, are set out in the foflowing table:

Significant issues considered

How these issues were addressed

Going The appropriateness of preparing  The Cornmittee reviewed managernent's analysis supporting the going concern
concern the Group financial statements basis of preparation. This included consideration of farecast cash flows, availability
statement on 3 going concern basis. af commitied debt acilities and expected covenant headroom. The Committee also

received a report from the external auditor an the results of the testing undertaken

on management’s analysis.

As a result of the assessment undertaken, the Committee satisfied itself that the

geing concern basis of preparatien remained appropriate.

The going concern staterment is set out on page 78.
Viability Whether the assessment The Commitiee considered whether management’s assessment adequaiely reflecied the
statement undertaken by management Group's risk appetite and principa! risks as disclosed on pages 58 1o 61; whether the

regarding the Group's long term
viability appropriately reflects the
prospects of the Group and covers
an appropriate period of time.

period covered by the statement was reascnable given the strategy of the Group and the
environment in which it gperates; and whether the assumptions and sensitwvities identified,
and stress tested, represented severe but plausible scenarios in the context of solvency or
liquidity. The Committee also considered a report from the externat auditor.

The Committee concurred with management’'s assessment and recornmended ihe
viability statemnent to the Board.

The viability statement, together with further details on the assessment undertaken, is set
out on page 65.

Accounting The accounting treatment of

for significant significant property acquisitions,

transactions  disposals, financing and leasing
transactions is a recurring risk
for the Group with non-standard
accounting entries required,
and in sorne cases management
judgement applied.

The Commillee reviewed management papers on key judgernents, including those for
significant transactions, as well as the external auditor’s findings on these matters,

In particular, the Committee considered the accounting treatment of the share buyback
programme, the sale of 5 Broadgate and the treatment ot leasing transactions within the
London Offices portfolia.

The external auditor confirmed that management’s judgements in relation te these
transactions were appropriate and reasonable and the Committee agreed with this
conclusion.

REIT status  Maintenance of the Group's REIT
status through compliance with
certain canditions has a significant
impact on the Group’s results.

The Committee reviewed the Company's compliance with the REIT tests. Management
presented details of the methedology and results of their process for REIT testing, with
any change in long terim trends, and the level of headroom, highlighted. The Cammittee
also considered the external auditar’s review of the REIT tests performed by management,

The Commitiee concluded that the Cornpany’s REIT status had been maintained in
the year.

Valuation of  The valuation of investment and
property developrment properties conducted
portfolic by external valuers is inherently
subjective as it is undertaken on
the basis of assumptions made by
the valuers which may not prove
to be accurate.

The qutcame of the valuation is
significant io the Group in terms
of irwestment decisions, results
and remuneration.

The external valuers presented their reports to the Committee prior to the half year and
full year results, providing an overview of the UK praperty market and summarising the
performance of the Group's assets. Significant judgements were also highlighted.

The Cornmittee analysed the reperts and reviewed the valuation outcomes, challenging
assumptions made where thought fit. In particular, with the implementation of the second
stage of the new valuer appointment policy, the Committee paid specific attention to those
assets which were subject to a new valuation instruction during the year.

The Committee was satislied with the valuation process and the effectiveness of the
Company’s valuers. The Committee also approved the relevant valuation disctosures to ba
included in the Annuzl Report.

Revenue For certain transactions,

recognition  judgement is applied by
management as to whether,
and to what extent, they should
be treated as revenue for the
financial year.

The Commitiee and the external auditor separately considered the appropriateness

of the acceunting treatment applied by management in relation 1o revenue recognition.
In particular, the Committee considered the treatment of the sale of third party property
management rights to Savills and the timing of contingent consideration and costs,

The Committee considered the scope of the accounting standard and agreed with the
reasonableness of judgements made.
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Extarnal Audit

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP [PwC] was appointed as the Group's
external auditor for the 2015 Annual Repart following a formal
competitive tender. The Committee will consider the need for a
competitive tender for the role of external auditor every five years
and, in accordance with legislation and its own terms of reference.
will ensure that a competitive tender takes place at least every

10 years. The Group's audit engagement partner i3 John Waters,
wha has been in role since PwC’s appointment, and as required by
the applicable legislaticn this Annual Report and Accounts will be
his final year as audit engagement partner, | would like to thank
John for his hard werk and dibgence over the last five years and,
following a rigorous selection pracess, welcome Sandra Dowling
as PwC’s new appointment as audit engagement partner.

The Commitiee has also considered the rationale for a competitive
tender following PwC’s fifth year of appointment as external
auditor, [n our view, given the knowledge, the robustness of
challenge and the continuing effectiveness of Pw( in their role

as external auditor, the Committee believe it is in the besl interests
of sharehglders for PwC to remain as externat auditor for the
following financial year. The Committee will continue to review this
annually zhead of the requirement for 3 competitive tender within
10 years as defined by legislation.

There are no contractual obligations in place which would restrict
the Commitiee’s selection of a different auditor.

The Commistee is respensible for overseeing the relationship
with the external auditar and for considering their terms of
engagerment, remuneration, effectiveness, independence and
continyed ohjectivity. The Committee annually reviews the audit
requirernents of the Group, for the business and in the centext of
the external enviranment, placing great importance on ensuring
a high quality, effective external audit process.

Fees and non-audit services

The Committee discussed the audit fee for the 2019 Annual Report
with the external auditor and approved the proposed fee on behalf
of the Board.

In addition, the Group has adepted a policy for the provision of
non-audit services by the external auditer. The policy helps to
safeguard the external auditor’s independence and objectivity. The
policy allows the external auditor to provide the following non-audit
services to British Land where they are considered to be the most
appropriate provider:

- audit related services: including formal reporting relating to
borrowings, shareholder and other circulars and wark in respect
of acquisitions and disposals. in some circumstances, the
external auditor is required to carry out the work because of
their office. In other crrcumstances, setection would depend
on which firm was best suited to provide the services required

- sustainability assurance: PwC currently provides an assurance
opinion to the Company over selected sustainabitity data. This
appointment is reviewed annually.

In addition, the following protocols apply to non-audit fees:

- total non-audit fees are limited to 70% of the audit fees in
any one year. Additionally, the ratio of audit to non-audit fees
is calculated in line with the methodology set out in the
2014 EU Regulations

- Committee approval is required where there might be questions
as to whether the external auditor has a conflict of interest

- the Audit Committee Chairman is required to approve in advance
each additional project or incremental fee between £25,000 and
£100,000, and Commiitee approvalis required for any additional
projects over £100,000.

During the year the engagement relating to sustainability
assurance was approved by the Audit Comrnittee Chairman on the
basis that PwC were best placed to provide the service and that it
created no conflict of interest with their role as externat auditor.

Total fees for non-audit services amounted to £0.1m, which
represents 23% cf the total Group audit fees payable for the year
ended 31 March 2019. Details ol all fees charged by the external
auditor during the year are set out on page 132.

The Committee is satisfied that the Company has complied with
the provisions of the Statutory Audit Services for Large Companies
Market Investigation IMandatory Use of Competlitive Processes and
Audit Committee Responsibilities) Order 2014, published by the
Cornpetition and Markets Authority on 26 September 2014,

Effectiveness

Assessment of the annual evaluation of the external auditor's
performance was undertaken by way cf @ questionnaire completed
by key stakehotders across the Group, including senior members
of the Finance team. The review took into account the quality of
planning, delivery and execution of the audit [including the audit

of subsidiary companies), the technical competence and strategic
knowledge of the audit tearn and the effectiveness of reparting
and communication between the audit team and management.

PwC also provide the Committee with an annual report on its
independence, objectivity and compliance with skatutory, regulatory
and ethical standards. For the year ended 31 March 2019, as for
the prior year, the external auditar confirmed that it continued ta
maintain appropriate internal safequards to ensure its
independence and abjectivity.

The Committee concluded that the quality of the external auditor’s
waork, and the knowledge and competence of the audit tearn, had
been maintained at an approgriate siandard during the year.

The Committee therefore recommended to the Board that a
resolution to reappeint PwC as external auditor of the Company
be put to sharehalders at the 2019 AGM.

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019 83



REPORT QF THE AUDBIT COMMITTEE CONTINUED

Internal Audit

The role of Internal Audit is to act as an independent and objective
assurance tunction, designed to improve the effectiveness of the
governance, risk management and internal controls framewark
in mitigating the key risks of British Land. Ernst & Young LLP [EY]
continue to provide internal audit services te British Land and
attended all Committee meetings to present their audit findings
and the status of managerment actions.

During the year, the Committee reviewed and approved the annual
internal audit plan. including consideration of the plan’s alignment
to the principal risks of the Group and its jotnt ventures. Internal
audits completed during the year included those in relation to
cybersecurity, GOPR programme design effectiveness, health and
safety and environmental governance, tax and crisis management.
Overall, no significant control issues were identified although
several process and control improvements were proposed, with
follow up audits scheduled where necessary.

Effectiveness

The annual effectiveness review of the internal auditor included
consideration of the Internal Audit charter which defines EY's

role and responsibilities, review of the quality of the audit work
undertaken and the skills and competence of the audit teams.

The Cormmittee concluded that EY continued to discharge its duties
as internal auditor effectively and should continue in the role for
the year commencing 1 April 2019.

Risk management and internal controls

The Board has delegated responsibility for overseging the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems to the Cornmittee. The Committee has oversight of

the activities of the executive Risk Committee, receiving minutes
of all Risk Committee meetings and discussing any significant
matiers raised.

At the full and half year, the Committee reviewed the Group’'s
principal risks including consideration of how risk exposures
have changed during the period and any emerging risks in the
Company’s risk register. Both external and internal risks are
reviewed and their effect on the Company’s strategic aims
considered. The Committee considered the Group’s risk appetite,
concluding that it remains set at an appropriate level to achieve
the Group's strategic goals without taking undue risk. The Board
accepted the Committee’s recornmendation for the Group’s risk
appetite, ensuring that it was set at an appropriate level to achieve
strategic goals withaut taking undue risk.

The Committee also reviewed the status of key risk indicators
throughout the year against the risk appetite set, focusing on any
which were outside optirmal ranges. The Committee gave particular
attention to the risks relating to tepant credit risk exposure as well
as conlinuing and increasing political uncertainty around the UK's
decisien ta leave the EL).

84  British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019

Half yearly, in conjunction with the internal auditor, managerment
reports to the Committee on the effectiveness of internal controls,
hightighting control issues identified thraugh the exceptions
reporting process. Risk areas identified are considered for
incorporatien in the Internal Audit plan and the findings of internal
audits are taken into account when identifying and evaluating
risks within the business. Key observations and management
actions are reparted to, and debated by, the Committee. For the
year ended 31 March 2019, the Committee has not identified,

nor been advised of, a failing or weakness which it has deemed

to be significant.

At the request of the Remuneration Committee, the Cammittee
consigers annually the level of risk taken by management

and whether this affects the performance of the Company. The
Remuneration Cormmittee takes this confirmation inte account
when determining fncentive awards granted to the Executive
Directors and senior management. Taking into account reports
received an internal key controls and risk management, and the
results of the internal audit reviews, the Committee concluded
that for the year ended 3t March 2019 there was no evidence of
excessive risk taking by management which ought to be taken
into account by the Remuneration Committee when determining
incentive awards.

The Group's whistleblowing arrangements which enable all staff,
including temporary and agency stalf, suppliers and occupiers to
report any suspected wrongdoing remained unchanged during
the year. These arrangements, which are monitored by the
General Counsel and Company Secretary and reviewed by the
Committee annually, include an independent and confidential
whistleblowing service provided by a third party. The Committee
received d surnmary of all whistleblowing reports recewved
during the year and concluded that each had been dealt

with appropriately. :

The Committee also reviewed the Group’s tax strategy which sets
out the Group's approach to risk management and governance in
relation to UK taxation, its aititude towards tax planning, the level
of risk the Group is prepared to accept in relation to tax and

its relationship with HM Revenue & Customs. The resulting
docurment ['Our Approach to Tax' was approved by the

Board and is available on the Cormnpany’s website
lbritishland.com/governancel.

Additional information on the Company's internal controls systems
is set out in the ‘Managing risk in delivering our strategy’ section
on pages 54 to 57,



Investment and development property valuations

The external valuation af British Land’s property portlolio is a key
determinant of the Group's balance sheet, its performance and the
remuneration of the Executive Directors and senior management.
The Cornmittee is committed to the rigorous monitoring and
review af the effectiveness of its valuers as well as the valuation
process itself. The Group's valuers are now CBRE, Knight Frank,
Janes Lang LaSalle (JLL] and Cushman & Wakefield.

The Cormmittee reviews the effectiveness of the external valuers
bi-annually, focusing on a quantitative analysis of capital values,
yield benchmarking, availability of carnparable market evidence
and major outliers to subsector mavements, with an annual
qualitative review of the level of service received from each valuer.

The valuers attend Committee meetings at which the full and half
year valuations are discussed, presenting their reports which
include details of the valuation process, market conditions and
any significant judgements made. The external auditor reviews
the valuations and valuation process, having had full access to
the valuers to determine that due process had been followed

and appropriate information used, before separately reporting its
findings to the Committee. The valuation process is atso subject
to reqular review by Internal Audit.

British Land has fixed fee arrangements in place with the valuers
in relation to the valuation of wholly-owned assets, in line with
the recommendations of the Carsberg Committee Report.
Copies of the valuation certificates of CBRE, Knight Frank,

JLL and Cushman & Wakefield can be found on our website

at britishland.cem/reports.

Focus for the coming year

During the year ending 31 March 2020 the Committee will
continue to focus on the processes by which the Board identifies,
assesses, monitors, manages and mitigates risk, particularty in
light of the challenging conditions within the retail sectar. The
Cornmittee will also continue to monitor key risk areas for the
business, particularly those scheduled for review by Internal Audit
including, but not limited to, non-development related supplier risk
managerment and financiat IT system upgrades. The Commitlee
will have particular interest in the new reporting reguirements
arising from the 2018 UK Corporate Governance Code and will
describe in the 2020 Annual Report how they have been met.
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THE REPORT OF THE NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Committee leads
the process for Board

appointments

Welcame to the report of the Nomination Commiittee for the year
ended 31 March 2019.

Role and responsibilities
The Committee’s principal responsibilities remain:

- reviewing the structure, size and composition [including the
skills, knowtedge and experience and diversity] of the Board
and its Committees and recommending changes to the Board

- considering succession planning for Directors and other
senigr execytives

~- reviewing the independence and time cormnmitment
requirernents of Non-Executive Directors

- making recommendations as to the Directors standing for
election or re-election at the AGM.

Full details of the Committee’s rote and responsibitities are
set out in its terms of reference available on our website at
britishland.com/committees.

Committee composition and governance

The Commitiee has three members: Wiliam Jackson and

Tim Score, bath independent Non-Executive Directors, while |
continue to Chair the Committee. | refer you to the page opposite
for William Jackson’s report on the process for appointing my
successor as Chairman, in which | took no part.

Details of the Committee’s membership and attendance at
meetings is set out in the foliowing table and the table on page 87:

Oate of Commitlea

Qiretior Posiven Appoinimen Aizndance
John Gildersleeve Chairman 1 Jan 2013 1/1
William Jackson Member 11 Apr 2011 11
Tim Score Member 1 Apr 2017 11
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Diversity

The Cammittee, the Board of Directors and British Land as a
whole continue to pay full regard to the benefits of diversity,
including gender diversity, both when searching for candidates
for Board appeintments and when the Company is searching for
candidates for other appointments.

The Committee’s Board Diversity and Inclusion Policy aspires

for women to represent 30% of Board membership by 2020, as
well as having regard te other aspects cof diversity when making
recruitment decisions at both Board and senior management level.

British Land currently has three female Board members: Lynn
Gladden, Laura Wade-Gery and Rebecca Worthington, ali of whom
are Non-Executive Directors. Following Tim Roterts and Chartes
Maudsley stepping down from the Board, this represents 27%
female Board membership [2018: 25%]. Following my departure
after the 2019 AGM, our target of 30% will have been achieved.

The Board Diversity and Inclusion Policy also sets out British
LLand's cornmitment to strengthen the gender balance on British
Land's leadership and senior management {earns. Further
information on diversity within British Land is avaitable on our
website britishland.com/finclusive-culture.

We recently published our gender pay gap repoart. The repart
is available on our website britishland.com/gender-pay-gap
and summarised on page 90.

Board membership

The Committee regularly reviews the structure, size and composition
of the Board in order to ensure it is made up of the right people with
the requisite skills and experience, including diversity of thought and
approach, who can provide strong and effective leadership to the
business and suppart delivery of the Company's strategy.

Succession planning

The Commnitiee is responsibte for reviewing the succession plans for
the Board, including the Chief Executive. The succession plans for

the Executive Directors are prepared on immediate, medium and long
term bases while those for Non-Executive Directars reflect the need
to refresh the Board regularly. Such plans take account of the tenure
of individual mermbers. The Committee’s review of Executive Director
succession plans includes consideration of the precess for talent
development within the organisation to create a pipeline to the Board.

The Chief Execuiive, with the support of the HR Director, is responsibte
for developing succession plans for executives and senior management
which are presented lo and considered by the Cormmittee.

A numnizer of 1s5ues that would normally be dealt with by the
Committee were discussed at full Board meetings, so as to give
the Board the benefit of hearing the presentations and giscussion
first hand. The succession plans for Executive Directors and senior
managers were presented and discussed with the full Board in
May 2018. Similarly. the changes to the numbers of Executive
Directors on the Board were discussed in January with the Board
{excluding the potentially conflicted Executive Directorsl.



Appointment of hew Chairman

In light of the 2018 UK Corporate Governance Code, | led an
expanded Nomination Committee which met three times to
consider the succession plan for the role of Chairman. The
expanded Committee included atl Non-Executive Oirectors
wnth the exception of John Gildersleeve and Tim Score (who
had expressed interest in the role).

This Commitiee was assisted by Luke Meynell of Russell
Reynolds Associates, who produced a list of 10 external
potential candidates, of whom five were women and two

were from ethnic minorities, wha were capable of fulfilling the
job description, met the personal characteristics required and
were interested in the position of a FTSE 100 Chairman. All
were ranked according to the evidence they displayed of
having met the criteria required in the categories of Board/
listed carnpany experience, property exposure, style/cultural
fit and capacity.

The Commiitee considered the merits of an internal candidate
as opposed to an-external candidate taking inte account

the profile and tenure of experience on the Board. Given the
calibre of the internal candidate, the Committee unanimausly
agreed that the best interests of the Company would be
served by appointing Tim Score to succeed John Gildersleeve.

Directar Position Attendance
William Jackson Chairman 3/3
Alastair Hughes Member 3/3
Nick Macpherson Member 313
Laura Wade-Gery' Member 2/3
Lynn Gladden Member 33
Preben Prebensen Member 313
Rebecca Worthington Member 3/3

1. Laura Wade-Gery was unable lo attend one Committee meeting that
was called on short netice and which was immedialely followed by
3 Board meeling

William Jackson

Senior Independent Director
Other than the pravision of recrutment consultancy

services Russell Reynolds Associates has no connection
with British Land.

Independence and re-election

Prior to recammending the re-appointment of any Nan-Executive
Director to the Board. the Committee assesses their continued
independence, the time commitment required and whether the
re-appointrment would be in the best interests of the Campany.
Detailed consideration is given to each Non-Executive Director’s
contribution to the Board and its Committees, together with the
overall balance of knowledge, skills, experience and diversity.

Following its review, the Commitiee is af the opinion that each
Non-Executive Director continues to demansirate commitment
to his or her rofe as a member of the Board and its Committees,
discharges his ar her duties eifectively and that each makes a
valuable contribution to the leadership of the Company for the
benefit of all stakeholders. Accordingly, the Committee
recommended to the Board that resolutions to re-elect each
Non-Executive Director be proposed as appropriate to the AGM
alongside the resolutions to re-elect the Executive Directors.

Therefore, in accordance with the Code, each of the Directors in
role at the date of this Annual Repart, with the exception of myself,
will offer themselves for re-election. Biographies for each Director
can e found on pages 48 to 70.

Committee effectiveness

The Committee assessed its own effectiveness during the year

as part of the internal Board evaluation and reviews its terms of
reference an an annual basis. These have been updated 1o reflect
the requirements of the 2018 UK Carporate Governance Code. The
current terms of reference were effective from 1 April 2019 and are
available on our website at britishland.com/committees.

Focus for the coming year

Having overseen significant changes to membership of the Board
and leadership team over the last 12 months, the Cammitiee
intends to facus its attention for the coming year on continuing
the progress an the gender balance of the leadership team

and reviewing the succession plans for the Board and senior
management, including improving gender and ethnic diversity.

%&W

John Gitldersleeve
Nan-Executive Chairman
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT

e iy

Our Remuneration Policy
aligns management incentives
with our strategy

—_——

Dear Shareholders

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the Directors’
Remuneration Report for the year ended 31 March 2019 which
includes gur new Remuneration Policy and the Company's Aanual
Report on Remuneration. Our Directors’ Remuneration Policy was
last approved by shareholders at the 2016 AGM and as a result is
being presented to shareholders for approval again at the 2019 AGM.

The Annual Report on Remuneration which describes how the
Cammittee implements the Remuneration Palicy is set out on
pages 97 to 10% and is subject to an advisory vote al this year's
AGM. The current policy is availabie in the 2016 Annual Repart on
our website at britishland. com/committees.

Qver the last year the British Land Remuneration Committee has
reviewed the current Policy in detail to ensure that it is working
effectively, is aligned to bath shareholders’ and other key
stakeholders’ interests and continues to operate in line with the
long term business strategy, the culture and vatues. We have also
reviewed the Policy in light of the UK Corporate Gavernance Code’s
latest requirements including the five additional tests of simplicity,
clarity, risk, predictability and proportionatity.

The new Rernuneration Policy is subject te a binding vote at this
year's AGM and | hope to continue to have your support for the
Company's remuneration arrangements.
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Committee Membership
Lynn Gtadden, Laura Wade-Gery, Preben Prebensen and | were
members of the Remuneration Commitiee throughout the year.

Board changes

There have been a number of Board changes this year. Siman
Carter joined as Chief Financiat Officer on 21 May 2018, Tim
Roberts and Charles Maudsley stocd down from the Board on

31 March 2019, Charles left British Land on that day and Tim
Roberts remains an employee untit his scheduled leaving date in
July 2019.

Tim and Charles were bath eligible for an annual bonus for the
2018/2019 financial year, subject to performance of a combination
of quantitative and strategic objectives. Both were considered
‘good leavers’ and, as such, their outstanding executive share plan
awards will be pra-rated and treated in line with the good leaver
provisions for the respective plan rules. Full details are provided
on page 105.

Remuneration in respect of the year ended

31 March 2019 ]

As noted by the Company Chairman, the business has continued
te make good strategic and operational pregress over the year
against an uncertain economic and political backdrop. Financial
performance was robust, the Company's financial position is
strong and it took important steps for long term value creation.
However, performance in the year to 31 March 2019 measured
by Total Property Return for property investrnents is expecied to
underperform against the benchmark M5CI Investrnent Property
Databank {IPDj indices which will be published at the end of May
2019. This underperformnance against IPD reflects the mix of
assets owned by British Land, which have performed well against
direct comparators but have underperformed relatively against
other parts of the property market included in the IPD
benchmarks. The Board recognises this short term relative under
perfarmance, but believes that the Company has the right mix of
assels to outperform in the langer term. Reflecting this likety
under perfermance against IPD, payouts from the annual incentive
plan are expected to fall from last year's level to be circa 36% of
the maximurn for the Executive Directors.

For the LTIP, we measure performance against targets for Total
Property Return, Tatal Accounting Return and Total Shareholder
Return over three years relative to the original benchrmarks. We
are also forecasting an underperformance against the median of
the benchmarks over this period for the reasons stated above and
as a result expect the LTHP maturing this June to lapse in full. This
is the last year of awards under the Matching Share Plan which
measures both Rent Roll Growth and Total Sharehelder Return
and we expect half of these awards to vest in June this year.



The Remuneration Cammittee and the Board believe that these
outcames demanstrate the Company’s remuneration policy is
warking well. In recent years Annual Bonus and LTIP vesting
have increased during pericds of relative outperformance and
decreased when our asset base has underperformed.

New Remuneration Policy

During the last year the Committee conducted an extensive review
of the current Policy and conctuded that it is generally warking
well as demonstrated above. We are therefore nat proposing
substantial changes to our policy. However, we are recommending
3 small number of amendments ta both simplify and ensure the
Policy continues to be campliant both with best practice and the
Company’'s current objectives. The Committee recegnised that the
recent inceniive pay-out levels have been well below the historical
averages. These lower pay-out levels reflect the impact of weaker
sharehalder returns in the sector which have been the result of
market uncertainty since the EU referendum and more
challenging retail markets. This important and strong connection
between performance and reward is fully understood by the Board
and executives.

The amendments to the Policy and how we will apply it, set oui in
detail below, are intended to strengthen further the link between
pay and performance at British Land, alignment to shareholders
and simplify its operation. They will also provide greater clarity to
executives on the targets the Board wishes them to achieve, and
reflect changes recommended under the revised UK Corporate
Governance Code.

| would note that in recommending an updated Policy and haw
we intend to operate it to shareholders we are not proposing to
increase remuneration quantum, other than through the annual
review of salary levels in the context of increases in {ine with the
workforce.

The key changes to the Policy and how that Policy will be operated
are 3s follows:

- Any salary increases granted will continue to be narmatly no
higher than the average for the wider employee pepulaticon.

- The maximum pension contribution for new Executive Oirector
appointments witl be at the level for the wider employee
population under the new Policy.

- Under the new Policy there i1s no change to the opportunity
under the Annual Incentive Plan or tha Long-Term Incentive
Plan [150% of salary and 300% cf salary respectively]. The
measures we intend to use alsc remain largely unchanged as
these are key performance indicators of how British Land's
strategy is defivered.

- We are proposing te simplify the Annual Incentive Plan and
introduce more specific targets. 70% of the bonus will continue
to be measured on quantitative measures with the remainder
based on strategic measures. Currenily, we award up to 10%
for individual performance in the year and this is therefere being
consolidated within these two sets of measures. The increased
focus on strategic measures reflects the desire to more direcily
focus and incentivise management an the actions required to
deliver the long term relative outperformance measured by
the LTIP.

- In addition, the Committee has noted that the financial
performance range over which the Annual incentive Plan is
currenily operated 1 very narrow, which means that under the
current Palicy small movements across targeted performance
integers can result in outsized impacts on benus awards, both
up and down. The Committee 15 proposing to widen the target
range for the Annuat Incentive Plan at both the top and bottomn
end and in common with many other companies set the
threshold marginally below the Budget/index performance for
the year. We also intend to reduce the amount earned at the
threshold from a quarter to zero. Taken together, these changes
are intended o be no more favourable in terms of their financiat
inpact on executives. Target bonus will continue to be set at no
higher than half of the maximum.

- Total Praperty Return [TPR), Total Accounting Return [TAR] and
Total Shareholder Return [TSR) will continue to be used as the
LTIP performance metrics. We are however increasing the
weighting on TSR from 20% to 40% with a corresponding
decrease in the weighting on TAR. This reflects the Board's wish
to focus the Executive team on narrowing lover the long terml
the discount to NAV at which shares in British Land trade,
something the Board is focused on and reflects the feedback we
have had from many sharehaolders who view this as a priarity.

- We are also significantly simplifying the LTIP to remove the
opportunity for executives to exchange Performance Share
awards before they are granted, for market-priced Share
Options [on a 1 for 4 ratio basis) in future. This follows the
change in 2016 of removing Matching Share awards and will
teave British Land with anly the Performance Share award
element in the Long Term Incentive Plan.

In order ta provide a more robust and simple method of
assessing performance under each of the LTIP metrics,
performance will be measured relative to a more tailored
market benchmark. Matching the benchmark will result in
threshold vesting of 20% [unchanged] of each part of the award,
with the stretch [far fult vestingl set at an absolute level of
outperformance of the market benchmark. The market
benchmark will, where possible, be tallored to British Land's
asset base and size in order to provide a more robust yardstick
to assess performance.

- TPR will continue to be assessed against a sector weighted
MSCIIPD Index but it will be simptified by rermoving the
additional stretch created when the benchmark grows by
more than 10% pa.

- TAR and TSR will be assessed against market capitalisation
weighted indices rather than a median ranked company’'s
performance. This means that the largest REITs, which are
mare directly comparable o British Land, will have a greater
weighting than the smalter ones in the future.

The Commitiee feels that these targets will be simpler, fairer ang
more aligned to shareholders and other stakeholders.
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

In line with the provisions in the new Code, under the new Policy
the Remuneration Committee will be able to override formulaic
incentive outcames,

- Recovery provisions have been tovghened in the new Policy so
that bonus and LTIP paymenks can be recovered in the event of
corporate failure or reputationat damage [in addition to gross
miscenduct, misstatement of financial statements and error in
calculating the pay-outs), These will now apply for 3 years from
the date that performance is calculated.

- In line with the new Code, shareholding guidelines will apply
to Executive Directors following the cessation of employment
for 2 years. We have developed these so that they meet investar
expectations and have provided the flexibility in the Policy
for them to be adapted between Policy reviews by the
Coemmittee to continue tc meet those expectations over time.
The guideline whilst employed will remain at 225% for the
CEOQ and be increased from 150% ta 200% of salary for other
Executive Directors.

Remuneration in respect of the year commencing

1 April 2019

Salary and Fees

The Committee has discussed and reviewed the Company’s

annual salary review [ramework for all employees. |t has alse
reviewed the salaries of the Executive Directors and concluded that
Chris Grigg's salary will be increased by 2% and Simon Carter’s

by 3.1% which is below the average increase for the wider
employee population.

In March. the Carnpany announced that the Chairman would step
down on 19 July 2019. The Committee set the new Chairman’s
annual fee at £10,000 less than the current Chairman’s at £375,000
as he cornes into his new role,

The Executive Directors also reviewed the fees payable to the
Non-Executive Directors and concluded the basic fee should be
increased fram £42,500 to £64,000. The new Corporate Social
Responsibility Chair would receive a fee of £14,000 and the
mermber £5,000 and the Nomination Commiitee member fee
would be increased from £4,000 to £5,000.

Annual incentives

For the coming year, 70% of the annual incentive will centinue to be
measured on quantitative measures with the remaining 30% based
on strategic measures. Further information is provided on page 97.

Long Term Incentives

The Commmuittee intends to grant long term incentive awards during
this coming vear at 250% of salary, the same level as last year,
Oetails of the grants, including performance conditions are set out
on page 98. The grants will be delayed until after the AGM so that,
if approved, the new Policy will apply te these grants.
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CEO Pension

The Committee has accepted the Chief Executive Officer’s decision
to reduce his pension allowance by 5% of salary annually o bring it
in line with the employee contribution rate gver the next 4 years,
The Commitlee notes that the CEQ's existing scheme is a
contractual right agreed on his appointment in 2008 and thanks
him for volunteering to respond to broader shareholder concern
over executive pension contributions.

Below Board-level incentives

In line with the 2018 UK Corporate Governance Cade, the
Committee’s remit will also include approving the pay
arrangements for the employees below the main Board who sit
on the Executive Committee. The Remuneration Cemmitiee wilt
continue to have oversight of the Group's remuneration policy
tor the wider employee population.

Gender Pay Gap

The latest gender pay gap for the 5 April 2019 snapshot shows a
further reduction in the median pay gap of 5.7% to 34.9% from 40.6%
tor British Land, Broadgate Estates, a subsidiary company shaws an
increase in the median frarm 31.3% to 37.7% due to the sale of the
third party business and the transfer of a significant number of
employees to Savills last year. More information can be found at
britishtand.com/gender-pay-gap.

Recommendation

Briish Land conlinues to strive to apply best practice inits
remuneration policies and to listen carefully to shareholder
feedback. We therefore hope to see your support for our approach
to remuneration by voting for the Remuneration Pelicy and the
Directors’ Rernuneration Report at the 2019 AGM.

Yours sincerely

William Jackson
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee




Overview of

Remuneration Policy

Our Remuneration Policy is aligned with the long term business strategy, the culture and the values of the Company. The Remuneration
Palicy outlined on pages 92 to 96 will, subject to shareholder approval, take effect from 19 July 2019. The bar charts below illustrate the
levels of rernuneration receivable by the Executive Directors in the first year of operation of the proposed Remuneration Policy for varying

levels of performance.

Hiustration of application of Remuneration Policy

Chief Executive

Chief Financial Officer

1. Calculated using |a] salaries for the year ending 31 March 2020: lbl benelit values for the year ending 31 March 2019: and lcl pension policy as applicable for the year

ending 31 March 2020i.e. 30% of salary for the CEQ and 13% of salary for the CFO

Executive Directors

Fixed remuneration

The campeonents of fixed remuneration are intended to provide a
base package at a level that will atiract high-calibre individuals,
with the appropriate degree of expertise and experience to carry
aut their roles to the high standards we require. Executive
Qirectors’ salaries are set taking into account the scope and
responsibilities of the role and the level of remuneration paid at
companies of broadly similar size, and, in addition to salary, the
fixed remuneration package includes the provision of benefits, a
pension or pensian allowance and the opportunity to take part in
all-employee share schemes.

Annual Incentive

The Annuzl Incentive forms part of the variable proportion of an
Executive Director's remuneration package. The level of Annual
Incentive award received is directly linked to quantitative and
strategic measures which are set annually. A proportian of each
Executive Director’s Annual Incentive award is used ta purchase
shares that must be held for three years, providing longer term
alignment with sharehaolders.

Long-Term Incentive Plan

The LTIP is the second element af varniable remuneration.

The progortion of an LTIP award that is actually reieased te an
Executive Director is dependent on British Land’s performance
against specified performance measures over a three-year period.

LTIP award consists of performance shares
with performance measures attached

Performance is
measured over
three years

v

The number of performance shares vesting
is dependent on the degree to which the
performance measures have been met

A two-year holding period applies to
LTIP awards foltowing vesting

Magnitude of Annual Incentive award is
dependent on performance against
Annual Incentive measures over one year

v v

One third (net of tax] is
used to purchase shares,
which must be held
for three years {Annual
Incentive Shares)

Two thirds is paid
as cash on award

Chairman and Non-Executive Directors

Fees paid to the Company Chairman and Non-Executive Directors
are set taking into account fees paid at companies of broadly
similar size with the aim of attracting individuals with the
appropriate degree of expertise and experience ta work with and
challenge the Executive Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Executive Directors’ Remuneration Policy

Fixed remuneration

Operation

Maximum spportunily

l Parfermance conditions

Basic salary

To attract, mativate and retain talented Executive Directors.
The level of basic salary is sel taking inta account the scope and
responsibilities of the role and the tevel of remuneration paid at
companies of broadly similar size.

Basic salaries are reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee,
with increases usually 1aking effect on 1 April for the subsequent year.
Employment conditions and salary increases throughout the Group
are taken into account when basic salaries are reviewed.

Changes in the scope of an Executive Director’s role may resullin a
review of salary.

The maximum level of basic salary will not be
greater than the current salary as increased,
typically in line with the market and general
salary increases throughout the Group.

If an individual is appointed at a lower salary,
for example, to reflect inexperience as a listed
company Director, larger increases may be
awarded aver future years as they prove

their capability.

Not applicable.

Car allowance, benefits and all-employee share schemes
To provide a car allowance and set of benefits which support the Execut
A car atlowance is paid lo Executive Directors in lieu of the provision
of @ company car.
Executive Directors are eligible to receive other taxable and
non-taxable benelits, that may include:
- private medical insurance [covering the Qirector and familyl
- life assurance cover
- permanent healih insurance
- access to independent actuarial, financial and tegal advice

when necessary
- gym membership, subsidised by the Company
- annual medical checks
- relevant professional subscription fees
- other benefits on substantially the same basis as other employees.
Executive Directors are eligible to participate in British Land's Share
Incentive Plan [SIP], Sharesave Scheme and any other future plans
on the same basis as other eligible employees.
The Company provides Directars’ and Officers” Liability nsurance
and may provide an indemnity to the fullest extent permitied by the
Companies Act.

The maximum car allowance is £20.000
per annum,

The maximum cest of other taxable and
non-taxable benefits permitted under the Policy
is the amount required to continue providing
benelits at a similar level year-on-year,

The maximum opportunities under the SIP,
Sharesave Scheme and any subsequent plans
are sel by the rules of the schemes and may be
determnined by statutory limits.

ive Direclor and encourages participation in the all-emplayee share schemes.

Not applicable.

Pension or pension allowance
To provide an appropriate level of pension in retirement for Executive Di

Executive Directors may receive pension berelits through a
defined contribution scheme ar cash allowance in lieu of pension
contributions or defined benefit scheme tfor Directars who jained
the scheme before it was closed to new members in 2006).

Cash altowances in lieu of pension contributions would typically be
paid at the same tevel of salary as Company contributions under
the delined contribution arrangement,

Accrual rates for Directors receiving benefits through the defined
benefit scheme are determined by the rules of the scheme and are
dependent on the age at which the Direclor joined the Company.
Benefits up 1o the timit permiited by the tax tegislation are provided
in a registered plan. Benefits over that limit are currently previded
in an employer financed retirement benefit scheme [EFRBS).
EFRBS participants are currently offered a choice annually as to
whether they wish to accrue benefits in the EFRBS or lo receve a
cash paymantin tieu.

reclors.

Employer pension contributions 10 Executive
Birectors under the defined contribution
arrangement and cash allowances in lieu of
pension are made ak a fixed percentage of salary.
between 15% and 30%.

Under the defined benefit scheme the target
benefit is the pension that can be provided by the
31 March 2012 litetime altowance (€£1.8m], uplifted
by RPI fram 31 March 2011,

The maximum accrual rate for a defined benefil
scheme member is that which will give the target
benefit at age 60, subject ta the accrual rate being
no greater than one thirtieth and no less than one
sixtieth of salary.

Future appeintments will not receive a
contribution greater than the majority of the
workforce [currently 15% of salary] and. unless
already within the defined benefil scheme, will not
be able tc participate in it.

Not applicable.
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Variable remuneration

Qperation

Maximum opportunity

Performance conditions

Annual Incentive

To reward performance against quantitative and strategic objectives that are set annually.

Annual Incentive awards may be granted to Executive
Direciors each year. with the level of award reflecting
quantitative and strateqic aims of the Company
Objeclives are set by the Board and measures set

by the Rermuneration Committee.

Awards are granted lollowing the financiai year end,
when actuat performance over \hat year is measured.

A portion of the Annual Incentive Award is paid in cash
and the remaining portion [ret of tax) 1s used to purchase
British Land shares on behalf af the Executive Director
{Annual Incentive Shares),

For the Annual Incentive Award for the year commencing
1 April 2019, one third bf a3ny Award will be required 1o
be used to purchase Annpal Incentive Shares.

Annual Incentive Sharas must be held for three years
from the dale of grant of the Annual Incentive award
belore they may be transferred or sold, regardless of
whether or not the individual remains an employee of
British Land throughout this periad. Executive Directors
are entitled 1o the dividends paid in respect of the Annual
Incentive Shares during the holding periad.

The Annual ncentive award (cash and shares) may be
clawed back during the three-year period following
determination of the award in certain circumstances.
These are set out on page 96.

The maximum level
of Annual Incentive
which may be granted
is equivalent to 150%
of basic salary.

The abjeclives are sel by the main Board and the measures by the
Remuneration Commiliee normally al the beginning of the financial
year over which performance will be assessed and following the
end of the financial year when perfarmance can be determined.

The Committee has the giscretion to adjust the gutturn 16 ensure

it reflects underlying performance.

Na more than 25% of any part of the award will be earneg for
thresheld performance. Up to half of the maximum potential award
is payable for target perlormance that is in line with expeclations.
If the stretch targat is met the maximum potential award will

be earned.

No further performance conditions are altached to the Annual
Incentive Shares during the hotding period.

Long-Term Incentive Plan [LTIP)

To link the level of reward to Company parformance against specified iong term measures, promoting and rewarding aclivities that support our strategy

and creale sustainable long term value for shareholders.

LTIP awards may be granted annually by the
Remuneration Commitiee to Executive Directors. Awards
may consist of performance shares {conditional rights to
receive shares).

L¥IP awards typically vest after three years. The
nurmber of performance shares vesting is dependent

on the degree to which performance conditions
attached to the LTIP have been met over Lhis three-year
performance period. The Committee has the discretion
to adjust the outturn 1o ensure it reflects underlying
performance. A paymant equivalent o the dividends
accrued on vesting performance shares is paid at the
point of vesting in shares or cash.

On vesting, sulficient performance shares may be seld to
cover any liabilily to income tax and National Insurance
contributions and related costs of sale. The remaining
performance shares must be held for two years following
vesting before they are perrnitted to be transferred or
sold. regardless of whether or not the indvidual remains
an employee of British Land throughout 1his period.

LTIP awards may be forfeited and/or ctawed back from
the date of grant untl three years alter the determination
of the vesting level of an award in certain circumstances.
These are set oul on page 6. If it is discovered thal an
LTIP award was granied or vested on the basis of
materially misstated accounts or other data the
Commiltee may require same or all of the performance
shares to be forfeited or clawed back during the five-year
period following the grant dale.

The maximurm value
{using the share price
al the time of award
multiplied by the
number of shares] of
an LTIP award which
may be granted is
equivalent to 300%

of basic salary.

The LTIP performance conditions have been chosen to reward
performnance that is aligned with British Land's strategy:

- total property return [TPR) performance is assessed relative to an
MSCI benchmark, weighted in sector returns at the property level

- total accounting return (TAR] is assessed relative to a market
capitalisation weighted index of the companies within the FTSE 350
property companies lhat use EPRA accounting

- total shareholder return {TS5R) is assessed against both the FT5E
100 and a comparator group consisting of the companies within the
FTSE 350 property companies that use EPRA accounting, both on
rmarket capitalisation weighled bases.

The relative weighting af he performance conditions may be

varied by the Commitlee to ensure the LTIP besl supporis

British Land's strategy and tg meel investor preferences. The
Committee currently intends to apply the performance conditions
with the following weightings: 40% af the award will be linked to the
TPR condition, 20% will be linked to the TAR condition and 40% will
be linked io the TSR condition, split equally between the FTSE and
real estate benchmarks.

TPR performance is currently assessed against the MSCIHPD UK
Annual Preperty Index. The Committee may amend the comparator
groups of companies during the performance period if therg is a
corporate event affecting any member of the group and may
amend the MSC! benchrark if a diflerent beachmark is deemed
more appropriate,

Performance conditions are chaltenging, requiring significant
ouktperformance for 100% of the LTIP award to vest. 20% of the
award will vest if the minimum performance threshald is achieved;
performance below the minimum threshold for a performance
condition will result in the LTIP award in respect of that condition
lapsing. Pre-defined levels of stretch performance in excess of the
benchmark must be achieved against each performance measure
for the entire award to vest. These are 1.00% pa for TPR, 2.00% pa for
TAR. 3.00% pa for Real Estate TSR and 5.00% pa for FTSE 100 TSR
over the thras-year period.

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019 93



DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Non-Executive Directors’ Remuneration Policy

Operatian

l Maximum opportunity

Performance conditions

Chairman’s fee

To attract and retain an individual with the appropriate degree of expertise and experience.

The Chairman’s annual lee is set by the Remuneration Committee | Typically increases. if required, will be Not appticable.
and reviewed annually. The level of the Chairman’s annual fee in ling with market.

is set laking into account fees paid at companies of broadly

similar size,

Non-Executive Directors’ fees

To attract and retain Non-Executive Directors with the appropriate degree of expertise and experience.

Rernuneration of the Nen-Executive Directors is a matter The maximum aggregate armount of basic fees Not applicabte.

for the Executive Directors and Chairman, and fees are reviewed
annually. Nen-Executive Directors receive an annual fee plus
additional fees it they are members of a Committee, or if they
hold the position of Senior Independent Director, Chairman

of a Committee, perform additional roles or have a greater

time commitment.

The Company's Policy is to deliver a total fee at a level in line with
similar positions.

The Chairman and members’ fees for the new CSR Committee
will apply for the full year frem 1 April 2019,

payable to ali Nan-Executive Directors shatl not
exceed the limit set in the Company’s Articles of
Association, which is currently £900,000.

Other arrangements for the Chairman and the Non-Executive Directors

To support the Directers in the fulfitment of their duties.

The Cornpany may reimburse expenses reasonably incurred by
the Chairman and the Non-Executive Directors in fulfitment af
the Company's business, together with any taxes thereon.

The Company pravides the Chairman and the Non-Executive
Directors with Directers’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance and
may provide an indemnnity to the fullest extent permitted by the
Companies Acl.

The maximum reimbursement is expenses
reasonably incurred, lagether with any taxes thereon.
The maximum value of the Directors’ and Officers’
Liability Insurance and the Company's indemnity is
the cost at the relevant time.

Not applicable,

Notes to the Remuneration Policy table

Remuneration Policy for other employees

Salary reviews across the Group are carried out on the same basis
as salary reviews for the Executive Directors; consideration is given
to the individual's role, duties, experience and performance, along
with consideration of typical salary levels of employees i similar
roles in comparable companies, where the data is available.
Ermployees are entitled to taxable and non-taxable benefits, with
executives Peing entitled to substantially the same benefits as the
Executive Directors.

Executives may be granted Long-Terrn Incentive Plan andfor
Restricted Share awards.

Employees joining the Company after 2006 are eligible to take part
in a defined contribution pension arrangement. The Company's
all-employee share schemes {the Share Incentive Plan and the
Sharesave Scheme] are also open to eligible employees.

Pre-existing obligations and commitments

It is a provision of this Poticy that the Company can hanour all
pre-existing obligations and commitments that were entered into
prior to this 2019 Remuneration Policy taking effect. The terms of
those pre-existing obligations and cornmitments may differ from
the terms of the Remuneration Policy and may include [without
lirmitation) pbligations and commitments under service contracts,
long term incentive schemes [including previous Long-Term
Incentive Plans), pension and benefit plans.
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Considerations when setting Remuneration Policy
In drawing up the Remuneration Policy, the Committee took into
account views expressed by shareholders during meetings and
carmrnunicated to the Company. The Company engaged with its
shareholders via consultation meetings with investor badies, and
by writing to its largest shareholders, offering each a meeting to
discuss remmuneration proposais.

Each year the Remuneration Committee takes into account the
pay and employment conditions of employees in the Group, noting
the general increase in salary proposed for all employees and
levels of incentive payments and performance, before setting the
remuneration of the Executive Directors. The Committee did not
consult with the Company's employees when drawing up the
Birectors’ Remuneration Policy.




Approach to recruitment remuneration

Executive Directors

Basic salary is set at a levet appropriate to recruit a suitable
candidate, taking into account external market competitiveness
and internal equity. The level of basic salary may initially be

positioned below the mid-market of the chosen cornparator group,

with the intention of increasing it to around the mid-market of the
comparator group after an initial period of satisfactory service.

individuals will be able to receive a contribution to a pension plan,
or cash in lieu thereof, and the Company contribution witl not be
greater than the majority of the workforce [currently 15% of salary).

Where a recruit is forfeiting incentive awards granted by his or her
existing employer, compensation in the form of a restricted share
plan [RSP} award or otherwise may be made fin accordance with
Lssting Rule 9.4.2), the maximum value of which will be that which
the Committee, in its reasonable opinion, considers to be equal to
the value of remuneration forfeited.

Vesting of the shares granted and the value of any dividends
will be subject to the Director campleting a8 minimum period of
qualifying service, so the award will not be released until this
condition has been satisfied. The vesting of the award may be
subject to additional perfarmance measures being met over the
same peried. The Committee will determine the most relevant
measures o use at the time of award, bearing in mind the
respensibilities of the individual being appointed and the
Company's strategic priorities at the time.

The Company’s Policy is te give notice periods of na longer than
12 months.

Chairman and Non-Executive Directors .

On recruitment, the Chairman will be cffered an annual fee in
accordance with the Policy. The level of the annual fee may initialty
be positioned below the mid-rmarket level, with the intention of
increasing it to around the mid-market level of the comparator
group after aninitial period of satisfactory service. Non-Executive
Directors will be offered Non-Executive Directors’ fees in
accordance with the Policy.

Appointment of internal candidates

If an existing employee of the Group is appointed as an Executive
Director, Chairrman or Non-Executive Qirector, any obligation or
commitment entered into with that individual prior to his or her
appointment can be honoured in accordance with the terms of
those obligations or commitments, even where they ditfer from
the terms of the Policy.

Policy on loss of office

Executive Directors

The Executive Directors’ service contracts can be lawfully
terminated by either party giving 12 months’ natice, or by the
Cornpany making a lump sum payment in tieu of notice [PILON]
equal to the Executive Director's base salary tor the notice period.
Additionatly, when the Company makes a PILON, it may either pay
a lump sum equal tc the value of any benefits for the notice period
ar continue to provide benefits until the notice period expires or
the Executive Director starts new employment {whichever is the
earlier], These tawful termination mechanisms do not prevent

the Company, in appropriate circumstances, from terminating

an Executive Directer's employment in breach of his ar her
service contract and seeking te apply mitigation in determining
the damages payable. Where this is achievable in negotiation with
the outgeing Oirector, settlement arrangements are structured
50 that the termination payment is paid in instatments and the
instalments are reduced by an amount equal to any earnings
received from the outgeing Director’s new employment,
consuitancy or other paid work.

For departing Executive Directors and Executive Directors

that have left British Land the Commitiee may agree to

cash commutation of pension benefits under the defined

benefit scherme lincluding EFRBS benefits) and other pension
arrangements entered into prior to the adoption of the 2019
Remuneraticn Policy. Any commutation would take into account
valuations provided by independent actuarial advisers so as to be
undertaken on a basis considered by the Committee to be cost
neutral to the Company.

The circumstances of the loss of office dictate whether the
individual is treated as a goed leaver or otherwise, in accordance
with the Company's Policy. The Remuneration Committee uses its
discretion to farm a view taking into account the circumstances.
Good leavers typically receive pro-rata Annual Incentive and long
term incentive awards, subject to performance measurement,
and other leavers forfeit their entitlements. In the event of a
change of control the rules of the share plans generally provide
for accelerated vesting of awards, subject [where applicable] to
time appartionment and achievement of performance targets.
The Chief Executive’s contract pre-dates 27 June 2012 but does
not contain contractual provisions that could impact on the amount
of any payment for loss of office and which fall outside the Paolicy.
Details of the Executive Directors’ service contracts and notice
periods are given in the table betaw:

Length of service Date of service Narmal notice period to

Qirector: coniract contract be given by either party
Chris Grigg 12 months  19.12.08 12 months
Simon Carter 12 months  18.01.18 12 months
Charles Maudsley 12 months  03.11.09 12 months
Tim Roberts 12 months  14.11.06 12 months
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Chairman and Non-Executive Directors

The letters of appointment of Non-Executive Directors are
subject to renewal on a triennial basis. In accordance with the

UK Corporate Governance Code, all Directors stand for election
or re-election by the Company's sharehalders on an annual basis.
The Directors’ service contracts and letters of appointment are
available for inspection during narmal business hours at the
Company's registered office and at the Annual General Meeting.
The unexpired terms of the Chairman’s and Non-Executive
Directors’ letters of appointment are shown below:

Unexpired term

Date af current of appeintmeni at

Qireciar: appointment 31March 201%
John Gilderslesve (Chairmanl] 01/01/2019 33 months
Lynn Gladden 22/03/2018 28 months
Alastair Hughes 01/01/2018 21 months
William Jackson 11/04/2017 12 manths
Nick Macpherson 19/12/2016 9 months

Preben Prebensen 01/09/2017 17 months
Tirn Score 23/03/2017 12 months'
Laura Wade-Gery 13/05/2018 28 months
Rebecca Waorthington 01/01/2018 21 months

1. Tim Score’s appointrnent as Chairman does not take effect until the end of the
AGM being held an 19 July 2019

Although the Chairman’s and Non-Executive Directors’
appointments are for fixed terms, their appgintments may be
terminated immediately withaut notice if they are not reappointed
by sharehalders or if they are removed from the Beard under the
Company's Articles of Association or if they resign and do not offer
themselves for re-election. In addition, their appoiniments may be
terminated by either the individual or the Campany giving three
months’ written notice of termination [or, far the current
Chairman, six manths’ written notice of termination). Despite
these terms cf appointment, neither the Chairman nor the
Non-Executive Oirectors are entitled to any compensation [other
than accrued and unpaid fees and expenses for the pericd up to
the termination] for loss of office save that the Chairman and
Naon-Executive Directars may be entitled, in certain limited
circumstances, such as corporate transactions, to receive payment
in lieu of their notice period where the Company has terminated
their appointment with immediate effect.

Policy on shareholdings of Executive Directors

The Company has a policy that Executive Directors witl be required
to build and retain a tevet of shareholding in the Company. The
application of this will be contained from time to time in the Annual
Report on Remuneration and is currently 225% of salary for the
CEO and 200% of salary for other Executive Directors.
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Malus and Clawback

In relation to both Annual Incentive Plan and LTIP awards under
this Policy, malus and ¢clawback provisions wilt apply in the
following circumstances:

- discovery of a material misstatement resulting in an adjustment
in the audited accounts of the Group

- the assessment of any performance condition was based on
error, or inaccurate or misleading information

- the discovery that any information used to determine cash
or share awards was based on error, or inaccurate or
misleading information

- action ar conduct of a participant which amounts ig fraud
or gross misconduct

- corporate failure

avents or the behaviour of a participant have led to the censure
of a Graup company by a regulatory authority or have had a
significant detrimental impact on the reputation of the Group.

Discretion

The Committee has discretion in severa!l areas of Policy as set out
in this Report. The Remuneration Cormnmittee may also exercise
operational and administrative discretions under relevant plan
rules approved by shareholders as set out in those rules. In
addition, the Committee has discretion to amend the Policy with
regard to minor or adrrinistrative matters where it would be, in
the cpinion of the Committee, dispropartionate to seek or await
shareholder approval.

In addition, the Committee retains the discretion to override the
forrnulaic outcomes of incentive schemes. The purpose of this
discretion is to ensure that the incentive scheme outcomes are
consistent with everall Campany performance and the long term
experience of sharehalders




How we intend to apply our
Remuneration Policy during
the year commencing

1 April 2019

The following pages set out how the Committee intends to apply
the Remuneration Policy during the coming year, subject to the
new Policy being approved by shareholders at the 2019 AGM.

Executive Directors’ remuneration
Basic salaries

Basic salaries for our current Directors have been set at the
following levels for the year commencing 1 Agril 2079.

Pension and benefits

Chnis Grigg has volunteered to reduce the pension contribution he
receives from the Company over the ceming years. As such, for the
year cornmencing 1 April 2019 his contribution has been reduced to
30% of salary and this will continue ta be reduced by 5% of salary per

birector Basic salary annum untit it is ai 15% of salary [in line with the current workforce
Chris Grigg 873,396 levell: Slr_non Caneu_' wull_connn_ue to receive 3.15%,0' ;alary pensian

- contribution. Benefits will cantinue to be provided in line with the
Simon Carter 500,000

policy and include a car allowance, private rmedical insurance and
subsidised gym memtership.

Annual Incentive awards

The maximurm bonus cpportunity for Executive Directors remains at 150% of salary. The performance measures for the Annual Incentive
awards have been selected to reflect a range of quantitative and strategic goals that support the Campany's key stratagic objectives.

The pertormance measures and weightings for the year commencing 1 April 2019 will be as follows:

Proportion of Annual
Incentive as a percentage

Measure of maximum apportunity
Quantitative measures 70%
Total Property Return relative to IPD [sector weighted|
0% payout for 25bp below IPD rising 1o 100% payout for 125bp outperformance of IPD 30%
Profit growth relative to budget
0% payout for 1% below budget rising to 100% payout for 4% autperformance of budget 30%
Development profit relative to budget
0% payout for 1% below budget rising to 100% payout for 4% outperformance of budget 10%
Strategic measures 30%
Custormer Orientation
Right Places

Capital Efficiency
Expert People

The detailed targets that the Commiitee has agreed are congidered to he cammercially sensitive and as such the specific targets for the
guantitative measures for the coming year will be disclosed in the 2020 Remuneration Repart, In assessing how the Executive Directors
performed during the year commencing 1 April 2019, the Committee will take into account their performance against all of the measures
and make an assessment in the round 1o ensure that performance warrants the level of award determined by the table above.

As disclosed previously, the Committee agreed that for Annual Incentive awards, the sector weighted IPD March Annual Universe benchmark
{which includes sales, acquisitions and developments and so 1akes into account active asset management as well as a more representative
peer groupl would be most suttable. However, due to timing of publication of the March Universe benchmark, the Company's actual
pertarmance against [P0 metrics is unlikely to be known when the 2020 Annual Report is appraved by the Board. The 2020 Remuneration
Report will therefore include an estimate of the vesting value of Annual Inceniive awards for that financialyear. with the actual awards, based
on the finat IPD March Annual Universe Oata, set out in the following Annuat Report (for the year ending 31 March 2021).
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Long term incentive awards
An LTIP award of 250% of salary will be granted to Executive Directors during the year commencing 1 Aprit 2019,

The performance measures that apply to this LTIP award will be as follows:

Measure Link to strategy Measured relative to Weighting
Total Property Return (TPR} The TPR measure is designed to link TPR performance will be assessed  40%
The change in capital value, less reward to strong performance at the against the performance of an IPD

any capital expenditure incurred, gross property level. sectar weighted benchmark.

plus net income. TPR is expressed as
a percemage of capital ernployed over
the LTIP perfoermance period and is
calculated by IPD.

Total Accounting Return [TAR) The TAR rreasure is designed to link TAR will be measured relativetoa 20%
The growth in British Land’s EPRA reward o performance at the net property market capitalisation weighted index

NAV per share plus dividends per share level that takes account of gearing and aur of the FTSE 350 property companies

paid over the LTIP performance period.  distributions to shareholders. that use EPRA accounting.

Total Shareholder Return [TSR) The TSR measure is designed to Half of the TSR measure will 40%
The growth in value of a British Land directly correlate reward with the be measured relative to the

shareholding over the LTIP performance return delivered to shareholders. perfarmance of the FTSE 100

period, assuring dividends are reinvested and the other half will be mezasured

to purchase additional shares. retative to 2 market capitalisation

weighted index of the FTSE 350

property companies that use

EPRA accounting.
Perfarmance against the LTIP measures will be assessed over a periad of three years. If performance against a measure is equal to
the index, 20% of the proportion attached 1o that measure will vest and if perforrmance is below index the proportion aitached to that
measure will lapse.100% of the proportion of each element of award attached to each measure will vest if British Land’s performance
is at a stretch level. Those streich levels are TPR 1.00% pa, TAR 2.00% pa, TSR [Real Estate] 3.00% pa and TSR [FTSE 100 5.00% p.a.
There will be straight-line vesting between index and stretch performance for each measure.
The Committee retains the discretion to override the formulaic outcomes of incentive schernes, The purpose of this discretion is to
ensure that the incentive scheme outcomes are consistent with overall Company performance and the experience of shareholders.

Non-Executive Directors’ fees

Fees paid to the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors are positioned arniind the mid-market with the aim of attracting individuals
with the appropriate degree of expertise and experience. The lee structure set out below incorporates a 2.4% increase to the annual fee
for the Non-Executive Directors for the year commencing 1 April 2019. Upon appaintment as Chairman of the Company at the 2819 AGM,
Tim Scare will receve £375.000 p.a.

Chairman’s annual fee £375,000
Non-Executive Director's annual fee £64,000
Senior Independent Directar’s annual fee £10,000
Audit or Remuneration Commiitee Chairman’s annual fee £20,000
Audit or Remuneration Committee member's annual fee £8,000
CER Committee Chairman's annual fee £14,000
Nomination or CSR Committee member’s annuyal fee £5,000

1. For the new Chairman from 19 July 201%. The current Chairman’s fee remains at £385,000
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How we applied our

Remuneration Policy during
the year ended 31 March 2019

The following pages set out how we implemented the Directors’
Remuneration Policy during the year ended 31 March 2019 and
the remuneration received by each of the Directors.

Single total figure of remuneration (audited)
The following tables detail all elements of remuneration receivabie by British Land's Executive Directors in respect of the year ended
31 March 2019 and show comparative figures for the year ended 31 March 2018

Other items in Pension or
the nature of pension Annyal Long term

Sataryfifees Taxable benefits f ation L i ves! incentives Total
2019 20M% 2019 2019 201% 2019 019
Executive Directors €000 £000 £000 £eo0 €000 €000 £000
Chris Grigg 857 21 15 300 460 324 1,977
Simon Carter (from May 2018) &1 18 599 53 238 - 1,329
Charles Maudsley 455 21 12 68 251 158 9564
Tim Roberts 457 21 12 98 251 154 991

1. 2019 Annual Incentive outcomes are subject to the publication of final 1PC resulls
018 2018 M8 2018 2018 218 1018
€000 €000 €000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Chris Grigg 840 22 15 294 792 316 2,279
Charles Maudslay 44b 22 12 &7 406 148 1101
Tim Roberts 448 23 12 89 416 157 1,145

Notes to the single total figure of remuneration table

Fixed pay

Taxable benefits: Taxable benefits include car allowance [between £14,495 and £16,800), private medical insurance and subsidised gym
mermbership. The Company provides the tax gross-up on subsidised gym membership and the figures included above are the grossed up
values.

Other items in the nature of remuneration: include life assurance, permanent health insurance, annual medical check-ups, professional
subscriptions, the value of shares awarded under the all-employee Share Incentive Plan and any national gain on exercise for Sharesave
options that matured during the year. As disclosed {ast year, to replace deferred payments farfeited on joining British Land, Simon Carter
was conditionally awarded €675,000 of shares {86,194 shares| which have 1o be held for at least a year, with a value of £592,484.

Pensions: Chris Grigg and Charles Maudsley do not participate in any British Land pension plan. Instead they receive cash allowances, in
lieu of pension. Tim Roberts is a member of the British Land Defined Benefit Pension Scheme. Simon Carter is a member of the Defined
Contribution Scheme and utilises his Annual Pension Allowance of £10,000 per annum, the remaining amount of his pension is paid te him
in cash, for him to make his own arrangements for retirement. Sirmon Carter is also a deferred member of the British Land Qefined Benefit
Pension Scheme. The table below details the defined benefit pensions accrued at 31 March 2019.

Defined benefit

pension acorued at Normat

31 March 2019" ratirement

Executive Director £000 age
Tirn Roberts 98 40
Simon Carter 37 40

1. The accrued pension is based on service to the year end

There are no additional benefits that will become receivable by a Director in the event that a Director retires early.
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Annual Incentives FY19

The level of Annualincentive award is determined by the Commitiee based on British Land's performance and Executive Directors’
performance against quantitative and strategic targets during the year. Fer the year ended 31 March 2019 the Committee’s assessment
and outcomes are set oul belaw. This year, part of the individual element has been allocated across some of the strategic abjectives and
all elemenits have been scored separately. Quantitative measures are a direct assessmertt of the Company's financial performance and in
the very long term business we operate are a reflection of many of the decisions takenin prior years. The delivery of strategic objectives
positions the future performance of the business so payouts under this part of the Annual Incentive Plan will not necessarily correlate with
payouls under the quantitative measures in any year.

Guantitative measute

‘Weighting

Range of performance betwean 25% and 100%

50% pay-out
|performance
i line with
expactations]

25%
payoui

100% payout Ino
increased pay-out
above this maximum
pay-out paint

Final
outcome
% af max}

Final
cutcama
1% of salary)

Perfarmance achieved against
target range

Tatal property
retucns vs (PO

42%

0%

0%

Target range of matching
sector weighted index to
outperforming it by 1%.

TPR of -1%, underperiorming
against the estimated
threshold of weighted IPD
index by 1.9%.

Prafit

28%

11.76%

17.66%

Target range of matching
the budget target to
outperforming it by 3.5%.
Profit achieverment of £340m.

Weighting

0%

Sub-total

1.76%

17.64%!

1. Simon Carter receives
15.23% of salary for this
elerment [pro-rata of 129.5%]

Note: The above chart is a forecast of the 2019 TPR outcomes which witl depend on perfarmance against IPD figures that wilt only become
available after the publication of this report and as such, represent an estimate of the final fiqures.

Final Final
Performance auteome autcome
Strategic objective Measure Weighting  achieved {% of max) [% of salary]
CHRIS GRIGG
Individual Delver Corporate 30 Carporalte Scorecard delivered 3%
objective Scorecard
Right Places Planning approval 5o Planning approval at Canada 2%
at Canada Water ° |Water on track
Customer Simplify British Brand hierarchy developed and
arientation Land's brand 5% |implemented 4%
hierarchy
Capital Efficiency Oeliver Capilal Overall Capital Plan delivered
Plan
Sell Broadgate 10% |Broadgate Estates third party 8% 24%  36.00%
Estates Third business sold successfully
Party Business
Expert People Embed our new New Values: Bring your Whole
Values Selt, Be Smarter Together,
Listen & Understand, Buitd for
the Future
7% &%

Reduce Gender
Pay Gap {April 19
snapshat data)

Gender Pay Gap median
reduction of 5.7% as at

5 April 2019 and significant
progress on inclusive cubiure

100  British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019



Final Final

outcome autcome
Strategic objective Measure Weighting Performance achieved (% of max} 1% of salary)
SIMON CARTER
Individual abjective  Fxecute Investor Relations 3% (Investor Relations programme delivered 3%
Pragramme
Right Places Improved management 5% |Management information project 4%
infarmation 1o optimise successfully delivered
hew cperational businesses
Customer Drive Financial Systems 5% |Systemns project progressing £% 19 09%
Orientation Enhancemenis Project successiully b .f r°
Capital Efficiency  Deliver Capital Plan Overall Capital Plan delivered elore
6% PO
o rating for
Refinance Requirements 10% (Refinance Delivered. €1 4bn, 9% part
Maintained year]!
Expert People Embed our new Values New Values' Bring your Whole Self, Be
Smarter Together, Listen & Undersland,
7% Build for the Future 6%
Reduce Gender Pay Gap Gender Pay Gap median reduction of
{Aprit 19 snapshot datal 5.7% as at 5 April 2019 and significant
progress on inclusive culiure
TIM ROBERTS
Individual objective  Diversify Offices Income 6% |OFfices income diversification plan 9%
achieved
Right Places Expand Sterey 5% |Starey expanding successfully. Storey 4%
Clubspace open at 4KS
Custamer Broaden Cflice offer Office offer broadened successiully
Orientation
Deliver Marketing 6% |SMART launched at 100 Liverpool St 3%
Advantage from Smart g
Campus/Buildings 26% 346.00%
Capital Elficiency Deliver Capital Plan &% |Outperformance on Offica Capital Plan 5%
Expert People Embed our new Values New Values: Bring your Whole Seli, Be
Smarter Together, Listen & Understand,
7% Build for the Future 4%
Reduce Gender Pay Gap Gender Pay Gap median reduction of
[&pril 19 snapshat data) 5.7% as at 5 April 2019 and significant
progress on inclusive culture
CHARLES MAUDSLEY
Individual objective  Design and execute Build to 4% |Strategy designed and commenced 2%
Rent strategy
Right Places Deliver Retail Insighls plan 5% |Programme implemnented and rolled out 3%
Customer Deliver Leasing offer 5% Leasing offer delivered S%
Orientaticn
Capital Plan Deliver Capital Plan 9% {Retail Capital plan delivered , 2% 24.50%
Proaclively manage CVAs CVAs successfully managed 7%
Expert People Embed our new Values MNew Values: Bring your Whole Sell, Be
Smarter Together, Listen & Undersland.
7% Build for the Future 6%
Reduce Gender Pay Gap Gender Pay Gap median reduction of
|April 19 snapshot datal 5.7% as a1 5 April 2019 and significant
progress on inclusive cullure
Weighting 30%
Final Final
outcame oulcome
Total bonus payout 1% of max] 1% of salaryi
Chris Grigg 35.76% 53.64%
Simon Carter 37.76%  48.88%'
Tim Roberts? 36.76% 55.14%
Charles Maudstey’ 356.76% 55.14%

2018 comparative: In May 2018, the Commitiee confirmed that the outperformance of TPR compared to the IPO benchmark was 46 bps
rather than the estirnate of 20 bps rmade for the purposes of the single total figure of remuneration table in the 2018 Annual Report.
Lonsequently, the actual annual incentive amounts paid increased and are stated in their revised amounts in this year’s table at page ¥9.

}. Simon Carter joined British Land on 21 May 2018 and as such his maximum bonus opportunity of 150% of salary has been pro-rated to reflact lime served and is
therefore 129.5% of salary for the year ended 31 March 2019

2. Includes an additional 1 5% of salary for Tim Roberts and 3% of salary far Charles Maudsley in tine with the remuneration terms agreed
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPQRT CONTINUED

Long term incentives

The informaticn in the (ong term incentives column in the single toial figure of remuneration table (see page 99| relates to vesting of
awards granted under the following schemes, including, where applicable, dividend equivaleni payments on those awards.

Long-Term Incentive Plan

The awards granted to Executive Directors on 22 June 2014, and which will vest on 22 June 2019. were subject to two equally weighted
performance conditions over the three-year period to 31 March 2019. The first measured British Land's TPR relative to the funds in the
December PO UK Annuat Property Index (the Index]. while the second measured TAR relative o a comparater group of British Land and
16 or so other property companies.

The TPR etemnent is expected to lapse, based on British Land’s adjusted TPR of 3% per annum when compared to the funds in the Index.
The TAR element is also expected to lapse based on British Land's TAR of 8.2%. The actuat vesting of the TPR and TAR elements can only
be calculated once results have been published by [PD and all the companies within the comparator group respectively. The actual
percentage vesting will be confirmed by the Cormmittee in due course and details provided in the 2020 Remuneration Report.

Increase invalue as a
result af share price
5

Estimated value of Estil d dividend T
Performance Number of performance award anvesting  equivaleni and interest grant and vesting
Executive Director shares or options shares/options awarded £000 000 [2iD]]
Chris Grigg Performance shares 229,979 0 o 0
Charles Maudsley Perfarmance shares 122174 0 0 G
Tim Roberts Performante shares 41,088 0 0 Q0
Market value options 244,353 0 0 0

2018 comparative: As set aut in the 2018 Annual Report, the 2015 LTIP awards lapsed in full on 22 June 2018 as expected.

Matching Share Plan

The performance conditions for the MSP Matching awards granted on 29 June 2018 were i) TSR relative to a comparator group of
British Land and 16 other property companies and [ii] British Land's gross income growth (GIG] relative to the IPD Quarterly Universe
[the Universel. These performance conditians are equally weighted. The MSP Matching awards will vest on 29 June 2019.

Korn Ferry has confirmed that the TSR element of the award will lapse as British Land’s TSR performance over the period was -5.1%
caompared to a median of 9.5% for the comparater group. The GIG element is expected le vest at 100% as British Land’s annualised GIG
aver the period of 3.4% is expected to exceed the expecied growth of the Universe by more than the upper hurdle. As a result, 50% of the
MSP Matching awards granted in June 2014 are expected ta vest.

Estimated vaiue of Estimated dividend

Number of Matching award on vesting equivalent

Executive Director Shares awarded €000 £000
Chris Grigg 96,718 280 43
Charles Maudsley 47,206 137 21
Tirn Roberts 46,056 133 21

2018 comparative: In June 2018, the Committee confirmed that the 2015 MSP Matching awards would vest as to 50% on the vesting
date [being 29 June 2018]. The lang term incentive figures in the 2018 comparatives of the single total figure of remuneration table have
therefare been updated to reflect the actual share price on vesting [670.6748 pencel rather than the average for the 90-day period used
in the 20718 Annual Report of 53.26 pence.

Share scheme interests awarded during the year (audited)

Long-Term Incentive Plan
The total value of each Executive Director's LTIP award for ihe year ended 31 March 2019 was equivalent to 250% of basic salary at grant.

At grant each Director was able to indicate a preference as to the proportion af the award that they wish to receive as either performance
shares or market value options. The share price used to determine the face value of performance shares and the fair value of options, and
thereby the number of pertormance shares or options awarded. s the average over the three dealing days immediately prior to the day

of award. For the award granted in June 2018, no Executive Director elected lo receive market value aptions and the share price for
determining the number of performance shares awarded was 4682.20 pence. The perfarmance conditigns attached to these awards are set
aut in the Remuneration Policy approved by shareholders in July 20146 and summarised on page 8.
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Performance shares

Percentage vesting on

Number of End o} achievement of minimum

performance Face value performance performance threshold

Executive Director Grant date shares granted €000 peried Vesting date %
Chris Grigg 26/06/18 313.984 2,142 31/03/21 26/06/21 20
Simon Carter 26/06/18 177.733 1.213 31/03/21 26/06/21 20
Charles Maudsley 26/04/18 166,804 1,138 31/03/21 26/06/21 20
Tim Roberts 26/06/18 166,804 1,138 310321 26/06/21 20

Directors’ shareholdings and share interests (audited)
Directors’ shareholdings at 31 March 2019

The follawing table shows the Executive Directors’ interests in fully paid ardinary British Land shares, including shares held by connected
perscns, MSP Bonus Shares, Annual Incentive Shares and shares held in the Share Incentive Plan_ All interests are beneficial

Holding at 31 March 2019

lor date of departure from Holding at
Director the Board, if eartier) 31 March 208
Chris Grigg 1,320,436 1,297,818
Simon Carter 134,185* -
Charles Maudsley 262,557 251,194
Tim Roberts 266,583 265,748

* Includes 86,196 shares awarded shortly after joining to replace deferred payments forfeited at his previous employer

Shareholding guidelines

The shareholding quidelines for Executive Directors have been reviewed by the Committee anc have been increased for the year
commencing 1 April 2019 to 200% for Executive Directors other than the Chief Executive whose guideline remains 223% of salary. In
addition, Executive Directors will normally be required to retain shares equal to the level of this guideline [or if they have not reached the
guideline, the shares that count at that time] for the two years following their departure. There is no set timescate for Executive Directars
1o reach the prescribed guideline but they are expected to retain net shares received on the vesting of long term incentive awards until the
target is achieved. Shares that count lowards the holding guideline are unfettered and beneficially owned by the Executive Oirectors and
their connected persons, deferred annual incentive shares, MSP Bonus Shares, lacked-in SIP shares and all vested awards count towards
the requirement on a net of tax basis. All other awards that are still the subject of a performance assessment do not count.

The guideline shareholdings for the year ending 31 March 2019 are shown below:

Unfettered
holding as Total holding a5
percentage of a percentage

Guideline as Unfettered basic salary at Total of hasic salary at

percentage of Guideline holding at 31 March 2019 shareholding at 31 March 201%
Executive Directar basic salary holding' 31 March 2019 %) 31 March 2019? %)
Chris Grigg 225% 327,301 1,258,701 865 1.320,436 908
Simen Carter 150% 123514 47,719 58 134,185 163
“expecied as at
30 June 2019
Charles Maudsley 150% 115,919 229,037 296 262,557 340
Tirn Roberts 150% 115,919 231,904 300 266,583 345

1. Cateulated on a share price of 589 pence an 29 March 201%
2. See Directars’ shareholdings table above which include MSP Bonus Shiares and all shares held in the SIP

Acquisitions of ordinary shares after the year end
The Executive Directors have purchased or been granted the follewng fully paid ordinary British Land shares under the terms of the
partnership, matching and dividend elements of the Share Incentive Plan:

Date of purchase
Executive Director or award Purchase price Partnership shares Matching shares Dividend shares
Chris Grigg 15/04/19 608.40p 25 50
03/05/19 400.50p 147
14/05/19 564.01p 27 54
Sirnon Carter 15/04/19 408.40p 4 48
03/05/19 400.50p 4
14/05/19 364.01p 27 54

Other than as set out above, there have been no further changes since 31 March 2019.
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D/RECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Unvested share awards

Numbesr Subject to End of

qutstanding at perfarmance parfarmance
Executive Director Date of grant 31 March 201% measures pariod Vesting date
Chris Grigg LTIP performance shares* 22/06/16 229.979 Yes 31/03/19 22/06/19
LTIP performance shares 28/06/17 340,264 Yes 31/03/20 28/06/20
LTIP performance shares 26/06/18 313,984 Yes 31/03/21 26/08/21
MSP Matching Shares' 29/08/16 96,718 Yes 31/03/19 29/06/19
Simon Carter LTIP performance shares 26/06/18 177,733 Yes /031 26/08/21
Charles Maudsley LTIP performance shares' 221066 122176 Yes 31/03/19 22/06/19
LTIP performance shares 28/08/17 180,765 Yes 31/03/20 28/06/20
LTIP performance shares 26/06/18 164,804 Yes 303/ 26/06/21
MSP Matching Shares' 29/06/16 47,206 Yes 31/03/19 29/06/19
Tim Roberts LTIP performance shares! 220414 £1,088 Yes 31/a3N19 22/06/19
LTIP performance shares 2B/0D&/17 180,745 Yes 31/03/20 28/06/20
LTIP performance shares 26/06/18 166,804 Yes 31/03/31 26/06/21
MSP Matching Shares’ 29/0616 44,054 Yes 31/03/19 29/06/1%

1. The LTIP and MSP awards granted in June 2016 are alse included within the "2019 Long terrn incentives’ column of the single total figure of remuneration table
on page 9%. The degree to which performance measures have been or are expected to he achieved, and the resuitant proportions of the awards expected to vest. are
detailed on page 102

Unvested option awards [not available to be exercised)

Number Subject to Endof
outstanding at Option price performance performance Date becomes
Executive Director Date of grant 31 March 201% pence measures period exercisable Exercisable until
Tim Roberts  Sharesave oplions 23/06/14 3135 574.0 No na 01/09/19 '29/02/20
LTIP options 22/06/14 244,393 730.5 Yes 3146319 22/06019 22/06/26
Vested option awards [available to be exercised)
. Number
) nutslan:i'::gai Qption price
Executive Director Date of grant 31 March 2019 pence  Exercisable until
Chris Grigg LTIP options ' 11/046/10 1,073,825 447 11/06/20
LTIP options 28/06/114 695,652 575 28/06/21
LTIP options 14/09/12 743,694 538 14/09/22

Options exercised during the year ended 31 March 2019

Market price on

Number Optionprice Date becamw daie of exercise
Executive Director Date of grant exercised pence exercisable  Dateexercised pence
Tim Roberts Sharesave options 19/06/13 2.348 511.00 11/09/18 (3/09/18 623.60.20

Payments to past Directors and for loss of office (audited)

As disclosed in the 2018 Directors’ Remuneration Report, in October 2017 Lucinda Bell informed the Board of her intention to stand down
fram the Board, and following the completion of the search for her replacement, stood down from the Board on 12 January 2018 and left
the Company on 4 April 2018. The treatment of her remuneration arrangements upen leaving the Company were disclosed in full on page
86 of the 2018 Annual Report. During the year ending 31 March 2019 British Land has therefore made the following payments in line with
the treatment disclosed:

- Apayment in liey of notice for the period from when she (eft the company to the end of her notice period totalling £309 895.
- Apayment of £27.494 in lieu of untaken holiday and £100 in respect of accepting the terms on leaving.
~ The bonus in respect of the year ending 31 March 2018 which totalled £457,702 of which one-third was used to purchase shares which

must be held for 3 years. Following the publication of the final TPR benchmark, the total bonus payout to Lucinda was revised from the
estimate disclosed in the 2018 Report to ¢. 93% of salary.

~ The vesting of the 2014 MSP award which vested at 80% of maximum and had a value of £151,723.

0n 21 January 2019 we announced that Tim Roberts and Charles Maudsley would be standing down from the Board of the British Land
Campany PLC {the Companyl en 31 March 2019. Charles Maudsley ceased to be a Director of the Company and left the Company on

31 March 2019. Tim Roberts ceased to be a Director of the Company on 31 March 2319 and will rernain an employee until 31 July 2019.
He will continue to be employed on his existing terms until his planned departure date of 31 July 2019. During this period, he will continue
to receive his salary and employment benefits in full, He wilt also be eligible for 3 bonus on a pro-rated basis whilst actively employed.

Following ceasing employment each will receive monthty payments in lieu of notice for the remainder of thetr 12 menths’ notice periods
[to 21 January 20200
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(i) Tim Roberts

The total amount payable for the periad following ceasing employment for the remainder of the notice period comprises base salary and
car altowance of £224,696, pension contributions/ailowance of £43,381 and the value of other benefits of £1,946. These payments may be
reduced by the value of any alternative paid employment secured during the period until 21 January 2020.

Tim Roberts was also eligible for an annual bonus far the 2018/19 financial year. This bonus has been estimated to be £250,983 and is
included in the table on page 99. In line with the terms of the Directors’ Remuneration Policy, two-thirds of any annual bonus will be paid
in cash and ore-third will be used to purchase British Land shares which must be held for a period of three years.

Tim Roberts will be treated as a "good leaver™ under the Company's Lang Term incentive Plan and Matching Share Plan. Conseguently,
awards [including the value of any dividend equivalents] will continue to vest on the normal vesting dates subject o the extent to which
the applicable performance criteria have been met and where relevant any time prorating reduction that the Remuneration Committee
rnay apply:

1. A maximum of 41,088 Perfermance Shares and 244,353 aptions [with an exercise price of 730.5p per share] may vest under the 2016
LTIP awards and 45,056 shares under the 2016 MSP awards. The 2016 LTIP awards are expected to lapse as the expectation is that the
minimum performance targets will not be met.

2. A maxirnum of 180,765 Performance Shares may vest under the 2017 LTIP awards.

3. Amaximum of 166.804 Performance Shares may vest under the 2018 LTIP awards.

Tim Roberts will not be eligible to receive fusther LTIP awards and, on ceasing to be employed, will cease to participate in the Company's
all-employee share plans.

A contripution towards legal fees has been made of £10,000 plus VAT,

(il Charles Maudsley

The total amount payable for the peried following ceasing employrnent for the remainder cf the notice period comprises base salary and
car allewance of £382,671, pension contributions/allowance of £553,36% and the value of other benefits of £3,310. These payments may be
reduced by the value of any alternative paid employment secured during the period until 21 January 2020.

Charles Maudsley was alsa eligible for an annual bonus for the 2018/19 financial year. This bonus has been estimated to be £250,983 and
is included in the tabte on page 99. In line with the terms of the Directors” Remuneration Pelicy, two-thirds of any annual bonus will be paid
in cash and one-third will be used to purchase British Land shares which must be held for a period of three years.

Charles Maudsley has been treated as a ‘good leaver under the Company’s Long-Term Incentive Plan and Matching Share Plan.
Consequently, awards (including the vaiue of any dividend equivalents] will continue to vest on the normal vesting dates subject to the
extent to which the applicable performance criteria have been met. These awards have been reduced by the relevant time pro-rating
reductions that the Remuneration Committee has apptied of 8% for the 2016 awards, 42% for the 2017 L_TIP awards and 75% for the 2018
LTIP awards:

1. A maximum of 111,994 Performance Shares may vest under the 2014 LTIP awards and 43,272 shares under the 20146 MSP awards.
The 2016 LTIP awards are expected to lapse as the expectation is that the minimum performance targets will not be met.

2. A maximum of 105,444 Performance Shares may vest under the 2017 LTIP awards.

3. A maxirnum of 41,701 Performance Shares may vest under the 2018 LTIP awards.

Other disclosures

Service contracts
All Executive Oirectors have rolling service contracts with the Company which have notice periods of 12 maonths an either side.

Normal notice period Normal notice period
Director Date of service coniract 1o be given by Company ta be given by Directer
Chris Grigg 19/12/2008 12 months 12 months
Simon Carter 18/01/2018 12 months 12 months

In accordance with the Code, all continuing Directors stand for election or re-election by the Company's shareholders an an annual basis.
The Directors’ service contracts are available for inspection during normal business hours at the Company’s registered office and at the
Annual General Meeting, The Company may terminate an Executive Director’s appointment with immediate effect withoul notice or
payment in tieu of notice under certain circumstances, prescribed within the Executive Director’'s service contract.
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT CONTINUED

Executive Directors’ external appointments
Executive Directors may take up one non-executive directorship at another FTSE company, subject ta British Land Board approval.

Chris Grigg was appointed a non-executive director of BAE Systemns plc on 1 July 2013, During the year to 31 March 2019, Chris received
afee of £92,640 (including £12,640 of overseas travel allowances and benefits deemed to be taxable} from BAE Systems ple, which he
retained in full (2018: £85,845].

Relative impartance of spend on pay

The graph below shows the amount spent an remuneration of all employees [including Executive Directors] relative to the amount spent
on distributions to shareholders for the years to 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018. The remuneration of employees decreased by 588%
relative to the prior year. As a result of the share buyback, the total cost of distributions to shareholders decreased by 1% despite a 3%
increase in dividends per share. Distributions to shareholders include ordinary and, where offered, scrip dividends, No scrip alternative was
offered during the year ended 31 March 2019.

Relative importance of spend on pay

Total shareholder return and Chief Executive’s remuneration

The graph below shows British Land’s iotal shareholder return for the 10 years from T April 2009 to 31 March 2019 against that of the FTSE
Real Estate investment Trusts [REIT] Total Return Index tor the same geriod. The graph shows how the total return on a £100 investment
in the Company made on 1 April 2009 would have changed over the 10-year period. compared with the total return on a £100 investment in
the FTSE REIT Total Return Index. The FTSE REIT Total Return Index has been selected as a suitable comparater because it is the index in
which British Land’s shares are classified.

Total shareholder return

400

300 //\
] - — T
200 7/ /

et

100

Q1 April 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2009 2010 201 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

— The British Land Company PLC — FTSE All-Share REIT's Sector

The base point required by the regulations gaverning Remuneration Report disclosures was ctose to the bottorn of the property ¢ycle at
1 Aprit 2009. Since British Land's share price had not fallen as much as the average share price of the FTSE REITs sector at that time,
a higher base point ior subsequent growth was set.

The table below sets out the total remuneration of Chris Grigg, Chief Executive, over the same period as the Total Shareholder Return
graph. The quantum of Annual Incentive awards granted each year and long term incentive vesting rales are given as a percentage of the
maximum opportunity available.

Chief Executive 00910 010/11 01312 201213 200314 200415 2015016 2016117 201718 2018019
Chief Executive’s single total figure of

rernuneration (£000] 2082 2329 5353 4810 5398 4551 3423 1938 2279 1977
Annual Incentive awards against

maximum oppartunity (%] Y 83 75 75 90 94 &7 33 63 3a
Long term incentive awards vesting rale

against maximum opportunity [%] na na 99 63 98 93 54 15 16 19
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CEO pay ratio

Whilst the new CEQ pay ratio regulations do not technically apply to the Company until the 2020 Directors’ Rernuneration Report,

we have prepared and voluntarily disclosed the ratio far 2017/18 and 2018/19 in line with the regulatians, The ratios are set out in the
table below. In calcutating this information we have used the gender pay gap data calculated for each employee to provide consistency,
The table betow shows that the ratio has fallen since 2017/18. This fall is predominantly due to the lower level of the CEO single figure
rather than movements in employee pay. The Committee Chairman has provided an explanation of the relationship between reward and
perfarmance on page 88,

CED pay ratio 2017118 2018/19
Method B B
CED Single figure 2279 1,976
Upper quartile 231 16:1
Median 351 27:1
Lower quartile 50:1 40:1

The salary and total pay for the individuals identified at the Lower guartile, Median and Upper quartile pesitions in 2018/19 are set
out below:

2018/1% CEO pay ratio Salary Total pay
Upper guartile £65,000 £126,266
Median £50,000 £74,225
Lower quartile £48,000 £49,760

Chief Executive's remuneration compared to remuneration of British Land employees
The table below shows the percentage changes in different elements of the Chief Executive’s remuneration relative to the previous
financial year and the average percentage changes in thase elements of remuneration for employees.

Value of Chief Executive Value of Chief Executive Change in Chief Executive Average change in remunaration
Remuneration element remuneration 2019 €000 remuneration 2018 £000 remuneration % of British Land emplayees %
Salary 857 840 2.00 560
Taxable benefits Al 22 -5.10 -0.32
Annual Incentive 460 792 -41.96 -4.53

Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration laudited)
The table below shows the fees paid to our Non-Executive Directors for the years ended 31 March 2019 and 2018:

Fees Taxabte benefils’ Total

7019 2018 2019 018 201% 018
Chairman and Non-Executive Directars €000 €000 €000 €009 €000 £000
John Gildersieeve [Chairman) 385 349 &4 43 449 412
Lynn Gladden 71 49 - 1 72 70
Alastair Hughes [from 1 January 2018 73 17 - - 73 17
William Jackson 105 100 - - 105 100
Nicholas Macpherson 7 &9 - - n 69
Preben Prebensen [from 1 September 2017| il 40 - - KAl 40
Timn Score 95 93 - - 95 93
Laura Wade-Gery 71 69 1 1 72 70
Rebecca Worthingtan {from 1 January 2018] 73 17 1 - 74 17

1. Taxable benefits include the Chairman’s chauffeur cost and expenses incurred by other Non-Executive Direclors. The Company provides the tax gross up on these
benefits and the figures shown above are the grassed up values
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORYT CONTINUED

Shareholding (audited)

Although there are no shareholding guidelines for Non-Executive Directars, they are each encouraged to hold shares in British Land. The
Company fatititaies this by offering Non-Executive Directors the ability to purchase shares quarterly using their post-tax fees. During the
year ended 31 March 2019. Lynn Gladden, William Jackson, Tim Score and Laura Wade-Gery have each received shares in full or part
satisfaction of their Non-Executive Directars’ fees,

The table below shows the Non-Executive Directors’ shareholdings, including shares held by connected persons, as at year end or the date
of retirernent from the Board if earlier:

Holding at Holding at
Directar 31 March 2019 31 March 2008
John Gildersleeve 5,220 5,220
Lynn Gladden 18,339 13,950
Alastair Hughes 7.274 7,276
Williarm Jackson 135,115 128,123
Nicholas Macpherson 5,600 4,600
Preben Prebensen 20,000 -
Tim Score 43,899 3434
Laura Wade-Gery 9,585 8,059
Rebecca Worthington 3,000 3.000

In addition, on 5 April 2019, the following Nan-Executive Oirectors were allotled shares at a price of 599.20688 pence per share in full or
part satisfaction of their fees:

Non-Executive Director Shares allotted
William Jackson 2,310
Tim Score 2,286

Other than as set out above, there have been no further changes since 31 March 2019,

Letters of appointment (audited)
Atl Non-Executive Directars have a letter of appointrnent with the Company. The effective dates of appointment are shown below:

Director Effective date of agpointmem

John Gildersleeve [Chairman) 1 September 2008 {Non-Executive Director]. 1 January 2019 (Chairman]
Lynn Gladden 22 March 2018

Alastair Hughes 1 Januvary 2018

Willigm Jacksagn 11 April 2017

Nicholas Macpherson 19 December 2014

Preben Prebensen 1 Sepiember 2017

Tim Score 23 March 217

Laura Wade-Gery 13 May 2018

Rebecca Worthington 1 January 2018

All continuing Non-Executive Directors stand for etection or re-election on an annual basis. The latters of appeintment are available for
nspection during normal business hours at the Company's registered office and at the AGM.

The appointment of the Chairman or any Non-Executive Directors may be lerminated immediately without notice if they are not reappointed
by shareholders or if they are removed from the Board under the Company's Articles of Association ar if they resign and da not offer
themselves for re-election. In addition, appointments may be terminated by either the individual or the Company giving three months’
written notice ot termination or, for the current Chairman, six mortths’ written notice of termination.

Remuneration Committee membership
There was no change to the Committee membership during the year to 31 March.

As at 31 March 2019, and throughout the year under review, the Committee was cornprised wholly of independent Non-Executive Directors.
The members of the Cammiltee, together with attendance at Cammittee meetings, ace set out in the table belaw:

Date of appointment

Director Position flo the Committee} Attendance
William Jackson Chairmnan 14 January 2013 7
Lynn Gladden Member 20 March 2015 717
Preben Prebensen Member t September 2017 7/7
Laura Wade-Gery Member 13 May 2015 7

108 British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019



During the year ended 31 March 2019, Committee meetings were also part attended by John Gildersleeve [Company Chairmanl,

Chris Grigg [Chief Executivel, Simon Carter [Chief Financial Officer], Charles Maudsley [Executive Director), Bruce James (Head of
Secretariat), Brona McKeown (General Counsel and Company Secretaryl, Ann Henshaw [HR Directort and Kelly Barry {Head of Rewardl
ather than for any item relating 1o their own remuneration. A representative from Korn Ferry also routinely attends Committee meetings.

The Committee Chatrman holds regular meetings with the Chairman, Chief Executive and HR Director to discuss alt aspects of
rermnuneration within British Land. He also meets the Committee’s independent remuneration advisers, Korn Ferry, prior to each
substantive meeting to discuss matters of governance, Remuneration Policy and any concerns they may have.

How the Committee discharged its responsibilities during the year
The Committee’s role and responsibilities have remained unchanged during the year and are sei out in full in its terms of reference
which can be found on the Company's wehbsite: britishland.com/committees. The Committee’s key areas of responsibility are:

- setting the Remuneration Policy for Executive Directors and the Company Chairman; reviewing the Remuneration Policy and strategy
for members of the Executve Committee and other members of executive management, whitst having regard fo pay and employment
conditions across the Group

- determining the total individual remuneration package of each Executive Director, Executive Committee member and other members
of management

- monitoring performance against conditions attached to all annwal and long term incentive awards o Executive Directors, Executive
Committee and other members of management and approving the vesting and payment outcomes of these arrangements

- selecting, appointing and setting the terms of reference of any independent remuneration consultants,

In addition ta the Commitlee’s key areas of responsibility, during the year ended 31 March 2019, the Cormrnittee also considered the

following matters:

- reviewing and recommending to the Board the Remuneration Report to be presented for shareholder approval

- appraisal of the Chairman’s annual fee; remuneration of the Executive Directars including achievernent of corporate and individual
performance; and pay and annual incentive awards below Board-ltevel

- considering the extent to which performance measures have been met and, where appropriate, approving the vesting of Annual Incentive
and long term incentive awards

- granting discretionary share awards; reviewing and setting perfarmance measures for Annual Incentive awards

- considering the impact of the share buyback an incentive plans

- reviewing the Committee’s terms of reference

- considering gender pay gap repariing requirements

- departure terms lor Charles Maudsley

- departure terms for Tim Roberts

- receiving updates and training on corporate governance and remuneration matiers from the independent remuneration consultant.

For the year ahead, the Committee’s terms of reference have been updated to reflect changes in the UK Corporate Governance Code.
These include ensuring alignment of the remuneration policy with the Company’s purpose and culture, setting the remuneration for
senior management and considering alignment of pension cantributions af the warklarce, Executive Directors and senior management.

Remuneration consultants

Korn Ferry was appointed as independent remuneration adviser by the Committee on 21 March 2017 otlowing a competitive tender
process. Korn Ferry is 3 member of the Remuneration Consultants Group and adheres to that group’s Code of Conduct. The Committee
assesses the advice given by its advisers to satisfy itself that it is objective and independent. The advisers have private discussions with the
Committee Chairman at teast once a year in accordance with the Code of Conduct of the Remuneration Consultants Group. Fees, which
are charged on a time and materials basis, were £211,298 (excluding VATL Korn Ferry atso provided general remunerztion advice to the
Company during the year.

Voting at the Annual General Meeting

The table below shows the voting outcames of the resolutions put to shareholders regarding the Directors’ Remuneration Report at the
AGM in July 2018) and the Remuneration Policy {at the AGM in July 2014].

Resotution Vates tor % for Votes against % against  Total votes cast Vates withheld
Directors’ Remuneration Report [2018) 718,283,375 95.46 34197587 494 752,480,962 1,400,399
Directors’ Remuneration Policy [2015] 722,144,638 97.13 21,494,166 2.87 748,638,804 7,849,489

This Remuneration Report was approved by the Board on 14 May 2019.

William Jackson
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
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DIRECTORS' REPORT AND ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES

Directors’ Report and additional disclosures

The Oirectors present their Report on the affairs of the Group,
together with the audited financiel staterments and the report

of the auditor for the year ended 31 March 2019. The Directors’
Repart is alsa the Management Repart for the year ended

31 March 2019 for the purpose of Disclosure and Transparency
Rule £.1.8R. Infarmation that is relevant te this Report, and which
i incorporated by reference and including information required

in accordance with the UK Companies Act 2006 and or Listing Rule
9.8.4R, can be located in the following sections:

Section in Annual

Information Repart Page
Future developments of the Strategic Repart 4to23
business of the Company
Risk factors and principal risks  Strategic Report 54 to 61
Financial instruments - Strategic Report 511053
risk managemenl objectives
and policies
Dividends Strategic Report 49
Sustainability governance Strategec Report 62
Greenhouse gas emissions Strategic Report 45
Viability and going Strategic Repcrt 45 and 78
concern statements
Gavernance arrangements Governance 72 to 109
Employment policies and Sirategic Report 30 to 31
employee involvement
Capitalised interest Financial 133 and 141

statements
Additional vnaudited Other 184t 194
financiat information information

unaudited

Annual General Meeting (AGM)

The 2019 AGM will be held at 11.00am on 19 July 201% at
The Montcalm London Marble Arch, 2 Wallenberg Place,
London WTH 7TN.

A separate circular, comgrising a letter from the Chairman

aof the Board, Notice of Meeting and explanatary nates an the
resolutions being proposed, has been circulated to shareholders
and is available on our website britishland.com/agm

Articles of Association

The Company's Articles of Assaciation [Articles) may only

be armended by special resolution at a general meeting of
shareholders. Subject to applicable law and the Company's
Articles, the Directars may exercise all powers of the Company.

The Articles are available on the Company's website:
britishland.com/governance
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Board of Directors

The names and biggraphical details of the Direciors and details

of the Board Committees of which they are members are set out
on pages 8 to 71 and incerporated inte this Report by reference.
Changes to the Directors during the year and up to the date of this
Report are set out on page 72. The Company's current Articles
require any new Director to stand for election at the next AGM
following their appointment. However, in accordance with the Code
and the Company's current practice, ail continuing Directors offer
themselves for election or re-election, as required, at the AGM.

Details of the Directors’ interests in the shares of the Company
and any awards granted ta the Executive Directors under any of
the Company's all-emplayee or executive share schemes are given
tn the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 88 to 109. The
service agreements of the Executive Directors and the letters of
appaintment of the Non-Executive Qirectors are also summarised
in the Directars’ Remuneration Report and are available for
inspection at the Company's registered office.

The appointment and replacerrent of Directors is governed by
the Company’s Articles, the Code, the Campanies Act 2006 and
any related legislation. The Board may appoint any person to
be a Director so lang as the total number of Directors does not
exceed the limit prescribed in the Articles, In addition to any
power of removal conferred by the Companies Act 2006, the
Company may by ordinary resolution remove any Director
before the expiry of thair period of office.

Directors’ interests in contracts and conflicts

of interest

No contract existed during the year in relation to the Company’s
business in which any Director was materially interested.

The Company's procedures for managing conflicts of interest by
the Oirectors are set out on page 74. Provisions are atso contained
in the Company's Articles which aliow the Diractors to authorise
potential conflicts of interest.

Directors' liability insurance and indemnity

The Company maintains appropriate Oirectors’ & Officers’ liability
insurance ceverin respect of any potential legal actian brought
againstits Directors.

The Company has atso indemnified each Director to the extent
permitted by law against any liability incurred in relation to acts

or omigsions arising in the ordinary course of their duties. The
indemnity arrangements are qualifying indemnity provisions under
the Companies Act 2006 and were in force throughout the year.



Share capital

The Company has one class of shares, being ordinary shares
of 25 pence each, alt of which are fully paid. The rights and
obligations attached 1o the Company's shares are set out in the
Articles. There are no restrictions on the transfer of shares
excepl in relation i0 Real Estate Investment Trust restrictions.

The Directors were granted authority at the 2018 AGM 1o allot
relevant securities up to a nominal amount of £81,910,507 as
well as an additional authonty to allot shares to the same value
on a rights issue. This authority will apply until the conclusion of
the 2019 AGM. At this year's AGM, shareholders will be asked to
renew the avthority to allot relevant securities.

At the 2018 AGM, the Directors were also given power by the
sharehaolders 1o make market purchases of ordinary shares
representing up to 10% of its issued capital 2t that time, being
98,292,608 ordinary shares. This authority will also expire al the
2019 AGM and it is proposed that the renewal of the autharity
witl be sought.

In June 2018, the Board decided that following on from the sale
of 5 Broadgate, the strength of the investment market and the
convnuing discount in the Campany’s share price, the best use
of capital would be to extend the share buyback prograrmme.

As a result, during the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company
repurchased 33,672,430 ordinary shares of 25 pence each for an
aggregate consideration of £200m. This represents 3.55% of the
tssued share capital [excluding shares held in Treasury] at that
date. All shares repurchased during the year were cancelled,

The Company continued to hold 11,266,245 ordinary shares in
treasury during the whole of the year ended 31 March 201% and
to the date of this Report.

Further details relating to share capitat, including movements
during the year, are set out in note 20 to the financial statements
on pages 159 to 141.

Rights under an employee share scheme

Employee Benefit Trusts [EBTs) operate in connection with same
of the Company's zmployee share glans. The trustees of the EBTs
may exercise all rights attached to the Company's ordinary shares
in accordance with their fiduciary duties other than as specifically
resiricted in the documents which govern the relevant employee
share plan.

Waiver of dividends

Blest Limited acts as trustee {Trustee] of the Company's
discretionary Employee Share Trust {EST). The EST holds and,
trom time 1o time, purchases British Land ordinary shares in
the market, for the benefit of employees, including to satisfy
outstanding awards under the Company’s various executive
employee share plans. A dividend waiver s in place from the
Trustee in respect of all dividends payable by the Company on
shares which it holds in trust.

Substantial interests

All notifications made to British Land under the Disclosure

and Transparency Rutes (DTR 5] are published on a Regulatory
Information Service and made avarlabie on the Investors section
of our website.

As at 31 March 2019, the Company had been notified of the
following interests in its ordinary shares in accordance with DTR 5.
The information provided is carrect at the date of notification:

Interests in Perceniage
ordinary holding
shares disctosed %

86,740,206 10.00

BlackRaock, Inc.

Invesco Lid. 48,821,013 5.08
Norges Bank 48,606,089 5.01
GIC Private Limited 41,121,137 399
APG Asset Management N.V. 38.039.738 399

No notifications have been submitted to the Company since year end

Change of control

The Group's unsecured borrowing arrangements include
provisions that may enable each of the lenders or bondholders
to request repayment or have a put at par within a certain pericd
foltowing a change of control of the Campany. In the case of the
Sterting bond this arises if the change of control also results in
a rating downgrade to below investment grade. In the case of
the convertible bond there may also be an adjustrmeni to the
cenversion price applicable for a limited period following 2
change of control.

There are no agreements between the Cempany and its Directors
or employees providing for compensation for toss of office or
employment that oceurs specifically because of a takeover. merger
or amalgamation with the exception of provisions in the Company's
share plans which could result in eptions and awards vesting or
becoming exercisable on a change of control. All appeintment
letters for Non-Executive Directors will, as they are renewed,
contain a pravision that allows payment of their notice period in
certain limited circumstances, such as corporate transactions,
where the Company has terminated their appointment with
immeadiate effect,

Payments policy

We recognise the importance of good supplier relationships to
the overall success of our business. We manage dealings with
suppliers in a fair, consistent and transparent manner. For more
information please visit the Suppliers section of our website at
www britishland.co.uk/about-us/suppliers

Events after the balance sheet date

Details of subsequent events, if any, can be found in note 26
on page 144.

Political donations
The Company made no political donations during the year
f2018: ml).
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DIRECTORS REPORT AND AGDITIONAL DISCLOSURES CONTINUED

Our gender split
2019 2018 017
Mate Female Male Female Male Famale
British Land
Group 266 2BL 359 338 346 313
of which
are Board 10 3 9 3 10 3
ol which are

senior managers 71 35 71 35 [ 30

Figures expressed as full time equivalent

Inclusive culture

British Land employees are committed to promoting an
inclusive, positive and collabarative culture. We treat everyone
equally irrespective of age, sex, sexual orientation, race, colour,
nationality, ethnic origin, religion, religious or other philosophical
belief, dicability, gender identity, gender reassignment, maritat or
civil partner status, or pregnancy or maternity.

Community investment

Qur financrat donations to good causes during the year totatled
£1.424,000 (2018: £1,687,000). Gur Community fnvestment
Committee approves all expenditure from our Community
Investment Fund.

In addition. the Company also supporis tundraising and payroll
gwving for causes that matter to staff. The support provided for
the year ended 31 March 2019 includes:

- 50% uplift of British Land staff payrotl giving contributions
lcapped at £5,000 per person and £50,000 per annum for the
whole organisation); and

- A staff matched funding pledge, matching money raised for
charity by British LLand staff up te £750 per person per year.

Our cammunity investrent is guided by our Local Charter, working
with local partners to make a lasting positive difference:

- connecting with local communities

- supporting educational initiatives for lacal people

- supperting local traning and jobs

- supporting locat businesses

- contributing te local people’s wellbeing and enjoyment.

Through our community investment and Local Charter activity, we
connect with communities where we operate, make puositive local
contributions, help people fulfil their potential, help businesses

grow, and promote wellbeing and enjoyrnent. This all supports our
strateqgy to create Places Peaple Prefer.

Fishing for plastic in the River Thames on a boat made from recycled plastic;
@ project run by Hubbub, a behaviour change charity supported by one of our
trustee valynteers
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Health and safety

We have retained formal recognition of our focus on health

and safety through a successful audit of cur OHSAS 18001
accreditation. We continue to improve our approach to health

and safety management to ensure that we consistently achieve
best practice across all activities in the business (construction,
managed portfolio and head affice) to deliver Places People Prefer
to our employees and our customers.

Tatal RIDDOR
incrderks Injury rate

2019 2018 2019 2018
Construction 4 3 012 013 per 100,000
hours worked
Retail 18 3 007 001 per 100,000
footfall
Offices 4 4 1417 1288 per 100,000
workers
Head Office 0 0 1} 0 per 100,000 full

time equivalents

* Reporting of injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regutations 2013

Auditor and disclosure of information
Each of the Directors at the date of approval of this Report
confirms that:

- s0 far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit
information that has not been brought to the attention of
the auditor

- the Director has taken all steps that he/she should have taken
to make himself/herself aware of any retevant audit information
and ta establish that the Company’s auditor was aware of
that information.

PwC has indicated its willingness to remain in office and. an the
recommendztion of the Audit Committee, a resolution to reappoint
PwC as the Company's auditor will be proposed at the 2619 AGM.

The Directors’ Report was approved by the Board on 14 May 2019
and signed on its behalf by:

rona MK

Brona McKeown

General Counsel and Company Secretary
The British Land Company PLC
Company Number: 621920




DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report
and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law
and regulatian.

Company law requires the Directers to prepare financial
staternents for each financial year. Under that law the Directors
have prepared the Group financial statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs] as adapted by
the European Union and the parent Company financial statements
in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounlting
Practice [United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising

FRS 101 "Reduced Disclosure Framework”, and applicable lawl.

Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and Company and

of the profit or loss of the Group and Campany for that peried.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are

required to:

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply
them consistently

- state whether applicable IFRSs as adopted by the European
Unson have been followed for the Groug financial statements
and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS
101, have been followed for the parent Company financial
statements, subject to any material departures disclosed
and explained in the financial statements

- make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable
and prudent

- prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis
unless it is inappropriate io presume that the Group and
Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting
records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group and
Campany’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy
al any time the financial position of the Group and Company

and enable them to ensure that the financial statements and the
Directors’ Remuneration Report compty with the Companies Act
2006 and, as regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of
the IAS Regulation,

The Directors are aiso responsible for safeguarding the assets of
the Group and Campany and hence for taking reasonable steps
for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity
of the Company's websile. Legislation in the United Kingdom
governing the preparation and dissemingtion of financiat
staternents may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

The Directors consider that the Annuzal Report and Accounts,
taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable and
provides the information necessary for shareholders o assess
the Group and the Company’s pesition and perfarmance,
business model and strategy.

Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are listed in the
Board of Directors an pages 68 to 71, confirm that, to the best of
their knowledge:

- the Company financial statements, which have been prepared in
accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice [United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising
FRS 101 "Reduced Disclosure Framework™, and applicable lawl,
give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial
position and profit of the Company

- the Group financial statements, which have been prepared in
accerdance with IFRSs as adopted by the Eurapean Union, give
a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and
loss of the Group

- the Strategic Report and the Oirectors’ Report include a fair
review of the development and performance of the business
and the position of the Group and Company, together with a
description of the principai risks and uncertainties that it faces.

By arder of the Board.

Ly

Simon Carter

Chief Financial Officer
14 May 2019
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100 Liverpool
Street

Reinvesting in East London

We have carefully managed the redevelopment of 100 Liverpoal Street
to directly benefit people and businesses in the local community. Rather
than purchasing everything nationally, 58% of construction spend so far
- £59m - has been invested within the City and neighbouring boroughs,
ensuring that this project directly benefits focal businesses in financial
terms. £43m of the gverall construction spend has gone to small and
medium sized enterprises, boosting growth.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

T

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
In our apinion:

- The British Land Company PLC's Group financial statements and
Company financial statements [the “financial statements”] give a
true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Company's
affairs as at 31 March 2019 and of the Group's loss and cash flows
for the year then ended;

- the Group financial statements have been praperly pregared in
accordance with \nternational Financiat Reporting Standards
(IFRSs] as adopted by the European Union;

- the Company financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with United Kingdom Generalty Accepted Accounting
Practice [United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS
101 "Reduced Disclosure Framewark”, and applicable law]; and

- the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
the requirernents of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the
Group financial statements, Article 4 of the |AS Regulation.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annualt

Repart and Accounts 20179 lthe "Annual Report’l, which camprise:

- the Consoclidated balance sheet as at 31 March 2019;

- the Company balance sheet as at 31 March 2019;

- the Consclidated income statement for the year ended
31 March 2019;

- the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
ended 31 March 2019;

- the Consolidated statemeni of cash flows for the year ended

31 March 2019:

the Consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year ended

31 March 2019,

- the Company statement of changes in equity for the year ended
31 March 2019:

- and the notes to the financial statements, which include a
description of the significant accounting policies.

Our opinion is consistent with cur reperting to the Audit Committee.

Basis for apinicn

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing {UK] ("ISAs (UK]"l and applicable law, Our responsibilities
under ISAs {UK] are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities
for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the Group in accordance with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in the UK, which includes the FRC's Ethical Standard, as
applicable to listed public interest entities, and we have fulfitled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these reguirements.

To the best of our knowledge and betief, we declare that non-audit
services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical Standard were nat provided
to the Group or the Company.

Other than those disclosed in note S to the financial statements, we
have provided no non-audit services to the Group or the Company in
the period from 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019.
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Indeﬁendent auditors’ report to the members of
he British Land Company PLC

Our audit approach

Overview

Materiality

- Overall Group materiatity: £122.5 million (2018 £131.8 million],
based on 1% of total assets.

- Specific Graup materiality: £16.9 million (2018: £19.6 million],
which represents 5% of undertying pre-tax profits. This is applied
ta the underlying profit and loss colume.

- Overall Company materiality: £110.4 million [2018: £119.0 million,
based on 1% of total assets.

Audit scoping

- We tailored the scope of cur audit to ensure that we performed
encugh work to be able to give an opinion on the financial
statements as a whotle. The Group financial statemnents are
prepared on a consolidated basis, and the audit team carrigs out
an audit over the consolidated Group balances in support of the
Group audit apinian. The follawing joint ventures are also audited
to Group materiality: Broadgate and Meadowhall.

Key audit matters
- Valuation of investment and development properties [Group).

- Revenue recognition [Group).
- Accounting for transactions (Groupl.
- Taxation (Groupl.

The scope of our audit

As part of designing our audit, we determined matenality and
assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial
staternents. In particuwlar, we tooked at where the directors made
subjective judgements, for example in respect aof srgnificant
accounting estimates that invelved making assumptions and
considering future events that are inherently uncertain.

Capability of the audit in detecting irreqularities, including fraud
Based on our understanding of the Group and industry, we identified
that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws and regulations
related to compliance with the Real Estate Investment Trust [REIT)
status section 1198 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 and the UK

and European regulatory principles, such as those governed by

the Financial Conduct Authority, and we considered the extent to
which non-compliance might have a material effect on the financial
statements of the Group and Company.

We also considered those [aws and regulations that have a

direct impact on the preparation of the financial statements

such as the Companies Act 2006 and the UK tax legislation.

We evaluated management’s incentives and opportunities for
fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements [including the
risk of override of controlsl, and determined that the principal risks
were related to posting inappropriate journal entries to increase
revenue or reduce expenditure, and management bias in accounting
estimates and judgmental areas of the financial statements such as
the valuation of investment properties. Audit procedures performed
by the Group engagement team auditors included:

- Discussions with management and internal audit. including
consideration of known er suspected instances of non-compliance
with laws and regulations and fraud, and review of the reporis
made by management and internal audit;

- Understanding of management’s internal controls designed to
prevent and detect irregularities, risk-based monitoring of
customer processes;



- Inguired of management af any instances of non-compliange with
laws and regulations, fraud and matters reported on the Group’s
whistleblowing helpline;

- Reviewing relevant meeting minutes;

- Review of tax compliance with the involvement of aur tax
specialists in the audit;

- Designing audit procedures to incorporate unpredictability cver
the nature, timing or extent of our testing of expenses;

- Procedures relating to the vatuation of investment properties
described in the related key audit matter below; and

- |dentifying and testing journal entries, in particular any journat
entries posted with unusual account combinations, pasted by
unexpected users and posted an unexpected days.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described
above and the further remaved non-cormpliance with laws and
regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in the
financial statements, the less tikely we would become aware of it.

Key audit matter

Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud
is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for exampte, forgery or
intentional misrepresentations, or through collusicn.

Key audit matters

Key audit maiters are those matters that, in the auditors’
professianal judgement, were of most significance in the audit of
the financial statements of the current pericd and include the mast
signiticant assessed risks of material misstatement fwhether or not
due to fraud] identified by the auditors, including those which had
the greatest effect on. the overall audit strategy; the allocation of
resgurces in the audit: and directing the efforts of the engagement
team. These matters, and any comments we make on the results of
our procedures thereon, were addressed in the context of our audit
of the financial staterments as a whole, and in forming our opinion
therecn, and we do nat provide a separate opinion on these matters.
This is not 3 complete list of all risks identified by our audit.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of investment and development properties - Group

Refer to page 82 [Report of the Audit Committee], pages 128 to 130
[Accounting policies| and page 131 to 146 [Notes to the Accounts).

The Group's investrment property portfolio is split between office and
residential properties in Central London, retail and leisure properties
across the UK, developments and the assets at the Canada Water
site in East London. The valuation in the Consolidated Balance Sheet
i5 £8,931 mullion.

The valuation of the Group's investment property portfolio is
inherently subjective due to, among other factors, the individual
nature of each property. its location and the expected future rentals
for that particular property. For developments, factors include
prajected costs to complete and timing of practical completion.

The valuations were carried out by third party valuers, CB Richard
Ellis, Jones Lang LaSalle. Cushman and Wakefield and Knight Frank
[the "valuers™]. The valuers were engaged by the Directors, and
performed their work in accordance with the Royal Institute of
Chartered Surveyors ["RICS")} Valuation - Professional Standards.
The valuers used by the Group have considerable experience of the
rnarkets in which the Group operates.

In determining a property's valuation the valuers take into account
property-specific information such as the current tenancy agreements
and rental income. They apply assumptions for yields and estimated
market rent, which are influenced by prevailing market yields and
comparable market transactions, to arrive at the final valuation. For
developments, the residual appraisal method is used, by estimating
the fair value of the completed project using a capitatisation method
less estimated costs to completion and a risk premium,

The significance of the estimates and judgements involved, coupled
with the fact that only a small percentage difference in individual
property valuations, when aggregated. could result in a material
misstatement, warrants specific audit focus in this area.

There were alsa certain specific factors affecting the valuations in
the year. Properties under development, completed developments
that are now valued as standing investment properties and standing
invesiment properties that have been reclassitied to development
properties, continue ta be an area of focus.

We read the valuation reports for all the properties and confirmed
that the valuation approach for each was in accordance with RICS
standards and suitable for use in determining the carrying value for
the purpase of the financial statemeants.

We assessed the valuers’ qualifications and expertise and read their
terms of engagement with the Group to determine whether there
were any matters that might have affected their objectivity or may
have imposed scope limitations upon their wark. We alse considered
fee arrangements between the valuers and the Group and other
engagements which might exist between the Group and the valuers.
We found no evidence to suggest that the objectivity of the valuersin
their performance of the valuations was compromised.

We obtained delails of each property held by the Group and set an
expected range for yield and capital value movement, determined

by reference to published benchmarks and using our experience and
knowledge of the market. We compared the investment yields used
by the vzluers with the range ot expected yields and the year on

year capital movement to our expected range. We also considered
the reasonableness of other assumptions that are not so readily
comparable with published benchmarks, such as Estimated

Rental Yalue.

We attended meetings with management and the valuers, at which
the valuations and the key assumptions therein were discussed.

Our work covered the valuation of each property in the Group, but
the discussions with management and the valuers focused on the
largest properties in the portfolio, properties under development or
where the valuation basis has changed in the year, the Canada Water
site and those where the yields used and / or year an year capital
value movernent suggested a possible outlier versus externally
published market data for the relevant sector.

Where assumptions were outside the expected range or
otherwise appeared unusual, and / or valuations showed
unexpected movemnents, we undertook further investigations

and, when necessary, held further discussions with the valuers
and obtained evidence to suppart explanations received. The
valuation commentaries provided by the valuers and supporting
evidence, enabled us ta consider the property specific factors that
may have had an impact on value, including recent corparable
transactions where appropriate.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Independent auditors’ report to the members
of The British Land Company PLC continued

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of investment and development properties ~ Group
continued

We saw evidence that alternative assumptions had been considered
and evaluated by management and the valuers, befare determining
the finat valuation. We cancluded that the assurnptions used in the
valuations were supportable in light of available and comparable
market evidence.

We performed testing on the standing data in the Group's information
systems concerning the valuation process. We carried out procedures,
on a sample basis, to satisfy ourselves of the accuracy of the
property information supplied to the valvers by management. For
developments, we confirmed that the supporting information for
construction contracts and budgets, which was supplied to the
valuers, was also consistent with the Group’s recards for example
by inspecting original construction contracts. For developments,
capitalised expenditure was tested on a sample basis to invoices,
and budgeted costs to complete compared with supporting evidence
[for example construction contracts).

It was evident from our interaction with managerment and the
valuers, and from our review of the valuation reports, that close
attention had been paid to each property’s individual characteristics
at a granular, tenant by tenant level, as well as considering the
overall quality, geographic location and desirability of the asset as

a whole. No issues were identified in our testing.

Revenue recagnition - Group

Reler to page 82 [Report of the Audit Committeel, pages 128 to 130
{Accounting policies] and page 132 [Notes to the Accounts).

Revenue for the Group consists primarily of rental income. Rental
income is basad on tenancy agreements where there is a standard

process in place for recording revenue, which is system generated.

There are certain transactiocns within revenue that warrant
addtional audit tocus because of an increased inherent risk of
error due to their non-standard nature.

These include spreading of tenant incentives and guaranteed rent
increases - these balances require adjustments made to rental
income to ensure revenue is recorded on a straight line basis over
the course of the lease.

We carried out tests of controls over the cash and accounts
receivable processes and the related 1T systems to obtain evidence
that pastings to these accounts were reliable. For rental income
balances, we then used data-enabled audit technigues te identify
all standard revenue journals posted using these systems

and processes.

The remaining joeurnals related to non-standard transactions.
These included reclassifications within revenue, accrued income,
and bad debt provisions. For each category of non-standard
revenue summarised above, we have understaod the nature and
assessed the reasonableness of journals being generated, and
performed substantive testing aver a sample of these items. There
weren't any exceptions arising from our testing over non-standard
revenue transaciions.

For balances not included within rental income, such as service
charge income, we performed substantive testing on 2 sample
basis. No issues were identified in our testing.
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Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Accounting for transactions - Group

Refer to page 82 (Report of the Audit Committeel, pages 128 to 130
{Accounting policies) and pages 131 to 1466 [Notes).

There have been a number of transactions during the year. These
warranted additional audit focus due to the magnitude of the
transactions and the potential for complex contractual terms that
introduce judgement into how they were accounted for. Key
transactions subject to additional audit focus were:

- Investment property acquisitions of £221m including the
acquisition of Tunbridge Wells, Royal Victoria Place for £97m.

- Investment property disposals of £664m, inctuding the disposal of
5 Broadgate (Group share £500m].

- Share buyback of £204m,

For each transaction, we understood the nature of the transaction
and assessed the proposed accounting treatment in relation to the
Group's accouniing policies and relevant IFRSs.

For atl acquisitions and disposals, we obtained and reviewed the key
supporting documentation such as Sale and Purchase Agreements
and completion statements. Consideration received or paid was
agreed to bank statements. No material issues were found as a
resuft of these pracedures.

For the share buyback, we read the broker contracts and audited the
accounting for the buyback in accordance with 1AS 32. For shares
repurchased by the Group, we tested the subsequent cancellation

of the shares acquired and checked the associated costs of the
transactions were correctly recognised within reserves [retained
earningsl.No exceptions were identified in the accounting for the
share buyback programme.

Taxation

Refer 1o page 82 (Report of the Audit Committee), page 130
[Accounting policies] and page 134 and 148 [Notes to the Accounts].

The Group's status as a REIT underpins its business madel and

shareholder returns. For this reason, it warrants special audit focus.

The obligations of the REIT regime include requirements to comply
with balance of business, dividend and income cover tests. The
Broadgate joint venture is also structured as a REIT and as such,
REIT compliance is also of relevance for this joint venture in addition
to the overall Group. :

Tax provisians are in place to account for the risk of challenge of
certain of the Group’s tax provisions. Given the subjective nature of

these provisions, additional audit facus was placed on tax provisions.

We re-performed the Group's annual REIT compliance tests. as
well as those tests for the Broadgate REIT. Based on our work
performed, we agreed with management’s assessment that all
REIT compliance tests had been met tc ensure that the Group and
Broadgate maintain their REIT status.

We evaluated the tax provisions and potential exposures as at

31 March 2019. We used our knowledge of tax circumslances and
by reading relevant correspondence between the Group and Her
Majesty’s Revenue & Customs and the Group's external tax advisors
are satisfied that the assumptions and judgements used by the
Group are reasaonable.
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Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the mformation in the
Annuat Report other than the financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon. The directors are responsible for

the ather information. Our cpinion on the financial statements
does not cover the other information ang, accordingly, we do
naot express an audit apinion or, except to the extent gtherwise
explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance theregn,

In cannection with our audit of the financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the information 1s materially inconsisient with
the financial statements ar our knowledge obtained in the audit,
ar otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an
apparent materiat inconsistency or material misstaternent, we are
required to perform procedures (o conclude whether there is a
material misstaternent of the financial statements or a material
misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to repori that fact. We
have nothing to report based on these respensibilities.

With respect to the Strategic Report, Directors’ Report and
Additional Disclosures and Corporate Governance Statement,
we also considered whether the disclosures required by the UK
Companies Act 2006 have been included.

Based an the respansibilittes described above and aur work
undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006
[CADg], ISAs [UK) and the Listing Rules of the Financial Conduct
Authority IFCA) require us also to report certain apinions and
rmatters as described below [required by ISAs [UK] unless
otherwise staled).

Strategic Report and Directors’ Report and Additional Disclosures
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the
audit, the information given in the Strategic Report and Directors’
Report and Additional Disclosures for the year ended 31 March 2019
is consistent with the financial sialements and has been prepared in
accordance with applicable legal requirements. [CAGéI

In tight of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and
Company and their erwironment obtained in the course of the audit,
we did not identify any material misstatements in the Strategic
Repori and Directors’ Report and Additional Oisclosures. [CAQS]

Corporate Governance Statement \

in our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the
audit, the information given in the Corporate Governance Statement
lon page 77 in the Governance Review) about internal controls

and risk management systems in relation to financial reporting
processes and about share capital structures in compliance with
rules 7.2.5 and 7.2.6 of the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency
Rules sourcebook of the FCA ["DTR™) is consistent with the financial
statements and has been prepared in accordance with applicable
legal requirements. (CAQS]

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and
Company and their environment obtained in the course of the
audit, we did not identily any matertal misstatements in this
information. [CAQ6

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the
audit, the infermation given in the Corporate Governance Statement
[unn pages 73 to 74 in the Governance Review] with respect to the
Company's corporate governance code and practices and about

its administrative, management and supervisory bodies and
their committees complies with rules 7.2.2, 7.2.3 and 7.2.7 of the
OTR. {CAQ8]

We have nothing to report arising from our respensibility to report if
a corporate governance statement has not been prepared by the
Company. [CAD6

The directors’ assessment of the prospects of the Group and of
the principal risks that would threaten the solvency or liquidity of
the Group

We have nothing material to add or draw attention to regarding:

- The directors’ conficmation on pages 56 to 57 of the Annual Repart
that they have carried out a robust assessment of the principal
risks facing the Group, including those that would threaten its
business model, future perfarmance, solvency or liquidity.

- The disclosures in the Annual Report that describe those risks and
explain how they are being managed or mitigated.

- The directors’ explanation on page 65 of the Annual Report as to
how they have assessed the prospects of the Group, over what
period they have done so and why they consider that pericd to
be appropriate, and their statement as ta whether they have a
reasonable expectalion that the Group will be able to continue in
operation and meet is liabilities as they fall due over the peried of
their assessment, including any related disclosures drawing
attention to any necessary gualifications or assumptions.

We have nothing ta report having performed a review of the
directors statement that they have carried out a robust assessment
of the principal risks facing the Group and statement in relation to
the longer-term viability of the Group. Qur review was substantially
less in scope than an audit and only consisted of making inquiries
and considering the directors’ process supporting their statements;
checking that the statemeants are in alignment with the relevant
provisions of the UK Corporate Gavernance Code (the "Code’}; and
considering whether the statements are consistent with the
knowledge and understanding of the Group and Company and their
enviranment obtained in the course of the audit. [Listing Rules)

Other Code Provisions
We have nothing to report in respect of our respansibility to
report when:

- The statement given by the directors, on page 77, that they
consider the Annual Report taken as a whole to be fair, batanced
and understandable, and provides the informatian necessary
for the members to assess the Group's and Company’s position
and performance, business model and strategy is materially
inconsistent with cur knowledge of the Group and Company
obtained in the course of parforming our audit.

- The section of the Annual Report on page 80 describing the wark
of the Audit Committee does not appropriately address matters
cormmunicated by us to the Audit Committee.

- The directors’ statement relating to the Campany’s compliance
with the Code does not properly disclese a departure from a
relevant provision of the Code specified, under the Listing Rules,
for review by the auditors.

Directors’ Remuneration

In our apinion, the part of the Oirectors’ Remuneration Repart to be
audited has been praperly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 2006. ICAOS}
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Independent auditors’ report to the members
of The British Land Company PLC continued

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained maore fully in the Direciors’ Responsibitities Statement
set out on page 113, the directors are responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable
framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair

view. The direciors are alse responsible for such internal control

as they determine is necessary (o enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group's and the Company’'s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directars either intend to liquidate the Group or the Company or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whethar the
financial statements as a whole zre free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditars’ report that
includes aur cpinion, Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with 1SAs JUK] will always detect a materiat misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expecied to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further deseription of sur responsibilities for the audit of the financial
staternents is located on the FRC's website al: www.frc.arg.uk/
auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our

auditors’ repart.

Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only
for the Company's members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3
of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We
do not, in giving these opiniocns, accept or assume respansibility for
any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is
shown or inta whose hands it may come save where expressly
agreed by our prior consenl in writing.
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Other required reporting
Companies Act 2006 exception reporting

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report ta you if,
in our gpinion:

- we have not received all the information and explanations we
require for cur audit; or

- adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Company,
or returns adequate for our audit have nat been received from
branches not visited by us; or

- certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are
not made; or

- the Company financial statements and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement with the
accounting records and returns.

We have no excegtions to report arising from this responsibiity,

Appointment

Following the recommendation of the audit committee, we were
appointed by the members on 18 July 2014 to audit the financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2015 and subsequent
financial periods. The period of tgtat uninterrupted engagement is
five years. covering the years ended 31 March 2015 to 31 March 2019.

John Waters (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behaif of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Lendan

14 May 2019



Consolidated income statement

For the year ended 31 March 2019

20%9 M8
Capital Capital
Undertying' and other Total Ungertying’ and ather Total
Nole £€m £m m Em Em Em
Revenue 3 554 350 904 561 78 639
Costs 3 1141] {258) (3991 {(136) [64) 1200)
3 413 92 505 425 14 439
Joint ventures and funds [see also below] 11 86 (79 7 115 36 151
Administrative expenses (80} - (®0) (a2l - (82
Valuation moverment 4 - 152¢0) {6201 - 202 202
[Loss) profit on disposal of investment properties
and investments - {18) (18l - 18 18
Net financing costs
- financing income & - - - 1 - 1
- linancing charges 3 167) (48) (113 165 1163) (228]
167) 46} (113) (64) {163) [227)
ILoss) profit on ordinary activities hefore taxation 352 (671) 319 394 107 Gl
Taxation 7 - L) 1l - b b
(Loss) praofit for the year after taxation (320) 507
Attributable to non-controlling interests 12 &1 1291 14 - 14
Attributable to shareholders of the Company 340 {631) (291} 380 13 493
Earnings per share:
- basic 30.0)p 48.7p
- diluted (30.0)p 48.5p
All results derive from continuing operations.
2019 2018
Capital Capital
Underiying® and cther Total Underlying' and other Total
Note &m £m £m Em Em Em
Results of joint ventures and funds accounted
for using the equity method
Underlying Profit 86 - B& 115 - 115
Valuation movement 4 - {63) (631 - 52 52
Capital financing costs - (21) (21} - (13 [13]
Profit [loss| on disposal of investrent properties,
trading properties and investments - 3 3 - (3 (3
Taxation - 2 2 - - -
i :13 (791 7 115 36 151

1. See definition in note 2
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

For the year ended 31 March 2019 .
2019 2018
£m 1]
{Loss] profit tar the year after taxation [320) 507
Other comprehensive income {loss]:
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or toss:
Net actuarial gain on pension schemes - 9
Valuation movements on owner-occupied properties 3 {3)
3 6

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Gains on cash flow hedges

- Group ’ 1 12

- Joint ventures and funds - 8

1 20

Transferred tc the income statement [cash flow hedges}

- Interest rate derivatives - group - 120

- Interest rate derivatives - jaint ventures! 18 -
Deferred tax on itemns of other comprehensive income 1t (5)
Other comprehensive income for the year 21 141
Total comprehensive (loss] income for the year 1299) 648
Attributable to non-controlling interests 129) 16
Attributable to shareholders of the Company [270) 632

1. Represenis a reclassification of cumulative losses within the group revaluation reserve 1o capital profit and loss. because the hedged item has affected profit or toss
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Consolidated balance sheet

As at 31 March 2019

2018 2018
Note £m Em
ASSETS
Neon-current assets
Investrnent and development properties 10 8,931 9.507
Owner-occupied properties 10 73 20

$.004 9,597

Other non-current assets

Investments in joint ventures and funds 1M 2,560 2,822
Qther investments 12 151 174
Deferred tax assets 16 1 4
Interest rate and currency derivative assets 17 154 115

11,870 12,712

Current assets
Trading properties 10 87 328
Debtars 13 57 35
Cash and short term deposits 17 242 105
asé 468
Total assets - : 12,256 13,180
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Short term borrowings and overdrafts 17 199] [27)
Creditars 14 [289) (324)
Corporation tax (25] 221
1413) {3731
Non-current liabilities
Debentures and loans 17 {2,932) [3.101)
Other non-current liabilities 15 192) (62|
Interest rate and currency derivative liabilities 17 {130) 1138l
13,154) {(3.301)
Total liabilities (3,567) (3.674
Net assets 8,689 9.506
EQUITY
Share capital 240 248
Share premium 1,302 1,300
Merger reserve 213 213
Other reserves 37 a3
Retained earnings 6,686 7.458
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company 8,478 9,252
Non-controlling interests 211 254
Total equity 8,489 9,504
EPRA NAV pershare’ 7 2 f05p 967p
I Qieimez n:Je 2 Z f s
John Gildersleeve Simon Carter
Chairman . Chief Financial Officer

The financial statements on pages 123 to 164 ware approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf on 14 May 2019.
Company number 621920
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Consolidated statement of cash flows

Far the year ended 31 March 2019

2019 W

Nete £m Em
Rental income received from tenants 449 446
Fees and ather income received 42 78
Operating expenses paid to suppliers and employees [142) (173}
Sale of trading properties 258 77
Paymentis received in respect of future trading property sales ~ 8
Cash generated from operations 817 436
Interest paid (75) (73)
Interest recaived 7 4
Corporation taxation repayments [payments) 5 (7]
Distributions and other receivables from joint ventures and funds " 59 78
Net cash inflow from operating activities 813 438
Cash flows from investing activities
Development ant other capital expenditure {218} {190}
Purchase of investment properties (185) {165
Sale of investrent properties 380 135
Disposal of joint venture held-for-sale - 968
Disposal of Tesco joint venture - 48
Purchase of investments 9) 9
Sate of investments 13 -
Indirect taxes paid in respect of investing activities 3 (7
Investment in and loans to joint ventures and funds (298) [175)
Loan repayments from joint ventures and funds 247 7
Capital distributions from joint ventures and funds 260 29
Net cash inflow trom investing activities 187 261
Cash flows trom financing activities
Issue of ordinary shares 2 2
Unit issues attribulable to non-contralling interests - 2
Purchase of own shares (204) [301)
Dividends paid 19 [298) 1304)
Dividends paid to nen-cantrolling interests [14) (15}
Acquisition of units in Hercules Unit Trust - (4]
Capital payments in respect of interest rate derivatives (191 (18)
Receipts on closeaut of interest rate derivative assets - 27
Decrease in bank and other borFowings (578) [626]
Drawdowns on bank and other borrowings 448 529
Net cash cutflow from financing activities (663) |708)
Net increase [decreasel in cash and cash equivalents 137 9l
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 Apnit 105 114
Casbh and cash equivalents at 31 March 242 105
Cash and cash equivalents consists of:
Cash and short term deposits 17 242 105
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 31 March 2019

Hedging
and Re- Mon-
Share Share  translalion valuatign Merger Retaned contrailing Total
capital premium reserve' reserve reserve earnings Total interests equity
£m fm £m £m Em Em £m £m tm

Balance at 1 April 2018 248 1,300 " 22 213 7,458 9,252 254 9,506
Loss for the year after taxation - - - - - {2910  (2%1) {29) (320
Revaluation of owner-occupied property - - - 3 - - 3 - 3
Gains on cash flow hedges - group - - 1 - - - 1 - 1
Closeout of cash flaw hedges - joint ventures
and funds - - - 18 - - 18 - 18
Reserves transfer - joint venture cash flow hedges - - - 117} - 17 - - -
Deferred tax an items of other comprehensive
income - - (2l - - - {1 - 1
Other comprehensive income - - - 4 - 17 rq) - 21
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 4 - (274} (270) 1291 (299
Share issues - 2 - - - - 2 - 2
Fair value of share and share option awards - - - - - (4} (4) - (4)
Purchase of own shares 18 - - - - (196)  (204) - (204)
Dividends payable in year (30.54p per share) - - - - - (298) (298} - {298
Dividends payable by subsidiaries - - - - - - - [14) 114
Batance at 31 March 2019 240 1,302 11 26 213 6,686 B,478 211 8,489
Balance at 1 April 2017 260 1,298 (112) 15 213 7547 9,221 255  9.474
Profit for the year after taxation - - - - - 493 493 14 a07
Revatuation of owner-occupied property - - - 13 - - ] - (3
Gains on cash flow hedges - group - - 10 - - - 10 2z 12
Gains on cash flow hedges - joint ventures
and funds - - - 8 - - 8 - 8
Transterred to the income statement
[cash flow hedges)
- Interest rate derivatives - - 120 - - - 120 - 120
Net actuarial gain on pension schemes - - - - - g ? - ¢
Reserves transfer - - (21 2 - - - - -
Oeferred tax on items of other comprehensive
income - - (5] - - - 15 - {5}
Other comprebensive income - - 123 7 - ? 139 2 141
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 123 7 ~ 502 632 16 448
Share issues - 2 - - - - 2 - 2
Unit issues attributable to non-controlling interests - - - - - - - 2 Z
Purchase of own shares 121 - - - - (289} (301! - o
Purchase of units from non-controlling interests - - - - - - - (4] 14)
Dividends payable in year (29.44p per sharel - - - - - 302y [3D% - {302)
Dividends payable by subsidiaries - - - - - - - (15) (15}
Balance at 31 March 2018 248 1,300 1 22 213 7.458 9252 254 9,506

1. The balance at the beginning of the current year includes E15m in relation to translation and |£4m] in relation to hedging (2017/18: £15m and £127ml]l. Opening and closing

balances in relation to hedging relate 10 centinuing hedges only
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Notes to the accounts

1 Basis of preparation, significant accounting policies
and accounting judgements

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019 have

been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation
of properties, investrments held for trading and derivatives. The
financia\ statements have also been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards [IFRSs] as adopted by the
European Union and interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations
Committee [IFRS IC). and therefore comply with article 4 of the EU
IAS regulation, and in accordance with the Carmpanies Act 2006, In
the current financial year the Group has adopted a number of minor
amendments to standards effective in the year issued by the IASB and
endarsed by the EU, nane af which have had a material impact on the
Group. The accounting policies used are otherwise consistent with
those contained in the Group's previous Annual Report and Accaunts
for the year ended 31 March 2018.

New standards effective for the current accounting period do not
have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements of
the Group. These are discussed in further detail below.

IFRS ? - Financial instruments

IFRS ¢ Financial instruments, as issued by the IASB in July 2014,
has been adopted by the Group for the year ended 31 March 261%.
IFRS 9 supersedes the existing accounting guidance in JAS 39
Financial instruments. The standard was applied using the moediiied
retrospective approach. The Group has not restated prior periods
ar recagnised any adjustments in opening retained earnings.

- The new standard addresses the classification and measurement
of financial assets and financial liabilities.

- The alignment of the classification and measurement model
under IFRS ¢ results in changes in the classification of all
financial assets excluding derivatives. These changes will not
have a quantitative impact on the financial statements.

- IFRS 9 introduces a forward looking expected credit loss model,
replacing the IAS 39 incurred {oss model. The new model requires
an expected credit loss to be recognised an all financial assets held
at amortised cost at initial recognition. The quantitative impact for the
year ended 31 March 2019 results in the recognition of an expected
credit lass of £2m, with a corresponding reduction in financial assets
held at amortised cost af £2m. The Group has previously provided for
a materially similar batance against trade and other receivables and
therefore the resulting reclassification of existing provisions does not
have a material impact on the net assets of the Group.

IFRS 9 introduces changes to the qualifying criteria for hedge
accounting and expands the financial and nan-financial
instruments which may be designated as hedged iterns and
hedging instruments in order to align hedge accounting with
business strategy. The changes introduced by IFRS § do not have
a quaniitative impact an the consolidated financial statements of
the Group.

IFRS 15 - Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group has adopted IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with
custorners for the year ended 31 March 2019, The standard was
applied using the madified retrospective approach.

The new standard combines a number of previcus standards, setting
out a five step-model for the recognition of revenue and establishing
principles for reporting useful infarmation to users of financial
staterments about the nature, iming and uncertainty of revenue and
cash flows arising from an entity's contracts with customers. The new

standard does not apply to rental income, which is in the scope of IAS 17,

but does apply to service charge income, management and
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performance fees and trading property disposals. The changes
introduced by IFRS 15 did nat have a quantitative impact on the
consclidated financial statements of the Group.

The Group has considered the following arnendments to standards
endorsed by the EU effective for the current accounting period,
and determined that these do nat have a material impact on the
cansolidated financial statements of the Group:

- Amendments to IAS 40: Transfers of Investment Property

A number of new standards and amendments to standards and

interpretatigns have been issued but are not yet effective for the

current accounting period. None are expected to have a material
impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

Amendments to IFRS 3 {Business Combinationsl is effective from
the next financial year. The amendments have no impact but will be
applied ta any future business combinations.

IFRS 14 [Leases! is effective fram the next financial year. The Group
conducted an impact assessment based an the Group's current
activities and have quantified the impact [see belowl. The resulis

of the assessment confirm that the new standard leads to limited
changes to presentation and disclosure.

IFRS 14 - Leases [effective year ending 31 March 20200,

- Forlessees, IFRS 16 wilt result in almost all operating leases
being brought on balance sheet, as the distinction between
operating and finance leases will be removed. The accounting
for lesseors will however not significantly change. On adaoption of
the new standard, these changes will have an immaterial impact
on the censolidated financial statements of the Group. In the
first year of adoption as at 31 March 2020, based on current
lease information, the projected impact will be an increase in
right of use assets [within the investment property balance]
of £37m and a corresponding increase in current liabilities of
£7m and non-current liabilities of E38m. There will also be an
immaterial net impact on underlying profit with the reduction
in rental expense outweighing the increase in finance costs and
depreciation in the first year of adoption.

Going concern
The financial statements are prepared on a going cancern basis
as explained in the corporate governance section on page 78.

Subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates lincluding funds]
The consolidated accounts include the accounts of the British Land
Company PLC and all subsidiaries lentities controlled by British {_andl.
Control is assumed where British Land is exposed, or has the rights,
to variable returns fram its involvement with investees and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over those investees.

The results of subsidiaries, joint ventures or associates acquired or
disposed of during the year are included from the effective date of
acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal. Accounting policies
of subsidiaries, joint ventures or associates which differ from Group
accounting policies are adjusted on consolidatien.

Business combinations are accounted for under the acquisition
method. Any excess of the purchase price of business combinations
over the fair value of the assets, liabilities and cantingent liabilities
acquired and resulling deferred tax thereen is recognised as
goodwill. Any discount received is credited to the income statement
in the period of acquisition.

Allntra-Group transactions, balances, income and expenses
are eliminated on consalidation. Joint ventures and associates,
including funds, are accounted for under the equity method, whereby



the consolidated balance sheet incorporates the Group's share
linvestor's share| of the net assets of its joint ventures and
associates. The consolidated income statement incorporates the
Group's share of jeint venture and associate profits after tax. Their
profits include revaluation movements en investiment properties.

Distributions and other receivables from joint ventures and
associates lincluding funds| are classed as cash flows from
operating activities, except where they relate to a cash flow arising
from a capital transaction, such as a property or investment disposal.
In this case they are classed as cash flows from investing activities.

Properties

Properties are externally valued an the basis of fair value at the
balance sheet date. Investment and owner-occupied properties are
recorded at valuation whereas trading properties are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value.

Any surplus or deficit arising on revaluing investment properties is
recagnised in the capital and other column of the income statement.

Any surplus arising on revaluing owner-occupied properties ahove cost
1s recognised in other comprehensive income, and any deficit arising in
revaluation below cost for owner-occupied and trading properties is
recagnised in the capital and other column of the income statement.

The cost of properties in the course of development includes
atiributable interest and other assaciated outgoings including
attributable developrment personnel costs. Interest is calculated

on the developrnent expenditure by reference to specific borrowings,
where relevant, and otherwise on the weighted average interest rate
of British Land Company PLC borrowings. Interest is not capitalised
where no development activity is taking place. A property ceases to
be treated as a development property on practical completion.

Investrnent property disposals are recegnised on completion.
Profits and iosses arising are recogmsed through the capital and
other column of the income statement, The profit on disposal is
determined as the difference between the net sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset at the commencement of the
accounting period plus capital expenditure in the period.

Trading properties are initially recognised at cost less impairment,
and trading property disposats are recognised in line with the
revenue policies outlined below.

Where investrment properties are appropriated to trading properties,
they are transferred at market vatue. If properties held for trading are
appropriated to0 investment properties, they are transferred at boak
value. In determining whether leases and related preperties
represent aperating or finance leases, consideration is given to
whether the tenant or landlerd bears the risks and rewards of
ownership. Transfers to or from investment property occur when,
and only when, there is evidence of change in use.

Financial assets and liabilities

Cebtors and creditars are initially recognised at fair value and
subsequently measured at amoriised cost and discounted as
appropriate. On initial recognition the Group calculates the expected
credit loss for debtors based on lifetime expected credit lasses under
the IFRS 9 simplified approach.

Other investments include investments classified as amaortised

cost and investments classihied as fair value through profit or loss,
Loans and receivables ¢lassified as amortised cost are measured
using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest

is recognised by applying the effective interest rate. Invesiments
classified as fair value through profit or loss are initially recorded at
fair value and are subsequently externally valued on the same basis

at the balance sheet date. Any surplus or deficit arising on revatuing
investments held for trading is recognised in the capital and other
column of the income statement.

Where an investment property is held under a head lease, the head
lease is initially recognised as an asset, being the sum of the prermiurm
paid an acquisition plus the present value of minirmum ground rent
payments. The corresponding rent liability to the head leaseholder

is included in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation.

Debt instruments are stated at their fair value an issue. Finance
charges including premia payable on settlement or redemption and
direct issue costs are spread over the period to redemption, using
the effective interest method. Exceptional finance charges incurred
due to early redemption [including premial are recognised in the
income statement when they occur.

Convertible bonds are designated as fair value through profit or loss
and so are initially recognised at fair value with all subsequent gains
and losses, including the wnite-off of issue costs, recognised in the
capital and other column of the income statement as a component of
net financing costs. The interest charge in respect of the coupon rate
an the bonds is recognised within the underlying component of net
financing costs on an accruals basis.

As defined by IFRS 9, cash flow and fair value hedges are initially
recagnised at fair value at the date the derivative contracts are
entered into, and subsequently remeasured at fair value. Changes
in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as
effective cash flow hedges are recognised directly through other
comprehensive income as 3 movement in the hedging and
translation reserve, Changes in the fair value of derivatives that
are designated and gualify as effective fair value hedges are
recorded in the capital and other column of the income statement,
along with any changes in the fair value of the hedged item that

is attributable to the hedged risk. Any ineffective portion of all
derivatives is recognised in the capital and other column of the
income statement. Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are
not in a designated hedging relationship under IFRS % are recorded
directly in the capital and other colurnn of the income statement.
These derivatives are carried at fair value on the batance sheet.

Cash equivalents are limited to insiruments with a maturity of less
than three months.

Revenue

Revenue comprises rental income and surrender premia, service
charge income, management and performance fees and proceeds
from ihe sale of trading properties.

Rental income and surrender premia are recognised in accordance
with IAS 17 Leases.

Rental income, including fixed rental uplifts, from investment
property leased out under an aperating lease is recognised

as revenue on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease
incentives, such as rent-iree periods and cash contributions to
tenant fit-out, are recognised on the same straight-line basis
being an integral part of the net consideration for the use of the
investrent property. Any rent adjustments based on open market
estimated rental values are recognised, based on managemeant
estimates, from the rent review date in relation to unsettled rent
reviews. Contingent rents, being those lease payments that are not
fixed at the inception of the lease, including for example turnover
rents, are recognised in the period in which they are earned.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
Notes to the accounts continued

Surrender premia for the early determination of a lease are
recognised as revenue immediately upon receipt, net of dilapidations
and non-recaverable autgoings relaiing to the lease coancerned,

The Group applies the five step-medel as required by IFRS 15
in recognising its service charge income, managerent and
performance fees and proceeds from the sale of trading properties.

Service charge income is recognised as revenue in the period to
which it relates.

Management fees are recognised as revenue in the peried to
which they relate and relate to property management. Performance
fees are recognised at the end of the performance period when the
performance obligations are met, the fee amount can be estimated
reliably and it is highly probable that the fee will be received.
Performance fees are based on property valuations compared to
exiernal benchmarks at the end of the reporting pericd. Proceeds
from the sale of trading properties are recognised when control

has been transferred to the purchaser. This generally occurs on
completion. Proceeds from the sale of trading properties are
recognised as revenue in the capital and other column of the iIncome
statememt, All other revenue described above is recognised in the
underlying column of the income staternent.

Taxation

Current tax is based on taxable profit for the year and is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted

at the balance sheet date. Taxable profit differs from net profit

as reported in the Income statement because it excludes items

of inceme or expense that are not taxable [or tax deductible).

Deferred tax is provided on items that may become taxable in the
future, or which may be used to offset against taxabte profits in the
future, on the ternparary differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes, and the
amounts used for taxation purposes on an undiscounted basis.

On business combinations, the deferred tax effect of fair value
adjustments is incorparated in the consolidated balance sheet.

Employee costs

The fair value of equity-settled share-based payments to employees
is determined at the date of grant and is expensed on a straight-line
hasis aver the vesting periad, based an the Group's estimate of
shares or options that will eventually vest, In the case of options
granted, fair value is measured by a Black-5Scholes pricing modat.
The tair value of shares granted is based an the market value at
grant date.

Defined benefit pension scherme assets are measured using fair
values. Pension scheme liabilities are measured using the projected
unit credit method and discounted at the rate of return aof a high quality
corporate bond of equivalent term to the scheme tiabilities. The net
surplus lwhere recoverable by the Groupl or deficit is recognised in
fullin the consolidated balance sheet. Any asset resulting from the
calculation is limited to the present value of available refunds and
reductions in future contribiutions to the plan. The current service cost
and gains and losses on settlement and curtailments are charged to
opersling profit. Actuarial gains and losses are recagnised in full in
the period tn which they occur and are presented in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

Contributions to the Group's detined contribution schemes are
expensed on the basis of the contracted annual contribution.
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Accounting judgements and estimates
In applying the Group’s accounting policies, the Directors are required
10 make juidigements and estimates that affect the finanoial staterents.

Significant areas of estimation are:

Vatuation of properties and investments held for trading: The Group
uses external prafessional valuers te determine the relevant amounts.
The primary source of evidence lor property valuations should be recent,
comparable market fransactions on an arms-tength basis. However,
the valuation of the Group's property portfolio and investrments held

for trading are inherently subjective, as they are based upon valuer
assumptions which may prove to be inaccurate. Sensitivity tables are
included within note 10.

Other less significant areas of estirnation include the valuation of fixed
rate debt and interest rate derivatives, ihe determination of share-
based payment expense, the actuarial assumptions used in calculating
the Group’s retirement benefit obligations, and taxation provisions.

The key areas of accaunting judgement are:

REIT status: British Land is a Real Estate Invesiment Trust (RE(T)

and does not pay tax onils property incorne or gains on property sales,
provided that at least 90% of the Group's property income is distributed
as a dividend ta sharehalders, which becomes taxable in their hands.
I addtion, the Group has to meet certain conditions such as ensuring
the property rental business represents more than 75% of total profits
and assets. Any patential ar proposed changes ta the REIT legislation
are monitored and discussed with HMRC. Itis management’s intention
that the Group will continue as a REIT for the foreseeable future.

Accounting for joint ventures and funds: In accordance with

IFRS 10 ‘Consolidated financfal statements’, IFRS 11 "Joint
arrangements’, and IFRS 12 ‘Disclosures of interests in other
entities’ an assessment is required to determine the degree of
control or influence the Group exercises and the forn ul any
control te ensure that the financial statement treatment is
appropriate. The assessment underiaken by management
includes consideration of the structure, legal form, contractual
terms and other facts and circumstances retating to the relevant
entity. This assessment is updated annually and there have been
ne changes in the judgement reached in relation to the degree of
control the Group exercises within the current or prior year. Group
shares in joint ventures and funds resulting from this process are
disclosed in note 11 to the financial statements.

Interest in the Group's joint ventures is commonly driven by the
terms of the partnership agreements which ensure that contro!

is shared between the partners. All significant joint venture
arrangements of the Group are held in structures in which the

Group has 50% of the voting rights, Joint ventures are accounted

for under the equity method, whereby the consolidated balance sheet
ncarporates the Group's share of the net assets of its joint veniures
and assaciates. The consolidated income statement incorporates the
Group's share of joint venture and associate prolits after tax.

Accounting for transactions: Property transactions are comglex in
nature and can be material tg the financial statements. Judgements
made in relation to transactions include whether an acquisition is

a business cornibinglivn i gn asset; whether held for sale ¢riteria
have been met for transactions not yet completed: accounting for
transaction costs and contingent consideration: and application

of the concept of linked accounting. Management consider each
transaction separately in order to determine the most appropriate
accounting treatment, and, when considered necessary, seek
independent advice.



2 Performance measures

Earnings per share

The Group measures financial performance with reference to underlying earnings per share, the European Public Real Estate Association [EPRA)
earnings per share and IFRS earnings per share. The relevant earnings and weighted average number of shares lincluding dilution adjustments)
for each performance measure are shown below, and a reconciliation between these is shown within the supplemeniary disclosures (Table Bl

EPRA earnings per share is calculated using EPRA earnings, which is the IFRS loss after taxation attributable to shareholders of the Company
excluding investment ang development property revaluations, gains/losses on investing and trading property disposals, changes in the fair value of
financial instruments and associated cloge-out costs and their related taxation. In the current year, diluted EPRA earnings per share did not include the
dilutive impact of the 2015 convertible bond, as the Group's share price was below the current exchange price of 1007.24 pence. IFRS dituted earnings
per share would include the dilutive impact as IAS 33 ignores this hurdle to conversion, however due to the current year less, this would be anti-dilutive
and therefore no adjustment is made. fn the prior year, both EPRA and IFRS measures exclude the dilutive impact of the 2015 corwertible bond as the
Company's share price had not exceeded the level required for the convertible conditiens attached to the bend tc trigger conversion inta shares.

Underlying earnings per share is calculated using Underlying Profit adjusted for underlying taxation [see note 7). Undertying Pralfit is the pre-tax
EPRA earnings measure, with additional Company adjustments. No Cormpany adjustments were made in ether the current or priar year.

2017 0

Relevant  Relevant number Earnings Relevant  Relevant number Earnings

garnings of shares per share earnings of shares per share
Earnings per share €m million pence Em million pence
Underlying
Underlying basic 340 mn 35.0 380 1,013 375
Underlying diluted , 340 974 34.9 380 1.015 374
EPRA
EPRA basic 340 971 35.0 380 1,013 375
EPRA diluted 340 74 34.9 380 1,016 7.4
IFRS
Basic ) (291) 97 (30.0) 493 1,013 48.7
Diluted 12911 m (30.00 493 1,016 48.5

Net asset value

The Group measures financial position with reference to EPRA net asset value (NAV) per share and EPRA trigle net asset value [NNNAVI
per share. The net assel value and number of shares far each perfarmance measure are shown below. A reconciliation between IFRS
net assets and EPRA net assets, and the retevant number of shares for each performance measure, is shocwn within the supplementary
disclosures (Table B]. EPRA net assets is a proportionally consolidated measure that is based on IFRS net assets excluding the mark-to-
market on derivatives and related debt adjustments, the mark-to-market on the canvertible honds, and deferred taxation on property and
derivative vatuations. They include the valuation surplus on trading properties and are adjusted for the dilutive impact of share options.

As at 31 March 2019, EPRA NAV and EPRA NNNAV did not include the dilutive impact of the 2015 convertible bond, as the Group's share price
was below the exchange price of 1007.24 pence. IFRS nat assets also does not include the convertible impact following the treatment of IFRS
garnings per share. In the prior year, both EPRA and [FRS measures exclude the dilutive impact of the 2015 convertible bond as the Company's
share price had not exceeded the levet required for the coavertidle conditions attached to the bond ta trigger conversion inta shares.

2019 2m8
Relevant  Relevant number  Nel assel value Relevant Aelevant number  Net asset valve
net assets of shares pershare net assels of shares per share
Net asset value per share Em million pence Em million penca
EPRA
EPRA NAV 8,649 956 905 9.960 989 947
EPRA NNNAY 8,161 956 B54 9,044 289 914
IFRS
Basic 8,689 949 916 9,506 983 987
Diluted 8,689 756 90? ¢.506 989 951

Total accounting return
The Group alsa measures financial performance with reference te total accounting return. This is calculated as the movernent in EPRA net
asset value per share and dividend paid in the year as a percentage of the EPRA net asset value per share at the start of the year.

201% 2018
Decrease in NAV Bividend per Total Increase sn NAV Dwidend per Taial
per share share paid accounting per share share paid aceounting
pence pence return pence pence relurn
Total accounting return 162} 30.54 (3.3%) 52 29.64 8.9%
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3 Revenue and costs

2019 2018
Capital Capital

Undartying and other Tetal Undestying and ether Totat

£m €m £m £m £m £m

Rent receivable (773 - (214 441 - 4461
Spreading of tenant incentives and guaranteed rent increases 16) - 18} 16l - l6)
Surrender prermia 1 - 1 [3 - b
Gross rental income 439 - 439 441 - 441
Trading property sales proceeds - 350 350 - 78 78
Service charge income 74 - 76 1) - bé
Management and performance iees [from joint ventures and fundsl 7 - 7 & - 6
Other fees and commissions 3z - 32 48 - 48
Revenue 564 350 904 561 78 b3%
Trading property cost of sales - (258) i258) - {64t (64)
Service charge expenses (76} - 176} {66} - t66)
Property operating expenses {35) - (35} {291 - (291
Other fees and commissions expenses {30l - [30) {41} - [41)
Costs (141} (2581 (3991 {1361 (6] {200
413 92 505 425 14 439

The cash element of net rental income [gross rental income less property operating expenses) recognised during the year ended 31 March 2019
trom properties which were not subject ta a securily interest was £356m [2017/18: £301ml. Property operating expenses relating to investment
properties that did not generate any rental income were E1m [2017/18: £2m). Contingent rents of £3m (2017/18: E4m) were recognised in the year.

4 Valuation movements on property

2019 018
€m Em
Consolidated income statement
Revaluation of properties {620} 202
Revaluation of properties held by joint ventures and funds accounted for using the equity methad 163} 52
(683) 254
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
Revaluation of owner-occupied properties 3 (3)
{480} 251
5 Auditors’ remuneration — PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
za;; zu;:
Fees payable ta the Company's auditors for the audit of the Company’s annual accounts 0.3 03
Fees payable to the Company's auditars for the audit of the Company's subsidiaries, pursuant to legislation 0.4 0.4
Total audit fees 0.7 0.7
Audit-related assurance services 0.1 0.1
Total audit and audit-related assurance services 0.8 08
Other fees
Qiher services 0.1 0.2
Total 0.9 1.0

In addition to the above, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP were remunerated in the prior year for non-audit fees in PREF, an equity accounted property

fund [sze note 11]. The Group's share of fees totatled £nil [2017/18: £0.1ml. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP are not the external auditars to PREF.

132 British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019



6 Net financing costs

2019 e
€m £m
Underlying
Financing charges
Bank loans and overdraits 21 21
Dervatives 29 28
Qther leans (75) i74)
Obligations under head leases 3 12)
(70 7)
Development interest capitalised 3 b
1671 (635
Financing income
Depasits, securities and liquid investments - 1
- 1
Net financing charges - underlying (67 {64)
Capital and other
Financing charges
Valuation movements on transiation of foreign currency net assets - (ti
Hedging reserve recycling’ - [108)
Valuation movements on fair value derivatives? 41 (79}
Valuation movements on fair value debt? (381 80
Recycling of fair value movement on close-aut of derivatives - (4}
Capital financing costs? (32} 127}
Fair value movement on convertible honds () -
Valuation movement on non-hedge accounted derivatives (111 (16)
(46} 1163)
Financing income
Fair vatue movement on convertible bonds - -
Net financing charges - capital (48] (163}
Net financing costs
Total financing income - 1
Total financing charges (113) [228]
Net financing costs (113) [227)

Interest payable on unsecured bank loans and related interest rate derivatives was £8m (2017/18: £9m). Interast on development expenditure is

capitalised at the Group's weighted average interesi rate of 2.2% (2017/18: 2.0%). The weighted average interest rate on a proportionately

consolidated basis at 31 March 2019 was 2.9% (2017/18: 2.8%].

1. Represents a reclassificaiion of cumulative losses within the hedging and ranslation reserve to capitai profit and Loss, in relation to hedging instruments which have been

closed out or are no longer hedge accounted
2. Primarily bond redemption, tender offer and purchase costs

3. The difference between valuation movements on fair value derivatives and valualion movements on fair value debt represents hedge ineflectiveness for the period
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7 Taxation
2019 w8
£m Em
Taxation lexpense) incame
Current taxation:
UK carporation taxation: 19% [2017/18: 19%) [10 -
Adjustments in respect of prior years 13 1
Total current taxation income 3 1
Deferred taxation on revaluations and derivatives 4 5
Group total taxation m )
Attributable to joint ventures and funds 2 -
Total taxation income 1 4
Taxation reconciliation
[Loss) profit on ordinary activities before taxation 1319) 501
Less: profit attributabte 1o joint ventures and funds' (s (151}
Group (loss] profit on ordinary activities before taxation [324) 350
Taxation on profit on ordinary activities al UK corporation taxation rate of 19% {2017/18: 19%) 62 {67
Effects of:
- REIT exempt income and gamns (731 71
- Taxation losses 1 14)
- Deferred taxation on revaluations and derivatives [{A] 5
~ Adjustments in respect of prior years 13 1
Group total taxation [expense) income i1 b

1. Acurrent Laxation income of £2m {2017/18: £nil] and a deferred taxation credit of £ril (2017/18: £nill arese on profils attributable ta joint ventures and funds. The Low tax
charge reflects the Group's REIT status

Taxation expense attributable 1o Underlying Profit for the year ended 3% March 2019 was Enil {2017/18. Enil). Corporation taxation payable at

31 March 2019 was £25m [2017/18: £22m) as shown on the balance sheet. During the year to 31 March 2019 various tax provisions in respeci of
historic taxation matters and current points of uncertainty in the UK have been released and provisions made. The net movernent, which (s
inctuded within the tax credit above, is not matenal. .

8 Staff costs

Staff costs (including Directors) o 2?:13

Wages and salaries &2 70

Social security costs 8 9

Pension cosls 7 7

Equity-settled share-based payments (3 -
74 86

The average monthly number of employees of the Company during the year was 293 [2017/18: 265]. The average monthly number of

Group employees, including those employed directly at the Group's properties and their costs recharged to tenants, was 783 (2017/18. 835).
The average monthly number of employees of the Company within each category of persons employed was as follows: Retail: 31; Offices: 20;
Canada Water: 14; Developments: 32; Storey: 8; Supporl Functions: 188

The Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors are the key managemenit personnel, Their emnoluments are summarised below and
further detail is disclosed in the Remuneration Report on pages 88 to 109.

Directors’ emoluments 23:‘: 2?:::
Short term employee benefits 5.6 55
Service cost in relation to defined benefit pension schemes 0.1 0.2
Equity-settled share-based payments 2.0} 1.1

37 68

134 British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2019




8 Staff costs continued

Staff costs
The Group's equity-settled share-based payrnents comprise the Long-Term Incentive Plan [LTIP], the Matching Share Plan [MSP),
the Restricted Share Plan [RSP] and various savings related share option schemes.

The Campany expenses an estimate of haw many shares are likely to vest based on the market price at the date of grant, taking account
of expected performance against the relevant performance targets and service pertods, which are discussed in further detait in the
Remuneration Report.

For all schernes except the Company’s Long-Term Incentive Plan share options, the fair value of awards are equal to the market value at
grant date, The key inputs used to value share options using a Black-Schales model granted under the Company’s Long-Term Incentive Plan
are shawn below.

25 June 28 June
Long-Term Incentive Plan: Awards in the year ended 31 March 2019 2018 017
Share price and exercise price at grant date 682p 617p
Expected option life in years 5 5
Risk free rate 0.8% 0.8%
Expected volatility 22% 24%
Expected dividend yield 5% 5%
Value per option &4Bp 48p

Movements in shares and options are given in nate 20.

9 Pensions

The British Land Group of Companies Pension Scheme ['the scheme') is the principal defined benefit pension scheme in the Group. The assats
of the scherme are held in a trustee-administered fund and kept separate frem those of the Company. It is not contracted out of SERPS [State
Earnings-Retated Pension Schemel and it is not planned to admit new employees to the scheme. The Graup has three other small defined
benefit pension schemes. There are also two Defined Contribution Pension Schemes, Contributions to these schemes are at a flat rate of
salary and are paid by the Company.

The total net pension cost charged for the year was £E7m (2017/18: £7ml, of which £5m [2017/18: £5mi relates to defined contribution plans
and £2m (2017/18: £2m) relates to the current service cost of the defined benefit schemes.

A full actuarial valuation of the scheme was carried out at 31 March 2015 by consulting actuaries, Aon. The next full actuarial valuation is
currently being carried out by First Actuarial and will be completed by 30th June 2019. The valuations and employer’s cantributions [72.9% per
annum of basic salaries] in the current year are based on estimates produced by First Actuarial. The best estimate aof employer contributions
expected to be paid during the year to 31 March 2020 is £2m. The major assumptions used for the actuarial valuation were:

2019 2018 007 018 205
% pa % pa % pa % pa % pa
Discount rate 2.4 246 2.4 32 31
Salary inflation 4.8 49 4.9 48 48
Pensions increase 3.3 33 33 3.2 32
Price inflation 3.4 3.4 3.4 33 33

The assumptions are that a member currently aged 40 will live on average for a further 27.8 years if they are mate and far a further 29.4 years
if they are female. For a member who retires in 2039 at age 50, the assumptions are that they will live an average for a further 29.2 years after
retirernent if they are male and for a further 30.8 years after retirement if they are female.

Composition of scheme assets

2019 2018

£&m fm
Eguities &0 54
Civersified growth funds 88 85
Other assets 12 13
Total scheme assets 160 152

97.9% of the scheme assets are quoted in an active markel. All unquoted scheme assets sit within equities.
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9 Pensions continued

The amount included in the balance sheet arising from the Group’s obligations in respect of its dafined benefit scheme is as follows:

2019 mia 07 2014 2015

£m fm Em £m Em

Present value of defined scheme obligations (147 (147) {187} {143] {145)
Fair value of scheme assets 160 152 154 137 139
Irrecoverable surplus (13) (5] - - -
Liability recognised in the balance sheet - - 113) 16) (6]

The sensitivities of the defined benefit obligation in relation to the major actuarial assumptions used to measure scheme liabilities are as follows:

increase/ldecreasel in defined
scheme obligations

Assumption agﬂﬂﬁéﬂ 22:?1 22:3
Discount rate +0.5% 115) (14)
Salary inflation +0.5% 2 1
RPl inflation +0.5% 12 12
Assumed life expectancy +1 year 5 4
History of experience gains and losses
2019 208 017 2014 2005
£m £m £m Em Em
Total actuarial gain {loss) recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income'-? - 9 (12l ) (5)
Percentage of present value on scheme liabilities 0.1% 61% 7.2% 0.7% 3.6%
1. Movements stated after adjusting {or irrecoverability of any surplus
2 Cumulative loss recagnised in the statement of comprehensive income is £40m [2017/18: £40ml
Movements in the present value of defined benefit obligations were as follows:
2019 2018
£m £m
At ) April 1147 (167
Current service cost {2] 121
Interest cost 3 14l
Actuarial (toss) gain
[Loss) gain frorm change in financial assumptions 12) 7
Gain on scheme liabilities arising from experience 1 7
Benefiis paid 6 12
At 31 March {147 147}
Movements in the fair value of the scheme assets were as follows:
2019 018
£m £m
At 1 April 152 154
Interest income on scheme assets 4 3
Contributions by employer 2 7
Actuarial gain 8 -
Benefits paid [8) {12)
At 31 March 160 152
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9 Pensions continued
Through its defined benefit plans, the Group is exposed to a number of risks, the mast significant of which are detailed below:

Asset votatility

The liabilities are calculated using a discount rate set with reference to corporate bond yields; if assets underperform this yield, this wall

create a deficit. The scheme holds a significant portion of growth assets [equities and diversified growth funds] which, although expected
to outperform cerperate bonds in the long term, create volatility and risk in the short term. The ailocation to growth assets is monitored

to ensure it remains appropriate given the scherme’s {ong term objectwves.

Changes in hond yields

A decrease in corporate bond yields will increase the value placed on the scheme’s liabilities for accounting purposes, although this will
be partially offset by an increase in the value of the scheme’s bond holdings.

Inflation risk

The majority of the scheme’s benefit obligations are linked to inflation, and higher inflation will lead to higher tiabilities lalthough, in most
cases, caps on the level of inflationary increases are in place to protect against extreme inflation). Tne majarity of the assets are either
unaffected by or only loosely correlated with inflabion, meaning that an increase ininflatian will also increase the deficit.

Life expectancy
The majority of the scheme’s obligations are to pravide benefiis for the life of the member, so increases in life expectancy will result

in an increase in the liabilities.

10 Property
Property reconciliation for the year ended 31 March 2019

Investmenl

Imvestment
ang
Offices and Canada development Chwner-
Retail residential Water Developments properties Trading cccupied
Level 3 Level 3 Level 3 Lavel3 Level} properties Level3 Tatal
£m Em fm Em £m Em £m €m
Carrying value at 1 Aprii 2018 5,195 3,659 298 355 9,507 328 20 2,925
Additians
- property purchases 128 93 - - 221 - - 22
- development expenditure 2 - 19 151 172 n - 183
- capitalised interest and staif costs - - 3 2 5 - - 5
- capital expenditure on asset
management initiatives 27 15 - - 42 - - 42
157 168 22 153 440 11 - 451
Depreciation - - - - - - () 3]
Disposals (409) - - 131 4121 (252) - 1.1.97]
Reclassifications - 19 - - 19 - {19 -
Revaluations included in income statement! 1621) 112} (2 15 (620l - - (620)
Revaluations included in OCI - - - - - - 3 3
Movernent in tenant incentives and
coniracted rent uplift balances 15) 2 - - {3) - - (31
Carrying value at 31 March 2017 4,317 3,776 318 520 8,931 87 73 9.091
Head lease kiabilities {note 151 (92
Valuation surplus on trading preperties 29
Group property portfolio valuation at 31 March 2019 9,028
Nen-controlling interests [267)
Group property portfolio valuation at 31 March 2019 attributable to shareholders 8,761

1. Included within the offices and residential property revaluation movement abeve is 3 £4m increase to the valuation of 10 Brock Sireet following Lhe leasing transaction with

Facebook and Debenbams
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10 Property continued
Property reconciliation for the year ended 31 March 2018

Investment

Investment
(Hfices and Canada develogmaenn': Owner-
Retail residential Water Developments properties Trading accupied
Leavel 3 Level 3 Level 3 Level 3 Level s properties Leveld Total
£m Em tm £€m Em Em Em Em
Carrying value at 1 April 2017 5.021 3.616 286 150 9,073 334 94 2.50%
Additions
- property purchases 237 - 8 - 245 5 - 250
- development expenditure 4] 15 22 44 84 46 - 132
- capitalised interest and staff costs - 1 3 1 5 5 - 10
- capital expenditure on asset
management initiatives 29 - - 1 30 - - 30
2N 14 33 46 346 56 - 422
Depreciation - - - - - - ] ()
Dispesals [134) {21 - - (138 (62 - [198)
Reclassificaticns (4) (137 - 141 - - - -
Revaluations included in income statement 40 165 (211 18 202 - - 202
Revaluations included in GCI - - - - - - (3l (3)
Movemant in tenant incentives and
contracted rent uplift balances 1 1 - - 2 - - 2
Carrying value at 31 March 2018 5,195 3.659 298 355 9.507 328 90 9,925
Head lease liabilities [note 15) 162]
Valuation surptus on trading properties - 134
Group property portfolio valuation at 31 March 2018 9997
Non-controlling interests [315)
Group property portfolio valuation at 31 March 2018 attributable to shareholders 9.682
Property valuation

The different valuation method levels are defined below:
Level 1: Quoted prices [unadjusted} in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
li.e. as prices) or indirectly li.e. derived from prices).

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on ohservable market dats lunobservable inputs).

These levels are specified in accordance with IFRS 13 "Fair Value Measurement’. Property valuations are inherently subjective as they are
made on the basis of assumptions made by the valuer which may not prove to be accurate, For these reasons, and consistent with EPRA's
guidance, we have classified the valuations of cur property portfalio as Levet 3 as defined by IFRS 13. The inputs to the valuations are defined
as ‘unobservable’ by IFRS 13 and these are analysed in s table on the following page. There were no transfers between levels in the year.

The Group's total property portfolic was valued by external valuers on the basis of fair value, in accardance with the RICS Valuation -
Protessional Standards 2814, ninth edition, published by The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors.

The information provided to the valuers, and the assumptions and valuation models used by the valuers, are reviewed by the property portiolio
tearn, the Head of Real Estate and the Chief Financial Officer. The valuers meet with the external auditors and alsa present directly to the Audit
Commiitee at the interim and year end review of results. Further details of the Audit Committee’s responsibilities in relation to valuations can
be found in the Report of the Audit Commitlee [on pages 80 to 85).

Investment properties, excluding properties held for development, are valued by adopting the ‘investment method’ of valuation.

This approach involves applying capitalisation yields ta current and future rental streams net af income voids arising fram vacancies or
rent-iree periods and associated running costs. These capitalisation yields and future rental values are based on comparable property

and leasing transactions in the market using the valuers’ professional judgement and market observation. Other factors taken into accaunt
in the valuations include the tenure of the property. tenancy details and ground and structurat conditions.
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10 Property continued

In the case of ongoing developments, the approach applied is the ‘residual method’ of valuation, which is the investment methad of valuation
as described above, with a deductian for all costs necessary to complete the development, including a notional finance cost, together with a

further allowance for remaining risk, Properties held for development are generally valued by adopting the higher of the residual method of

valuation, atlowing for all associated risks, or the investment method of valuation for the existing asset.

Copies of the valuation certificates of Knight Frank LLP, CBRE, Jones Lang LaSalle and Cushman & Wakefield can be found at
britishland.com/reports

A breakdown of valuations splil between the Group and its share of joint ventures and funds is shown below:

2019 2018

Jaint Joni

ventures ventyres
Group and funds Tatal Group angd funds Total
£m £m Em £m £m £m
Knight Frank LLP 1,434 2,256 3,690 1,474 2,680 4,354
CBRE 2,675 2N 2,906 4,511 1,403 5,914
Jones Lang LaSalle 1,889 1,099 2,988 561 - 361
Cushman & Wakefield 3,030 19 3,049 3,251 19 3.270
Total property portfolio valuation 9,028 3,605 12,833 9.997 4,102 14,099
Non-controlling interests (267 (50) (317 (315} (48] (383
Total property portfolio valuation attributable to shareholders 8,761 3,555 12,316 9,482 4,034 13,716

Information about fair value measurements using unchservable inputs [Level 3) for the year ended 31 March 2019

Fair value at ERY per sq ft Equivalent yield Cosis to camplete per sq it
31 March 2019 Valuation Min Hax Average Min Max Average Min Max Average
Investment £m technique « € 13 % % % 3 € 3
Investment
Retail 4,278 methodology 2 87 24 4 10 é - 37 [
Investment
Offices’ 3,769 methodology 8 145 58 4 5 4 - 465 53
Investment
Canada Water 302 methodology 15 n 22 2 [ 4 - 1 -
Investment
Residential 43  rmethodotogy 38 38 38 4 4 4 - - -
Residual
Developments 520 methodology 47 &3 55 4 5 4 - 334 228
Total 8,912
Trading properties
at fair value 16
Group property
partfolio valuation 9.028

1. Includes owner-occupied
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10 Property continued

information about fair value measurements using unobservable inputs {Level 3) for the year ended 31 March 2018

Fair value at ERV per sq it Equivalent yield Costs lo complele persq i
31 Mareh 2018 Valuation Min Max Average Min Max Average Min Max Average
lnvestment £m lechnique £ £ £ % % £ £ £
Investment
Retail 5210 methodology 2 84 24 3 9 5 - 5 2
Investrmeant
Offices! 3,617 methodology 8 17 58 4 5 4 - 323 53
investment
Canada Water 283 methodology 38 38 38 4 4 4 - 2 (34]
tnvestment
Residential 70 methodotogy 15 29 22 2 6 4 - 1 1
Residual
Developments 355 methodology 18 66 61 2 6 5 - 614 541
Total 9.535
Trading properties
at fair value 462
Group property
portfolio valuation 9.997

i. Includes owner-occupied

Information about the impact of changes in unobservable inputs {Level 3) on the fair value of the Group's property partfolia for

the year ended 31 March 2019

Impact on valuations

Impact an valuations

Impact an valuations

Fair value a1
31 March 2019 «5% ERY -5% ERY -25bps NEY +25bps NEY -5% costs +5% costs
. £m £m £m Em £m £m £m
Retail 5,530 230 (220] 272 {251) - -
Oifices’ 5,444 228 (2071 361 (313) - -
Canada Water 303 4 (4} S {4l k| 130}
Hesidential 99 1 [11 2 {(2) - -
Developments P40 48 (52) b4 (40} 26 {30
Group property portfolio valuation 12,314 511 1484) 704 (630) 57 (60l

1. Includes trading propertia4 at fair value

Infarmation about the impact of changes in unobservable inputs (Level 3] on the fair value of the Group's property portfolio for the year ended

31 March 2018

Impact anvalualions

Impact on valuations

Impact on valualions

Fair value a1

31 March 2018 +5% ERV -5% ERV -25bps NEY +25bps NEY -5% cosls +5% costs

Em £m tm Em Em £m £m

Retail §.210 210 199 269 (278] na na
Offices! 4,079 167 (161) 244 (219 na na
Canada Water 283 4 {5 1 (1] 21 (200
Residential 70 1 i1 2 12) - -
Developments 355 AN [31) 39 [35] 13 (13l
Group property portfolio valuation 9,997 413 (397) 555 1535] 34 (33

L. Includes trading properties at fair value
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10 Property continued

All other factors being equal:

- @ higher equivatent yield or discount rate would lead to a decrease in the valuation of an asset

- anincrease in the current or estimated future rental strearm would have the effect of increasing the capital value

- anincrease in the costs to complete would lead to a decrease in the valuation of an asset.

However, there are interrelationships between the unobservable inputs which are partally determined by market cenditions, which would
impact on these changes.

Additional property disclosures - including cavenant information

At 31 March 2019, the Group property portfolio valuation of £9,028m {2017/18: £9,997ml comprises freeholds of £4,929m (2017/18: £5,711m];
virtual freeholds of £940m (2017/18; £895m); and tong leasehalds of £3,097m (2017/18 £3,391ml; and short leaseholds of £62m (2017/18: £nill.
The historical cost of properties was £5.853m (2017/18; £4,294m).

The property valuation does nct include any investment properties held under operating leases [2017/18: Enill.
Cumulative inierest capitalised against investment. development and trading properties amounts to £99m [2017/18: £101m).

Properties valued at £1,019m (2017/18: £1,202m) were subject to a security interest and other properties of nen-recourse companies amounted
to £1,115m (2017/18: €1,245m), totalling £2,134m (2017/18: £2,447m.

Inctuded within the property valuation is £28m (2017/18: £60m)] in respect of accrued contracted rental uplift income. The balance arises
through the IFRS treatment of leases containing such arrangements, which requires the recognition of rental income an a straight-line basis
over the lease term, with the difference between this and the cash receipt changing the carrying value of the property against which
revaluations are measured.

11 Joint ventures and funds
Summary movement for the year of the investments in joint ventures and funds

doint ventures Funds Tetal Equity Leans Total

Em Em £m tm Em tm

At1 April 2018 2.600 222 2,822 2392 430 2,822

Additions 23 33 61 41 20 (3]

Disposals 21 - 21 - (2} (21

Share of profit on ordinary activities after taxation 24 arn 7 7 - 7
Distributions and dividends:

- Capital (260: - (260) (260} - (250}

- Revenve 173} (13 ias) (B4} - (86)

Hedging and exchange mavements 18 - 18 18 - 18

At 31 March 2019 2,330 230 2,560 2112 448 2,560
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11 .Joint ventures and funds contnued

The summarised income statements and balance sheets below and on the following page show 100% of the results, assets and liabilities of

joint ventures and funds. Where necessary, these have been restated ta the Group’s accounting policies.
Joint ventures’ and funds’ summary financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019

Broadgale MSC Property 8L Sainsbury
REIT Inlermediale Superstares
Lid Heldings Ltd iid

Norges Bank

Eurp Bluebell LLP Investment
Partners [(¢][o]; Management J Sainsbury plc
City Offices Shopping Centres
Property sector Broadgate Meadowhall Superstores
Group share 50% 50% 50%
Summarised income statements £m £m Em
Revenue* 194 102 32
Costs (60] (24 -
134 78 32
Administrative expenses {1) - -
Net interest payable {71] (32 (11
Undertying Prelit 62 46 21
Net valuation movement 17 [152] 1
Capital financing ¢costs (371 - [3)
[Loss] profit on disposal of investment properties and investments 10 - [4)
Profit [loss} on ordinary activities before taxation 152 (108) 15
Taxation 4 - -
Prafit [loss) on ordinary activities after taxation 156 [104) 15
Other comprehensive inceme 36 - -
Total comprehensive income (expense) 192 (104) 15
British Land share of total comprehensive income {expense) 9% {53) 8
British Land share of distributions payable 275 4 20
Summarised balance sheets Em £m £m
investment and trading properties 4,024 1,744 488
Current assets 1] 4 4
Cash and deposits 219 3 40
Gross assets 4,242 1,779 532
Current Liabilities (83f 1371 (221
Bank and securitised debt 1,442 1612) [194)
Loans from joint venture partrers {479] (385} -
Other non-current liabilities - (20) -
Gross liabilities {2,004) {1,054) {218)
Net assets 2,238 725 314
British Land share of net assels less shareholder loans 1,11¢ 343 157

1. USS joint venlures include the Eden Walk Shopping Centre Unii Trust and the Fareham Property Partnership

2. Hercules Unit Trust joint ventures and sub-funds includes 50% of the results of Reapdaie Co-Ownership Trust, Fort Kinnaird Limited Partnership and Yatentine

Co-Ownership Trust and 41.25% of Birsiatl Co-Ownership Trust. The balante sheet shaws 50% of the assets of these joint ventures and svb-funds

3. Included in the column headed ‘Other joint ventures and funds’ are contribulions fram the fallewing: BL Goodman Limnited Partnership, The Aldgate Place Limited
Partnership, Bluebulton Property Managemeni UK Limited, City of Londan Office Unit Trust and Pilar Retail Europark Fund [PREF]. The Group's awnership
share of PREF i5 65%, however as the Group is not able to exercise contral gver significant decisions of the fund, the Group equity accounts for its interest in PREF

4. Revenue includes gross rental income at 100% share of €£310m (2017/18: £38%m]
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uss Hercules Unit Trust Other Total
joint joint venlures jeint ventures Total Group share
Tha SeuthGate Limited Partnership ventures' and sub-funds? and {unds? 2019 201%
Urwversities
Aviva Superannuation
Investors Scherne Group PLC
Shopping Shopping Retail
Centres Centres Parks
50% 50% Various
£m Em Em Em £m im
8 14 33 - 393 196
14) (5] 8] (1) (102] (51)
14 ¢ 25 (1] n 145
- - M - (2) (1)
(1] - (1} - (118l 158l
13 9 23 (1l 173 86
{25) [15) 152) {1l (127 (63}
- - (2} - 142} {21
- - {7} 3 4 J
{12) 18] (381 3 8 5
- - - - 4 2
i12] (6] {38) 3 12 7
- - - - 35 18
(12) (8) (38) 3 48 25
[8) 13) 19 2 25 -
5 4 13 - n -
Em Em £m Em £m £m
252 238 454 - 7,202 3,601
1 1 & 40 55 27
9 ) 13 5 323 162
262 245 475 45 7,580 3,790
(3] {4) (1 (101 (170} (8s)
- - - - {2,250) {1,125)
- 130] - (&) (300} [450)
(28] - - 8 (40) (20)
(31) {34} {11) (8) 13,350) (1,680)
3 21 464 37 4,220 2,110
116 105 232 18 2,110

The borrewings of jeint ventures and funds and thew subsidiaries are non-recourse 1o the Group. All joint ventures are incorporated in the United Kingdom, with the exceplion
of Broadgate REIT Limited and the Eden Walk Shapping Centre Unil Trust which are incorporated in Jersey. Of the funds, the Hercules Unit Trust IHUT) joint ventures and
sub-funds are incorporated in fersey and PREF in Luxembourg.

These financial staternents include the resutts and financial pesition of the Group's interest in the Fareham Property Partnership, the Aldgate Place Limited Partnership, the

BL Gaodman Limited Partnership and (he Gibraltar Limited Partnership. Accordingly, advantage has been taken of the exemplions provided by Reguiatian 7 of the

Partnership [Accounts| Regulations 2008 nat to attach the partnership accounts to these linancial statements.
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11 Joint ventures and funds continued

The summarised intome statements and balance sheets below and on the fellowing page show 100% of the results, assets and tiabilities of
joint ventures and funds. Where necessary, these have been restated to the Group's accounting policies.

Joint ventures’ and funds’ summary financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

Broadgale MSC Froperty 8L Sainsbury
REIT ntermediate Superstores
Lid' Holdings Lid L
Norges Bank
Euro Bluebell LLP invesiment
Partners Gicl Management J Sainsbury ple
City Offices  Shopping Centres
Property sector Broadgate Meadowhall Superstores
Group share 30% 50% 50%
Summarised income statements tm £m £m
Revenue® 255 102 39
Costs (64] 123] -
191 79 39
Administrative expenses 1) - -
Net interest payable 182 133] i16]
Underlying Profit 108 46 23
Net vajuation rovement 105 21 13
Capital financing costs - - (28]
[Loss] profit on dispesal of investment properties and investments 181 - 9
Profit [loss) on ordinary activities before taxation 195 &7 3
Taxation - - ~
Profit [lossl on ordinary activities after taxatian 195 &7 3
Cther comprehensive income (expenditure) 13 3 ~
Total comprehensive income 208 70
British Land share of total comprehensive income (expense) 104 35 2
British Land share of distributions payable 35 4 31
Summarised balance sheets em £m £m
Investment and trading properties 4,668 1.895 523
Current assets [ 6 -
Cash and deposits 291 39 90
Gross assels 4,965 1,940 613
Current liabilities (0N [41) [24]
Bank and securitised debt 11,764} (641) 12511
Loans from joint venture partners {445) {344} -
Other non-current liabilities (41} {20! -
Gross liabilities (2,357 11,064] [275)
Nei assets 2,608 874 38
British Land share of net assets less shareholder loans 1,304 437 169

1. Inctuded within the Broadgate REIT revenue is a £29m (£ 15m Britsh Land share] payment raceived in June 2017 fram the Royal Bank of Scotland in relation Lo their

surrender of a lease at 135 Bishopsgate

~

. USS jaint ventures include the Eden Walk Shopging Centre Unit Trust and the Fareham Property Partnership

3. Hercutes Uit Trust joint ventures and sub-funds in¢ludes 56% of the results of Deepdale Co-Ownership Trust, Gibrattar Limited Parinership and Valentine Co-Ownership
Trust and 4 1.25% of Birstall Co-Ownership Trust. The balance sheet shaws 50% of the assets of these joint ventures and sub-funds

4. Included in the column headed ‘Other joint ventures and funds’ are contribulions fram the fotlowing: BL Goodman Lirnited Partnership, The Aldgate Place Limited
Partnership, Bluebutian Praperty Management UK Limited, City of Londaen Office Unit Trust and Pillar Reteil Europark Fund [PREFL. The Group's ownership share of PREF

is 65%, however as the Group is not able 1o exercrse control over signilicant decisians of the fund, the Group equity accounts for its interest in PREF
5. Revenue includes gross rentalincome at 100% share of £385m 12017/18: C437m|
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uss Hercules Unit Trust Other Tuotal

jount joint veniures jount ventures Total Group share
The SouthGatg Limited Partnership venlurest and sub-fundg? and funds* 2018 2m8
Universities
Aviva Superannuation
Investors Scheme Group PLC
Shopping Shapping Retail
Centres Centres Parks
50% 50% Various
Em Em Em Em £m £m
18 13 36 ) 489 235
(4] l4) (5] 12] (102 151}
14 9 N 4 367 184
i1l - - - (2) Mm
(1} - {4} - {134) {68)
12 g 27 4 229 115
10 - (28] - 105 52
- - - - (26) {13]
1 - - 2 (4} (3}
23 9 {1] b 302 151
23 3 3} & 302 151
- - - - 16 B
23 ¢ }]] (3 318 159
11 5 (1 3 159
5 4 14 - 23
£m £m ] £m £m £m Em
275 250 590 - 8,201 4,100
1 1 4 42 &0 N
9 7 1t 8 454 227
285 258 604 50 8,715 4,358
4] 1) (1) (15t (207} (105]
- - (140) - [2,776) {1,388)
- (28] - [6) (8&1) (4301
{28 - (4} 5 (88) (43)
{32} (31) {155} 114) 13,932) (1,948)
253 227 449 A 4,78) 2,392
127 113 226 16 2,392

& Included in the column headed ‘Other joint venlures and funds’ are centributions from the following: BL Geodman Limiled Partnership, The Aldgate Piace Limiled
Partnership, Bluebutton Properly Managament UK Limited, City of London Office Unit Trust and Pillar Retail Evropark Fund [PREF). The Group's ownership share of PREF
is 45%, however as the Group is not able Lo exercise contral over significant decisions of the fund, the Group equity accounts for its interest in PREF

7. Revenue includes gross rental income at 100% share of £385m (2016/17: £437m

The borrowings of joint vantures and funds and their subsidiaries are non-recourse to the Group. All joint veniures are incorporated in the United Kingdom. with the exception
of Broadgate REIT Limited and the Eden Walk Shapping Cenlre Unit Trust which are incorporated in Jersey. Of the funds. the Hercwes Unit Trust [HUT] joint ventures and
sub-lunds are incorporated in Jersey and PREF in Luxembourg.

These financial statements include the results and financial position of the Group's interest in the Faraham Praperty Partnership, the Aldgate Place Limited Partnership, the
BL Goodman Limited Partnership, the Auchinlea Partnership and the Gibraltar Limited Partnership. Accordingly, advanlage has been taken of the exemptions provided by
Regulat:on 7 of the Partnership {Accounts) Regulatiens 2008 nol o attach the partnership accounts to these financial statements.
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11 Joint ventures and funds continued
Operating cash flows of joint ventures and funds [Group share)

219 2018
£m Em

Rental income received from tenants 1460 199
Operaling expenses paid to suppliers and employees (23) (221
Cash generated from operations 137 177
Interest paid {701 (731
Interest received 1 1
UK corporation tax paid 2 1l
Cash inflow from operating activities L1 104
Cash inflow from operating activities depleyed as:
Surplus cash retained within joint ventures and funds 7 26
Revenue distributions per consolidated statement of cash flows 59 78
Revenue distributions split between contratling and non-controlling interests
Attributable to non-controlling interests 3 2
Attributable to shareholders of the Company 11 76
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12 Other investments

2019 2018
Fair value Property, Fair value Property.
through Amortised plant and Intangibie through Amortised plant and Imiangible

profit or (oss cost equipment assets Total prafit or loss cosl equipment assets Tatal

£m £m £m £m £m Em Em Ern £€m £Em

At Y April 112 28 24 10 174 107 27 11 9 194
Additions - 8 4 4 16 - - 15 4 19
Transfers / disposals - 27 - - (27 - (2} - - {2
Revaluatian 2 (4) - - (2) 5 3 - - 8
Depreciation / amortisation - - (6} (4 110) - - (2} 13) ]
At 31 March 114 5 22 10 151 112 28 24 10 174

The investment at fair vatlue through profit or loss comprises interests as a trust beneficiary. The trust’s assets comprise freehold reversions
in a pool of commercial properties, comprising Sainsbury’s superstores. The interest is categorised as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy, is
subject to the same inputs a5 those disclosed in note 10, and its fair value was determined by the Directors, supported by an external valuation.

13 Debtors
2019 208
€m Em
Trade and other debtors 48 28
Prepayments and accrued income 9 7
57 35

Trade and other debtors are shown after deducting a provision for tenant incentives of £15m [2017/18: £14m| and & provision for doubtful debts
of £5m [2017/18: £5r). The provision for doubtful debts is calculated as an expected credit Loss on trade and other debtors in accordance with
IFRS 9 [see Note 1]. The charge tc the income statement in relation to the write off of tenant incentives was £1m [2017/18: E1m).

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of irade and other debtors is approxirnate to their fair value. There is no concentration

of credit risk with respect to trade debtors as the Group has a large number of customers who are paying their rent in advance.

14 Creditors

2019 08
&m Em

Trade creditors 9% 146
Other taxation and sotial security 42 30
Accruals 82 73
Deferred incame FAl 75
289 324

Trade creditors are interest-free and have seitlement dates within one year. The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other

creditors is approximate to their fair value.
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13 Other non-current liabilities

2019 618
£m Em
Head leases 92 62
92 62
16 Deferred tax
The movement on deferred tax is as shown below:
Deferred tax assets year ended 31 March 2019
1 April Debited ta Crodited 3 March
e ncome AD equity ik
Em £m £m £m
Interest rate and currency derivative revaluations 4 13 - 1
Other timing differences 7 " - é
1l (&) - 7
Deferred tax liabilities year ended 31 March 2019
em £m £m im
Praoperty and invesiment revaluations (7 - 1 1]
(7) - 1 (&)
Net deferred tax assets 4 {4) 1 1
Deferred tax assets year ended 31 March 2018
¥ April Credited 1o Oehited 31 March
W7 income G equity 2018
fm Em £m tm
Interest rate and currency derivative revaluations 4 5 (5 4
Other timing differences 7 - - 7
11 5 [5) 1
Deferred tax liabilities year ended 31 March 2018
£m Em Em Em
Property and investment revaluations 17 - - (7]
7 - - 7
Net deferred tax assets 4 5 [5) 4

The fellowing corporation tax rates have been substantively enacted: 19% effective from 1 April 2017 reducing to 1 7% effective from 1 April

2020. The deferred tax assets and liabilities have been calculated at the tax rate effective in the period that the tax is expected to crystallise.

The Group has recognised a deferred tax asset calculated at 17% (2017/18: 17%] of £6m [2017/18: £7ml in respect of capital losses from
previgus years available for offset against future capital profit. Further unrecagnised deferred tax assets in respect of capitzl losses of
£123m {2017/18: €123m] exist at 31 March 2019,

The Group has recognised deferred tax assets on derivative revaluations to the extent that future matching taxable profits are expected
to arise.

AL 3t March 2019, the Group had an unrecognised deferred tax asset calculated at 17% (2017/18: 17%)| of £49m {2017/18; £43m] in respect
of UK revenue tax losses from previous years.

Under the REIT regime, development properties which are sold within three years of completion do not benefit from tax exemption.
At 31 March 2019, the value of such properties is £148m [2017/18: £176m) and if these properties were to be sold and no tax exemption
was available, the tax arising would be £11m (2017/18: £13m).
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17 Net debt

2019 2018
Footnote £m Em
Secured on the assets of the Group
5.264% First Mortgage Debenture Bonds 2035 368 349
5.0055% First Mortgage Amortising Debentures 2035 94 95
5.357% First Mortgage Debenture Bonds 2028 252 295
Bank loans 1 512 512
Loan notes 2 2
1,228 1,233
Unsecured
5.50% Senior Notes 2027 99 100
3.895% Senicr US Dollar Nates 2018 2 - 27
4.635% Senior US Dollar Notes 2021 2 148 1964
4.766% Senior US Dollar Notes 2023 ? 106 97
$.003% Senior US Dollar Notes 20246 2 49 43
3.81% Senior Notes 2024 M 110
3.97% Senior Motes 2024 113 12
0% Convertible Bond 2020 343 337
2.375% Sterling Unsecured Bond 2029 298 298
4.16% Senior US Dollar Notes 2025 2 78 -
2.67% Senior Notes 2025 37 -
2.75% Senior Notes 2026 a7 -
Floating Rate Senior Notes 2028 80 -
Bank loans and overdrafts 264 395
1,803 1,895
Gross debt 3 3,031 3,128
Interest rate and currency derivative liabilities 130 138
Interest rate and currency derivative assels 1154) [115]
Cash and short term deposits 4,5 (242) (105]
Total net debt 2,765 3,044
Net debt attributable ta non-controlling interests (104) 1ol
Net debt attributable to shareholders of the Company 2,661 2,937
1. These are nen-recourse borrowings with no recaurse far repayment i othér companies or assels in the Group
“tm ‘o
Hercules Umit Trust 512 512
512 512

2 Principal and interest on these barrowings were fully hedged into Sterling at a floating rate at the time of issue

3. The principal amount of gross debt at 31 March 2019 was £2,881m [2017/18: £3.007m|. Included in this is the principal amount of secured berrawirgs and other borrowings
of nen-recourse companies of £1.158m af which the borrowings of the partly-owned subsidiary. Hercules Unit Trust, not beneficially owned by the Group are E112m

4. Included withw cash and short term deposits is the cash and short tarm deposits of Hercules Uinit Trust, of which £9m is the proportion not beneficially owned by the Group
5. Cash and deposits not subject (o a security interest amount te £228m [2017/18: £91ml|
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17 Net debt continued
Maturity analysis of net debt

019 018

tm £m

Repayakle: within one year and on demand 79 27
Between: ane and two years 710 163
two and five years 171 1,194

five and ten years 808 803

ten and fifteen years 305 305

fifteert and twenty years 465 436

2,932 310

Gross debt 3,0 3,128
Interest rate and currency derivatives 124) 23
Cash and short term deposiis {242) [105]

Net debt 2,765 3,046

0% Convertible bond 2015 (maturity 2020]
On 9 June 2015, British Land (White) 2015 Limited [the 2015 Issuer}, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, issued £350 million zero coupon
guaranteed cenvertibie bonds due 2020 (the 2015 bonds| at par. The 2015 Issuer is futly guaranteed by the Company in respect of the 2015 bonds.

Subject to their terms, the 2015 bonds are convertible into preference shares of the 2015 Issuer which are automatically transferred to

the Company in exchange for ordinary shares in the Company or, at the Company's election, any combination of ordinary shares and cash.
Bondhelders may exercise their conversion right at any time up to but excluding the 7th dealing day belare 9 June 2020 [the maturity datel,
a bondhelder may convert at any time.

The initial exchange price was 1103.32 pence per ordinary share. The exchange price is adjusted based on certain events {such as the Company paying
dividends in any gquarter above 3.418 pence per ordinary sharel. As at 31 March 2019 the exchange price was 1007.24 pence per ardinary share.

From 30 June 2018, the Company has the option to redeem the 2015 bonds at par if the Company’s share price has traded above 130% of

the exchange price tor a specified period, or at any time once 85% by noerninal value of the 2015 bonds have been canverted, redeemed, or
purchased and cancelled. The 2015 bonds will be redeemed at par on 9 June 2020 [the maturity datel if they have not already been converted,
redeemned or purchased and cancetled.

Fair value and book value of net debt

2019 018

Fair value Book value Cilereace Fair valye Boak value Difierence

£m €m m £m £m £m

Debentures and unsecured bonds 2,036 1.910 126 1,783 1,682 101
Convertible bonds 343 343 - 337 337 -
Bank debt and other floating rate debt 784 778 & 1118 1,109 7
Gross debt 3,163 3,01 132 3,236 3,128 108
Interest rate and currency derivative liabilities 130 130 - 138 138 -
Interest rate and currency derivative assets (154) (154} - {115) (115 -
Cash and short term deposits (242) (242) - (105) (105} -
Net debt 2,897 2,765 132 3154 3,046 108
Net debl attributable to non-controlling interests (105 {104) (1 (110} 1109} (n
Net debt attributable to shareholders of the Company 2,792 2,661 17 3,044 2,937 107

The fair values of debentures, unsecured bonds and the convertible bond have been established by abtaining quoted market prices from
brokers. The bank debt and other floating rate debt has been vaiued assuming it could be renegotiated at contracted margins. The derivatives
have been valued by calculating the present value of expecied future cash flaws, using appropriate market discoumt rates, by an independent
treasury adviser.

Short term debtors and creditors and other investrnents have been excluded from the disclosures on the basis that the fair value is equivalent
to the book value. The fair value hierarchy tevel of debt held at amortised cost is level 2 [as defined in note 101.
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17 Net debt continued

Group loan to value [LTY)
201% 2018
Em im
Group loan to value [LTV) 22.2% 22.1%
Principal amount of gross debt 2,881 3,007
Less debt attributable to non-controlling interests 12 191
Less cash and short term deposits [balance sheet) {242) (1051
Plus cash attributable tc non-controlling interests 9 10
Total net debt for LTV calculation 2,536 2,793
Group property portfolio valuzstion [note 10| 9,028 9,997
Investments in joint ventures and funds [note 11) 2,560 2,822
Other investrments (note 12) 151 174
Less property and investments attributable to non-controlling interests 1317 {344}
Total assets for LTV calculation 11,422 12.627
Proportionally consolidated loan to value (LTV] )
9 w18
£m £m
Proportionally consolidated lean to value ILTV] 28.1% 28.4%
Principal amount of gross debt 4,007 4,399
Less debt attributable to non-contrelling interests . a2 11351
Less cash and short term deposits (402) (3314
Plus cash attributable tc nen-controlling interests 9 10
Total net debt for proportional LTV catculation 3,502 3,943
Group property portfolio valuation (note 10] 9,028 2,997
Share of property of joint ventures and funds [note 10) 3,605 4,102
Other investments [note 12] 151 174
Less other investments attributable to joint ventures and funds - 2l
Less property attributable to non-controlling interests (317 (383l
Total assets for proportional LTV calculation 12,467 13,888
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17 Net debt continued

British Land Unsecured Financiat Covenants
The two financial covenanis applicable to the Group unsecured debt including convertible honds are shawn below:

2019 018
£m £m
Net Borrowings not to exceed 175% of Adjusted Capital and Reserves 29% 29%
Principal amount of gross detn 2,887 3,007
Less the relevant proportion of borrowings of the partly-owned subsidiary/non-controlling interests (112) (119
Less cash and deposits (balance sheet| 12621 {1051
Plus the relevant propertion of cash and deposits of the partly-owned subsidiary/non-centrolling interests 9 10
Net Borrowings 2,536 2,793
Share capital and reserves {balance sheet) 8,489 9506
EPRA deferred tax adjustment (EPRA Table Al 5 5
Trading preperty surpluses [EPRA Table A) 29 134
Exceptional refinancing charges see below} . 216 233
Fair value adjustments of financial instruments (EPRA Table A) 113 137
Less reserves attributable to non-controlling interests [balance sheet) (211} (254)
Adjusted Capital and Reserves . 8,841 A

in calculating Adjusted Capital and Reserves for the purpose of the unsecured debt financial covenants, there is an adjustment of £216m
(2017/18: £233m] ta reflect the cumudative net amortised exceptional items relating to the refinancings in the years ended 31 March 2005,
2006 and 2007.

019 2018
£m £
Net Unsecured Borrowings not to exceed 70% of Unencumbered Assets 21% 23%
Principal amount of gross debt 2,881 3,007
Less cash and deposits not subject to a security interest (being £228m less the relevant proportion of cash and (221) (84)
deposits of the parily-owned subsidiary/non-controlling interesis of £7m)
Less principal amount of secured and non-recourse borrowings [1,158) 11,1591
Net Unsecured Borrowings 1,502 1,744
Group property portfolio valuation {note 10 9,028 9.997
Investments in joint ventures and funds note 1) 2,560 2,822
Dther investrments [nate 12) 151 174
Less inwestments in joint ventures (2,550} [2.822)
Less encumbered assets (note 10} 12,134) 12,447
Unencumbered Assets 7.045 7,724
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17 Net debt continued

Reconciliation of movement in Group net debt for the year ended 31 March 2019

Arrangement
Foreign costs
2018 Cash flows Transiers® exchange Fair value amortisation 019
tm £m £m Em Em £m im
Short term barrowings 27 {25) 99 12} - - 99
Long term borrowings 3101 [105] 199) (22} 53 4 2,932
Derivatives' 23 12 - 24 (569) - [24)
Total liabilities from financing activities® 3,151 {132) - - (16} 4 3,007
Cash and cash equivalents (105) {1371 - - - - (242}
Net debt 3,046 {249) - - (16) 4 2,765
Reconciliation of movemnent in Group net debt for the year ended 31 March 2018
Arrangement
Foreign cosls
017 Cash flows. Transiers® exchange Fair value amartisation 2018
£m £m Em £m £m £€m £m
Short term borrowings 4b4 {458) 27 - (6] - 27
Long term borrowings 2817 361 [27) (40} (0] - 3.0
Derivatives? (73 29 - 40 27 - 23
Total liabilities from financing activities? 3,208 {68) - - 1 - 3,153
Cash and cash equivalents 1114 9 - - - - (105
Net debt 3,094 (5%] - - 11 - 3.046
1. Cash llows on derivatives include £17m ol net receipls on derivative interest
2. Cash llows on derivatives include €20 of net receipls on derivative inlerest
3. Transfers comprises debt maturing from leng term to short term borrawings
4 Cash flows of £132m shown above represents net cash flows an capilal payments in respect of interest rate derivative of £19m, decrease in bank and other borrowings of

E576m and drawdowns on bank and other borrawings of £444m shown in the consalidated statement of cash flows, atong with E17m of net receipis on derivative interest

w

. Cash flows of £68m shown above represents nel cash flows on interest rate derivative closeouts of £9m. decrease in bank and other borrowings of E626m and

drawdowns en bank and other borrowings of £529m shown in the consolidated staterment of cash flows, along with £20m of net receipts on derivative interest

Fair value hierarchy

The table below grovides an analysis of financial instruments carried at fair value, by the valuation method. The fair value hierarchy levels are

defined in note 10.

2019 2018
Level 1 Leval 2 Level ] Total Level 1 Levet 2 Level 2 Tetal
Em £m £m £m £€m £m Em Em
Interest rate and currency derivative assets - (154) - 1154) - (115] - (115}
Other invesirnents - fair value through profit
ar loss (14 - (100) (114) (14} - (98) (112)
Assets (14) (154) (100) (268) (14} (115] {98} [227)
Interest rate and currency derivative
liabilities - 130 - 130 - 138 - 138
Convertible bonds 343 - - 43 337 - - 337
Liabitities 343 130 - 473 337 138 - 475
Total 329 {24) (100} 205 323 23 (98] 248
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17 Net debt continued
Categories of financial instruments

2019 2018
£m Em
Financial assets
Fair value through income statement
Other investments - fair value through profit or loss 114 98
Derivatives in designated hedge accounting relationships'? 148 110
Detivatives not in designated hedge accounting relationships é 5
Amortised cost
Trade and other debtors 48 28
Cash and short term deposits 242 105
Other investments - amortised cost 5 42
563 388
Financial liabilities
Fair value through income statement
Convertible bond [343) (337
Derivatives in designated hedge accounting relationships’ (4) (5]
Derivatives not in designated accounting relationships (125) (133
Amortised cost
Gross debt (2,688) {2,791)
- Head leases payable 92) 621
Creditors {208) 12371
(3,481} 13,565]
Total (2,898) (3,177)

1. Derivative assels and lisbilities in designated hedge accounting relationships sit within the derivative assets and derivative liabilities balances of the consalidated
balance sheet

2. The fair value of derivative assets in designated hedge accounting relationships represents the accumulated amount of fair value hedge adjustments on hedged ems

Gains and losses on financial instrumnents, as classed above, are disclosed in note & [net financing costs}, note 13 [debtorsl, the consolidated
income statement and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. The Qirectors consider that the carrying amounts of other
investments and head leases payable are approximate to their fair value, and that the carrying amounts are recoverable.

Capital risk management

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt and equity attributable to the equity holders of The British Land Company PLC,
comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings. Risks rafating to capital structure are addressed within Managing risk in delivering
our strategy on pages 54 ta 57. The Group's objectives, policies and pracesses for managing debt are set out in the Financial policies and
principles on pages 51 ta 53.

Interest rate risk management

The Group uses interesl rate swaps and caps to hedge exposure to the variability in cash flows on floaling rate debt, such as revolving bank
facilities, caused by movements in market rates of interest,

At 3% March 2019, the fair value of these derivatives is a net liability of £121m. Interest rate swaps with a fair value of E4m have been designated
as cash flow hedges under IFRS 9.

The ineffectiveness recognised in the incomne statement on cash flow hedges in the year ended 31 March 2019 was Enil (2017/18: £nill.

The cash Hows occur and are charged to profit and loss until the maturity of the hedged debt. The lable below summarises variable rate debt
hedged at 31 March 2019.
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17 Net debt continued
Variable rate debt hedged

2019 W8
£m Em

Outstanding: at one year 1,155 775
at two years 1,005 400

at five years 250 250

at ten years 250 250

Fair value hedged debt
The Group uses interest rate swaps 10 hedge exposure on fixed rate financial liabilities caused by movemnents in market rates of interest,

At 31 March 2019, the fair value of these derivatives is a net asset of £145m_Interast rate swaps with a fair value of £148m have been
designated as far value hedges under IFRS 9 [2017/18: asset of £110m].

The crass currency swaps of the 2021/2023/2025/2026 US Private Placements fully hedge the foreign exchange exposure at an average floating
rate of 142 basis points above LIBOR. These have been designated as fair value hedges af the US Private Placements.

Interest rate profile - including effect of derivatives
2019 018

im Em
Fixed or capped rate 2,222 2.107
Variable rate [net of cashl 543 939

2,765 3,046

All the delit is effectively Sterling denominated except far £3m {2017/18: £3m] of Euro debt of which £3m is at a variabte rate [2017/18: £3m}
and E1rn of USD debt of which E1m is gt 3 variable rate {2018/19: £nil ).

At 31 March 2019 the weighted average interest rate of the Sterling fixed rate debt is 3.4% [2017/18: 3. 2%). The weighted average period for
which the rate is fixed is 8.9 years [2017/18: 9.1 years) The floating rate debt is set for periods of the Cempany's choosing at the relevant
LIBOR [or similar] rate.

The propartion of net debt [on & properiionally consolidated basisl at fixed or capped rates of interest was 87% at 31 March 2019 on a spot
basis. The proportion of net debt at fixed ar capped rates of interest as an average over the next five-year forecast period, on a proportionally
consolidated basis, was 63% at 31 March 2019. Based on the Group’s interest rate profile, at the balance sheet date, a 98 bps increase in
interest rates would decrease annual prafits by £9m [2017/18: £59m decrease based on a 576 bps increasel. Similarly, a 85 bps reduction
would increase profits by £%m (2017/18: £10m increase based on a 72 bps reduction]. The change in interest rates used for this sensitivity
analysis is based on the largest annual change in three-month Sterling LIBOR over the last len years, The impact assumes LIBOR does not
fall below 0%.

Upward movements in mediurm and iong term interest rates, associated with higher interest rate expectations, increase the value of the
Group’s interest rate swaps and caps that provide protection against such maves. The converse is true for dewnward movements in the yield
curve. A 173 bps shift represents the largest annual change in the seven-year Sterling swap rate over the last ten years. At 31 March 2019

a 173 bps parallel upward shift in swap rates would increase the vatue of cash flow hedges and derivatives that are not hedge accounted by
£65m [2017/18: £68m based on a 204 bps increasel. A 173 bps downward shift in swap rates would reduce the value of these derivatives by
£62m {2017/18: £81m based on a 204 bps decrease).

The 0% 2015 Convertible Bond is designated as fair value through profit or loss. Principal components of the market value of this bond
inctude British Land's share price and jts volatility, and market interest rates.

The fair value of the 0% 2015 Convertible Band at 31 March 2019 was a £343m Llisbility. At 31 March 2019 3 173 bps parallel upward shift
in interest rales would reduce the fair value lizbility by E7m, and a 173 bps downward shift in interest rates would increase the fair value
liability by £7m.
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17 Net debt continued

Foreign currency risk management

The Group’s policy i$ to have no material unhedged net assets or liabilities denominated in toreign currencies. The currency risk on
overseas investments is hedged via foreign currency denominated borrowings and derivatives, The Group has adopted net investment
hedging in accordance with IFRS 9 and therefore the partion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is determined to be an
effective hedge is recognised directly in equity. The ineffective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised
immaediately in the income staterment.

The table below shows the carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities. Provided contingent tax
on gverseas investments is not expected to occur it will be ignored for hedging purposes, Based on the 31 March 2019 paosition a 26%
appreciation llargest annual change over the last ten years] in the Euro relative fo Sterling would result in a £nil change {2017/18: £nil)
in reported profits. Based on the 31 March 2017 position a 27% appreciation {largest annual change over the last ten years] in the USD
relative ta Sterling would result in a Enil change [2017/18: £nill in reported profits.

Assels Liabilities
2019 08 208 018
£m Em £m £m
Euro denominated k| 3 3 3
US0 dencminaled - - 1 -

Credit risk management

The Group's appreach te credit risk management of counterparties is referred toin the Financial policies and principies on pages 51 10 53 and
the risks addressed within Managing risk in delivering aur strateqy on pages 54 ta 57. The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the
financial statements represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of any collateral obtained.

Cash and short term deposits at 31 March 2019 ameunted to £242m (2017/18: £105m!l. Deposits and interest rate depasits were placed with
financial institutions with BBB+ or better credit ratings.

At 31 March 2019, the fair value of all interest rate derivative assets was E154m (2017/18: £115m).

At 33 March 2019, prior to taking into account any offset arrangements, the largest combined credit exposure 10 a single counterparty arising
from money market depasits, liquid investments and derivatives was £68m (2017/18: £49m). This represents 0.6% [2017/18: 0.4%] of grass assets.

The deposit exposures are with UK banks and UK branches of international banks.

Provisions are made for trade receivables taking into account historic credit losses and the creditworthiness of debtors.

Liquidity risk management
The Group’s approach to liquidity risk ranagement is discussed in 1he Financral policies and principles on pages 51 to 53, and the risks
addressed within Managing risk in delivering our strategy on pages 94 10 57.

The follawing table presents a maturity profile of the contracted undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date
on which the Group can be required 1o pay. The table includes bath interest and principal flows Where the interest payable is not fixed,
the amount disclosed has been determined by reference to the prejected interest rates implied by yield curves at the reporting date,

For derivative financial instruments that settle on a nat basis {e.g. interest rate swaps| the undiscounted net cash flows are shown and for
derivatives that require gross settlernent le.g. cross currency swaps| the undiscounted gross cash Hlows are presented. Where payment
obligations are in foreign currencies, the spot exchange rate ruling at the balance sheet date is used. Trade creditors and amounts owed
to joint ventures, which are repayable within ane year, have been excluded from the analysis.

The Group expects to meet its financial liabilties through the various available liquidity sources, including a secure rental income profile,
asset sales, undrawn committed borrowing facilities and, in the longer term, debt refinancings.

The Group leases out all its investment properties under aperating leases with a weighted average lease length of six years. This secure
income profile is generated from upward only rent reviews, (ong leases and high accupancy rates, The future aggregate minimum rentals
receivable under non-cancellable aperating leases are also shown in the table below. Income from joint ventures and funds is not included
below. Additional liquidity will arise from letting $pace in properties under construction as well as from distributions received from joint
ventures and fungds.
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17 Net debt continued
Liquidity risk management continued

2019
Within Following Three to Over five
ofia year year five years years Tolad
£m £m tm £m £m
Debt’ 100 703 4635 1,505 2,943
Interest on debt 89 84 212 384 ™
Berivative payments 1 13 267 243 534
Head lease payments 3 3 4 382 3%7
Total payments 203 803 1,123 2,514 4,545
Derivative receipts ' (28] 127 1334} (180) (567)
Net payment 177 774 789 2,336 4,078
Operating leases with tenants 413 387 876 1,307 2,983
Liquidity surpius {deficit) 236 1389} a7 11,029 1,095)
Cumulative liquidity surplus ldeficit) 236 (153) 166) (1,095)
2018
Within Following Three to Over live
ane year year five years years Total
£m fm £m Em fm
Debt? 30 166 1,173 1,480 3.04%
Interest on debt 92 94 232 475 893
Derivative payments 34 16 182 259 491
Head lease payments 2 2 7 257 278
Tatal payments 158 278 1.594 2,681 4711
Derivative receipts : (52) 1201 [209) (194 (477)
Net payment 106 258 1,385 2.489 4,234
Operating leases with lenants 424 399 968 1.4%0 3.281
Liquidity surplus |deficit) 318 141 617) [995) {953)
Cumulative liquidity surplus (deficit} 318 459 42 (953)

1. Bross debt of £3,031m [2017/18; £3,128m)] represents the tatal of £2.943m {2017/18: £3,049m), less unamortised issue costs of £12m (2017/18: £13m). plus fair value
adjustments to dedt of £100m (2017/18: £92m|

Any short term liquidity gap between the net payments required and the rentals receivable can be met through other liquidity sources available
10 the Group, such as comrmitted undrawn borrowing facilities. The Group currently holds cash and shart term deposits of E242m of which
£228m is not subject 1o a securily snterest [see foolnote 5 to net debt table on page 149. Further liquidity can be achieved through sates of
property assets or investments and debt refinancings

The Group's property portfolio is valued externally at £9.028m and the share of joint ventures and funds™ property is valued at £3.605m.
The committed undrawn borrowing facilities available to the Group are a further source of liquidity. The maturity profile of commstted undrawn
berrowing facilities is shown below.

Maturity of committed undrawn borrowing facilities

209 wig

&m €m

Maturity date: over five years 275 40
between four and five years 832 20

between three and lour years 86 1.010

Total facilities available for more than three years 1,193 1,160
Between two and three years 435 85
Between cne and two years - 86
Within one year - -

Total 1,628 1.331

The abgve facilities are comprised of British Land undrawn facilities of £1,542m plus undrawn facilities of Hercules Unit Trust totalling £86m.
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18 Leasing
Operating leases with tenants
The Group leases out all of its investment properties under operating leases with 3 weighted average lease length of six years [2017/18:
eight years]. The future aggregate minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:
019 8

£m Em
Less than one year 413 424
Between one and two years 387 399
Between three and five years 874 9468
Between six and ten years 792 0é
Between elevenr and fifteen years 34 393
Between sixteen and twenty years 11 145
After twenty years 20 46
Total 2,983 3,281
Operating lease commitments
The future aggragate minimum rentals payable under non-canceltable operating teases are as follows:
2019 2018
Em £m
Less than one year c 8 3
Between one and two years 8 3
Between three and five years 15 8
Between six and ten years 20 7
Between eleven and fifleen years 7 -
Total . 58 21

The Group's leasehold investment properties are typically under non-renewable teases without significant restrictions. Finance lease liabilities
are payable as follows; no contingent rents were payable in either period.

e mse
Minimum Minimum
iease lease
paymants Interest Principal payments Interest Principal
€m (1] £m £m tm £€m
British Land Group
Less than ane year 3 3 - 2 2 -
Between one and two years 3 3 - 2 2 -
Between two and five years 9 ? - 7 7 -
More than five years 382 290 92 267 205 62
Total 397 305 92 278 216 62
Less future finance charges [305) (214]
Present value of lease obligations 92 62
More than five years 92 &2
Present vatue of lease obligations 92 62
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19 Dividends

As announced on 15 May 2019, the Board is recornmending a final dividend of 7.75 pence per share, totalling £74m (2017/18: 7.52 pence per
share, totalling £74m). subject to the approval of shareholders, this is payable on 2 August 2019 to shareholders on the register at the close of

business on 28 June 2019.

PID dividends are paid, as required by REIT legislation, after deduction of withhalding tax at the basic rate [currently 20%], where appropriate.

Certain classes of sharehalders may be able to elect to receive dividends gross. Please refer to our website britishland.com/dividends

{or details.
Pence per 2009 2018
Payment date Dividend shara m Em
Cutrent year dividends
02.08.2019 2019 Finai 7.7%!
01.05.2M¢9 2019 3rd interim 7.75
08.02.2019 2019 2nd interim 775 74
0%9.11.2018 2019 st interim 7.75 76
31.00
Prior year dividends
03.08.2018 2018 4th interim 7.52 T4
04.05.2018 2018 3rd interim 792 74
09.02.2018 2018 2nd interim 7.52 75
10.11.2017 2018 1stinterim 7.52 77
30.08
04.08.2017 2017 4th interim 7.30 75
05.05.2017 2017 3rd interim 7.30 73
Dividends in consolidated staterment-
of changes in equity 298 302
Dividends settled in shares - -
Cividends settled in cash 298 302
Timing difference relating to payment
of withholding tax - 2
Dividends in cash flow statement 298 304
1. Dividend split half PtD, half non-PID
20 Share capital and reserves
2019 2018
Number of ordinary shares in issue at 1 April 993,857,125 1,041,035.058
Share issues 404,377 429,206
Repurchased and cancelled 133,672,430)  (47,607,139)
At 31 March 960,589,072 993,857,125

Of the issued 25p ordinary shares, 7.376 shares were held in the ESOP trust [2017/18: 7.376), 11,266,245 shares were heid as treasury shares
{2017/18: 11,266,245] and 949,315,451 shares were in free issue [2017/18: 982,583,504}, No treasury shares were acquired by the ESOP trust
during the year. All issved shares are fully paid. In the year ended 31 March 2019 the Company repurchased and cancelled 33,672,430 ordinary
shares at a weighted average price of 594 pence.

Hedging and translation reserve

The hedging and translation reserve comprises the effective porticn cf the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow and foreign currency
hedging instruments, as well as all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations.
The foreign exchange differences also include the translation of the liabilities that hedge the Company’s net investment in a foreign subsidiary.

Revaluation reserve
The revaluation reserve relates to owner-occupied properties and investrnents in joint veniures and funds.
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20 Share capital and reserves continued

Merger reserve
This comprises the premium on the share placing in Mareh 2013, Ne share premium is recorded in the Company's financial statements,
through the operation of the merger relief provisions of the Companies Act 2006,

Al 31 March 2019, aptions over 6,308,150 ordinary shares were cutstanding under employee share eption plans. The options had a weighted
average life of 6.4 years. Details of outstanding share options and shares awarded to employees including Executive Directors are set out below
and on the foilowing page:

Exercise dales

At 1 April Vested but Exercised/ At 31 March Exercise

Date of grant 2018 Granted not exercised Vested Lapsed 201 price [pencal From To
Share options Sharesave Scheme

19.06.13 14,850 - - 114,243 (587t - 511.00 01918 01.03.19
23.06.14 82,512 - - (2,038 [2,664) 77,810 57406 01.9.19  01.02.20
22.06.15 27,900 - - - [27.384) 514 697.00 01.918 01.03.19
22.06.15 15,274 - - - [3.872 11,404 497.00 01.920 010321
20.06.16 45,926 - - 1394} [13962) 31,570 408.00 01.919 01.03.20
20.06.16 22,003 - - - {3254 18,747 408.00 01.9.21  01.03.22
21.06.17 256,819 - - (5,408 {51.058] 200,355 508.00 01.9.20 01.03.21
21.06.17 96,540 - - (4,485] [24,212) 67,843 508.00 01922 01.03.23
29.06.18 - 130,903 - (109F (18,5401 112,294 549.00 01.9.21  01.03.22
29.06.18 - 68,238 - - 17.103) 61,135 349.00 01.9.23 01.03.24

561,826 199,141 - (26.697] [152,636] 581,634

Long-Term Incentive Plan - options vested, not exercised

29.06.09 10,333 - - {7,751 - 2,582 387.00 290612 26.09.19
21.12.09 58.533 - - (1,615l - 56,938 446 .00 214212 21109
11.0610 1,132,269 - - (20.251] - 1,312,008 447.00 11.06.13  11.08.20
141210 55,133 - - (14,557] - 40,576 510.00 141213 141220
28.061 812.819 - - 113,517) - 799302 575.00 28.06.14 280827
19.12.11 70,175 - - 16,327) - 53,848 451.00 19.12.34 191221
140912 948,557 - - [158.974) - 809,583 538.00 140915 14.09.22
2012142 42197 - - (14,548) (888} 46,763 563.00 20125 201222
05.08.13 294,078 - - (96.859) (2,809] 194,410 401.00 05.08.16 05.08.23
05.12.13 171,909 - - 0,601 {6,098] 155,210 600.00 051216 05.12.23
28.06.17 - - 26,540 - - 24,540 81717 280620 28.06.27
3,636,023 - 26,540 (355,008 19,7951 3,297,760

Long-Term Incentive Plan - unvested options

22.06.15 889.122 - - - (889,122 - 813.17 220618 220625

22.06.16 1,221,620 - - - (6.927] 1,214,693 730.50 220639 220626

28.06.17 1,208,942 - - {26.540] {52,281 1,130,121 61717 2806.20 28.06.27

26.06.18 - 83,942 - - - 83,942 681.40 26.06.21 26.06.28
3,319,684 83,942 - (26,5400  (948,330] 2,428,756

Total 7517533 283.083 26540 (408,245] [1,110,761] 4,308,150

Weighted average exercise

price of options [pence) 607 588 817 548 768 582
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20 Share capital and reserves continued

Share price
At ) April Exercisedf At31March a1 grant date
Date of grant 2018 Granled Vesied Lapsed 2019 lpence]  Vesting date
Performance Shares Long-Term Incentive Plan
22.06.15 1,068,458 - - (1.048.458] - 81317 22.06.18
22.06.16 1,137,050 - - 165.495] 1,071,555 73050 22.06.19
28.06.17 1,897,612 - - 180,910 1,716,702 61717 28.06.20
260618 - 1,053,360 - - 1,053,350 48140 2560621

4,103,120 1,053,340 (1,314,843) 3,841,617

Restricted Share Plan
26.06.18 - 636,776 - (8,794) 627,982 4681.40 26.06.27
- 636,776 - [8,794) 627,982

Matching Share Plan

29.06.15 282170 - [141,085] [141,085] - 803.00 26.06.18

29.06.16 313176 - - 119.464] 293,732 60400  26.06.19
595,346 - (141,085} (160,529} 293,732

Totat 4,498,465 1,690,136 (141,085} (1,484,186} 4,763,331

Weighted average price of shares [pence) 699 481 803 781 465

21 Segment information

The Group allocates resources to snvestment and asset management according to the sectors it expects to perform over the medium term.
Its three principal sectors are Offices, Retail and Canada Water. The Retatl sector includes leisure, as this is often incorporated into Retail
schemes. The Cther/unallocated sector includes residential properties.

The relevant gross rental income, net rental income, operating result and property assets, being the measures of segment revenue, segment
result and segrment asseis used by the management of the business, are set cut below. Management reviews the performance of the business
principally an a proportionally consolidated basis, which includes the Group’s share of joint ventures and funds on a line-by-line basis and
excludes non-contrelling interests in the Group's subsidiaries. The chief operating decision maker for the purpose of segment information

is the Executive Commitiee.

Grass rental income is derived from the rental of buildings. Operating result 1s the net of net rental income, fee income and administrative
expenses. No customer exceeded 10% of the Group's revenues in either year.
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21 Segment information continued
Segment resuit

Dffices Retail Canada Walar Diherfunallocated Total
2019 008 2019 018 2019 w018 2019 2018 2019 2018
£€m £m £m Em &m £m £&m Em £m £m
Gross rental income
British Land Group 150 139 260 23 9 a 4 4 423 4264
Share of joint ventures and
funds 70 102 83 87 - - - - 153 189
Taotal 220 241 343 360 ] 8 4 4 576 613
Net rental income
British Land Group 139 31 238 254 ¥ 7 4 4 3%0 398
Share of joint ventures and
funds 1) 38 76 82 - - - - 142 180
Total 205 229 I 338 9 7 &4 4 532 576
Operating result
8British Land Group 132 124 235 248 4 4 142} {42 329 336
Share of jaint ventures and
funds &1 95 YAl 79 - - - 12 132 172
Total 193 221 306 327 4 4 142} (44! 461 508
. . 2019 2018
Reconciliatian to Undertying Profit €m £m
QOperating result : 481 508
Net financing costs na1 [128]
Underlying Profit 340 380

Reconciliation to [loss} profit an ordinary activities before taxation

Underlying Profit 340 380
Capital and other i 107
Underlying Profit attributable ta non-controlling interests 12 14
[Loss| profit on ordinary activities before taxation (319} 501

Reconciliation to Group revenue

Gross rental income per operating segment result 576 413
Less share of gross rental income of joint ventures and funds 11531 {189]
Plus share of gross rental income attributable to non-controlling interests 16 17
Grass rental income (note 3] 43¢ 441
Trading property sales proceeds 350 78
Service charge incorme : 76 b6
Managernent and performance fees [from joint ventures and funds) 7 5
Other fees and commissions 32 48
Revenue [Consolidated Income Statement) 904 639

A reconciliation between net financing costs in the consolidated inceme statement and net financing costs of £121m [2017/18: £128m) in the
segmeantal disclosures above can be found within Table A the supplementary disclosures. Of the total revenues above, £nil [2017/18. £nit)
was derived from outside the UK.
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21 Segment information continued

Segment assets
Olfices Retail Canada Water Orharfunallocated Tatal
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 019 2008
tm tm Em Em &m £m £m Em £m Em
Property assets
British Land Group 4,296 4,371 4,053 4915 303 283 109 113 8,741 9.682
Share of joint ventures and
funds 2,012 2334 1,524 1,681 - - 19 19 3,555 4,034
Total 6,308 4,705 5,577 6,594 303 283 128 132 12,316 13,715
Reconciliation to net assets
- 2019 208
British Land Group m £m
Property assets 12,316 13,716
Other nan-current assets 151 185
Non-current assets 12,467 13,901
Other net current liabilities 2971 [348)
Adjusted net debt (3,521 (3,973
Other non-current Liabilities - -
EPRA net assets [diluted) 8,649 9,540
Non-controlling tnterests m 254
EPRA adjustments {171 (308)
Net assets 8,489 2.506

22 Capital commitments

The aggregate capital commitments ta purchase, construct or develop investment praperty, for repairs, maintenance or enhancements, or far
the purchase of investments which are contracted for but not provided, are set out betow:

019

018

€m £m

British Land and subsidiaries 177 23%
Share of joint ventures 1M 193
Share of funds 1 _
289 432

23 Related party transactions
Details of transactions with joint ventures and funds are given in notes 3, 6 and 11. During the year the Group recognised joint venture
management fees of £6m (2017/18: £6m). Details of Directors’ remuneration are given in the Remuneration Report on pages 88 to 109.
Details of transactions with key management personnel are provided in note 8. Details of transactions with The British Land Group of
Companies Pension Scheme, and other smaller pension schemes, are given in note 9.

24 Contingent liabilities

Group, joint ventures and funds

The Group, joint ventures and funds have contingent hiabtlities in respect of legal claims, guarantees and warranties arising in the ordinary

caurse of business. It is not anticipated that any material liabilities will arise from contingent tiabilities.
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25 Subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests

Set out below is summarised financial infarmation for each subsidiary that has nan-contrelling tnterests that are material ta the Group.
The inforrmation below is the amount belare intercompany eliminations, and represents the consalidated results of the Hercules Unit

Trust group.

Summarised income statement for the year ended 31 March

Harcyles Uait Trust

[Loss] profit on ordinary activities after taxation

Attributable to non-controlling interests

Attributable to the shareholders of the Company

9 2038
em £m
[122) 53
i29) 14
193) Xk

Summarised balance sheet as at 31 March

Hercules Unit Trust

201% s

£€m tm

Total assets 1,415 1,548
Tatal liabitities (561 (5651
Net assets 854 983
Non-cantrolling interests 1211t [254)
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company 843 729

Surmnmarised cash flows

Hercules Unit Trust

Net [decrease] increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash eguivalents at 1 April

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March

201% 2018
£m £m
(3 3
43 40
40 43

The Hercules Unit Trust is a closed-ended property Unit Trust, The unit price at 31 March 2019 is £563 [2017/18; £484]. Non-controlling
interests collectively awn 21.9% of units in issue. The British Land Company PLC owns 78.1% of units in issue, each of which confer equal

voting rights, and therefore is deamed Lo exercise control over the trust.

26 Subsequent events
There have been no significant events since year end.
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27 Audit exemptions taken for subsidiaries
The following subsidiaries are exempt from the requiremnents of the Companies Act 2006 relating to the audit of individual accounts by virtue of
Section 4794 of that Act.

Companies House Companies House
Name reg number Name req number
17 19 Bedford Street Limited 7398971 BL Whiteley Limited 11253224
18-20 Craven Hill Gardens Limited 7667839 BL Whiteley Retail Limited 11254281
20 Brock Street Limited 7401637 BLD |Ebury Gatel Limited 3863852
8-10 Throgmorton Avenue Limited 3669490 BLD Properties Limited 0732787
Adshilta Limited 1052483 BLU Securities Limited 3323061
Bayeast Praperty Co Limited 0635800 Boldswitch Limited 2307096
BF Propco [No 1] Limited 5270158 British Land Aqua Partnership [2) Limited 6024921
BF Propce [No 3] Limited 5270195 British Land Aqua Partnership Limited 6024919
BF Propco INo 4] Limited 5270137 British Land City Offices Limited 3946069
BF Propco INo 5| Limited 5270219 British Land In Town Retail Limited 3325066
BL [Maidenhead) Company Limited 7667834 British Land Leisure Limited 5215384
BL Broadgate Fragment 1 Limited $400407 British Land Offices [Non-City] Limited 2740378
BL Broadgate Fragment 2 Limited 9400541 British Land Superstores [Non Securitised)
BL Broadgate Fragment 3 Limited 9400411 Number 2 Limited ) 6514283
BL Broadgate Fragment 4 Limited 2400409 Canagda Water (ffices Limited 10182442
BL Broadgate Fragment S Limited 9400413 Cornish Residential Properties Trading Limited 4106134
BL Broadgate Fragment & Limited 9400414 Cornish Residential Property lnvestments Limited 3523833
BL Cliften Moor Limited 7508019 Dinwell Limited 5035303
BL CW Developments Limited 10664198 Exchange House Holdings Limited 2037407
BL CW Developments Plot Al Limited 10782150 Hempel Hoidings Limited 3341380
BL CW Developments Plot A2 Limited 10782335 Hempe! Hotels Limited 2728435
BL CW Devetopments Plot D1/2 Company Limited 10997879 Hereford Old Market Limited 10509794
BL CW Holdings Plot G1 Company Limited 10781471 Insistrnetal 2 Limited 4181514
BL Cwmbran Limited 7780251 Ivoryhilt Limited 2307407
BL Eden Walk Limited 10620935 Lonebridge UK Limited 3292034
Bl Eurapean Holdings Limited 3044033 Mercari Limited 611267
BL Gocdman [LP) Limited 5056902 Minhill Investrments Limited 0823019
BL HC {DSCLI Limited 4290601 Moorage [Property Developments] Limited 1185513
BL MC Health And Fitness Holdings Limited 4374645 Osnaburgh Street Limited 5884735
BL HC Irwic Leisure Limited 2464159 Pardev [Luton] Limited 2849784
BL HC Property Holdings Limited 6894046 PC Canal Limited 9712919
BL Health Clubs PH No 1 Limited 5443248 Piccadilly Residentiat Limited 10525984
BL Health Clubs PH No 2 Limited 5643261 Pillar [Becktoni Limited 2783376
BL High Streei and Shopping Centres Pillar Broadway Limited 3589114
Holding Limited 6002148 Pillar Estates Limited 3044028
BL Holdings 2010 Limited 7353964 Pillar Fulham No.2 Limited 0266246
BL Lancaster Investments Ltd 10563072 Pillar Gallions Reach Limited 4895997
BL Meadawhall No & Limited 2015506 Pillar Projects Limited 2444288
BL Piccadilly Residential Retail Limited 9117243 Priary Park Merton Limited 4888365
BL Universal Limited 0324647 Regent's Place Holding Company Limited 10048705
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27 Audit exemptions taken for subsidiaries continued

Companies House Companies House
Name reg number Name reg number
Regents Place Management Company Limited 7136724 TBL [Lisnagelvin] Limited 3853983
Regents Place Residential Limited 11241644 TBL [Maidstone) Lirnited 3854619
Rigphone Limited 5591740 TBL Properties Limited 3863190
Shopping Centres Limited 2230054 Teesside Leisure Park Limited 2672136
& 5t James Retail Park Northampton Limited 5396394 The Liverpool Exchange Company Limited 0490255
Storey Offices Limited 1141707 Topside Street Limited 11253428
Surrey Quays Limited 5294243 United Kingdom Property Company Limited 0266486
Sydale [Untimited) 3864628 Vicinitee Limited 4106142
TBL (Brent Park! Lirmited 3852947 Wates City Point Limited 2973114
TBL (Ferndown] Limited 3854372

The following partnerships are exempt fram the requirements to prepare, publish and have audited individual accounts by virtue of regulation 7
of The Partnerships [Accounts) Regulations 2008. The results of these partnerships are consolidated within these Group accounts.

Name Name

BL Shareditch Limited Partnership Paddington Block A Limited Partnership
BL Chess No. 1 Limited Partnership Paddington Block B Lirmited Partnership
BL CW Lower Limited Partnership Paddington Central | Limited Partnership
BL CW Upper Limited Partnership Paddington Central If Limited Partnership
BL Lancaster Limited Partnership Paddington Kiosk Limited Partnership
Hereford Shopping Centre Limited Partnership Power Court Luton Limited Partnership
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Company balance sheet

As at 3t March 2019

me

2018

Note €m Em
Fixed assets
'nvestments and (cans to subsidiaries 8] 27,821 28,148
Investments in joint ventures D 397 376
Other invesiments D 29 34
interest rate derivative assets E 153 115
Deferred tax assets 7 10
28,407 28,483
Current assets
Debtors 5 &
Cash and short term deposits 182 2
187 38
Current liabilities
Short term borrowings and overdrafts E (99} 1271
Creditors H (126} (88]
Armounts due to subsidiaries (20,786} (20,645
(21,011)  [20,740)
Net current liabilities (20,8241 (20,722
Total assets less current liabilities 7,583 7.961
Non-current liabilities
Debentures and loans E {2,075} 12.2500
Interest rate derivative liabilities E (127} (133)
(2,202} 12,3831
Net assets 5,381 5,578
Equity
Called up share capital 240 248
Share gremium 1,302 1,300
Other reserves (s) (5)
Merger reserve 213 213
Retained earnings 3.631 3.822
Total equity 5,381 5.978
The profit afjpesaxation for the year ended 31 March 2019 for the Carmpany was £307m lyear ended 31 March 2018: £192m loss).

John Gildersleeve Simon Carter
Chairman Chief Financial Okicer

Approved by the Board on 14 May 2019
Company number 621920
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Company statement of changes in equity

For the year ended 31 March 2019

Share Share Other Merger  Profi and lass Total
capital precium reserves reseve accaunt aquity
Em Em Em Em £Em m
Balance at 1 April 2018 248 1,300 (5} 213 3,822 5,578
Share issues - 2 - - - 2
Purchase of own shares (8) - - - {196} (204}
Oividend paid - - - - (298] (2981
Fair value of share and share option awards - - - - {4) 41
Profit for the year after taxaticn - - - - 307 307
Balance at 31 March 2019 240 1,302 (s} 213 3,631 5,381
Balance at 1 April 2017 260 1,298 1134} 213 4,596 £.233
Share issues - b4 - - - 2
Purchase of own shares {121 - - - (289 (301}
Dividend paid - - - - (302! (3021
Net actuarial gain on pension schemes - - - - 9 9
Loss for the year after taxation - - - - (192) 192)
Transferred to the income statement [cash flow hedgesl - - 129 - - 129
Balance at 31 March 2018 248 1.300 (5) 213 3,822 5.578

The value of distributable reserves within the prafit and loss accountis £1,846m [2017/18: £2.074m).
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Notes to the financial statements

(A) Accounting policies

The financial stalernents for the year ended 31 March 2019 have
been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation
of derivatives. These financial statements have also been prepared
in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framework ['FRS 1017, The amendments to FRS 101
{2015/16 Cyclel issued in July 2016 and effective immediately have
been applied.

In preparing these financial stataments, the Company applies

the recogmtion, measyrement and disclosure requirements of
Iniernational Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU
{‘Adopted IFRSs'l. but makes amendments where necessary in order
to comply with the Companies Act 2006 and has set cut belaw where
advantage of the FRS 101 disclosure exemptions has been taken.

The Company has taken advantage of the follawing disclosure
exernptions under FRS 101:

[al the requirements of IAS 1 to provide & balance sheet at the
beginning of the period in the event of a prior period adjustment

[b] the reguirements of JAS 1 to provide a statement of cash flows
far the period

(] the requirements of IAS 1 to provide a statement of compliance
with IFRS

(d] the requirements of IAS 1 to disclose informaticn on the
management of capital

lel the regquirements of paragraphs 30 and 31 of IAS 8 Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errars to disclose
new IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective

(f) the reguirements in JAS 24 Related Party Disclosures to
disclose related party transactions entered into between twa or
mare members of a group, provided that any subsidiary which
is a party to the ransaction is wholly-owned by such a member

the requirements of paragraph 17 of IAS 24 Related
Party Disclosures to disclose key management
persannel campensation

[h] the requirements of IFRS 7 to disclose financial instruments

lil the requirerments of paragraphs 91-99 of IFRS 13 Fair Value
Measurement to disclose information of fair value vatuation
techniques and inputs.

(g

New standards effective for the current accounting period da not
have a material impact on the financial statements of the Company.
These are discussed in further detail below.

IFRS ¢ ~ Financial instruments

IFRS 9 Financial instruments, as issued by the 1ASB in July 2014,

has been adopted by the Company for the year ended 31 March 2019,
IFRS % supersedes the existing accounting guidance in IAS 39
Financial instruments. The standard was applied using the modified
retrospective approach. The Company has not restated prior periods
or recognised any adjustments in opening retained earnmgs.

- The new standard addresses the classification and measurement
ol financial assets.

- The alignment of the classification and measurement model
under IFRS 9 results in changes in the classification of all financial
assets excluding derivatives. These changes will not have a
quantitative impact on the financial statements.

- IFRS 2 introduces & forward looking expected credit loss mode,
replacing the 1AS 39 incurred less model. The new madel requires
an expected credit loss {o be recognised on all financiat assets
held at amortised cost at initial recognition. The quantitative
impact for the year ended 31 March 2019 results in the release

of an expected credit loss of £nil , with a cerrespending reduction
in financial assets held at amortised cost of £nil . The Company
has previously provided for a raterially similar balance against
trade and ather receivables, A part of this provision has been
released in the year ended 31 March 2019 ta provide for the
expected credit loss recognised in the Company’'s subsidiaries
upan adoption of IFRS 9. The reclassification of existing provisions
results in a £2m increase in the net assets of the Company.

- IFRS 9 introduces changes to the qualifying criteria for hedge
accounting and expands the financial and non-financiat
instruments which may be designated as hedged items and
hedging instruments in order to align hedge accounting with
business strategy. The changes tc hedge accounting under
IFRS 9 results in qualitative enhancements 1g the interest rate
and foreign currency risk management disclosures, The changes
introduced by IFRS 9 do not have a quantitative impact on the
financial statements of the Company.

IFRS 15 - Reventue from contracts with customers
The Company has adopted IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with
customers far the year ended 31 March 2019,

- The new standard combines a number of previous standards,
setting out a five step modet for the recognition of revenue and
establishing principles tor reporting useful infarmation to users
of financial statements about the nature, tirming and uncertainty
of revenue and cash flows arising from an entity’s contracts with
customers. The changes introduced by IFRS 15 have no gualitative
or quantitatve changes to the revenue disctosure and will not have
3 quantitative impact on the financial statements of the Company.

Going concern

The financial statements are prepared on the gaing concern basis as
explained in the corporate governance section on page 78.

Investments and loans

Investments and loans in subsidiaries and joint ventures are slated
at cost less an expected credit loss on the balance in accordance
with IFRS 9. The expected credit loss on the balance is immaterial.

Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty
The key source of estimation uncertainty relates to the Cornpany’s
investrnents in subsidiaries and joint ventures. In estimating the
requirernent for impairment of these investrnents, management
make assumptions and judgements on the value of these investments
using inherently subjective underlying asset valuations, supported by
independent valuers.

{B) Dividends
Details of dividends paid and proposed are included in note 19 of the
consolidated financial statements.

(C) Employee information

Employee costs include wages and salaries of £38m (2017/18: £39ml,
social security costs of £5m [2017/18: £5m) and pensicn costs of £4m
(2017/18: £5m). Details of the Executive Directors’ remuneration are
disclosed in the Remuneration Report.

Audit fees in relation to the parent Company only were £0.3m
(2017/18: £0.3m].
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
Notes to the financial statements continued

(D) Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures, loans to subsidiaries and other investments

Shares in Loans to  Invesiments in Other
subsigiaries  subsidiaries  jpint ventyres  investments Totat
£m £ £m £€m £m
On 1 April 2018 19,703 8,445 376 34 28,558
Additions - 477 kL S 713
Disposals - (1.003) (8) [4) 11,015)
Depreciation / amartisation - - - 14] i}
Pravision for impairment n - {2 - {3l
As at 31 March 2019 19,702 8,119 397 29 28,247

The historical cost of shares in subsidiaries is £20,025m [2017/18: £20,025m). 1avestments in joint ventures of £397m 12017/18: £376m) includes
£201m (2017/18: £183rm| of loans to joint ventures by the Company. Results of the joint ventures are set aut in note 11 of the consolidated

financial statements. The historical cost of other investments is £51m [2017/18: £50m}.

(E) Net debt

ay

ms

Em Em

Secured on the assets of the Company
5.264% First Mortgage Debenture Bonds 2035 368 RIS
5.0055% First Morigage Amartising Debentures 2035 9% 99
5.357% First Mortgage Dekenture Bonds 2028 252 255
714 79

Unsecured

5.50% Seniar Nates 2027 99 100
3.895% Senior US Dollar Notes 2018' - 27
4.635% Senior US Dollar Noies 2021! 158 156
4.766% Senior US Dollar Notes 2023! 106 97
5.003% Senior US Dollar Notes 2024} 49 A3
3.81% Scnior Motes 2024 11 110
3.97% Senior Notes 2024 113 112
2.375% Sterting Unsecured Bond 202% 298 298
4.16% Senior US Dollar Notes 2025' 78 -
2.67% Senior Notes 2025 37 -
2.75% Senicr Notes 2024 37 -
Floating Rate Senior Notes 2028 8a -
Bank loans and averdrafts 264 595
1,460 1,558
Gross debt 2,174 2277
Interest rate and currency derivative liabilities 127 133
Interest rate and currency derivative assets (153} s
Cash and short term deposits [182) [32)
Net debt 1,964 2,263

| Principal and interest on these borrowings were fully hedged into Sterling at a flaating rate at the time of issue
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(E) Net debt continued

0% Convertible bond 2015 [maturity 2020)

0n 9 June 2015, British Land [White] 2015 Limited [the 2015 tssuer], a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Campany, issued £350 million zero
coupon guaranieed convertible bands due 2020 [the 2015 bonds]| at par. The 2015 Issuer is fully guaranteed by the Campany in respect of the
2015 bands.

Subject to their terms, the 2015 bonds are convertible into preference shares of the 2015 Issuer which are autamatically transferred to the
Company in exchange for ordinary shares in the Company or, at the Company’s election, any combination of ordinary shares and cash.
Bondholders may exercise their conversion right at any time up to but excluding the 7th dealing day before 9 June 2020 Ithe maturity datel,
a bondholder may convert al any time.

The initial exchange price was 1103.32 pence per ardinary share. The exchange price is adjusted based on certain events [such as the
Company paying dividends in any quarter above 3.418 pence per ordinary sharel. As at 31 March 2019 the exchange price was 1007.24 pence
per ordinary share.

From 30 June 2018, the Company has the aptian to redeem the 2015 bonds at par if the Company’s share price has traded above 130% of

the exchange price for a specified penad. or at any time once 85% by nominal value of the 2015 bonds have been canverted, redeemed, or
purchased and cancelled. The 2015 bonds will be redeemed at par on 9 June 2020 [the maturity date) if they have not already been converted,
redeerned or purchased and cancelled.

The intercompany loan between the Issuer and the Campany anising from the transfer of the loan proceeds was initially recognised at fair
value, net of capitalised issue costs, and is accounted for using the amartised cost method. In addition to the intercompany loan, the Company
has entered into & derivative contract relating to its guarantee of the obligations of the Issuer in respect of the bonds and the cammitment to
provide shares or a combinalion of shares and cash on conversion of the bonds. This derivative contract is included within the balance sheet as
a liability carried at fair value through profit and loss

Maturity analysis of net debt

019 118

&m Em

Repayable within one year and on demand 99 27
between: one and two years ‘ 17 -
two and five years &79 506

five and ten years 808 804

ten and fifteen years 306 30%

fifteen and twenty years 465 435

2,075 2,250

Gross debt 2,174 2277
Interest rate derivatives (26) 18
Cash and shart term deposits (182] (32)
Net debt 1,966 2,263

(F) Pension
The British Land Group of Companies Pension Scherne and the Defined Contribution Pension Schermne are the principal pension schemes of
the Campany and details are set gut in nate 9 of the consolidated financial statements.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Notes to the financial statements continued

(G) Debtors
2019 208
. £m Em
Trade and other debtors & 4
Prepayrments and accrued incorne 1 -
5 b

(W) Creditors
7 ania
im Em
Trade creditors 46 12
Corporation tax 25 21
Other taxation and social security 25 21
Accruals and deferred income a0 34
126 88

(I) Share capital

Drainary shares

Em of 25p each
Issued, called and fully paid
At 1 Aprit 2018 248 993,857,125
Shara issues - 404,377
Repurchased and cancelled (81 (33,672,430)
At 31 March 2019 240 960,589,072

Grdinary shares

Erm of 25p each
Issued, called and fully paid
At ¥ April 2017 260 1,041,035,058
Share issues - 429.206
Repurchased and cancelled 112 [47,607,139|
At 31 March 2018 248 993,857,125

(5) Contingent liabilities, capital commitments and
related party transactions

The Company has contingent liabilities in respect of legal claims,
guarantees and warranties arising in the ordinary course of
business. It is nat anticipated that any material Liabitities will arise
from the contingent tiabilities.

At 31 March 2019, the Company has Enil of capital commitments
(2M7/18. €nill.
Related party transactions are the same for the Company as

for the Group. For details refer to note 23 of the consotidated
financial siatements.

(K) Related undertakings
Disclosures relating to subsidiary undertakings

The Cornpany's subsidiaries and other related undertakings at
31 March 2019 are listed on the next page. Companies which have

been dissolved since 31 March 2019 are marked with an asterisk (*}.

Companies which are in the process of being dissolved are marked
with a double asterisk [**). All Group entities are included in the
consolidated financial results.
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Unless otherwise stated, the Company holds 100% of the voting rights
and beneficial interests in the shares of the following subsidiaries,
partnerships, asscciates and joint ventures. Unless atherwise stated,
the subsidiaries and related undertakings are registered in the
United Kingdom.

The share capital of each of the companies, where applicable,
comprises ordinary shares unless otherwise siated.

The Company hotds the rmajority of its assats in UK companies,
althaugh some are held in overseas cormpanies. In recent years we
have reduced the number of overseas companies in the Group.

Unless noted otherwise as per the following key, the registered address
of each company is York House, 45 Seymour Street, London W1H 71X,

. 851 George’'s Street, Douglas IM] 1AH, Isle of Man
. 47 Esplanade, St Helier, Jersey JE OBD

. Barratt House, Cartwright Way, Forest Business Park, Bardon Hill, Coalville,
Leicestershire LE&7 1UF

. 13-14 Esplanade, St Helier, Jersey JE1 1€E

. 44 Esplanade, St Helier. Jersey JE4 WG

. 14 Porte de France. 4360 Esch-sur-Alzette, Luxembourg
300 Meadawhall Way, Shaifietd, Soudh Yorkshire, England, 59 1EA
DE 19801, USA

A =
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Direct holdings Indirect holdings

UK/Overseas Tax UK/Dverseas Fax
Company Name Resident Status Cempany Name Resider Siatus
BL Bluebution 2014 Limited UK Tax Resident 1 & 4 & 7 Triton Limited UK Tax Resident

BL Davidsen Limited

BL Eurcpean Fund Management LLP

BL Guaranteeco Limited

BL Intermediate Holding Company Limited
BLSSP [Funding] Limited

Bluebutton Property Management UK
Limited (50% interest)

Boldswitch [Ne 1) Limited
Boldswitch Limited

British Land {White) 2015 Limited [Jersey!
[Founder Shares)?

British Land City

British Land City 2005 Limited

British Land Company Secretarial Limited
British Land Financing Limited

British Land Properties Limited

British Land Real Estate Limited

British Land Securties Limnited

British Land Securitisation 1999
Broadgate [Funding) PLC

Broadgate Estates Insurance Mediation
Services Limited

Hyfleet Limited

Kingsmere Productions Limited
Londen and Henley Holdings Limited
Meadowhall Pensions Scheme Trustee
Limited

MSC Property Intermediate Holdings
Limited [50% interest]

Priory Park Merton Limited

Regis Property Holdings Limited

The British Land Corporation Limited
Vitalcreate **

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

10 Brock Street Limited

10 Portman Square Unit Trust [Jersey)
(Units)?

10 Triton Street Lirnited

17-19 Bedford Street Limited
18-20 Craven Hill Gardens Limited
20 Brock Street Limited

20 Triton Street Limited

338 Euston Road Limited

350 Euston Road Limited

39 Victoria Street Limited

8-10 Throgmorton Avenue Limited
Adamant [nvestment Corporatien Limited
Adshilta Limited

Aldgate Place {GP] Limited (50% interest)®
Apartpower Limited

Ashband Lwmnited

B L Unit Trust lJerseyl [Units)?
B.i. Holdings Limited

B.L.C.T. {12497} Limited [Jerseyl?
B.L.C.T.[21500) Limited {Jersey]?*
Barnclass Limited

Barndritl Limited

Bayeast Property Co Limited
Bexile Limited **

BF Propco [Ne 1| Limited

BF Propca (No 13) Limited

BF Propca (No 19) Limited

BF Propco (No 3] Limited

BF Propco [No 4] Limited

BF Propeo [No 9] Limited

BF Properties INo &] Limited

BF Properties [No 5] Limited

Birstall Co-Ownership Trust (Member
interest 141.25% interest)

BL (Maidenhead| Company Limited
BL ISP) Cannon Street Limited

BL [SP] Investment (1) Limited **
BL [SP] Investrment (2} Limited **
BL [SF) Investment {3] Limited **
BL [SPI Investment {4) Limited **
BL Bradford Forster Limited

BL Brislington Limited

BL Broadgate Fragment 1 Limited
BL Broadgate Fragment 2 Limited

UK Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Restdent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
Notes to the financial statements continued

UK/Overseas Tax UK/Qverseas Tax
Company Name Resident Status Company Name Resident Status
BL Broadgate Fragment 3 Limited UK Tax Resident BL Fixed Uplift General Partner Limited UK Tax Resident
BL Broadgate Fragment 4 Limited UK Tax Resident BL Fixed Uplift Nominee 1 Limited UK Tax Resident
BL Broadgaie Fragment 5 Lirnited UK Tax Resident BL Fixed Upliit Norminee 2 Lirmited UK Tax Resident
BL Broadgate Fragment & Limited IJK Tax Restdent BL Goodman IGeneral Partner| Limited UK Tax Resident

BL Broadway Investment Limited
BL Chess Limited

BL Chess No. 1 Limited Partnership
{Partnership interest]

BL City Offices Holding Company Limited
Bi Clifton Moor Limited

BL CW Developments Limtied

BL Cw Developments Plot A1 Limited

BL CW Developments Plot A2 Limited

BL CW Developments Plat D1/2 Company
Limited

BL CW Developments Plat G1 Limited

BL CW Developments Plot K1 Company
Lirmited

BL CW Haldings Limited

BL CW Holdings Plet A1 Company Limited
BL CW Holdings Plot A2 Company Limited
BL CW Holdings Plot D1/2 Company
Limited

BL CW Holdings Piot G1 Company Limited
BL CW Holdings Plot K1 Company Limited
BL CW Lower G Cunnpaeny Linniwed

BL CW Lower Limited Partnership
{Partnership interest]

BL CW Lower LP Company Limited
BL CW Upper GP Company Limited

BL CW Upper Limited Partnership
[Partnership interest]

Bl CW Upper LP Company Limited

BL Cwmobran Limited

8L Oebs Limited [Jerseylé**

BL Department Stares Holding Company
Lirnited

BL Doncaster Wheatiey Limited

BL Drummond Properties Limited

BL Ealing Limited

BL Eden Walk J2012 Lirnited [Jersey]?
BL Eden Walk Lirmitet

BL European Holdings Limited

BL Fixed Uplift Fund Limited Partnership
[{Parinership interest

BL Fixed Uplift Fund Naminee Na.1
Limited [Jersey!?

BL Fixed Uplift Fund Nominee No.?
Limited [Jerseyl?

UK Tax Rasident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK lax Hesident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
Qverseas Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
Overseas Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident
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{50% interest]

Bl Goodman Limited Partnership {50%
interest!

BL Goodman [LP| Limited
BL GP Chess No. 1 Limited
BL HB Investments Lirnited
BL HC (DOSCH] Limited

BL HC {DSCLI Limited

BL HC Dotlview Limited

8L HC Hampshire PH LLP {Member
interest)

BL HC Health And Fitness Holdings
Limited

BL MC Invic Leisure Limited

BL HC PH CRG LLP [Member interest
BL HC PH LLP iMember interest)

BL HC PH No 1 LLP [Member interest]
BL HC PH No 2 LLP [Member interest)
BL HC PH No 3 LLP [Member interest)
B HC Property Holdings Limited

BL Heaith Clubs PH No 1 Limited

BL Health Clubs PH No 2 Limited

BL High Street and Shopping Centres
Halding Company Limited

BL Haldings 2010 Limited

BL Lancaster Investments Limited

BL Lancaster Limited Partnership
[Partnership interest)

BL Leisure and industrial Holding
Company Limited

BL Marble Arch House Limited

BL Mayfair Offices Limited

BL Meadowhazll Holdings Limited
BL Meadowhait Limited

BL Meadowhall No 4 Limited

BL Newport Limited

BL Office INon-Cityl Holding Company
Limited

BL Office Holding Company Limited
BL Osnaburgh St Residential Ltd
BL Paddington Holding Company 1
Limited

BL Paddington Hotding Company 2
Lirnited

BL Paddington Property 1 Limited

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resigent

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Restdent

UK Tax Resident



Company Name Uztsli‘;eer:‘e glsa::: Lompany Name URKQE'::;:IE ;lsa‘{::
BL Paddingten Property 2 Limited UK Tax Resident BLD Property Holdings Limited UK Tax Resident
81 Paddington Property 3 Limited UK Tax Resident BLU Estates Limiied UK Tax Resident
BL Paddington Property 4 Limited UK Tax Resident BLU Property Management Limited UK Tax Resident
BL Miccadilly Restdential Limited UK Tax Resident BLU Securities Limited UK Tax Resident

8L Piccadilly Residential Management Co
Limted

BL Piccadilly Residential Retail Limited
BL Residential No.1 Limited **

BL Residential Ne.2 Limited **

BL Residential Investrent Limited

BL Residential Management Limited
BL Residual Holding Company Limited
BL Retail Helding Cormpany Limited

BL Retail lnvestment Holdings Lirmited
BL Retail Investments Limited

BL Retail Warehousing Holding Company
Limited

BL Sainsbury Superstores Limited {50%
interest]

BL Shoreditch Development Limited

BL Shoreditch General Partner Limited

BL Shoreditch Limited Partnership
[Partnership interest)

BL Shoreditch No. 1 Limited

BL Shorediich No. 2 Limited

BL Superstores Holding Company Limited
BL Triton Building Residential Limited
BL Tunbridge Wells Limited

BL Unitholder No. 1 [J] Limited [Jersey)?
BL Unitholder No. 2 (J] Limited [Jersey)?
BL Universal Limited

BL Wardrobe Court Holdings Limited
BL West {Watling House) Limited

BL Whiteley Limited

BL Whiteley Retail Limited

BL Woolwich Limited

BL Woolwich Nominee | Limited

BL Woolwich Nominee 2 Limited
Blackglen Limited

Blackwall [1]

Btaxmill [Twenty-nine} Limited

Blaxmill {Thirty] Limited

BLD {Aj Limited

BLD {Ebury Gatel Limited

BLD [SJ] lnvestments Limited

BLO (SJ] Limited

BLO Land Limited

BLD Properties Limited

UK Tax Residert

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Fax Resident
UK Tax Resident

QOverseas Tax Resident
Overseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resicentk
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
LK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

British Land (Joint Ventures] Limited
Bnitish Land Acquisitions Limited
British Land Aqua Partnership (2] Limited
British Land Aqua Partnership Limited
British Land City Offices Limited

British Land Construction Limited
British Land Department Stores Limited
British Land Developments Limited
British Land Fund Management Limited
British Land Hercules Limited

British Land (n Town Retail Limited
British Land Industreal Lirnited

British Land Investment Management
Limited

British Land Investments NV
{Netherlands)

British Land QOffices (Non-City) Limited
British Land Offices {Non-City] No. 2
Limited

British Land Offices Limiied

Bnitish Land Offices No.1 Limited
British Land Property Advisers Limited
British Land Property Management
Limited

British Land Regeneration Limited **

Briush Land Superstores (Non
Securitised) Number 2 Limited

Broadgate [PHC 8] Limited

Broadgate Adjoining Properties Limited
Broadgate City Limited

Broadgate Court Investments Limited
Broadgate Estates Limited

Broadgate Estates People Management
Limited

Broadgate Exchange Square

Broadgate Investment Holdings Limited
Broadgate Properues Limited
Broadgate REIT Limited {50% interest}*
Broadgate Square Limited

Broughton Retail Park Limited [Jersey)
[Units) (39.07% interest)?

Broughton Unit Trust [39.07% interest]?
Brunswick Park Limited
BVP Developments Limited

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Restdent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Residant
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

LUK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
LUK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

UK lax Kesident
UK Tax Resident
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Nates to the financial statements continued

UK/Cverseas Tax UK/Overseas Tax

Company Name Resident Status Company Name Resident Siatys

Canada Water Qffices Limited UK Tax Resident Gibraltar General Partner Limited {39.07% UK Tax Resident
Casegeod Enterprises UK Tax Resident interest)

Gibraltar Neminees Limuied (39.07% UK Tax Resident

Caseplane Limited
Cavendish Geared Il Limited
Cavendish Geared Limited
Caymall Limited

Chantway Limited

Cheshine Properties Limited
Chester Limited?

Chrisilu Norinees Limited

City of London Office Unit Trust {Jersey)
fUnits} {35.94% intecest]?

Clarges Estate Property Management Co
Limited

Comgenic Limited

Cornish Residential Properties Trading
Lirnited

Cornish Residential Property Investmens
Limited

Crescent West Properties

Deepdate Co-Qwnership Trust (39.07%
interest]

Qerby Investment Holdings Limited
Dinwelt Lirmied

Orake Circus Centre Limited

Drake Circus Leisure | imiterd

Drake Property Holdings Limited

Drake Property Nominee [No. 1] Limited
Drake Property Nominee [No. 2] Limited

Eden Walk Shaopping Centre General
Partner Limited (50% interest}

Eden Walk Shopping Centre Unit Trust®
[50% interest] [Jersey) [Units]

Elementvirtue Limited

Elk Mill Otdham Limited

Estate Management [Brick} Limited
Euston Tower Limited

Exchange House Holdings Limited
Exchange Square Management Limited
Fort Kinnaird GP Limited (39.07% interest)

Fort Kinnaird Lirnited Partnership (39.07%
interest|

Fort Kinnaird Nominee Limited [39.07%
interest)

Four Broadgate Limited

FRP Group Limited
Garamead Properties Limited
Gardenray Limited

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

QOverseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
U Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
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interest)

Giltbrook Retail Park Nattingham Limited
Glenway Limited

Hempel Holdings Limited

Hempel Hotels Limited

Hercules Property UK Holdings Limited
Hercules Property UK Limited

Hercules Unit Trust [78.14% interest)
(Jersey! [Units!?

Hereford Old Market Limited
Hereford Shopping Centre GP Limited

Hereford Shopping Centre Limited
Partnership

Horndrift Limited

HUT Investments Limited (Jersey! [78.14%
interest]?

Industrial Real Estate Limited
Insistmetal 2 Limited

tvarydetl Limited

lvorydell Subsidiary Lirnited

voryhll Limited

Jetblogorn Limited

L&H Uevelopments Limited **
Lancaster General Partner Limited
Linestair Limited

Londan and Herley [UK] Limited
tondon and Henley Limited
Lanebridge UK Limited

Longford Street Residential Limited
Ludgate investment Holdings Limited
Ludgate West Limited

Mayfair Properties

Mayflower Retail Park Basildon Limited
Meadowbank Retail Park Edinburgh
Limited

Meadowhall Centre [1999} Limited
Meadowhall Centre Limited

Meadowhall Centre Pension Schemne
Trusteas Limited

Meadowhall Estates [UK] Limited
Meadawhall Graup (MLP] Limited
tMeadowhall Holdings Limited
Meadowhall IMLP) Limited

Meadowhall Opportunities Nominee 1
Lirnited

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resigent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident



UK/Overseas Tax UK/Overseas Tax
Company Name Resident Status Company Name Resident Status
Meadowhall Opporiunities Nominee 2 UK Tax Resident Piltar {Cricklewood} Limited UX Tax Resident

Limited
Meadowhall Shopping Centre Limited

Meadowhalt Shopping Centre Property
Holdings Limited

Meadowhall SubCo Limited
Meadowhall Training Lirnited

Mercari

Mercari Holdings Limited

Minhill Investments Limited

Moorage [Property Developments} Limited
Nugent Shopping Park Limited

One Hundred Ludgate Hill

One Sheldon Square Limited [Jerseyl?
Orbital Shopping Park Swindon Limited
Osnaburgh Street Limited

Paddington Block A [GP| Ltd

Paddington Block A LP [Partnership
interest

Paddington Block 8 [GP) Ltd

Paddington Block B LP [Partnership
interest)

Paddington Central | [GP] Limited

Paddington Central | LP [Partnership
interest)

Paddington Central | Nominee Limited

Paddington Central | Unit Trust [Jerseyl
(Units]2

Paddington Central Ii [GP] Limited

Paddington Central Il LP [Partnesship
interest)

Paddingtan Central Il Unit Trust [Jerseyl
(Units]?

Paddington Central IV Unit Trust [Jersey)
Units)?

Paddington Central IV {Trustee 1) Limited?
Paddington Central IV {Trustee 2] Limited?
Paddington Kiosk IGP) Ltg

Paddington Kiask LP [Partnership
interest|

PaddingtonCentral Management Company
Limited [87.5% inierest)

Pardev [Luton) Limited
Parwick Holdings Limited
Parwick Investments Limited
PC Canal Limited

PC Lease Nominee Ltd

PC Partnership Nominee Ltd
Piccadilly Residential Limited
Pillar [Beckton] Limited

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
Overseas Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resigent

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
Overseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

Qverseas Tax Resident

Qverseas Tax Resident
Overseas Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Piltar {Dartiord) Limited
Pitlar (Fulham] Limited

Pillar Auchinlea Lirmited
Pillar Broadway Limited
Pillar City Lirnited

Pillar Dartford No.1 Limited
Pillar Oenton Limited

Pillar Developments Limited
Piltar Estates Limited

Pillar Estates No.2 Limited
Pillar Europe Management Limited
Pillar Farnborough Limited
Pillar Fort Limited

Pillar Fulham No.2 Limited
Pillar Gallions Reach Limited
Pillar Glasgow 1 Limited
Pillar Glasgow 2 Limited
Pittar Glasgow 3 Limited
Pillar Hercules No.2 Limited
Pillar Kinnaird Limited

Pillar Nugent Limited

Pillar Projects Limited

Pillar Property Group Limited
Pillarman Limited {(50% interest|
BillarStore Limited
PillarStore No.3 Limited
Plymouth Retail Limited
Power Court GP Limited

Power Court Luton Limited Partnership
[Partnership interest)

Power Court Nominee Limited
Pawer Court Nominees No. 2 Limited

PREF Management Company SA
{Luxembourg)®

Project Sunrise investments Limited
Project Sunrise Limited

Project Sunnse Properties Limited
Prudential Property Investments Limited
Reboline Limited

Regent’s Place Helding 1 Limited
Regent’s Place Holding 2 Limited
Regent’s Place Halding Company Limited

Regents Place Managernent Company
Limited

Regents Place Residential Limited
Rigphone Limited
Rohawk Properties Limited

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resideny
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

QOverseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Naotes to the financial statements continued

UK/(verseas Tax

UR/Overseas Tax

Company Name Resident Status Campany Name Resident Status
Salmax Properties UK Tax Resident The Meadowhall Education Centre UK Tax Resident
Saymour Street Homes Limited UK Tax Resident  (Limited by guarantee] (50% interestl?
Shopping Centres Limited UK Tax Resident The Retail and Warehause Company UK Tax Resident
[, . Limited
Shareditch Support Limited UK Tax Resident i )
The TBL Property Partnership UK Tax Resident

Six Broadgate Limited

Southgate General Partner Limited (50%
interest]

Southgate Property Unit Trust [Jersey)
(Units] (50% interesil?

Speke Unit Trust [67.34% interest] [Jersey|
[Units]?

Sprint 1118 Limited
St James Parade [43) Limited **

St James Retail Park Northampton
Limited

St. Stephens Shopping Cenire Limited
Stocktan Retail Park Limited
Starey Qffices Limuted
Storey Spaces Limited
Surrey Quays Limited

Sydale

T [Partnership) Lirnited
Tailress Limited

TBL (Brent Park} Limited **
TBL (Bromleyl Limited

TBL (Bursledan| Limited
TBL [Bury) Limited

TBL [Ferndown) Limited **
TBL lLisnagelvin) Limited
TBL (Maidstonel Limited
TBL [Milton Keynes] Limited
TBL (Peterborough! Limited
TBL Holdings Limited

TBL Properties Limited
Teesside Leisure Park Limited
Ten Feet Place

The Aldgate Place Limited Partnership
{Partnership interest) 150% interest}

The Dartford Partnership IMember
interest] 150% interest)

The Gibrattar Limited Partnership
{Partnership interest) {39 .07% interest}

The Hercules Property Limited
Partnership (Partnership interest)
{39.07% interest]

The Leadenhalt Development Company
Limited [50% interest]

The Liverpool Exchange Company Limited
The Mary Street Estate Limited

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Residem
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
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{Partnership interest}

The Whiteley Co-Ownership IMermnber
interest] (50% intarest)

Tellgate Centre Colchester Limited
Topside Street Limited

TPP investments Lirmited

Tweed Premier & Limited

Union Property Corporation Limited
Union Property Holdings [Londan) Limited
United Kingdom Property Company
Limited

Valentine Co-ownership Trust

[Member interesti [39.07% interest]

Valentine Unit Trust [Jerseyl {Units)
[39.07% interest|?

Vicinitee Limited

Vintners' Place Limited

Wardrobe Court Limited

Wardrobe Haldings Limited

Wardrobe Place Limited

Wates Cily of { andnn Properites Limited
Waies City Property Management Limited

Westbourne Terrace Partnership
[Partnership interest)

Whiteley Shopping Centre Unit Trust
iJersey) {Units]?

WK Holdings Lirnited
York House W1 Limited

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resigent
UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident

Overseas Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident




Supplementary disclosures

Unaudited unless otherwise stated

Table A: Summary income statement and balance sheet (Unaudited)

Summary income statement based on propartional consolidation for the year ended 31 March 2019

The following pro forma information is unaudited and does not form part of the consolidated primary statements or the notes thereto.
It presents the results of the Group, with its share of the resulis of joint ventures and funds included on a line-by-line basis and excluding

non-controlling interests.

Year ended 31 March 2019

Year ended 31 March 2048

Joint Less. Less
venturas nan-conirolling Propartionally JoinLventures  nan-controlling  Preportionally
Group and funds interests cansolidated Greup and fungs interesls  consolidated
£m £m &m m Em Em Em £m
Grass rental income L39 155 (18) 574 441 193 (21) 513
Property operating expenses {35) (10 1 (44) i29) {9) 1 (37)
Net rental income 404 145 nn 532 412 184 {200 576
Administrative expenses (80) (1} - (81) (82) (i - [83)
Net fees and other income g - 1 10 13 - 2 15
Ungeared income return 313 144 (18) 461 343 183 18} 508
Net financing costs (67) (58) 4 121) (64) {68) 4 (128)
Underlying Profit 2646 84 (12) 340 279 115 [14) 380
Underlying taxation - - - - - - - -
Underlying Profit after taxation 264 84 (12) 340 279 115 114] 380
Valuation mavement (683) 254
Other capital and taxation [net]! 62 [141)
Result attributable to
shareholders of the company (2911 493
1. Includes other comprehensive income, mavemenl in dilution of share oplions and the movernent in items excluded for EPRA NAY
Summary balance sheet based on prapoertional consolidation as at 31 March 2019
The following pro forra information is unaudited and does not farm part of the consolidated primary statements or the notes thereto.
It presents the composition of the EPRA net assets of the Groug, with its share of the net assets of the joint venture and fund assets and
Liabitities included on a line-by-line basis, and excluding non-controlling interests, and assuming full ditution.
Mark-to-
Share of Less market an Valuation EPRA Net
joint non- derivatives ang surplus on EPRA Ne1 assels
ventures  controlling Share Deferred retated dabt Head trading assets 31 Mareh
Group and {unds interests optians lax adjustmenls leases properties 31 March 2% 2018
£m Em Em Em £m Em Em £m Em im
Retail properties 4,378 1,583 (3171 - - - (&7} - 5,577 4,596
Qffice properties 4,299 2,12 - - - - (151 14 6,308 6.705
Canada Waler properties 38 - - - - - {15 - 302 263
QOther properties 96 19 - - - - - 13 128 132
Total properties 9,091 3,614 (171 - - - (101) 29 12,316 13,716
Investments in joint ventures
and funds 2,560 [2,560) - - - - - - - -
Other investments 15% - - - - - - - 151 172
Other net flrabilittes} assets 1348) 182} 3 24 5 - 101 - (297) [355)
Net debt [2,7465] 1972) 102 - - 113 - - [3,521) {3,973)
Net assets 8,689 - (211) 24, 5 113 - 29 8,649 9560
EPRA NAV per share (note 2) 205p 9%7p
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Supplementary disclosures continued

Unaudited

EPRA Net assets movement

Year endad Year ended
31 March 2019 31 March 2018
Pence per Pence par
€m shara £m share
Qpening EPRA NAV 9,540 967 7.498 915
Income return 340 35 380 37
Capitat return {769} {77 285 29
Dividend paid t298) {30) 1302 129)
Purchase of own shares 1204) 10 1301 15
Closing EPRA NAV 8,649 205 2.540 967
Table B: EPRA Performance measures
EPRA Performance measures summary tabte
2013 2018
Pence per Pence per
£m share Em share
EPRA Earnings - basic 340 35.0 380 375
- diluted 340 34.9 380 37.4
EPRA Net Injtial Yield 4.5% 4£.3%
E£PRA "topped-up’ Net initial Yield 4.7% 4.6%
EPRA Vacancy Rate 4% 3.2%
2019 2018
Net asset Nel asset
Mgt agsats walue per Met assets walue per
£m share Ipencel Em  share [pencel
EPRA NAV 8,649 905 7,560 957
EPRA NNNAY 8,151 854 9.044 914
Calculation and reconciliation of EPRA/IFRS earnings and EPRA/IFRS earnings per share
{Audited) ‘o "
tLossl profit attributable to the shareholders of the Company t291 493
Exclude:
Group - current taxation {3) 1
Group - deferred taxation 4 15}
Joint ventures and funds - taxation {2 -
Group - valuation moverment 420 [z02]
Group - loss lprofit) on disposal of investment properties and investments 18 (18l
Group - profit on disposal of trading properties (921 (i4)
Joint ventures and funds - net valuation movement {including result on disposats) 60 {49}
Joint ventures and funds - capital financing costs 21 13
Changes in fair value of financial instruments and asseciated close-out costs Lb 163
Non-controtling interests in respect of the above 41} -
Underlying Profit 340 380
Group - underlying current taxation - -
EPRA earnings - basic and diluted 340 380
{Loss) profit attributable to the shareholders of the Company {291) 493
Ditutive effect of 2015 convertible bond - -
IFRS earnings - diluted 1291) 493
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Table B continued

2019 08
Number Num!?er
million rritlion
Weighted average number of shares 982 1.024
Adjustment for treasury shares 1) {1}
IFRS/EPRA Weighted average number of shares [basic) 971 1,013
Dilytive effect of share options 1 1
Dilutive effect of ESOP shares 2 2
Dilutive effect of 26015 convertible bond - -
IFRS / EPRA Weighted average number of shares (diluted} 974 1,014
Net assets per share [Audited)
2019 2018
Pence Pence
im per share Em per share
Balance sheet net assets 8,689 9,506
Deferred tax arising on revaluation movements 5 5
Mark-ta-market on derivatives and related debt adjustments 113 137
Dilution effect of share options 24 32
Surplus on trading proPerliés 29 134
Less non-contralling interests 1211) {254])
EPRA NAV 8,649 905 2.560 967
Deferred tax arising on revaluation movements (11} [31]
Mark-to-market on derivatives and related debt adjustments (113} (1371
Mark-to-rmarket on debt ' (364) (348l
EPRA NNNAV 8,181 854 9,044 914

EPRA NNNAV is the EPRA NAV adjusted to reflect the fair value of the debt and derivatives and ta include the deferred taxation on revaluations

and derivatives.

019 wms

Number Number

million million

Number of shares at year end 950 994

Adjusiment for treasury shares mi {t1)
IFRS/EPRA number of shares [basic) 949 983
Dilutive effect of share options 2 1
Cilutive effect of ESOP shares 5 5
Dilutive effect of 2015 convertible bond - -
IFRS / EPRA number of shares [diluted) 956 989
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

Supplementary disclosures continued

Unaudited

EPRA Net Initial Yield and ‘topped-up’ Net Initial Yield |Unaudited)

2019 w8
tm £m
Investment property - wholly-owned 8,761 9.682
investment property - share of joint ventures and tunds 3,555 4,034
Less developments, residential and land {1,098) 1.315)
Completed property portfolio 11,218 12,401
Allawance for estimated purchasers’ costs kAl 799
Gross up completed property portfolio valuation (A) 11,969 13,200
Annualised cash passing rental income S48 584
Property outgoings {14} 1]
Annualised net rents [B) 534 573
Rent expiration of rent-free periods and fixed uplifis! 32 28
‘Topped-up’ net annualised rent [C] 546 401
EPRA Net [nitial Yield (B/A) 4.5% 4.3%
EPRA ‘topped-up’ Net Initial Yield [C/A) 4,7% 4.6%
Including fixed/minimum uplifts received in lieu of rental growth 8 11
Total ‘topped-up’ net rents {D) 574 612
Overall ‘topped-up’ Net Initial Yield {D/A) 4.8% 4,6%
‘Topped-up’ net annualised rent 564 601
ERV vacant space 22 21
Reversions 30 32
Total ERV {E} 418 654
Net Reversionary Yield [E/A| 5,2% 5.0%

1. The weighted average period over which rent-free periods expire is 1 year [2017/18: 1 year]

EPRA Net Initial Yield [NIY] basis of calculation

EPRANIY is calculated as the annualised net rent (on a cash flow hasis}, dividad by the gross value of the campleted wopet iy portiolio.

The valuation of our completed property portfolio is determined by our external vatuers as at 31 March 2019, plus an allowance for estimated
purchaser’s costs. Estimated purchaser’s costs are determined by the retevant stamp duty liability, plus an estimate by our valuers af ageat
and legal fees on notional acquisition. The net rent deduction allowed for property ouigoings is based on our valuers’ assumptions on future
recusring non-recoverable revenue expenditure.

In calculating the EPRA "topped-up’ NIY, the annualised net rent is increased by the total contracted rent from expiry of rent-free periods and
future contracted rental uplifis where defined as not in lieu of growth. Overall 1opped-up NIY is calculated by adding any other contracted
future uplift to the topped-up’ net annualised rent.

The net reversionary yield is calculated by dividing the {otal estimated rental value [ERV] for the compteted property portfolio, as determined by
our external valuers, by the gross completed property portfolio valuation.

The EPRA vacancy rate is calculated as the ERV of the unrented, lettable space as a proportion of the total rental value of the comnpleted
property portfolio.

EPRA Vacancy Rate
amy ms
im Em
Annualised potential rental value af vacant premises 26 21
Annualised potential rental value for the completed property porifolic 629 YT
EPRA Vacancy Rate L 1% 3.2%

The above is stated for the UK portfolio only. A discussian of significant factors affecting vacancy rates is included within the Sirategic Report
[pages 32 to 33).
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Table B continued
EPRA Cost Ratios (Unaudited)

2019 M8
&m Em
Property operating expenses 34 28
Administrative expenses 80 82
Share of joint ventures and funds expenses 11 19
Less: Performance and management fees (from joint ventures and funds) (8l 8)
Net other fees and commissions (2) (7l
Ground rent costs and operating expenses de facto included in rents % (2)
EPRA Costs lincluding direct vacancy costs) (A) 106 103
Direct vacancy costs 113} (12i
EPRA Costs |excluding direct vacancy costs) [B) 93 N
Gross Rental Income less ground rent costs and operating expenses de facto included inrents 414 422
Share of joint ventures and funds {GRI less ground rent costs) 153 189
Total Gross Rental Income less ground rent costs (C) 567 611
EPRA Cost Ratio (including direct vacancy costs) [A/C) 18.7% 16.9%
EPRA Cost Ratio {excluding direct vacancy costs] (B/C) 18.4% 14.9%
Overhead and operating expenses capitatised linchuding share of joint ventures and funds) [ 5

In the current year, employee costs in relation to staff time on development projects have been capialised into the base cost of relevant

development assets.

Table C: Gross rental income

2019 2013

£&m £€m
Rent receivable 587 604
Spreading of tenant Incenuves and guaranteed rent increases {13 i12]
Surrender premia 2 21
Gross rental income 578 613

The current and prior year infarmation is presented on a proportionally consolidated basis, excluding nan-controlling interests.

Table D: Property related capital expenditure

2019 018

Juint Joint

venturas veniures
Group and funds Total Growp and funds Total
£m fm £m Em Em £€m
Acgquisitions 221 15 236 250 - 250
Devetopment 183 ! 274 132 52 184
Like-for-like portfolio as 1% 54 23 27 50
Other 12 8 20 17 5 22
Total property related capex 51 133 584 422 84 506

The above is presented on a proportionally consolidated basis, excluding non-controlling interests and business combinations. The ‘Other’
categary contains amounis owing to tenant incentives of £7m [2017/18: £5m), letting fees of £5m [2017/18: £5m], capitalised staff costs of £6m

{2017/18: £5m) and capitalised interest of £3m (2017/18: £7m).
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1 Finsbury
Avenue

Broadening horizons

Over 3,300 peaple have benefitted from our Broadgate
construction team’'s community activities over the last
two years, including locat schoolchildren, jobseekers and
people affected by homelessness. Eight students from
the University of East London have gained six months’
paic work experience at 1 Finshury Avenue, supported

by our construction partners, architects and engineers.
Over 60 apprentices and trainees have also devetoped
their skills through our Broadgate construction activity
over the last two years, including 20 at 1 Finsbury Avenue,
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UNAUDITED

(Data includes Group's share of Joint Yentures and Funds)

Sales
Price Prige Annual

{100%) {BL Sharel  Passing Rent
Since 1 April 2018 Sector £€m £m £m*
Completed
5 Broadgate Qffices 1,000 500 18
Portfolio of Spirit Pubs Retait 123 123 "
Chettenham Gallagher Retail Park Retail 73 28 1
Clapham Junction Debenhams Retail 48 48 2
Richmond Homebase' Retail 45 45 1
Leeds Westside Retail Park Retail 34 39 2
Glasgow B&Q Retail 28 28 2
Bath Hemebase Retait 27 27 1
Bracknell David Lloyd Retail 25 25 2
Altrincharm Sainsburys Retait 24 12 3
Bath Weston Lock Retatl Park Retail 18 18 1
Southamptan David Lloyd Retail 16 15 i
Harrow Homebase Retail 14 14 1
Hamilten David Lloyd Retail 10 10 1
Brentwood Virgin Active Retail 12 12 1
Northallerton Sainsburys Retail 7 3 -
Lancaster Castle View Retail 5 5 -
Clarges, Maylair? Residential 335 335 -
Aldgate Phase 1 Residential 3 - -
Exchanged
Portfolic of Sainsbury’s stores? Retail 429 194 12
Clarges* Residential 24 24 -
Total 2,302 1.505 68
1. Exchanged during the year ended 31 March 2018, completed in the periad
2. £253m of which exchanged prior to FY19 and completed in the period
3. Exchanged post year end in Aprit 2019
4, £18m of which exchanged post year end
5. BL share of annualised rent topped up for rent frees
Purchases

Price Price Annual

1100%] (BL Sharel  Passing Rept
Since 1 April 2018 Sectar m Em &m'
Completed
Royal Victoria Place, Tunbridge Wells Retail 92 92 3
184 - 192 Drummond Street Qffices 38 38 1
158 - 164 Bishopsgate Offices 36 36 2
6 - 8 Eldon Street Cffices 27 14 1
Hercutes Unit Trust units Retait 18 18 1
37 Sun Street Offices 9 9 -
Exchanged
Orsman Road, Haggerston Otfices 32 32
Total 252 239

1. BL share of ahnuatised rent topped up for rent frees
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Portfolio Valuation

Group  JVs & Funds Total Change %'

At 31 March 2019 £m tm £m H1 H2 FY
West End 4,066 - 4,066 0.3 03 0.7

City 230 202 2,242 1.4 07 1.9

Offices 4,296 2,012 4,308 0.7 0.5 1.1

Regional 997 1,767 2,764 [£.0 (6.9 [10.4]
Local 1,613 3s0 1,573 (6.8 (8.8) [14£9)
Multi-let 2,610 2,127 4,737 [5.2) (7.8 [12.5)
Depariment Stores and Leisure 323 - 323 (3.1) 13.8) [6.5]
Superstores 88 244, 332 07 [2.9) [3.6]
Solus and Qther 185 - 185 0.2) [4.6] 3.7
Retail 3,206 2,97 5,577 (4.5) [7.0) {11.1)
Residential® 109 19 128 3.1 (1.5) f4.4)
Canada Water 303 - 303 0.3 (1.0} (0.8)
Total 7.914 4,402 12,314 1.9 {3.2 14.8)
Standing investments 7,334 3,975 11,309 12.5) 3.9] (6.0]
Developments 580 427 1,007 7.2 X 10.8

1. Valuation movernent during the period [after talung account of capital expenditure of properties neld at the batance sheel date, including developments Iclassitied by
end use), purchases and sales

2. Standalone residential

Portfolio Yield & ERV Movements’

NEY ERV Mavement %2t NEY ¥ield Movement hgs?
At 31 March 2019 % H1 H2 FY HY HZ Y
West End 43 0.2 1.1 1.4 - 2 3
City 4.7 0.1 12 13 1 - -
Offices 4.4 0.2 1.1 1.4 1 1 2
Regional 5.3 [0.8] {1.4] (2.21 9 27 36
Local ' 5.9 [2.9] [3.8] ° [6.2] 20 27 48
Multi-let 5.6 (1.6) {2.5) [4.0] 14 27 41
Department Stores ang Leisure 5.6 2.8 [1.9] (4.7} 33 (18] 34
Superstores 53 0.2l [0.5) 0.7} {1] )] 18l
Solus and Other 5.6 {0.1] 2.1 (2.2) 13] 44 31
Retait 5.6 (1.5]) [2.3]) (3.8) 14 36 37
Canada Water* 3.9 0.4 0.1 0.4 (&) - -
Total 5.0 [0.8] (0.8) [1.8) ? 19 19

1. Excluding developments under construction, assets held for development and residential assets
2. As calculated by IPD

3. Including notional purchaser’s cokts

4. Reflects standing investment only
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UNAUDITED CONTINUED

Retail Portfolic Valuation - Previous Classification Basis

Yaluation' Change %* ERV Movement %' NEY Yield Mavement bps*
At 31 March 2019 Em HI H2 Y H1 H2 Fr HT H2 [
Shopping Parks 2,593 (5.5) (8.9) (13.21 (2.1] 12.6] {4 6) 13 35 47
Shapping Centres 2115 (3.7) {6.3] (9.8 0.1) (2.0 2.1} 13 20 34
Superstores 332 0.7) 2.9 (3.4 0.2) 0.5 {0.7) {1l (8l 18)
Department Stores 70 124.91 120.3) 140.1) [18.4) (8.8 [25.¢6) 19 {601 147
High Street 149 (AT (7.81 8.8 0.21 3.7 3.9 2 7 5
Leisure 298 20 - 1.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 2 1 13
Retail 5,577 14.5) 700 1. §1.5) i2.3) {3.9) 1\ 3 37

1. Group's share of properties in joint veniures and funds including HUT at ownership share

2. Valualion movement during the year (after taking account of capital expenditurel of properties held at the balance sheet date, including developments (classified by

end usel, purchases and sales
3. As ralculated by 1PD
4. Including notional purchaser’s costs

Gross Rental income!

12 months to 31 March 2017

Annuatised as at 1 March 2019

Accounting Basis Em Group  J¥s& Funtds Total Group  IVs & Funds Toral
West End 141 - 141 140 - 140
City 9 70 79 7 68 7%
Offices 150 70 220 147 é8 215
Regional 37 90 147 57 86 143
Local 98 4 122 5Q 23 113
Multi-let 155 114 269 147 109 256
Department Storas and Leisure 38 - 38 24 - 24
Superstores 5 16 21 5 15 20
Sotus and Other 14 - 14 12 - 12
Retail 212 130 342 188 124 312
Residential® 5 - 5 4 - 4
Canada Water 9 - ki 8 - 8
Total 376 200 576 347 192 539

1. Gross rental income will differ from annualised rents due o accounting adjustments far fixed & minimum contracted rental uplifis and lease incentives

2. Standalone residential
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Portfolic Net Yields'?

EPRAtopped Overall topped Net

. EPRAnel upnetinitial  upnetinitial Netequivalent reversionary
AU 31 March 2019 initial yietd % yield W yield %¢ yield % yield %
West End 3.6 4.0 4.0 4.3 48
City 40 Ll 44 4.7 53
Offices KR} 4.1 4.2 4.4 5.0
Regional Lifestyle 48 50 5.1 5.3 5.4
Local Lifestyle 54 5.4 57 5.9 58
Multi-let 6.1 5.2 5.3 5.6 5.6
Department Stores & Leisure 6.1 &1 7.2 5.6 5.0
Superstares 5.6 546 56 5.3 572
Solus & Gther 6.0 6.2 6.2 5.4 46
Retail 5.2 5.3 5.5 5.6 5.5
Canada Water 3.2 3.2 3.2 3.9 4.0
Totatl 4.5 4.7 48 5.0 5.2
On a proportionally consolidated basis including the Group’s share of joint veniures and funds
1. Including netianal purchaser’s costs
2. Excluding committed developments, assets held for development and residential assets
3. Including rent contracled from expiry of rent-free periods and fixed uplifts not in lieu of rental growth
4. Including fixed/minimum uplifts (excluded from EPRA definition]
Total Property Return fas calculated by |PD]
12 months te 37 March 201% QFfices Retail Tatal
% British Land |PO British Land 1PD British Land IPD
Capitat Return 1.4 2.0 1.4 173 (5.0 0.1
- ERV Growth 1.4 1.2 13.8] (3.3 {1.4) G?
- Yield Moverment' 2bps {10 bpst 37 bps 24 bps 19 bps {1 bps}
Income Return 3.4 3.8 5.3 5.0 4.3 44
Total Property Return 4.9 5.8 (6.6] (2.6) (0.9) 4.6

On a praportionally conselidated basis including the Group's share of joint ventures and funds

1. Net equivalent yield movermnent
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UNAUDITED CONTINUED

Occupiers Representing over 0.5% of Total Contracted Rent

Ay 21 March 2019 % of totat rent % of totat rent
Tesceo' 4.8 Deutsche Bank 08
Sainshury's? 37 Homebase c.8
Debenhams® 3.4 Steinhoff 0.8
Government 30 Henderson 08
Next 2.6 TGI Fridays 0.7
Kingfisher 23 Reed Smith 07
Facebook? 2.0 Lewis Trust [River Island) 07
Dentsu Aegis 20 H&M 07
Alliance Boots* 19 DFS Furniture Group 0.7
Visa 1.7 NEX Grp Plc 0.5
M&S 1.7 Restaurant Group 0.6
Dixons Carphone 15 Mayer Brown Q.4
Arcadia 15 Prirark 0.6
Herbert Smith Freehills 1.4 Hutchison Whampoa Ltd 04
Gazprom 1.1 David Lloyd 0.6
TJX [TK Maxx| 1.1 Credit Agricole 0.6
JD Sports Fashion 1A Lendlease 0.6
Vodafone 1.1 Pets at Home 0.6
SpartsDirect 1.0 BridgeStreet 04
Microsoft 140 Mimecast Ltd (XS
New Laok 1.0 Aramco 05
Virgin 0.9 Wilko Retail 05
Asda 0.9

1. Includes £3.4m at Surrey Quays Shopping Centre

2. Reduces to 1.B% following post year end sale of 12 stores

3. Debenhams reduces (o 1.8% and Facebook increases to 3.6% following post year end letting of 10 Brock Street lo Facebagk

4. Represents current occupation of 10 Tritan Street covering 118,000 sq It of space. Taking into account their pre-tet of 310,000 sq 1 at ) Triton Square, percentage of
conlracted rent would rise to 5.5%. As part of this new Letting, Dentsu Aegis have an option to relurn their existing space at 10 Triton Street in 2021. If this option is
exercised, there is an adjustrnent {a the rent free period in respect of the letting at 1 Triton Square to campensate British Land

Major Holdings

BL Share Sqft  Rent]100%) QOctupansy  Lease length
At 21 March 2019 % ‘000 £m pa's rate %4 yrs
Broadgate 50 4,133 138 96.7 5.5
Regent’s Place 100 1,740 77 98.7 56
Paddington Central 100 958 45 97.2 5.4
Meadowhall, Sheffield 50 1,500 88 98.9 5.9
Glasgow Fort 78 510 22 97.0 6.0
Ealing Broadway 106 540 15 908 46
Brake's Circus, Plymouth 100 1.082 49 96.3 69
Teesside, Stockton : 100 569 16 94.3 4.7
Sainsburys Superstgres® 51 1457 31 100.0 83
Portman Sgquare 100 134 10 102.0 4.5
1. Annualised EPRA contracted rent including 100% of Joint Ventures & Funds
2. Includes accormmeodation under offer or subject to asset management
3 Waeighted average te first break
4. Excludes commilted and near term developments
3. Comprises standalone slores. Following posi year end sale of 12 Sainsbury’s supersiores, BL share percentage increases to 55%, sq It reduces to 329,000, rent

reduces to E8m and lease length intreases to 9 % years
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Lease Length & Occupancy

Average leasa length yrs Dccupancy rate %
EPRA
At 31 March 201% To expiry To break Occupancy  Occupancy'®
West End 4.8 5.7 97.2 98.3
City 6.6 57 93.2 96.6
Dffices 4.7 5.7 95.8 97.7
Regional 7.2 640 95.7 97.0
Local 4.9 5.4 94.7 95.3
Multi-let 7.0 58 95.3 96.2
Department Stores and Leisure 15.3 15.3 100.0 100.0
Superstores 12.2 12.2 100.0 100.0
Solus and Other 111 10.5 1000 100.0
Retail 8.0 7.0 95.9 95.7
Canada Water 5.4 55 98.5 98.7
Total 7.4 6.4 95.9 97.2

1. Space allgcated to Storey is shown as occupied where there is a Storey Lenant in place otherwise it is shewn as vacant. Total eccupancy would rise from 97.2% to
97.5% if Storey space were assumed o be fully lel.

2. Includes accommodation under affer or subject to asset management

3. Where occupigrs have entered administration or CVA but are still liable for rates, these are ireated as occupred. Reilecting units currently accupied but expected to
become vacant, then the occupancy rale for Retail woutd reduce from 96.7% Lo 95.1%, and total occupancy woult reduce from 97.2% o 96.9%

Portfolio Weighting

‘ 2018 2019 2019
At 31 March % % im
West End 310 330 4,068
City 179 18.2 2,242
Qffices 489 51.2 6,308
Regional Lifestyle 221 224 2,764
Local Lifestyle 16.7 16.1 1,973
Multi-let 38.8 38.5 4,737
Department Stores & Leisure 4.3 2.6 323
Superstores 2.6 27 332
Solus & Other 23 15 185
Retail 48.0 45.3 5,577
Residential’ 1.0 10 128
Canada Water 2.1 2.5 303
Total 100.0 100.0 12,316
London Weighting 59% 81% 8,127

1. Standalone residential
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UNAUDITED CONTINUED

Annualised Rent & Estimated Reptal Value {ERYV]

Annualised rent [valuation basisl Em' ERV Em Average rent £psf
AT March 2019 Broup  Jys & Funds Tetal Total Contracted? ERV
West End?® 139 - 139 184 58.6 67.2
City* 7 67 74 m 48.7 57.6
Offices® 146 67 213 285 54.8 635
Regional Lifestyle 58 90 148 166 31.0 336
Local Lifestyle 96 24 i20 130 23.4 245
Multi-let 154 ns4 268 296 2190 2.9
Department Stores & Leisure 21 - 21 17 15.9 129
Superstores 5 15 20 i8 22.2 20.6
Solus & Other 12 - 12 9 20.2 155
Retail 192 129 321 340 25.3 261
Residential* [ - 4 4 44.8 37.9
Canada Water5 8 - ] 10 17.9 218
Total 351 196 547 639 31.3 34.7

1. Gross rents plus, where rent reviews are outstanding, any increases to ERV [as determined by the Group's external valuers), less any ground rents payable under

head leases, excludes contracted rent subject to rent free and future uplift

2. Annualised rent, plus rent subject to rent free

3. £psf melrics shown for office space only

4. Standalone residential

5. Reflects standing investment only

Rent Subject to Open Market Rent Review

For period to 31 March 2020 2 022 2023 2024 " 2020-22 2020-26
At 31 March 2019 im £m €m tm £m £m Em
West End 4 15 10 g 13 29 51
City 13 4 ) - - 26 24
Offices 17 19 19 ¥ 13 55 77
Regional k] 19 13 n 9 & 51
Local 11 12 5 17 5 28 50
Multi-let 20 N 18 28 14 &9 1M1
Department Stores and Leisure - - - 7 - 7
Superslores 8 5 - 2 13 18
Solus and Qther - - - - - - -
Retail 28 36 18 N 24 82 136
Residential - - 1 - - 1 1
Canada Water' - - - - - - -
Total 45 55 8 19 a7 128 214

On a propontionally consolidated basis in¢luding the Group's share of joint vertures and funds

1. Reflects standing investment only
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Rent Subject to Lease Break or Expiry'

Far period to 31 March 2021 2022 2023 2024 2020-22 2020-24
At 37 Mareh 2019 2020 €m €m m €m €m €m
West End 4 19 22 26 15 45 86
City 15 10 2 3 i3 27 43
Offices 19 29 24 29 28 72 129
Regional Lifestyle 17 10 12 19 20 39 78
Local Lifestyle 15 10 13 12 20 38 70
Multi-let 32 20 25 3 40 Yal 148
Department Stores & Leisure - - - - - - -
Superstares - - - 2 - - i
Solus & Other 1 - - - - 1 1
Retail 33 20 25 a3 40 78 151
Residentiat - 3 - - - 3 3
Canada Water 1 1 1 1 2 2 5
Total 53 53 49 863 70 155 268
% of contracted rent 2.1% 9.1% 8.3% 10.9% 12.0% 26.5% 4£9.4%

On a proportionaily consalidated basis inctuding the Group's share of jeint ventures and funds

Recently Completed and Committed Developments

Let & Under

BL Share 100% sqft  PCCalendar CurrentValue Costtocome ERV Offer

At 21 March 201% Sector % ‘a00 Year £€m £m' £m* £m
1 Finsbury Avenue Qffice 50 287 12019 153 1 8.2 4.7
Total Completed in the Year 287 153 1 8.2 4.7
100 Liverpoal Street Gffice 50 52t Q12020 240 82 19.1 10.4
135 Bishopsgate Cffice a0 335 Q3209 156 34 .7 8.7
1 Triton Sguare? Qifice 100 366 Q42020 289 122 23.1 218
Plymouth [Leisure) Retail 100 108 Q42019 29 14 3.1 2.1
Total Committed 1,330 714 252 55.0 43.2

Retail Capital Expenditure® 53

. From 1 April 2019. Cosl 1o come excludes nolional inlerest as interest is capitalised individually on each development at our capitalisation rate
2. Estimated headline rental value net of rent payable under head teases [excluding tenant incentives)

3. ERV let & under offér of £21 Bm represents space taken by Dentsu Aegis. As part of this Letting, Dentsu Aegis have an option to return their existing space al .
10 Triten Street in 2021. if this option is exercised, there is an adjustmens (o the rent free perod in respect of the lelting at | Triton Square to compensate British Land

4. Capex committed and underway within our investment portfctio relating o leasing and asset management

—_
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UNAUDITED CONTINUED

Near Term Development Pipeline

BL Share 100% sq ft Expected CurrentValue CostlpCome ERY underb:f.:r
At 31 March 2019 Sector % ‘000 StartOn Site &m £m' &m' £m Planning Status
Nortan Falgate Office 100 335 Q39 62 206 20.6 - Consented
1-2 Broadgate Office 50 531 Q22020 94 198 18.8 - Consented
Total near term Bbb 154 404 3%.4 -
Retail Capex? 78
1. From 1 April 2019. Cost to corne exc¢ludes notional inlerest as interest is capitalised individually on each development at our capitalisation rate
2. Estimatad headline rental value net of rent payable under head leases lexcluding tenant incentives)
3. Forecast capital commiiments within our investment portiotio over the next 12 months relating Lo leasing and asset enhancement
Medium Term Development Pipeline

BL Share 100% Sq 1t

At 31 March 2019 Sactor % '‘a00  Flanning Status
2-3 Finsbury Avenue Difice 50 563 Consented
Gateway Building Leisure 100 105 Consented
5 Kingdom Street' Dffice 100 429 Consented
Meadowhalt (Leisure) Retail 50 333 Consented
Ealing - 10-40 The Broadway Retail 100 292 Pre-submission
Aldgate Place Phase 2 Residential 50 145 Consented
Eden Walk Retail & Residential Mixed Use 50 533 Consentied
Plymouth, George Street Retait 100 43 Submitted
Total Medium Term excl, Canada Water 2,443
Canada Water - Phase 12 Mixed Use 1an 1,917 Submitted

. Planning consent fer previous 240,000 sq ft scheme
. Canada Water site covers 5m sq ft in total based on net area {gross area of 7m sq K]
. Phase 1 consists of Phase 1a. 1b, 1c. Detailed planning submitied for Phase 1a [376.000 sq fil. outtine planning submitted for total Phase 1

. On drawdown of the Master Development Agreement, ownership reduces to 80% with L.BS awning 20%. LBS ownership will adjust over time depending on Level of
investment by Southwark

;L ny -
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SUSTAINABILITY PERFORMANCE MEASURES

Sustainability performance measures

We report on alt assets where we have day-to-day operational or management influence [our managed portfoliol and alt developments
over £300,000 with planning permission, on-site or completed in the year. The exception is EPC and fload risk data, where we report on all
assets under management. As at 31 March 2019, our managed portfolio comprised 73% of our assets under management. Please see the
scape calumn for indicater-specific reporting coverage.

Selected data has been independently assured since 2007. Selected data far 2019 has been independently assured by PwC in accordance
wrth {SAE 3000 (Revised] and ISAE 3410.

2020 sustainability strategy performance
We report transparently on performance s¢ our stakehalders can fully understand our impacts. Below is an overview of our performance
during the reporting period. For detailed information, see our Sustainability Accounts and website britishland.com/sustainabitity

Perigrmance

2019 scope
lndicators’ 2019 2018 lassets or units|
Continued inclusion in three out of four sustainability indices: DJSI Eurape, 4f4 44 -
DJS! World, FTSE4Good and GRESE?

Majar developments on track to implement Sustainability Brief 100% 100% 16/16
Perfarmance 2019 scape
2019 2018  (assels or units)
Wellbeing [Customer Orientation) 2020 targets
Deliver a WELL certified commaercizl office to shell and core, and sel corporate Deliver Ontrack On track -
palicy for future developments
Develop and pilot retail wellbeing specification Deliver In progress In pregress -
Sense of wellbeing far visitors at our places Increase 84% 84% -
Define and trial a methodalogy for measuring proguctivity in offices Deliver Completed Completed -
Research and publish on how development design impacts public health outcomes Deliver Completed On track -
Pilos interventions to improve local air quality 3 Inprogress Target -
established
Injury Incidence Rate (RIDDORI Offices 14.17 12.88 4b/46
Retail 0.01 0.01 58/58
Injury Frequency Rate [RIDDOR] Developmenis 0.12 0.13 31/34
Performance 2019 scope
2019 2018 lassets or units)
Coemmunity [Right Places) 2020 targets
Impiernent cur Local Charter at key assets and major developmenis 100% 92% Charter
updated
British Land employee skills-based volunteering 20% 17% 16% -
British Land employee valunteering 50% 81% 79% -
Community programme beneficiaries 35,358 39,798 -
Perlormance 2019 scope
2017 2018 lassets or unitsl
Futureproofing [Capital Efficiencyl 2020 targets
Develepments on irack to achieve BREEAM Excellent for offices and Excellent 100% 92% 92% 15/15
or Very Good for retail
Carban |Scope 1 and 2| intensity reduction versus 2009 lindex scored| 55% 4% S54% 70/70
Landlord energy intensity reduction versus 2009 {index scored) 55% 44% 40% 70/70
Electricity purchased from renewable sources 100% 98% 97% 107/108
Average reduction in embodied carbon emissions versus concept design on 15% 10% nr 2/2
major developments
Waste diverted from landlill: managed properties and developments 100% 99.6% 99% 108/116
Partfalia with green building ratings [% by floor area] - 18% 18% 1794179
Energy Performance Certificates rated F or G [% by floor areal - 5% 9%  2663/2864
Portfolio at high risk of Hood (% by value) - 3% 3% 178/179
High flood risk assets with flood management plans [% by value) - 100% 100% 12/12

1. Sustainability Action Plans have been superseded by Local Charter activities, see ‘Camrmunily’. Gur | ncal Charter covers cammunity, wellbeing, skills and opportunity.
Futureproofing initiatives are covered through Assel Plans, which include provisions for identifying climale-retated risks and opportunities, such as flood risk
assessments and audits toidentify energy saving opportunities

2. In this linancial year we were listed in BJSI 2018 Werld and Eurepe, awarded a green star in GRESB 2018 and ranked in the top 96™ perceniile of FTSE4Good 2018
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SUSTAINABILITY PERFORMANCE MEASURES CONTINUED

Pearlormance 2019 seope
2019 2018 {assels or units]
Skills and opportunity (Expert People) 2020 targets.
Peopte supported inte employment {cumutativel 1,700 1,232 839 -
Strategic suppliers agreed with terms of our Supplier Code of Conduct 100% 53% Code 34/64
Launched
Prioritised supplier workforce who are apprentices 3% 2.4% 1.2% 178/220
Pilot a Living Wage Zone at a London campus Oeliver In progress - -
Workforce paid at least Living Wage Group employees 100% 100% 100% -
Foundation rate Supplier workforce at 68%? 70% 103/103
managed properties
Developrments supply chain spend within 25 miles 886% % 5/6
! Employment figures fram 2016-2018 have been restated for accuracy
2. From FY19, these figures exclude the employees af any subsidiary organisatians
EPRA best practice recommendations on sustainability reporting
We have received Gold Awards for sustainability reporting from the European Public Real Estate Association [EPRAJ,
seven years running. For our full EPRA sustainability reporting, methodology and the 2019 PwC assurance statement,
please see our Sustatnability Accounts 2019: britishland.com/data,
Perfermance 2019 scope
2019 2018 2017 lassets ar unitsl
Environmental
Total electricity consumption [MWh] 155,608 162.833 172127 107/108
Total district heating and cooling consumption {MWh] ] g 0 0/0
Total fuel consumption (MWhHI 49,878 37,500 39,319 50/61
Building energy intensity (kWh| Dfiices [per m?) 136.40 145.71 158.70 30/30
Retail - enclosed [per m?) 149.02 156.48 161.89 7/7
Retail - apen air [per car 164.04 1468.13 190.1 3333
parking spacel
Tatal direct [Scope 1] greenhouse gas emissions [tonnes C0,el 8,956 6.967 7.609 115/116
Totat indirect (Scope 2] greenhouse  Location based 20,188 27,301 34,149 119/116
gas emissions [tannes COel Market based 1.457 1.875 6,630 115/116
Greenhouse gas intensity from Offices {per m? 0.044 0.055 0.069 30/30
building energy consumpiion {tonnes  Retail - enclosed fper m?) 0.043 0.054 0.067 27
COee Retail - apen air [per car parking spacel 0.049 0.042 0.044 13/33
Total water consumption (m?d) 553,282 616,221 663,541 44/73
Building water intensity {m?| Offices Iper FTE) 14.09 15.54 14.59 28/40
Retzil - enclosed (per 10,000 visitars) nr nr .47 -
Retsil - open air {per 10,000 visitors) nr nr 2.86 -
Total non-hazardous waste by Re-used and recycled 10,818 11,207 12,164 77/82
disposal route tonnes and %! (57%} 156%! (57%)
incinerated 8,182 143%) 8,887 [44%) 9,234 [43%] 77/82
Landfitled 2(0%) b (0%} 35 (0% 77/82
Total hazardous waste by Re-used and recycled 5 {44%) nr nr 71182
disposal route [tonnes and %l Incinerated 71{56%] nr nr 77/82
Landfilled 0{0%) nr nr 77/82
Sustainably certilied assets - AtcB 22% 23% 25%  2663/2864
Energy Performance Certificates CtoE 73% 2% % 266372864
(% by floor areal FlaG 5% 5% 4% 2663/2864
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Performance

2019 scope
017 2018 2017 lassets ar units]
Social'
Employee diversity - gender Male 48% 51% 53% -
Fernale 52% 49% 47% -
Employee gender pay ratio Executive Directors - - nr -
{median remureration, female  Seniar management 87% 89% Ar -
to malel Middle and non-management T6% 69% nr -
Employee training - average hours ] 13.4 14.2 13.2 -
Employee annual performance review 100% 100% nr -
Employee new hires rate 17% 20% 26% -
Employee turnover - departures rate 19% 15% 15% -
Employee health and safety Absentee rate 1% 1% 1% -
Injury frequency rate 0 0 nr -
Lost day rate .48 0 ar -
Work-related fatalities 0 0 0 -
Asset health and safety Proportion subject to health and safety 100% 100% 100% 116/116
review | %l
incidents of non-compliance 0 g nr 116/114
Progress implementing our Implement our Local Charter at $2% Charter Target
Lecal Charter at key assets key assets and major developments updated established
a2nd major developments {% progress)
Proportion of portfolio [(floor areal 83% - - 104/104

where Locat Charter or other
community activity implemented

1. 2017 and 2018 employee data restated to reflect the integration of Broadgate Estates into British Land

For information on our inclusive culture see pages 30 and 112 and britishland.com/inclusive-culture and to read mare ahout aur gender
pay gap on page & and at britishland.com/gender-pay-gap.

Governance
Annual Report and Accounts
2019 018
Composition of the highest governance body Board’s Executive and Non-Executive Board's Executive and Non-Executive
Directors pages 48-71. Directors pages 58-61.
Tenures of Non-Executive Directors  Average lenure of Non-Executive
page 108. Directars page 75.
Board members with environmental
or social competencies page 68-71.
Nominating and selecling the highest Appeintment process for new Appointment process for new
governance body directors pages 86-87. Directors pages 74-75.
Process for managing conflicts of interest Board procedure for managing Board procedure for managing

conflicts of interest page 74. canfticts of interest page 6.
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TEN YEAR RECORD

The table below summarises the last ten years' results, cash flows and balance sheets,

me 018 20017 2018 015 20i4 013 2012 0 10
£m £m Em Em Em £m Em £m £m £m

Income’
Gross rental income 5§76 613 643 654 418 597 567 572 541 561
Net rental income 532 576 410 4620 585 562 541 546 518 545
Net fees and other income 10 15 17 17 17 15 15 17 18 15
interest expense (netl (121} (128) (151 (180) {201} (202} (20¢8) {218} {212 [244)
Administraiive expense (81) 183) I8¢ 1941 (88) 1781 {76) |76} 168) {65}
Underlying Profit 340 380 390 363 313 297 274 269 256 249
Exceptional costs
Inat included in Underlying Profitlé - - - - - - - - - -
Dividends declared 298 302 294 287 277 266 234 231 231 225
Summarised balance sheets
Total properties at valuation'? 12,316 13716 13940 14448 13,677 12040 10499 10,337 9572 8539
Net debt (3,521)  (3973] 142231 [4,765) [4918) 14,890 (4,266] {46901 14,1731 [4.081)
Other assets and liabilities [146) 183) 219 191 276 [123] (266} [244] 1298} 51
EPRA NAV/Fully dituted adjusted
net assets 8,649 9,560 9,498 10,074 9.035 7,027 5,967 5.381 5,101 4,407
Cash flow movement - Group only
Cash generated from operations 17 321 379 341 318 243 197 211 182 248
Other cash flows from operations (4) 2 {18! (47] (33) {24) {7) (5] 28 (112}
Net cash inflow from operating activities 613 353 363 294 285 219 190 206 210 136
Cash inilow loutilow} from capital
expenditure, investments,
acquisitions and disposals 187 k113 470 230 011 {660) {202) (547t t240l 139
Equity dividends paid 1298) {304 12951 [235] 1228] 1159] {203] 1212 {1391 [154]
Cash {outilow] inflow from
management
of liquid resources and financing (365) [404] (5381 (283] 20 407 213 630 157 [485]
increase (decreasel in cashé 137 (9] - 4 134} 7 12} 77 {12} {542
Capital returns
[Reduction) growth in net asseis? {9.8%) 07% [57% 11.5% 2846% 178% 10.9% 55% 157% 301%
Total return (33% 89% 27% E2% 245%  20.0% 4.5% 95% 17.7%  335%
Total return - pre-exceptional [3.3%) B.9% 27% 142%  245% 20.0% 4.5% 95% 17.7% 335%
Per share information’
EPRA net asset value per share 905p 97p 915p 919p 829 688p 5%p 595p 9%67p S04p
Memorandum
Dividends declared in the year 31.0p 30.1p 29.2p 28.4p 27.7p  27.0p 26.4p 26.1p 26.0p 26.0p
Dividends paid in the year 30.5p 29.6p 28.8p 28.0p 273p 267p 263 26.0p 26.0p 27.3p
Dituted earnings
Underlying EPRA earnings per share 369p  374p 3780  36.1p 306p  29.4p 30.3p 29.7p 28.5p 28.4p
IFRS earnings (loss) per share! (30.0p)  48.5p 14.7p  119.7p 1673p 1102p 315  538p 95.2p 1324p

. Inctuding share of joint ventures and funds
. Represents movement in diluted EPRA NAV

. Including surplus over hack value of tradng and development propecties

. 2008 restated for {FRS. The UK GAAR accounts shows gross rental income of £420 miltion and Underlying Profit of £175 million

1
2
3
4. Including restatement in 2018 and exceptional finance costs in 2009; £119 million
5.
[

. Represents maovement in ¢ash and cash equivalents under IFRS and movements in cash under UK GAAR
7. Adjusted lor the rights issve of 341 million shares in March 2009
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

Financial calendar

2019/20

27 June 2019

2 August 2019

3 October 2019

8 November 2019
13 November 2019

Final dividend ex-dividend date
Final dividend payment date

First quarter ex-dividend date

First quarter dividend payment date
Hali year results

Second quarter ex-dividend gate January 2020
Second quarter dividend payment date February 2020
Third quarter ex-dividend date March 2020
Third quarter dividend payment date May 2020
Full year results May 2020
Final dividend ex-dividend date June 2020

Final dividend payment date August 2020

If offered, the Board will announce the availability of a Scrip
dividend alternative via the Regulatory News Service no tater than
four business days before each ex-dividend date. Scrip dividend
alternatives will not be enhanced. The split between PID and
non-PID incomne for each dividend will be announced at the

same time.

Analysis of shareholders —~ 31 March 2019

Number Balance as at
2019720 of heldings % 21 March 2019 %
1-1,000 5,264 54.74 2,262,808 0.24
1,001-5,000 2,835 2948 6,256,773 0.65
5.001-20,060 &46 6.72 6,348,133 0.66
20,001-50,000 25 2.81 8,202,600 0.85
50,001 -Highest 621 b.46 937.518.758  97.60
Total 2.617  100.00 960,589,072 100.00
Hoider type
Individuals 5,836 60.68  10,734,011.00 1.12
Nominee and
institutional
investors 3,781 3932 94980506100 9888
Total 9617 100.00 960.589,072.00 100.00

1. Excluding 11,266,245 shares hetd in treasury

Registrars
British L.and has appointed Equiniti Limited {Equiniti] to administer
its shareholder register. Equiniti can be contacted at:

Aspect House
Spencer Road
Lancing, West Sussex BN9% 6DA

Tel: 0371 384 2143 (UK callers)
Tel: +44 (01121 415 7047 {Overseas callers)

Lines are apen from 8.30am to 5.30pm Monday to Friday excluding
public holidays in England and Wales

Website: shareview.co.uk

By registering with Shareview, shareholders can:

- view your British Land shareholding ontine

- update your details

- elect to receive shareholder mailings electronicatly.

Equiniti is also the Registrar for the BLD Property Holdings
Limited Stock.

Share dealing facilities

By registering with Shareview, Equiniti also provides existing and
prospective UK shareholders with a share dealing facility for
buying and selling British Land shares online or by phone.

For more information, contact Equiniti at shareview.co.uk/dealing
or call 0845 603 7037 (Monday to Friday excluding public holidays
from 8.30am ta 4.30pm|. Existing British Land shareholders will
need the reference number given on your share certificate to
register, Similar share dealing facilities are provided by other
brakers, banks and financial services.

Website and shareholder communications

The British Land carporate website contains a wealth of material
for shareholders, including the current share price, press releases
and information on dividends. The website can be accessed at
britishland.com

British Land encourages its shareholders to receive shareholder
communications electrorucally. This enables shareholders to
receive information quickly and securely as well as in a more
envirenmentally friendly and cost-etfective manner. Further
infarmation can be obtained from Shareview or the

Shareholder Helpline.

ShareGift

Sharehelders with a small number of shares, the value of which
makes it uneconomic to sell them, may wish to consider donating
their shares to charity. ShareGift is a registered charity (No.
1052686] which collects and sells unwanted shares and uses the
proceeds to support a wide range of UK chartties, A ShareGift
donation form can be obtainec from Equiniti.

Further information about ShareGift can be obtained from their
website: sharegilt.org

Honorary President

tn recognition of his work building British Land into the industry
leading company it is today, Sir John Ritblat was appointed as
Honorary President on his retirement from the Board in
Oecember 2006.

Registered office

The British Land Company PLC

York House

45 Seymour Streel, London W1H 7LX

Telephone: +44 (0120 7486 4466
Registered number: 621920

Website: britishland.com

Dividends

As a REIT, British Land pays Property Income Distribution {PI1DI
and non-Property Income Distribution [non-PID| dividends. More
inferrnation on REITs and PIDs can be found in the investors
section of our website at britishland. com/dividends

British Land dividends can be paid directly into your bank or
building society account instead of being despatched to you by
chegue. More infermation about the benefits of having dividends
paid directly into your bank or building scciety account, and the
mandate form to set this up, can be found in the investors section
of our website at briishland.com/investors/dividends/dividends-
direct-to-your-bank
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION CONTINUED

Scrip Dividend Scheme

Beitish Land may offer sharehalders the appariunty te

participate in the Scrip Dividend Scherne by offering a Scrip
Alternative to a particular divitend from hime to ime, The Scrip
Dividend Scheme aliows participating shareholders to recaive
additional shares instead of a cash dividend. For more information
please visit the investors section of our website at britishland cor/
dividends/scrip-dividends-scheme

Unsolicited mail
British Land is required by law to make its share regisier available

Tax

The Group elected for REIT status on 1 January 2007, paying

8 £308m conversion charge to HMRC in the same year. As 2
consequence of the Group's REIT slatus, tax i3 not levied within
the corporate group on the qualifying property rental business
but is instead deducted from distributions of such income as
Praperty Income Distributions to shareholders. Any income
which does not fall within the REIT regime is subject tc tax
within the Group in 1he usual way. This inctudes profits on
property trading activity, property related fee income and
interest incorne. We continue to comfortably pass all REIT

on request to other organisations. This may result in the receipt of
unsolicited mail. Te limit this, shareholders may register with the
Mailing Preference Service. Far more information, or 1g register,
visit mpsonline_ org.uk

tests ensuring that our REIT status is maintained.

We work proactively and openly to maintain a constructive
relationship with HMRC. We discuss matters in real-time with
HMRC and disclose all relevant facts and circumstances,
particuiarly where there may be tax uncertainty or the law is
unclear. HMRE assigns risk ratings 1o alt farge companies.
We have a low appetite for tax risk and HMRC considers us to
be "Low Risk’ a staius we have held since 2007 when the
rating was first introduced by HMRCI.

Sharehotders are alsa advised to be vigiant of share fraud which
includes telephone calls offering free investment advice ar offers to
buy and sell shares at discounted or highly inflated prices. If it sounds
too good 1o be true, it often is. Further information can be found on the
Financial Conduct Authority's website fea org.uk/scams ar by calling

the FCA Consurner Helptine on 0800 111 6768. ) ) )
Further information can be found in our Tax Strategy

- "Our Approach to Tax’ at britishland.com/governance

Forward-looking statements

This Annual Report contains certain forward-looking’ stalements. Such staterents reflect current views, expectatiens and beliefs on, amang other things.
our markets, activities, projections, objectives, performance, financial condition and prospects, as well as assumgptions about future events, Such ‘forward-
logking’ statements can sometimes, but not always, be identified by their reference to a dale or point in the future or the use of ‘forward-looking” terminolagy,
including terms such as ‘believes’, ‘considers’, ‘estimates’, ‘anticipates’, ‘expecls’, forecasts’, ‘inlengs ‘roafinuas’, ‘due’, ‘plans’, ‘scelis’, ‘projects’, yudl,
‘autlook’, ‘schedule’. ta yet’, “ain’, ‘may’, likely to . ‘will, wauld’, ‘could’, ‘should” or similar expressions or in each case their negative or other variaticns

or comparable terminology. By their nature, forward-looking stalements invalve inherenl known and unknown risks, assumplions and uncertainties because
they relate to future events and depend on circumstances which may or may not occur and may be beyend our ability to control or predict. Forward-looking
statements should be regarded with cavtion as aciual cuicomes or resulis. or plans or objectives, may differ materially from these expressed or implied by
such statements. Recipients should not place reliance on, and are cautioned about relying on, any forward-tooking statements.

Important factors that could cause actual results lincluding the payment of dividends), performance or achievements of 8ritish Land to differ materially from
any outcomes or results expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements include, among other things: (a general business and political, social and
economic conditions globatty, {bl the consequences of the referendum on Britain leaving the EU, Ic) industry and market trends jincluding dernand in the
property investment market and property price volatilityl, (d] competition, (e the behaviour of other market participants, Ifl changes in government and
oiher regulation inchuding in relation 1o the environment, health and safety and taxation fin particutar, \n respect of British Land's slatus as a Real Ezlate
Investment Trusil, igl inflation and consurner canfidence, (bl labour relations and work sioppages. [i] natural disasters and adverse weather conditions,

{jl terrorism and acts of war, (k! British Land’s overall business strategy. risk appetite ant invesiment choices in its portiolio managerent, [t} tegat or other
proceedings against or affecting British Land. (] reliable and secure IT infrastructure, In) changes in accupier demand and tenant default, [o) changes

in tinancial and equity markets including interest and exchange rate (luctuations, [pl changes in accounting practices and the interpretation of accounting
standards and [ql the availability and cost of finance. The Company's principal risks are describad in greater detait in the section of this Annual Report
headed Managing risk in delivering our strategy and principal risks. Forward-looking statements in this Annual Repact, ar the British Land website ar

made subseguenily, which are attributable to British Land or persons acting on its behall should therefore be construed in light of all such factors.

Information comained in this Annuat Report relating to British Land or its share price or ihe yield on its shares are not guarantees of, and shoutd not

be relied upon as an indicalor of, fuiure performance, and nothing in this Annual Report should be construed as a profit forecast or profit estimate, or
be taken as implying that the earnings of British Land for the current year or future years will necessarily match or excead the historical or published
earmings of British Land. Any forward-looking staternents made by or on behalf of British Land speak only as of 1he date they are made. Such forwarg-
looking statements are expressly qualified in their entirety by the tactars celerced o above and ne representatian, assurance, guaraniee ar warranty is
given in relation ta them [whether by British Land or any of its asseciates, directors, officers, employees or advisers), inctuding as (o their cornpleteness,
accuracy or the basis on which they were prepared.

Other than in accordance with our legal and regulatory ebligations [including under the UK Financial Conduct Autherity's Listing Rules, Disclosure
Guidance and Transparency Rules, and the EU Market Abuse Regulation), British Land does not intend or undertake any obligation o update or revise
publicly forward-[ocking statements to reflect any changes in British Land's expeclations with regard thereto or any changes in information, events,
conditions or circumstances an which any such statement i based. This document shall not. under any Circumstances, create any implication that there
has been no change in the business or affairs of Brilish Land since the date of this document or that the information contained herein is correct as at any
time subsequent to this date.

Nothing in this document shail conslitute, in any jurisdiction, an olfer or sclicitation lo sell or purchase any securities or gther financial instruments, nor
shall it consiitute a recommendation or advice in respect of any securiiies of other financial insiruments ar any other matler.
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